
Date Published:28 November 2017     

County Council

Wednesday, 6 December 2017 at 10am

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

Chief Executive

A G E N D A

Chairman’s Opening of Council

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 18)

To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 13 September 2017 as a 
correct record.

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal interests that you may 
have relating to any specific matters which may be discussed at the meeting by 
signing the form that is available at the back of the Council Chamber.  Completing 
this form will be acceptable as a declaration, but members may also declare the 
interest orally if they so wish.

4  CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

a) Cllr Jim Parsons
To stand in silence as a mark of respect to Cllr Jim Parsons who passed away 
on 14 September 2017.  Jim had been a longstanding member of Cotswold 



    

District Council and had been their representative on the Health and Care 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for a number of years.

b) Gloucestershire Archives
UNESCO has informed the Council that an African slave song held by 
Gloucestershire Archives has been included in the Memory of the World 
Register.  The song came from the sugar plantations of Barbados and was 
written down in the late 18th Century by anti-slave trade campaigner Granville 
Sharp who had Gloucestershire descendants.  Although the document is over 
200 years old, it is a timely reminder that the fight against modern day slavery 
continues across the World today.

c) Libraries and Information Digital Innovation display
From self-service machines to 3D printers libraries are using digital solutions to 
promote smarter working for staff, opportunities for young people to develop 
coding skills, support businesses and help residents to become digitally 
confident.  A display will be on the landing outside the Council Chamber during 
the lunch break.

d) ICT support
Staff from ICT will be on hand over the lunch break to provide advice to 
members.

5  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

To answer any written public questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the County Council.

The closing date for receipt of questions is 10am on Wednesday, 29 November 
2017.  Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the attention of 
Stephen Bace (email stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

To answer any oral questions put by members of the public with the consent of the 
Chairman.  Depending on the nature of the questions asked it may not be possible to 
provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in which case a written answer will 
be supplied as soon as reasonably possible after the meeting.

Questions received and proposed responses do not accompany this agenda but will 
be circulated prior to the meeting.

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

6  PETITIONS 

To receive petitions presented by members without discussion.

7  CORPORATE PARENTING (Pages 19 - 22)

For information and members’ questions.

Report from Cllr Richard Boyles, the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People.

8  MOTIONS 

The Council’s Constitution provides for a maximum of two hours for debate on 
motions.  At the end of the two hour period, those members who have already 
indicated their intention to speak on the motion being debated at that time will be 
allowed to speak, the mover of the motion will be asked to sum-up and the vote will 
be taken.

The following motions were received by the closing date of 27 November 2017: 

Motion 800 - Adoption and promotion of electric vehicles
Proposed by Cllr Rachel Smith
Seconded by Cllr Iain Dobie 

This Council notes the great importance of good air quality to public health and 
wellbeing in Gloucestershire. Poor air quality not only contributes to 40,000 
premature deaths in the UK every year, but also limits uptake of cycling, and reduces 
pedestrian numbers - harming wider public health goals.

This Council notes that a leading cause of air pollution is vehicle emissions. This 
Council further notes that air quality monitoring is a district responsibility, but that air 
quality issues need a co-ordinated approach between all local authorities in order to 
reduce unnecessary deaths from poor air quality and cut carbon emissions.

Councillors agree that more can be done through this authority to combat poor air 
quality, and welcome the formation of an air quality task group. Recognising the 
urgency of the problem of both air pollution and carbon emissions, this Council: 
a) Commits to moving to electric or low emission options wherever possible for all 

direct or indirectly operated council vehicles at the earliest opportunity.
b) Commits to replacing 10% of the vehicles within its fleet (owned or leased) with 

electric or low emission vehicles by 2019.
c) Commits to establishing principles for use in procurement to encourage use of 

electric or low emission vehicles by Council contractors.



    

d) Commits to engaging with district councils and other relevant stakeholders to 
promote adoption of electric and low emission vehicles, including through 
identifying schemes, funding and other incentives for provision of publicly 
accessible EV charging points, and EV charging points in new housing 
developments. 

Motion 801 - Votes at 16
Proposed by Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Seconded by Cllr Klara Sudbury

This Council notes that currently 1.5 million 16 and 17 year olds are denied the vote 
in public elections in the UK.

This Council recognises that 16 and 17 year olds are knowledgeable and passionate 
about the world in which they live and are as capable of engaging in the democratic 
system as any other citizen. 

This Council believes people who can consent to medical treatment, work full-time, 
pay taxes, get married or enter a civil partnership and join the armed forces should 
also have the right to vote.

This Council therefore requests the Leader of this Council to write to all six 
Gloucestershire MPs asking that a letter be written to county representatives of the 
Youth Parliament to express support in lowering the voting age to 16.

Motion 802 – Increase in the State Pension Age for Women
Proposed by Cllr Eva Ward
Seconded by Cllr Brian Oosthuysen

This Council notes that 39,400 women in Gloucestershire born on or after 05 April 
1951 have been adversely affected by increase in the State Pension Age (SPA) and 
that these women have unfairly borne the burden of the increase to the SPA. The 
lack of appropriate notification has resulted in many women not being told about the 
changes until it was too late to make alternative arrangements.

The Council calls on the Government to reconsider transitional arrangements so that 
women do not live in hardship due to these State Pension Age changes and instructs 
the Chief Executive to  write to the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions and all 
the Members of Parliament representing Gloucestershire seeking their support for 
action by the Government.



    

Motion 803 – Council tax exemption for care leavers
Proposed by Cllr Lesley Williams
Seconded by Cllr Brian Oosthuysen

This Council recognises that young people leaving care can be amongst the most 
vulnerable in our community and it is committed to supporting care leavers to 
successfully make the often difficult transition to adult life as part of its corporate 
parenting role.

This Council recognises that managing money and bills for the first time can be a 
particular challenge for care leavers, with research from the Centre for Social Justice 
finding that 57% of your people find it difficult to manage their money and avoid debt 
when leaving care.

This Council believes there is more that can be done to support Care Leavers and all 
aspects of Local Government have a part to play in giving this support. This Council 
recognises that it does not set the Council Tax precept for the 6 District and Borough 
Authorities in the County however each of these Authorities will have Care Leavers 
living in their Districts. 

This Council therefore  resolves to write to each of the Authorities asking them to 
introduce exemptions for council tax for care leavers between the ages 18-25.

Motion 804 – Joint working across the Emergency Services
Proposed by Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Seconded by Cllr Paul Hodgkinson

This Council welcomes the decision of the Gloucestershire Police and Crime 
Commissioner to withdraw his bid to takeover the governance of Gloucestershire Fire 
and Rescue Service. 

This Council notes that 2017 Police and Crime Act places a duty on the blue light 
services to work together to provide more effective service to their communities.

This Council notes that Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service has an excellent 
track record on collaborating with the other emergency services on mutually 
beneficial projects. 

This Council notes that Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue is currently consulting on its 
draft Integrated Risk Management Plan for 2018-2021



    

This Council therefore resolves to support the Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure in opening up discussions with the Police and Crime Commissioner 
about opportunities for both services to work together on mutually beneficial projects, 
with both themselves and also with the ambulance service.

9  BLUE BADGE (DISABLED PERSONS' PARKING) SCHEME (Pages 23 - 30)

At the full Council meeting on 22 March 2017, the following motion was supported:

This Council recognises that regulations over who can and cannot get a Bue Badge 
are getting much stricter. As a Council we believe everyone who needs a Blue Badge 
should be able to get one.

This Council commits to review its Blue Badge Policy criteria and will invite all
relevant community groups and interested partners to an open consultation over how 
we can make this service more accessible.

A report from the Chief Executive is attached for consideration by members.

10  MEMBER QUESTIONS 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

To answer any written member questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the County Council. 

The closing date for receipt of questions is 10am on Wednesday, 29 November 
2017. Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the attention of 
Stephen Bace (email stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Questions received and proposed responses do not accompany this agenda but will 
be circulated prior to the meeting.

11  SCRUTINY REPORT (Pages 31 - 54)

Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to present 
the scrutiny report.

12  GLOUCESTERSHIRE LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION FUND ANNUAL 
REPORT 2016-17 (Pages 55 - 196)

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Chairman of the Pension Committee, to present the Pension 
Fund Annual Report.

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

13  CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE REPORT (Pages 197 - 254)

Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Chairman of the Constitution Committee, to present the 
recommendations from the meeting held on 9 October 2017.

14  CABINET DECISION STATEMENT (Pages 255 - 274)

For information and members’ questions.

15  INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION STATEMENTS (Pages 275 - 278)

For information and members’ questions. 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests or personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which 
may be discussed at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available at the 
back of the Council Chamber. Completing this list is acceptable as a declaration, 
but does not, of course, prevent members from declaring an interest orally in 
relation to individual agenda items. The list will be available for public inspection. 
Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of 
interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns 01452 328472 / 
email Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the commencement of the 
meeting.

(b) RECORDING MEETINGS, INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL 
QUERIES – Please note that full Council meetings are webcast and may be 
viewed on the Council’s website (www.gloucestershire.gov.uk). If you wish to 
inspect reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general 
queries about the meeting, please contact:

Simon Harper, Head of Democratic Services
 01452 324202, email simon.harper@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is permitted subject to the 
Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services 
to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the 
public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services 
Officer on duty at the meeting.

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
mailto:simon.harper@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting 
please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which 
is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and 
await further instructions.



- 1 -

COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING
Wednesday, 13 September 2017 at 10am
Shire Hall, Gloucester

Present:

Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Matt Babbage
Cllr Robert Bird
Cllr Richard Boyles
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Chris Coleman
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Kevin Cromwell
Cllr Stephen Davies
Cllr Iain Dobie
Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Andrew Gravells (Vice-
Chairman)
Cllr Kate Haigh
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Tim Harman
Cllr Joe Harris
Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE

Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller
Cllr Patrick Molyneux
Cllr Nigel Moor
Cllr David Norman MBE
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen
Cllr Shaun Parsons 
(Chairman)
Cllr Sajid Patel
Cllr Loraine Patrick
Cllr John Payne
Cllr Alan Preest
Cllr Keith Rippington
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE
Cllr Brian Robinson

Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Rachel Smith
Cllr Vernon Smith
Cllr Lynden Stowe
Cllr Klara Sudbury
Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Eva Ward
Cllr Simon Wheeler
Cllr Kathy Williams
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE
Cllr Suzanne Williams
Cllr Roger Wilson
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

Apologies: Councillors Stephen Hirst, Graham Morgan, Pam Tracey MBE and Jack 
Williams

Honorary Aldermen Bill Hobman, Terry Parker, John Sewell and Gordon 
Shurmer

55. MINUTES 

The minutes of the Ordinary Meeting and the two Extraordinary Meetings held on 
28 June 2017 were confirmed and signed as a correct record.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

56. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

A copy of the declarations of interest is attached to the signed copy of the minutes.

57. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

a) Know Your Place West of England Partnership
Officers from Gloucestershire Archives would be present at lunchtime to 
provide information on a new online resource that provided historic maps and 
linked data from the Historic Environment Record for Gloucestershire and 
neighbouring areas.  

b) Members’ ICT
The Chairman informed members that  ICT staff would be available at 
lunchtime to help members with any ICT queries.  

58. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

Three public questions had been received. The following supplementary questions 
were asked:

Question 1 – Diana Ray asked whether the County Council accepted that despite 
the policies in place, wildflower on verges was decreasing leading to a lower 
number of butterflies and other valued species.

Cllr Vernon Smith replied that the Council worked closely with the bio-diversity plan 
and that he would ask officers to provide her with a written response.

Question 2 – Diana Ray suggested that the work carried out on verges did not 
match the policy. She asked whether the Council was aware that its own guidance 
notes were not being followed consistently by contractors. She emphasised the 
need for performance indicators that could be monitored.

Cllr Vernon Smith stated that he agreed that there was a need to follow the 
guidance and action plans and thanked the member of the public for raising the 
issues. He asked that she provide him with details of where she felt there were 
failings and he would ask officers to look into it.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Question 3 – Diana Ray informed members that Dorset had a more targeted 
approach around maintaining verges and she asked whether the Council could 
investigate how Dorset had achieved actual improvement on the ground.

Cllr Vernon Smith stated that he was really interested in how Dorset was working 
and was keen to see the details. He would ask officers to speak to Dorset. 

Three oral questions were received:

Peter Clark stated that the Government had announced a 2% pay rise for the Police 
and a 1.7% pay rise for prison officers. He stated that the Government was looking 
to give further advice to pay bodies.  Officer pay squeezed amounting to an 
effective loss of earnings of over £3,000 from 2010 to 2017. 

He asked if Gloucestershire County Council was planning pay rises for its own 
employees? He believed that social workers, home care and other vital staff in local 
government had borne the brunt of austerity.  

Cllr Mark Hawthorne explained that there was a motion on the agenda where this 
would be part of the discussion. He stated that the Government was looking to give 
further advice to pay bodies.  Officer pay was something that continued to be 
looked at across the sector by the Council and the Local Government Association.    

Carol Kambites explained that she had been told that the electrical connection to 
the Javelin Park incinerator would be taken down Stonehouse High Street, causing 
disruption to residents, traders and motorists, despite an alternative route being 
available 

She asked that, given that the decision had been made on the grounds of a cost 
calculation by UBB, had the Council seen a breakdown of the calculation and did it 
include the cost of the contract over-running? Secondly, did councillors believe that 
the people and traders of Stonehouse should be compensated for the disruption?

Cllr Nigel Moor stated that the decisions had been made by UBB, but that he would 
take up the issues raised and provide a written response.

Sarah Lunnon asked whether the Leader of Council believed that the County 
Council had a duty to be open and transparent with the public.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Cllr Mark Hawthorne stated that the Council looked to deliver the best outcomes for 
local residents providing them with all the facts available. He also stated that the 
Council had a responsibility to challenge back when individuals were providing false 
information.

Sarah Lunnon explained that Cllr Ray Theodoulou had been quoted in Resources 
Magazine saying that one of R4C’s complaints was that the Javelin Park project 
was too cheap and that it was predatory pricing. She asked whether the councillor 
understood that the pricing of the contract dis-incentivised recycling. 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou stated that there had been a procurement process, comparing 
numerous ways of disposing of waste. R4C was not one of the companies who 
submitted a bid. It was still the ambition to reach 70% recycling for the whole 
County. 

Sarah Lunnon asked that given the benefits of regular cardio-vascular exercise on 
mental and physical health, would the Cabinet Member take the opportunity of UBB 
working on the B4008 from Stonehouse to Javelin Park and install an off road cycle 
track?

Cllr Vernon Smith stated that health and fitness was very important.  Members 
could use their highways local money to upgrade cycle tracks.  He said that he was 
always an advocate of choosing healthy options. He would ask officers to take a 
look and provide a response. 

Sarah Lunnon asked whether the Cabinet Member could confirm that the 
constructed access way from the Bloom’s car park access road, through a hedge 
and into Javelin Park was part of the public highway. 

Cllr Vernon Smith would provide a response in writing. 

59. PETITIONS 

Cllr Chris Coleman informed members that he had received an e-petition calling 
upon the County Council to install a safe informal crossing point on St George’s 
Road, Cheltenham in the vicinity of the Underwood Surgery and Jenner Court.  He 
requested that the petition be forwarded to Cllr Vernon Smith, the Cabinet Member 
for Highways and Flood, following the meeting. 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

60. CORPORATE PARENTING 

Cllr Richard Boyles, the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People, presented 
the report.  He stated that there were currently 638 children in care in the county 
and the number was steadily rising in common with other areas.  He was anxious 
above all else to ensure that the right placement at the right time was provided for 
every child who needed a placement away from home.

In terms of the Ofsted report, he said that an improvement plan would be presented 
to the Cabinet on 18 September 2017.  An Improvement Board with cross party 
representation had held its first meeting.  Essex County Council had been 
appointed as the Council’s improvement partner.  Updates were being provided to 
members through overview and scrutiny.  He recognised that some thought needed 
to be given on how the Council should engage with members of the public. 

Answering questions, Cllr Boyles stated that John Goldup, Chairman of the 
Improvement Board, was pleased with progress and he accepted that there were 
legacy issues to deal with in some areas before the Council could move forward.  
He confirmed that there was a protocol for members to be informed of incidents in 
their own areas.  He said that he would ask the Director of Children’s Services to 
inform members.

Cllr Boyles stated that the breakdown of the children in care numbers included in 
the report was inaccurate.  He said that of the 249 children placed in external 
provision,  139 were with independent fostering agencies, 60 were in children’s 
residential care and a further 50 were predominantly in supported living.  He noted 
that 72 of the 249 children were accommodated outside the county.

In terms of the increase in the number of children in care, he explained that this was 
a result of a combination of factors including new working practices and a rise in the 
incidence of mental health illnesses.    

Referring to children’s social workers, he said that there were currently 42 
vacancies and all but 17 were filled by agency staff.  

A member asked how many members had signed the Corporate Parenting Pledge.  
Cllr Boyles undertook to provide the information following the meeting.

RESOLVED to note the report.

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

61. MOTIONS 

Motion 797 – Care staff and the National Minimum Wage 

Those councillors who had declared a disclosable pecuniary interest on the interest 
sheet in the council chamber left the meeting for the consideration of this item.

The Monitoring Officer advised that it was the individual responsibility of members 
to declare any interest they had in matters being considered at the meeting.  She 
explained that members were required to declare disclosable pecuniary interests by 
law.  Disclosable pecuniary interests related to the financial interests of the member 
and their wife, husband or partner.  Members with disclosable pecuniary interests 
were required to leave the chamber but for personal interests they could remain in 
the chamber, take part in the debate and vote.   

Cllr David Brown proposed and Cllr Iain Dobie seconded the following motion:

This Council praises the work of all care staff across Gloucestershire either 
employed directly by this Council or through an independent care provider.

This Council notes the National Minimum Wage (NMW) is a right, not a privilege, 
which all UK workers are entitled to unless covered by a specific exemption.

This Council is concerned that there are still a minority of workers (namely care 
staff working for independent care providers) that may well be contracted by this 
Council delivering care who still do not receive their full NMW entitlement.

This Council agrees that under-payment of the NMW – whether as an intentional 
act or as a result of ignorance or error - is unacceptable.

This Council welcomes a full review of the employment practices of all those care 
providers being used by this council to ensure that all care staff are paid at or above 
hourly NMW rates.

This Council requests the findings of this review to be brought back to this Council 
in the form of a report with recommendations for member discussion by the end of 
the year.

In moving the motion, Cllr Brown stated that the national minimum wage for care 
staff was a legal right.  He noted that the Care Act 2014 required local authorities to 
seek evidence that care staff were being remunerated at a level that enabled an 
effective work force to be maintained.  Research in 2013-14 indicated that 160,000 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

care staff were losing an average of £800 each year because they were not paid for 
travelling time.

In seconding the motion, Cllr Dobie said that the Council’s duty of care did not end 
when outside providers were employed to deliver services on its behalf.  He 
believed that the way that Cleeve Link operated before it collapsed was exploitative 
as staff were not paid travelling time between appointments.  He was concerned at 
the impact on vulnerable people and was anxious that a similar situation did not 
arise again.

A motion without notice was proposed and seconded under procedure rule 12.1.13 
to refer the subject of the motion to the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee, without further debate. 

On being put to the vote, the motion was defeated.

A member stated that an earlier review undertaken by the Council had highlighted 
the importance of training as well as adequate pay.

Cllr Roger Wilson, the Cabinet Member for Vulnerable Adults and Commissioning, 
stated that he agreed with the principles of the motion.  He recognised that it was 
important that training took place before care staff started work.  He was aware that 
staff were expected to pay deposits for their uniforms and pay for DBS checks 
before starting employment with some providers.  He believed that the motion 
should be referred to scrutiny to allow a review to be undertaken.  

A member requested that the motion be referred to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee to allow employment issues to be considered with health-
related issues referred to the Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
where appropriate.

A motion without notice was proposed and seconded under procedure rule 12.1.13 
to refer the subject of the motion to the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee with health specific issues referred to the Health and Care Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee as appropriate.

On being put to the vote, the following resolution received unanimous support.

RESOLVED that the motion be referred to the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee with health specific issues referred to the Health and Care Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee as appropriate.

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

Motion 799 - Public sector pay 

Those councillors who had declared a discloseable pecuniary interest on the 
interest sheet in the council chamber left the meeting for the consideration of this 
item.

Cllr Brian Oosthuysen and Cllr Kate Haigh indicated that they wished to amend the 
motion that they had submitted in light of national developments regarding the 
public sector pay cap (see the changes highlighted below).

This Council recognises the important contribution that public sector workers 
contribute to our communities.

The Council particularly acknowledges the vital work of our emergency services, 
both in Gloucestershire and across the country, especially in the light of recent 
tragedies where emergency services have gone above and beyond.

The Council believes that asking public sector workers to continue to accept 
declining living standards and differentials is not fair or justifiable.  Every worker 
deserves fair pay. 

This Council resolves to write to the Prime Minister, the Chancellor of the 
Exchequer, the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, and 
Gloucestershire's 6 MPs to ensure that public sector pay local government pay 
increases are fully funded by government in order that services are not affected by 
the lifting of the cap.

In moving the motion, Cllr Oosthuysen stated that recent events across the country 
had demonstrated the dedication of public sector staff. He said that it was shameful 
that some staff in the public sector were so poorly paid that they could not afford to 
go on holiday or buy presents for their children at Christmas.  He believed that the 
pay cap across all areas of the public sector should end without delay.  

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, agreed that 
salaries of public sector staff should reflect the importance of their work.  He noted 
that public sector workers were usually on a pay spine and were able to move up 
on an incremental basis in addition to any pay rise.  The Council was also making a 
22% pension contribution for all employees.

A member noted that there were 5 million public sector workers across the UK and 
between 2005 and 2015 their average hourly earnings had fallen by 3% in real 
terms.  The Consumer Price Index for inflation had now reached 2.9%, largely as a 
result of Brexit and the falling value of sterling.  He said that the recent pay rises 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

announced for the Police and the Prison Service were one-off increases that were 
non-pensionable with an expectation that they would be funded through savings.  

Another member stated that public sector staff along with other people across the 
country were benefiting from historically low interest rates and reduced mortgage 
payments.  The Council paid the National Living Wage and personal tax allowances 
had risen resulting in significant increases in people’s take home pay.  He said that 
salary increases needed to be paid for by savings elsewhere.  

Other members called for investment in local government staff to ensure that good 
quality staff could be recruited and retained.  The pressure of work and poor pay 
was resulting in a recruitment crisis in some areas.  

Cllr Mark Hawthorne, the Leader of the Council, put on record his thanks for the 
dedication of Council staff.   He recognised that the Council would not be able to 
deliver the quality of services that it did without the hard work of its staff.  He said 
that it was clear that national pay policy was shifting but it would be up to each 
sector to negotiate pay settlements.  For local government, the pay settlement was 
negotiated nationally through the Local Government Association and employment 
organisations.  He noted that each 1% pay rise cost the Council £1.3 million.  He 
was anxious that the Government provided additional funding to meet the costs of 
pay rises including the associated pension contributions.

Cllr Haigh, the seconder of the motion, had reserved her right to speak until the end 
of the debate.  She said that she was pleased at the support for the motion across 
the chamber.  She noted that many local government staff had reached the top of 
their pay spine and had not received annual pay increments for a number of years.  
She stated that some public sector workers could not afford mortgages and relied 
on social housing and private rented accommodation.  She was concerned that 
services would fail if the Government expected pay rises to be funded from savings.

RESOLVED that

This Council recognises the important contribution that public sector workers 
contribute to our communities.

The Council particularly acknowledges the vital work of our emergency services, 
both in Gloucestershire and across the country, especially in the light of recent 
tragedies where emergency services have gone above and beyond.

Every worker deserves fair pay. 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

This Council resolves to write to the Prime Minister, the Chancellor of the 
Exchequer, the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, and 
Gloucestershire's 6 MPs to ensure that local government pay increases are fully 
funded by government in order that services are not affected by the lifting of the 
cap.

Motion 798 - Gloucestershire flood and community resilience 

Cllr Kate Haigh proposed and Cllr Lesley Williams seconded the following motion:

This Council recognises that 10 years has passed since the 2007 Gloucestershire 
floods. In the aftermath of the flood a scrutiny document was produced and a 
number of flood alleviation works were funded. Now is an appropriate time for this 
Council to review that report and to consider where further works are needed, and if 
we are still following best practice. We also ask that any report examines the 1% 
flood levy specifically looking at how it was used, and what its future is. 

This Council also recognises that our resilient communities were a key factor in our 
response to the emergency. Building such resilience takes time, resources and 
effort; therefore this Council agrees to review all outstanding resilience procedures 
to determine the capacity of our communities in the face of future crises. 

This Council further believes that the benefits of having the Gloucestershire Fire 
and Rescue Service embedded in the authority were proven 10 years ago asks that 
the report also considers how this can be capitalised on in the future. 

This Council asks that all reports on this matter are referred to the relevant scrutiny 
committee for recommendations and then brought back to a meeting of the Council 
no later than 31 May 2018. 

In moving the motion, Cllr Haigh noted the huge community effort from local 
authority staff, the emergency services and the public sector in responding to the 
Summer floods in 2007.  She questioned whether the same level of response could 
be provided following the changes to services and reductions in staffing that had 
taken place across the public sector since 2007.  She said that with the increase in 
frequency of severe weather events the Council needed to be reassured that the 
public sector could cope.  

A number of members spoke of the work that had been undertaken in partnership 
with other organisations, such as the Environment Agency, Severn Trent Water, 
Thames Water, district councils and parish and town councils, to prevent flooding 
and improve the resilience of local communities.  The Council was viewed 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

nationally as an exemplar in responding to flooding.  The flood levy on the council 
tax had proved successful with £12 of investment for every £1 raised by the 
Council.  The Council was represented on regional and national flood organisations 
and had strongly influenced the Pitt Review.  Severn Trent Water alone had 
invested more than £30 million since 2007 in flood prevention and improving water 
supply infrastructure.  

A member requested a briefing for all councillors on the role of the Council as the 
lead flood authority.  He said that there was often confusion on who was 
responsible for particular activities and he believed that a briefing would be useful, 
particularly for new councillors.

A motion without notice was proposed and seconded under procedure rule 12.1.10 
that the question be put.   The Chairman noted that a number of members had 
indicated that they still wished to speak and he believed that they should have an 
opportunity to have their say.  He therefore allowed the debate to continue.

A number of other members spoke of the flood prevention measures that had been 
undertaken in their areas.  They noted that many houses in the county would have 
flooded since 2007 if the work had not been undertaken.  They were proud of the 
response of Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service and its preparedness to deal 
with future events.  £77 million had been spent across the county by various 
agencies with 2,500 houses protected from flooding.  New schemes were underway 
to protect more houses.  

A motion without notice was proposed and seconded under procedure rule 12.1.13 
to refer the subject of the motion to the Environment and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.

On being put to the vote, it was 

RESOLVED that the motion be referred to the Environment and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Motion 800 - Adoption and promotion of electric vehicles 

There was insufficient time to consider the following motion proposed by Cllr Rachel 
Smith and seconded by Cllr Iain Dobie:

This Council notes the great importance of good air quality to public health and 
wellbeing in Gloucestershire. Poor air quality not only contributes to 40,000 

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

premature deaths in the UK every year, but also limits uptake of cycling, and 
reduces pedestrian numbers - harming wider public health goals.

This Council notes that a leading cause of air pollution is vehicle emissions. This 
Council further notes that air quality monitoring is a district responsibility, but that air 
quality issues need a co-ordinated approach between all local authorities in order to 
reduce unnecessary deaths from poor air quality, as well as work together to cut 
our carbon emissions.

Councillors agree that more can be done through this authority to combat poor air 
quality, and welcome the formation of an air quality task group. Recognising the 
urgency of the problem of both air pollution and carbon emissions, this Council: 
a) Commits to moving to electric or low emission options wherever possible for 

all direct or indirectly operated council vehicles at the earliest opportunity.
b) Commits to establishing a working group to develop a strategy to (i) replace 

the GCC fleet of vehicles wherever possible with electric or low emissions 
vehicles; and (ii) establish principles for use in procurement to encourage use 
of electric or low emissions vehicles by council contractors.

c) Commits to engaging with district councils and other relevant stakeholders to 
promote adoption of electric and low emission vehicles, including through 
identifying schemes, funding and other incentives for provision of publicly 
accessible EV charging points, and EV charging points in new housing 
developments. 

Motion 801 - Votes at 16 

There was insufficient time to consider the following motion proposed by Cllr Paul 
Hodgkinson and seconded by Cllr Klara Sudbury:

This Council notes that currently 1.5 million 16 and 17 year olds are denied the vote 
in public elections in the UK.

This Council recognises that 16 and 17 year olds are knowledgeable and 
passionate about the world in which they live and are as capable of engaging in the 
democratic system as any other citizen. 

This Council believes people who can consent to medical treatment, work full-time, 
pay taxes, get married or enter a civil partnership and join the armed forces should 
also have the right to vote.

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

This Council therefore requests the Leader of this Council to write to all six 
Gloucestershire MPs asking that a letter be written to county representatives of the 
Youth Parliament to express support in lowering the voting age to 16.

Motion 802 – Increase in the State Pension Age for Women 

There was insufficient time to consider the following motion proposed by Cllr Eva 
Ward and seconded by Cllr Brian Oosthuysen:

This Council notes that 39,400 women in Gloucestershire born on or after 05 April 
1951 have been adversely affected by increase in the State Pension Age (SPA) 
and that these women have unfairly borne the burden of the increase to the SPA. 
The lack of appropriate notification has resulted in many women not being told 
about the changes until it was too late to make alternative arrangements.

The Council calls on the Government to reconsider transitional arrangements so 
that women do not live in hardship due to these State Pension Age changes and 
instructs the Chief Executive to write to the Secretary of State for Work and 
Pensions and all the Members of Parliament representing Gloucestershire seeking 
their support for action by the Government.

62. MEMBER QUESTIONS 

Thirty six member questions had been received. The following supplementary 
questions were asked:

Question 1 -  Cllr Iain Dobie asked that the Leader ask Democratic Services to 
ensure they had alternative phone number and email address so all members could 
be updated in the event of issues such as the ICT disruption that had occurred.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne  stated that this had now been put in place. The previous ICT 
issues should not have occurred and work was underway to prevent similar 
incidents. 

Question 2 – Cllr Iain Dobie asked how much working time had been lost by staff at 
Shire Hall and those working remotely due to the failure.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne explained that no officer had been tasked to do that analysis. 
The Blackberry Work outage had effected around 350 members and officers. Most 
staff had alternative access routes and the worse effected had been members. 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

Question 4 – Cllr Iain Dobie asked if the Cabinet Member could provide more 
information including a detailed breakdown on the £400k extra support to people 
with disabilities.

Cllr Roger Wilson stated that he would provide the member with the information. He 
explained that the vast majority was for continued provision for community drop in 
and support to carry out Hate Crime awareness sessions.

Question 7 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson explained that the member’s answer which 
stated that the ‘Old A40’ was a priority site contradicted what he had heard from 
council officers. He asked for clarification as to what ‘priority site’ meant in terms of 
timescale.

Cllr Vernon Smith replied that he understood the frustration of the member and 
residents. He explained that all landslips were classed as a priority and needed to 
be evaluated. New photographs of the site suggested that there was still movement 
of the soil, once that movement had stopped work would begin to resolve the issue. 

Question 8 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson informed the member of some of the 
recommendations coming out of the A429 Task Group including asset 
management, signage, air quality monitoring and speed limits being reviewed. He 
asked for an update on what had happened in response.

Cllr Nigel Moor confirmed that an in depth study had been commissioned a number 
of months ago to report by the end of the year. This report would examine all of the 
issues brought forward by the group. He was happy to share the consultant’s brief 
with the member.  Cllr Moor also congratulated all those involved in the Tour of 
Britain leg in Gloucestershire.

Question 9 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson  explained that as recently as February the 
Cabinet Member had said that he would extend a warm welcome to Donald Trump 
visiting the area, what had changed? 

Cllr Lynden Stowe replied that the issuing of invites to heads of foreign states was a 
matter for the Royal Visits Committee.

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

Question 10 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson asked what contingency plan was in place for 
the impact of Brexit and where this plan could be seen. 

Cllr Lynden Stowe explained that he was not on the Brexit negotiation committee 
and that the outcome was unpredictable. He would continue to promote 
Gloucestershire as a great place to work, rest and play. He felt the Council was well 
positioned for the post Brexit economy. 

Question 12 – Cllr Bernie Fisher provided detail of the issues around a new all-
through school for children in North West Cheltenham. He expressed concern 
about the short supply of school places and asked for the Cabinet Member’s  
response on what plans were in place.

Cllr Richard Boyles explained that development of the urban extension in North 
West Cheltenham  would not be on stream in the anticipated time and that the 
Council was now looking at the South West area of Cheltenham.

Question 14 – Cllr Bernie Fisher asked if he could have the telephone number of 
the consortium spokesperson.

Cllr Richard Boyles replied that he would ask officers if that was possible. 

Question 19 – Cllr Kate Haigh explained that her question related to a discussion at 
the OSMC meeting in June where there had been cross party support for a peer 
review of scrutiny. She asked why this had not been taken forward. 

Cllr Patrick Molyneux explained that in response to the Ofsted inspection, 
discussion emphasised the important role of scrutiny. The Head of Democratic 
Services had provided the committee with a presentation at the July meeting 
detailing the history of the scrutiny process and outcome of the previous review. 
The Ofsted report had not had any criticisms of the scrutiny process and it had not 
been felt necessary at this time to carry out another review of scrutiny.  

Question 20 – Cllr Joe Harris asked the Cabinet Member how confident he was that 
the milestones within the Children’s Improvement Plan could be achieved with the 
resources available.

In response Cllr Richard Boyles explained that he was confident that the plan would 
be developed and that it was important to retain staff to help the Council improve. 

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

The previous week he had signed off a bonus programme for social workers and it 
was important to have a look at what the Council was offering.

Question 21 – Cllr Joe Harris stated that it was important that all members were 
kept informed about what was happening in relation to the plan. He asked if the 
member could tell him how elected members would be kept up to date.

Cllr Richard Boyles replied that he would be drawing up specific ways in which 
members could engage and that he would be involving councillors from all groups 
in that discussion.

Question 22 - Cllr Jeremy Hilton stated that the reason for the £50 million difference 
in the total savings on waste disposal stated by the Leader over a two year period 
had been given as due to estimates of recycling changing amongst other factors, 
but had not been about the cancelling of the contract. He asked why this had not 
been cited as reason.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne replied that forecasts would change as the project developed 
and depending at what part of the process we were in. He explained that members 
were aware of the financial damage of cancelling the contract and that the long 
term solution being provided would deliver long term savings. 

Question 23 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton asked what the quantity of waste to be recycled 
would be. 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne replied that the tonnage had increased since the contract had 
been signed as there had been a huge amount of development with additional 
homes in the next 25 years. The Council would continue to work with district 
colleagues to improve recycling rates. 

Question 24 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton asked what the actual savings were from the 
decision not to cancel the contract.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne asked the member to email him to clarify the exact information 
he was looking for.
   

Question 29 – Cllr Lesley Williams stated that the environmental impact 
assessment for the route cable between Javelin Park and Ryeford grid had been 

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 17 -

approved by Gloucestershire County Council. She asked again what public 
consultation had been undertaken.

In response Cllr Nigel Moor stated that the questions should be directed to UBB 
and Western Power Distribution. 

Question 31 – Cllr Rachel Smith stated that commercial confidentiality had to be 
weighed against public interest and she asked the member if he agreed that in the 
case of the up to date gate fee around the Residual Waste Project there was an 
overwhelming interest in its disclosure.

Cllr Ray Theodoulou replied that throughout the process that weighting had been 
considered. 

Question 32 – Cllr Rachel Smith explained that she had received the attached 
annex which had been on pink paper. She asked how the public could have faith 
when the information was exempt.

Cllr Ray Theodoulou explained that Gloucestershire County Council was an 
organisation that respected integrity and that some information was commercially 
sensitive and so on ‘pink paper’.

.
Question 33 – Cllr Rachel Smith asked what the cash value saving would be of 
hitting the 70% recycling rate target.

Cllr Ray Theodoulou would provide a written response. 

63. SAFETY, HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENT (SHE) ANNUAL REPORT 

The Chairman thanked the SHE Team for their dedication and hard work.

Cllr David Norman, member of the SHE Panel, presented the Safety, Health and 
Environment 2016-17 Annual Report.  He paid tribute to Paul Cobb, SHE Manager, 
for his leadership of the team.

RESOLVED to note the SHE Annual Report for 2016-17.

Page 17



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 18 -

64. SCRUTINY REPORT 

Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee, presented the report.

Cllr Molyneux stated that the Council had an excellent reputation for scrutiny and, 
following discussion at the last meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee, there was no appetite for a peer review of scrutiny at the present time.  
He agreed, however, to keep the matter under review.  

Cllr Dave Norman, Chairman of the Economic Growth Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, said that the committee had not had any detailed discussions around 
Brexit but it would be picked up when particular issues were discussed.  He stated 
that the committee would be holding meetings in the districts to allow local 
members to raise issues relating to economic development.

A member requested that consideration also be given to holding meetings of the 
Economic Growth Joint Committee in the districts.

Another member noted the importance of promoting Gloucestershire and he 
referred to how the recent Tour of Britain cycle race had showcased the county with 
people from across the World watching the television coverage.  He said that it was 
not just about tourism but about attracting young people to live and work in the 
county.

RESOLVED to note the report.

65. CABINET DECISION STATEMENT 

RESOLVED to note the Cabinet Decision Statements from the Cabinet meetings 
held on 19 June and 19 July 2017.

66. INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION STATEMENTS 

RESOLVED to note the Individual Cabinet Decision Statements for the period 1 
June to 3 August 2017.

Signed: CHAIRMAN

Page 18



CORPORATE PARENTING REPORT

Education of Children in Care (2016/17: Head Teacher’s Summary

1. Summary
The focus of the last Corporate Parenting Report presented to Council in June 2017 related to 
sufficiency of accommodation and the need to source the right placement first time for Children in 
Care (CiC). It referred to the need for children in care to experience stability in order for their desired 
outcomes and potential to be met.  

There is a national debate about the best way to evaluate educational outcomes for children in care. 
The report by the REES Centre (University of Oxford) entitled “What is the relationship between 
being in care and the educational outcomes of children?” questions whether the measures currently 
used are fit for purpose because they do not reflect the progress which children make once they are 
in the care system. It identified wider contextual issues which have a significant impact on 
educational attainment and progress. For example there is compelling evidence that the emotional 
wellbeing and mental health of children in care has a significant impact. Stability of education and 
social care placements are also crucial. 

This report outlines the activity of the Virtual School (VS) and the 2016/17 educational outcomes 
and achievements for CiC in Gloucestershire. It also makes reference to the stability indicators 
which affect children achieving their educational attainment, i.e. change of placement, social worker 
and school. Finally, it summarises the next steps for the Council in terms of narrowing the gap 
regarding educational attainment of CiC versus their peers.

2. Introduction
The academic year 2016-7 has been successful in many ways for CiC in Gloucestershire and in 
respect of the VS’s work with schools and Children’s Social Care. Particular highlights include:

 70% of the Year 11 cohort are making expected progress or better; 

● A considerable increase in the learning aspirations of young people with 7 care leavers starting 
university in September 2016. Currently there are 31 care leavers at university;

● The percentage of Personal Education Plans (PEPs) completed were 100% last academic year, 
an increase from 96% in the previous academic year; 

● Analysis of the specialist 1:1 tuition programme identifies 27.6% of the young people in Year 6 
and 28% of young people in Year 11 receiving this additional support; 

● The VS saw a marked improvement in the use of praise for progress, either using postcards or 
through celebrations such as The VS Awards evening (sponsored by The Peter Lang and 
Sedbury Trusts) and the Star Awards Tea Party; 

● The partnership work with Dean Close School which has led to a successful cookery school and 
summer school Italian cookery experience.  Dean Close School hosted the VS Awards in 
November 2017; 

● The VS website has been redesigned and is now a key point of information for all parties; it has 
a wealth of information about how the VS supports children and young people; 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



● Gloucestershire VS was one of only three Virtual Schools to receive a national award from 
“Achievement for All” in the “Celebrating Every Child Awards 2017”. This was included in the 
National Association of Virtual School Head Teacher’s newsletter;

● The National Consortium for Examination Results pilot launched in March 2017 enabled 
Gloucestershire to have a VS Head Teacher live database.

3. Progress 2016/17: Headline Data
The eligible cohort are those who have been continuously in care for 12 months from 31st March of 
the previous year (so for this reporting period the cohort = 12+ months in care as at 31st March 
2016). Many other children are in care during this time and receive support and funding from the 
VS. However, the children that come into care after this date do not count towards the statistical 
return to the DfE in respect of educational outcomes.

Early Years (eligible cohort = 13) 
 Year 0 - 24% were at expected levels
 35% had Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and of those 23.5% had 

Education Health & Care Plans (EHCPs) 
 Year 1 – 33% were at expected levels
 24% had SEND but none had EHCPs in place 

Key Stage 1 (eligible cohort = 13) 
 23% of the cohort achieved 100 or better on the scaled score assessments1

 Good progress cannot be measured as there is no recognised baseline, i.e. there is no 
previous progress measure for this cohort (this will of course change next year). 

 33% had SEND but none had EHCPs in place

Key Stage 2 (eligible cohort = 27) 
 30% of the cohort made good progress. 
 21% of children achieved 100 on the scaled score assessments. 
 63% had SEND of whom 18.5% had EHCPs 

Key Stage 4 (eligible cohort = 33)
(Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children = 10.4% of the cohort)

 6% of the cohort achieved grade 4 or above (A*-C equivalents) in English and Maths
 70% of the cohort made good or better progress during Key Stage 4.
 36% had SEND of whom 19.5% had EHCPs

NB Children in care are 4 times more likely to have special educational needs than their peers and 
they are 10 times more likely to have a statement of educational need or an EHCP.

4. Attendance 
 Average for eligible Year 11 cohort = 81%
 Average for all Year 11 cohort = 75.8% (this is all CiC irrespective of how long they have 

been looked after).

5. Fixed Term Exclusions
 Average for eligible cohort = 1.7 days over the academic year (one child in specialist 

provision had 10 days exclusion)
1 This is the national benchmark since 2015-16. 100 is the target set for all children, therefore those below have not met national standards.

Page 20



 Average for all Year 11 cohort = 1.25 days over the academic year (this is all CiC 
irrespective of how long they have been looked after).

NB The average number of social workers CiC experienced during Key Stage 4 was 3 and the 
average number of placements CiC experienced during Secondary School was 2 (both of these 
statistics relate to all CiC irrespective of how long they have been looked after)

6. School Placements during KS4 for Eligible Cohort

Number of Schools during Key Stage 4 Number of students

1 21

2 7

3 4

4 1

7. Next Steps

Gloucestershire VS will be participating in the next national piece of research that the Rees Centre 
is completing. There will be 12 Gloucestershire schools with CiC who will be engaged with a year 
long intervention programme. The Timpson Programme of Attachment and Trauma will analyse the 
impact of interventions and provide a coaching model to schools.

“Attachment awareness is very important but is not the only consideration in supporting vulnerable 
young people to progress. Research to inform work with children and young people who have 
experienced trauma or neglect cannot focus on attachment alone or attachment in isolation. Social 
learning and resilience are also important.”

This work will help to inform policy makers about what interventions are effective for CiC and other 
vulnerable learners and will be invaluable in assisting us as Corporate Parents in Gloucestershire in 
supporting our CiC.

Cllr Richard Boyles
Cabinet Member for Children and Young People 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

A report of the Chief Executive 

Blue Badge (Disabled Persons’ Parking) Scheme 

 

At the meeting on 22nd March 2017, County Council agreed the following motion:- 

This Council recognises that regulations over who can and cannot get a blue badge 

are getting much stricter. As a Council we believe everyone who needs a blue badge 

should be able to get one. 

 

This Council commits to review its Blue Badge Policy criteria and will invite all 

relevant community groups and interested partners to an open consultation over how 

we can make this service more accessible. 

 

This report at appendix 1 is based on government legislation, Department for Transport 

guidance, comparative data from other local authorities and operational policy and 

practice that Gloucestershire County Council adheres to. It is important to note that the 

Department for Transport is currently reviewing the eligibility criteria for ‘non-mobility 

disability’ such as learning disability, cognitive or behavioural issues and is reviewing the 

ICT system which holds the national data base and fulfilment functionality. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS:- 

 

That the report is noted 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 9



2 
 

Appendix 1 

 

 

1.     Background 

The Blue Badge (Disabled Persons’ Parking) Scheme was introduced under section 21 of 

the Chronically Sick and Disabled Person Act 1970 with Best Practice Guidance issued in 

2012.  Local Authority Circulars in 2011 extended eligibility to other groups such as 

disabled children under three and severely disabled war veterans and service personnel. 

The reform of the scheme in 2012 also:- 

 

 Transferred control of then NHS spend on badge eligibility assessments to local 

authorities.  

 Provided local authorities with an on-the-spot power to recover badges that have 

been cancelled and misused;  

 Introduced a national database and an online application facility   

 Amended legislation to require wider use of independent mobility assessments to 

determine eligibility, including where previously the assessment was carried out by 

a GP  

 Introduced national standard electronic badges which are harder to alter and forge 

The aim of the scheme is to help disabled people with severe mobility problems to access 

goods and services, by allowing them to park close to their destination. 

There are 2 types of eligibility criteria outlined in the guidance:-  

i. Eligibility without further assessment.  

People may be issued with a badge without further assessment if they are more than 2 

years of age and fall within in one or more or the following descriptions: 

 receive the higher rate of the mobility component of Disability Living Allowance 

(DLA) (help with getting about) or  

 receive 8 points or more under the “moving around” activity of the mobility 

component of Personal Independence Payment (PIP) or  

 are registered severely sight impaired or  

 receive a War Pensioners Mobility Supplement or  

 receive an Armed Forces Compensation Award  

 

ii. Eligibility subject to further assessment 

People may be issued with a badge after further assessment if they are more then 2 

years old and either:- 

Page 24



3 
 

 

 Drive a vehicle regularly and have severe disability in both arms and unable to 

operate, or have considerable difficulty in operating, all or some types of parking 

meter 

or 

 Have a permanent and substantial disability that causes inability to walk or very 

considerable difficulty in walking 

 

Children under two years of age  

Children under two years of age may be eligible for a badge if they need to have bulky 

medical equipment with them at all times, such as an oxygen supply, or if they have a 

specific condition which may require them to be near a vehicle, either to receive treatment 

in the vehicle, or be transported quickly to a place where they can be treated, such as 

hospital.  

 

Parking concessions 

The scheme provides a national range of on-street parking concessions to Blue Badge 

holders. It allows them to park without charge or time limit in otherwise restricted on-street 

parking environments, and allows them to park on yellow lines for up to 3 hours, unless a 

loading ban is in place. 

2.    Gloucestershire County Council Blue Badge Scheme 

Applications can be made on-line or in hard copy. Evidence of identification (ID) and proof 

of address are required together with a current photograph. There is a £10 charge for the 

badge which is made up of a £5.40 for the printing and distribution of the badge and £4.60 

for administering the badge scheme. 

On receipt, applications are desk top assessed and scored using a scoring tool. The score 

card used is based on the core assessment principles identified through the Department 

for Transport (Dft) independent review and is a matrix score card.  If an application 

requires further assessment, the application is assessed by the Independent Mobility 

Assessor (IMA).  If the assessment is inconclusive the applicant will be invited to attend a 

clinic where their mobility will be assessed.  Clinics are held in the localities at 5 different 

Adult Social Care premises around the county.  Using the recommendation from the IMA, 

a badge will be printed and distributed by a third party under contract to the DfT. 

If an application is declined, the applicant can submit new medical evidence to support 

their application or request to have the decision reviewed. The review of decision is 

undertaken by the Integrated Social Care Manager (ISCM) for the relevant Adult Social 

Care locality and the outcome of the review is final. 

The IMA role was introduced during the 2012 reform and has removed the role of the GP 

from the assessment process. The IMAs are experienced Occupational Therapists and 

Page 25



4 
 

are engaged via Gloucestershire Care Services. The assessment at clinic includes an 

observed walk over a measured route to assess the manner, speed, posture, gait, co-

ordination and balance. Breathing and levels of pain are also observed and considered 

along with the requirement for walking aids and assistance. During the assessment the 

medical information provided by the applicant is crossed referenced against what is 

observed, questions asked and with other information available.  

3.    Number of badges and applications 

There are currently 28,648 badges on issue to Gloucestershire residents. Badges are 

mostly valid for 3 years* and reminders are sent to badge holders approximately 9 weeks 

before expiry to remind them to make a new application.   

*Badges can be issued for less than 3 years if issued to a child under 3 years of age or to 

run coterminous with an award for PIP or DLA 

Gloucestershire County Council receives approximately 900 applications each month.  

In October 2017  

 1047 applications for a Blue Badge were received   

 345 Blue Badges were issued without further assessment 

 677 Blue Badges were issued following assessment 

 25 (2.4%) applications were declined 

 

IMA October activity 

 76 applicants were seen in clinic of which 9 (11%) were declined 

Over the past year to October 2017, only 3 applications have been referred to ISCM for a 

review of decision. The outcomes of the review have been to uphold the original decision 

made by the IMA. One case has been referred to the Local Government Ombudsman in 

this year and the outcome of that investigation is awaited. 

4.    Comparative Data with other Local Authorities 

Although the Dft guidance is issued to all Local Authorities and the blue badge is a 

national badge, not all Local Authorities follow the best practice guidance to use 

Independent Mobility Assessors to undertake clinical assessments.  There is variation in 

process and methodology across Local Authorities in undertaking the assessments and 

decision making. For the purpose of this report we gathered information from 

Worcestershire, Wiltshire (excluding Swindon) and Hampshire and it demonstrates that 

Gloucestershire declines fewer applicants comparable to other Local Authorities looked 

at:- 

Page 26



5 
 

 Gloucestershire 28,634 badges on issue and decline an average of 2.2% of 

applicants 

 Worcestershire 29,740 badges on issue and decline and average of 3.5%of 

applicants 

 Wiltshire (excluding Swindon) have 23,094  badges on issue and decline an 

average of 4% of applicants 

 Hampshire have 67000 badges on issue and decline an average of 2.7% of 

applicants. 

 

5.    Concerns raised by some applicants 

The main concern raised by applicants is in relation to the eligibility for applicants with 

cognitive issues/ behavioural issues/bowel conditions where mobility is not the primary 

concern. The current guidance (The Blue Badge Scheme Local Authority Guidance 

(England) does not provide for applicants with these conditions. The guidance states:- 

 

“To qualify.. an applicant must have any permanent (i.e. likely to last for the duration 

of a person’s life) and substantial disability that means they cannot walk, or means 

they have very considerable difficulty walking. Each application should be 

considered against this criterion, regardless of the particular condition. Applicants will 

need to demonstrate that their ability to walk is affected to the extent that they would 

be unable to access goods and services unless allowed to park close to shops, public 

buildings and other facilities. ….. 

 

In all cases, entitlement depends on the applicant's difficulty in walking, and 

considerations such as difficulty in carrying parcels or luggage are not to be taken 

into account….. 

 

Whilst medical conditions such as asthma, Crohn’s disease/incontinent conditions, 

autism, Myalgic Encephalomyelitis (M.E.) and other mental/cognitive/intellectual 

disabilities are not in themselves a qualification for a badge, people with these 

conditions may be eligible for a badge if they are unable to walk or have very 

considerable difficulty in walking.  Eligibility is not determined by the presence or 

absence of any particular diagnosis or condition.  Provided that an applicant has a 

permanent and substantial disability, a local authority’s eligibility decision should be 

based on whether the applicant’s difficulty in walking meets the criterion in the 

regulations… 

 

The final decision about whether an applicant meets the criterion is for the issuing 

authority to made” 

 

Page 27



6 
 

The change in the welfare benefit from the Disability Living Allowance (DLA) and 

Personal Independence Payment (PIP) has also impacted upon eligibility for a blue 

badge.  The new PIP requires 8 points on the ‘moving around’ section to meet the 

automatic eligibility for a blue badge.  Many recipients of the DLA have been assessed 

under PIP for points only under ‘planning a journey’, which does not meet the automatic 

eligibility criteria. 

 

It is important to note that we have now completed a 3 year cycle of renewing badges 

and therefore many of the transition difficulties in applying the DfT guidance on eligibility 

have been resolved.  Gloucestershire County Council recognised the difficulties people 

who were reapplying for a blue badge were experiencing in meeting the DfT guidance 

on eligibility criteria.  A process change was made to apply a discretion criteria to cases 

where the applicant does not meet the automatic eligibility criteria for a badge in the 

following circumstances:- 

 

 

 a Blue Badge has been issued on 3 previous occasions and the applicant is over 

80 

 Where the application is from the Palliative Care team and there is an urgent 

need for the badge to be issued due to the life expectancy of the person 

 Where the absence of a Blue Badge would increase the risk of serious harm to 

the individual or others.   

 

The DfT has been lobbied to consider extending the eligibility to applications from those 

who have a ‘non mobility disability’ such as a Learning Disability, cognitive or 

behavioural issues. The DfT is currently reviewing the eligibility criteria and have 

confirmed that they are not at this time in a position to provide an update on their 

review.  

 

 

6.   Impact of extending the eligibility criteria beyond current DfT guidance 

 

To extend the eligibility to those with a ‘non mobility disability’ would inevitably include a 

significant portion of the population. Disabled persons parking provision is limited and 

increasing the demand on the limited provision will have an adverse effect to all Blue 

Badge holders, unless a proportional increase in disabled persons parking is made 

available. 

 

Gloucestershire County Council is not responsible for private car parking arrangement 

such as supermarkets, hospitals, GP surgeries, where a blue badge may provide 

access to designated parking spaces.  Demand for these spaces is often outstripping 

supply. 

 

Page 28



7 
 

There is a financial benefit from being in receipt of a blue badge, through free 

designated parking.  A vast increase in disabled persons parking provision is likely to 

reduce the amount of parking income received. 

 

 

7.   Summary & Conclusion 

Gloucestershire County Council provides a Blue Badge scheme in line with DfT guidance 

and the process is fair and transparent.  Consistency of process, use of an eligibility 

criteria and IMA assessments ensures that anyone who meets the eligibility criteria 

receives a badge.  The percentage of applicant declines is low and comparative with other 

local authorities. 

 

A new national data base is due to be operational in January 2019 which is anticipated to 

provide greater automation to the process. 

 

Practise and procedures are under constant review to ensure the service meets 

performance targets and systems are streamlined and efficient.  The service is working 

with the Customer Programme towards seeking options for digitalising the application 

process to gain further efficiencies 

The Dft are currently reviewing eligibility criteria regarding ‘non mobility disability’ and 

therefore any changes to the current guidance would be required in relation to how any 

changes would be governed and where the parameters would be set. The views of current 

badge holders and interested groups would be paramount in any consultation to extend 

eligibility in order to consider the impact on existing badge holders, disabled peoples 

parking provision, loss of income and the administration cost of extending the blue badge 

scheme. 

 

Tina Reid 

Operations Director: Adult Social Care & Business Development 

01452 583560 

 

10th November 2017 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY UPDATE

6 December 2017

1 Introduction  
This report summarises the activities of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
during September and November.  Individual reports from the scrutiny chairs are 
referenced as follows:  

Section 2 Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee

Section 3 Cllr Brian Robinson, Chair of the Children and Families 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Section 4 Cllr Carole Allaway Martin, Chair of the Health and Care 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Section 5 Cllr Robert Bird, Chair of the Environment and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Section 6 Cllr Dave Norman, Chair of Economic Growth Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Section 7 Cllr Will Windsor Clive, Gloucestershire Police and Crime 
Panel

2 Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee (29 September & 24 
November)  – Cllr Patrick Molyneux 

29 September 2017

2.1 Performance Monitoring

Lead Members had suggested that before considering the quarterly strategic 
performance report, that specific scrutiny committees have an opportunity to 
feedback from their own discussions on performance. The Leader of Council 
was in attendance and members could ask questions of him informed by the 
reports and presentation. The Leader was happy to take these questions either 
during the presentation or during the allocated item. The Chairman 
acknowledged that this was a work in progress and asked if any of the Chairs 
had any points they wished to raise. 

At the end of quarter 1, 73.5% of targets had been met. It was important to note 
that the data set had changed and members had a report within their pack 
outlining the new set. Nevertheless, the Council was reporting an improved 

Page 31

Agenda Item 11



position on the previous quarter. A new indicator set was being developed for 
adult social care and members would expect to receive data on that in quarter 2.

Members discussed the performance data around children in care. Members 
queried why the numbers of children in care had grown so substantially over a 
relatively short period of time. In response it was explained that this reflected the 
national trend and that the Council was average across comparator groups. One 
member suggested that a decrease in preventative measures such as 
reductions in services at children’s centres could be having an impact. The 
Leader explained that a substantial amount of work had been carried out on the 
effectiveness of children’s centres and the conclusion had been that that they 
were not reaching those vulnerable groups. The service had since been 
redesigned to provide a stronger focus on those children and families.

In Adult Social Care, after seeing a decrease in overdue re-assessments, this 
had now started to rise again. This was partly due to staff being diverted to meet 
demand in other areas. This was something for members to keep a watch on in 
subsequent performance reports.  

2.2 Finance Update

Head of Financial Management, explained that the current forecast of the year 
end revenue position was an overspend of £1.873 million. Officers were working 
to reduce this figure but in the event that the outturn position matched this 
forecast, the overspend would be met from general reserves. 

The forecast outturn position for Adult Social Care was to break even but there 
was with an underlying overspend of £5.54 million offset by the Adult Care Levy 
and grant funding and reserve transfers. For Children’s, £3.05 million was being 
applied from the vulnerable children’s reserve to reduce the overspend from 
£8.96 million to £5.91 million. The figures reflected the increased unit costs and 
demand in both Adults and Children’s services.

2.3 Budget Scrutiny Proposals

The Chairman introduced the proposed approach to the budget scrutiny 
process. Lead Members had suggested that it should be a one day scrutiny 
process held on 10 January 2018. Sessions would be held with the Cabinet 
Member and Directors for each scrutiny committee to discuss the draft budget. 
OSMC members would then be in attendance throughout the day in order to 
identify any recurring themes and trends. OSMC members would then identify 
the key areas they wished to include in their report to Cabinet. The Committee 
agreed to the recommended process for budget scrutiny.

Page 32



24 November 2017

2.4 Care Staff and the National Minimum Wage

The Committee received a comprehensive report detailing the review of 
‘employment practices of all those care providers being used by the council to 
ensure that all care staff are paid at or above hourly National Minimum wage 
rates’. This had been referred to the Committee following a motion at full 
Council. The report can be found at: 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=264&MId=854
6&Ver=4  

Members were provided with the context around the National Minimum Wage 
(NMW) and the National Living Wage (NLW) which was introduced on 1 April 
2016. It was explained that the NLW is a new single hourly rate of the NMW for 
workers aged 25 and over.  The report provided details around the legal 
responsibilities and relevant case law. The Committee understood that when 
considering the National Minimum Wage for carers, it was the average wage 
across the totality of the hours that was considered. Examples were included 
within the report identifying the types of shift patterns including ‘sleep-in’ nights.  
Members clarified that if an employee was paid a higher than minimum wage 
rate for day shifts, then sleep-ins could be paid at a lower rate as long as the 
average for the pay reference period was at the National Minimum Wage.  In 
response to a question it was clarified that ‘sleep-ins’ were generally paid as a 
fixed fee per shift and that they accounted for a small proportion of the overall 
work load of a carer. 

There was some discussion around the Domiciliary Care Market and on the 
information contained within the report of the number of providers in each ‘zone’ 
within Gloucestershire. Some members asked questions on this issue, 
recognising that there had been a recent Cabinet report on changes to 
contracting in the urban areas of Cheltenham and Gloucester. 

The report concluded that officers were satisfied that in-house care workers 
were being paid appropriately to meet the National Living Wage. It stated that 
officers we were satisfied that rates paid to independent sector providers are 
sufficient for them to ensure their workers are paid appropriately to meet 
National Living Wage. During annual compliance visits and unannounced visits, 
officers check pay records to satisfy the County Council that workers are 
receiving the appropriate remuneration. The report aimed to demonstrate the 
commitment the County Council and CCG have to ensure a financially viable 
and sustainable care workforce to support elderly and vulnerable people to 
receive care and support at home both now and in the future.

Page 33

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=264&MId=8546&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=264&MId=8546&Ver=4


The Committee welcomed the report and having considered the information, 
members were satisfied with the summary provided.  They noted questions 
raised by members on other aspects of Domiciliary Care and that these 
questions could be raised through Health and Care Scrutiny Committee.

2.5 Performance Reporting

The slides from the presentation on the strategic performance management 
committee report for the 2nd quarter had been circulated in advance. The 
presentation outlined the Performance Management Framework with it 
emphasised that performance management happened at all levels of the 
Council. The Committee also discussed the way in which performance was 
reported to all the scrutiny committees, emphasising the importance of 
consistency of format. All committees received the scorecard annex for their 
particular area with covering reports by the Director.  Lead Members would be 
discussing this further.

The Council was meeting or exceeding 73% of targets at the end of quarter 2.

 2.6 IT Briefing

The Head of ICT, introduced the report providing a high level summary of the 
ICT strategy as well as an overview of the service and how it was structured. 
The Committee understood that there were four key themes:

 Shared and Partnership Working
 Flexible, Mobile and Efficient Workers
 Compliance and Security
 Strong Infrastructure

Members were informed that there was an emerging fifth theme around 
developing a new strategy to enable digital transformation.

The Committee discussed the recent outages with Blackberry Work and were 
provided with assurances that work was being carried out, in conjunction with 
Blackberry, to ensure the solution was fit for purpose. 

Members recognised the work that was being carried out in Children’s Services 
around ‘Social work not paperwork’ providing social workers with the devices 
and options to work remotely as part of the Improvement Plan.  

Page 34



3 Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee (14 September & 
17 November) - Cllr Brian Robinson

14 September 2017

3.1 The role of the local authority in achieving the best educational outcomes for 
Gloucestershire pupils

The Head of Education, Head of Education Performance and Inclusion, and 
Lead Commissioner for Education and Skills attended the committee to ensure 
that members received a full picture of the council’s role in the delivery of 
education within the (ever) changing legislation landscape. It is interesting to 
note that throughout all of the changes the local authority’s statutory duties have 
remained in place. The committee was informed that the latest announcement 
with regard to the national school funding formula was due to be made that day; 
and we expect a briefing will be sent to all members of council in due course on 
what this means for Gloucestershire’s schools. This is a complex area and 
committee members recommend that this matter is included on the member 
development schedule to inform all members of council.

There was a shared concern with regard to the rising number of children and 
young people being home educated. A particular concern is safeguarding 
issues, and it was frustrating to hear that legislation relating to home education 
makes access to the child very difficult, and why working closely with partners 
who can more easily gain access (eg. health) is important. It was good to hear 
that the majority of Gloucestershire pupils were in good or outstanding schools, 
but of concern that in some areas of the county pupil’s education outcomes 
remain a concern. There is also an excess of provision of school places in the 
Forest of Dean which presents funding challenges for those schools. Permanent 
exclusions remain a serious concern and the committee agreed that a detailed 
look at this issue is necessary and have therefore agreed to establish a task 
group. The one page strategy will be submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management as soon as possible so that work can begin promptly.

3.2  Court Judgement on the unlawful removal of a child from its mother

The Interim Director of Improvement and Operations explained that this case 
exemplified some of the shortcomings that had been highlighted by the Ofsted 
Inspection and that the council was trying to address. The Interim Director had 
undertaken a detailed look at this case and informed members how
this situation had come about. Key issues were the changes in personnel 
managing this case which meant there was a lack of consistency; not reading 
the file properly and understanding the issues (eg. that the social worker had not 

Page 35



developed a good working relationship with the child’s mother); and a general 
lack of appreciation of the court order previously imposed.

The Interim Director was clear that the concerns for the child’s welfare were 
real, and that the Judge was not saying that the council was wrong to want to 
remove the child, but that it should have done so legally. This case is still within 
the court arena and was closely monitored. There was some disquiet that 
elected members had not been briefed before this matter had made it into the 
news media. The Interim Director of Children’s Services explained to the
committee that it was not known that the Judge would decide to place the 
judgement into the public domain until the actual day, and that members had 
then been briefed as soon as possible.

To gain a better understanding of the court process the committee has 
scheduled a workshop for February 2018.

3.3. Children’s Services Improvement Plan

The committee welcomed the opportunity to receive the Improvement Plan. The 
committee will have a key role in scrutinising whether the Improvement Plan is 
making a difference and delivering the required change. The committee heard 
from the LGA Children’s Improvement Advisor at its meeting on 13 July 2017 
that the improvement journey could take two years. It is therefore important that 
the committee sets out a clear schedule of when it will receive reports on the 
work of the Improvement Board, and the type of reports that it will need to
receive to be able to do its job, eg. Quality Audits.

It was questioned whether there were sufficient resources to deliver this plan 
given the significant pressure on services. The pressures were acknowledged. 
However the costs/resources required were being calculated and the council 
would benefit from the advice of its improvement partner, Essex County Council, 
as to the efficient targeting of resources. Work was also in place to try to 
address social worker retention issues. The committee will be able to explore 
this in more detail when it meets with the Chair of the Improvement Board on 25 
September 2017.

3.4. Quarter 1 Performance Report

The committee agreed that it had discussed the issues relating to children’s 
services within the wider committee agenda. The Ofsted Inspection Report had 
been clear that the council needed to improve and as already discussed the 
committee will be setting out a clear work plan of how it intends to scrutinise the 
improvement journey.

Page 36



3.5 Revenue Monitoring

The committee noted the current financial position. Members repeated concerns 
raised by the committee in the previous council with regard to the pressure on 
the external placement budget. The committee would continue to monitor this 
situation.

17 November 2017

3.6 Early Help - Families First Plus

The committee was pleased to welcome the Head of Families, Communities and
Partnerships, an Employment Advisor, a Family Support Officer, and a Family 
Group Conference Coordinator, to the meeting to discuss Early Help. Early 
intervention and prevention are important factors in supporting children and 
families. Working Together to Safeguard Children guidance (2015) says that 
‘providing early help is more effective in promoting the welfare of children than 
reacting later. Early help means providing support as soon as a problem 
emerges, at any point in a child’s life, from the foundation years through to the 
teenage years’.

It is important to understand that early help/families first plus is not a specific 
service. Early help identifies what is needed and puts together a plan of support, 
and coordinates this activity with the council and partners. Ofsted (2017) 
reported that ‘the restructuring of services to a locality basis means that early 
help is becoming more responsive to local need; increasing numbers of children 
have an early help plan; and, social workers report that they have a clearer 
understanding of the services available for children and young families’.
There are currently around 2000 referrals to the ‘front door’ a month. The ‘front 
door’ has been reconfigured to improve the process for customers, to enable 
timely decision making for children (within 24 hours). Work is also underway to 
enable better analysis of the flow so that it can be identified how many referrals 
met the threshold for help, how many are repeat referrals etc. The ‘front door’ 
telephone number has been widely publicised and a lot has been done to 
ensure that partners know where to go to get help/advice.

The Employment Advisor is employed by the DWP but is co-located with the 
council. This role provides financial expertise and a full understanding of the 
benefits system which aims to ensure that families are on a stable financial 
footing. The Employment Advisor can spend more intensive time with a family 
that at the Job Centre. Within this context it is important to be aware that the 
benefits of this approach may not be clear for several years; it is not just about 
getting people into work but providing a positive role model and aspirations to 
the younger generation.

Page 37



Family conferences are about empowering the family to identify and provide 
their own solutions to their situation. The committee was pleased to hear that 
the child’s voice is central to this process. The committee welcomed this work, 
but does want to get a more evidenced base understanding as to whether the 
restructuring of the service has created a better system for children and their 
families; that decisions are being made within the required timeline; and
 that there is a better understanding of the data and what this is telling us about 
our children and families.

3.7  Ofsted Improvement Letter

The committee had a detailed discussion regarding the content of this letter. A 
significant discussion point related to the recruitment and retention of social 
workers. This is an issue that will not be resolved quickly. The council is drawing 
on the same pool as neighbouring authorities, who have also been judged to be 
inadequate. Work is in place to create an attractive recruitment package. There 
is a lot of activity to reduce the size of caseloads, and these have reduced 
significantly since the inspection, but are still not at the level we would want 
them to be. It was of concern to read that although our social workers know and 
understand the children and families they work with, that they are not recording 
the information appropriately on the system. It was explained that this is part of 
practice improvement – understanding what a good assessment looks like. The 
experience and expertise of the council’s improvement partner will support and 
improve this and the wider understanding of what good practice looks like.

The Improvement Board is leading on the Children’s Improvement Plan, and the 
committee has requested regular updates from the Cabinet Member, Children 
and Young People. The committee will also receive future Ofsted monitoring 
letters. Some members of the committee have requested that the previous 
Cabinet Member, Children and Young People be invited to the committee to 
respond to questions.

4 Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee (12 September and 14th 
November) – Cllr Carole Allaway Martin

12 September 2017

4.1 Adult Safeguarding

The committee was pleased to welcome the Independent Chair of the 
Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board (GSAB), and the Interim Head of 
Adult Safeguarding to the meeting to discuss this important issue with members. 

Page 38



The Independent Chair presented the GSAB Annual Report 2016/17 and the 
GSAB Strategic Plan. He highlighted that a significant challenge going forward 
related to the risks associated with social isolation, hoarding and
self-neglect. The committee also received a presentation of a safeguarding adult 
review of a self-neglect case where decisions made by the individual had led to 
a life threatening situation. The significant challenge in this case, and many 
others, was that when an individual has the mental capacity to make their own 
decisions (even though others might think that they were the wrong decisions) 
their right to do so must be respected; and this right was enshrined in law. In this 
particular case the only point at which the individual lost that ability was when
they became unconscious and family members present made the decision to 
call 999.

The individual survived the situation and participated in the review of their case, 
and he does not apportion blame to any agencies. The review did highlight 
learning opportunities including raising awareness of safeguarding issues with 
private housing landlords. The committee was pleased to note that this 
individual is doing well, and welcomed the information that he is happy to work 
with the GSAB to help improve awareness of self neglect issues.

This review prompted a lot of debate and concern. It was good to note that the 
GSAB is working hard to try and reach vulnerable adults, and acknowledges 
that people may not wish to engage with social care professionals, and is 
working closely with the voluntary sector and the Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service (GFRS) to access these people.

4.2 Health and Wellbeing for the Future: Community Hospital Services in the Forest 
of Dean

The committee was aware that the work to identify health needs in the Forest of 
Dean area and develop proposals had started two years ago, and was therefore 
pleased that consultation on the way forward was now beginning.
The committee received a detailed presentation from the Chef Executive of 
Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust on the proposal. Given that there are 
people resident in Gloucestershire but registered with a Welsh GP it was 
reassuring to hear that GPs in the Monmouth and Chepstow area are aware of 
this proposal and information will be available in their surgeries.

Committee members are aware that the Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group (GCCG) has already undertaken a lot of work with Forest of Dean 
communities, and felt that the level of consultation activity should reach most 
people. The GCCG would also be utilising social media. The committee will 
receive the outcome of this consultation at its meeting in January 2018.

Page 39



The committee encourages all members of council to participate in this 
consultation. Information is available at this link www.fodhealth.nhs.uk. The 
consultation period ends on 10 December 2017.

4.3 Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHNHSFT) Independent 
Review of Financial Governance

Members will be aware that in September 2016 the GHNHSFT announced an 
unexpected and significant deterioration in its financial position. As a 
consequence of this, the GHNHSFT Board (in partnership with its regulator NHS 
Improvement), commissioned an independent review into the circumstances 
that contributed both to the financial decline and the fact that it had gone 
unreported for such a significant period of time.

The report by Deloitte was published on 7 July 2017. The Chair of GHNHSFT 
brought the committee up to date with progress against the report’s 
recommendations, in particular the work to strengthen governance and finance 
reporting. There was a concern with regard to the potential impact on services 
but it was reiterated (from November 2016) that GHNSFT was commissioned by 
the GCCG to provide specific services and it must deliver them.

The committee was pleased to note that the learning opportunities from this 
review have been shared with STP partners; and that NHS Improvement was 
also using this experience when working with other NHS Trusts.

The committee will continue to closely monitor this situation.

4.4 Remodelling Public Health Nursing Consultation

This was an opportunity for the committee to be informed about Public Health 
Nursing Services (PHNS) and to also participate in this consultation. The 
committee noted that the council was responsible for commissioning Health 
Visiting services for families expecting a baby until the child turns 5 years and 
also a School Nursing service for children aged 5 to 19 years. The PHNS are 
provided by Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust (GCSNHST). In
December 2016, the Cabinet approved a remodelling of the PHNS to bring 
Health visiting and school nursing together into a single service for children and 
their families from pre-birth to age 19, which provides specific support at key 
development stages in a child’s life.

The committee welcomed this consultation and in the main agreed that the 
direction of travel was appropriate. Members recognised that this service 
presented a good opportunity to identify safeguarding concerns and asked that 

Page 40



care was taken that this aspect was not diminished. The committee will be 
interested to see the outcome of this consultation.

14 November 2017

4.5 Winter Plan

The committee received a detailed presentation on the Winter Plan. The 
development of this plan built on experience from previous winters and from 
NHS Improvement (NHSI) publication on national priorities for acute hospitals 
‘Good practice guide: Focus on improving patient flow’ (July 2017).

The system wide requirements for Gloucestershire are: -
 To achieve the national 4 hour standard for A & E
 To maintain elective and non-elective flow within the acute trust
 To maintain high quality care for all patients accessing Gloucestershire 

services
 To provide robust staffing by supporting staff to stay well alongside 

securing required staffing levels

Last year elective activity in the acute trust was significantly impacted by non-
elective flow. To improve this position trauma and orthopaedic non-elective 
surgery will be at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital (GRH) with elective surgery at 
Cheltenham General Hospital (CGH). This is a pilot not a service change. The 
pilot will be evaluated and any future action will be discussed with the 
committee. Members were informed that one week after implementation the 
data was showing an improvement in patient experience.

What was very clear is that this is a system wide plan – no one partner can 
deliver this on their own. NHS England has informed the Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group that this is a strong plan, and members of the 
committee agree with this view. The committee will need to closely monitor 
performance data through the winter period to see if the expected outcomes 
from the winter plan are being achieved, and that the escalation management 
actions work effectively. The roll out of the Ambulance Response Programme 
(ARP) also has an important role in this work. The committee will be meeting 
with the South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SWASFT) 
on 9 January 2018 to discuss performance; and some members of the 
committee are visiting the SWASFT Clinical Hub in South Gloucestershire
on 24 November 2017 to gain a better understanding of how 999 calls to 
SWASFT are managed. (The presentation slides and NHSI Good Practice 
Guide are available on the council website.)

Page 41



4.6 One Gloucestershire STP Lead Report

This is the first report of the STP Lead to the committee. This brought the 
committee up to date with STP activity. The committee is expecting to receive 
STP proposals relating to Urgent Care in late Spring 2018. This will create a 
network of Urgent Care Centres (UCCs) across the county. It is anticipated that 
there will be UCCs in Cheltenham and Gloucester; there will also be UCCs
in the rural areas. The detail of the proposals is still in development so the actual 
location of the UCCs in the rural areas is not yet clear.

This does lead to the question of where this leaves Minor Injuries and Illness 
Units, and whether this also leaves a question mark over the future of A & E at 
Cheltenham General Hospital. This will not become clear until the final 
proposals are presented to the committee at the start of the consultation period 
in late Spring 2018.

4.7 GCCG Chair/Accountable Officer Report
The committee was clear that it would be closely monitoring the development of 
the merger of Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust and the 2Gether NHS 
Foundation Trust.

5 Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee
(20 September and 22 November) - Cllr Rob Bird

20 September 2017

5.1 Motion 772: Highways Customer Service Satisfaction Survey

Members received an update on the Highways Customer Service Satisfaction
Survey from Scott Tompkins, Lead Commissioner: Highway Authority. The
survey is sent out every autumn to all parish councils, town councils and elected
members within the County, and the results are used as part of the key
performance indicators for the highways term maintenance contract and to help
inform improvements to the service.

The Committee was reminded that the 2016 survey was delayed following a
motion at full Council in June 2016, which asked scrutiny to review highway
satisfaction levels. The Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee
considered the motion at its meeting in July 2016 and supported a proposal to
commission a review of the Highways Customer Satisfaction Survey. Committee
members agreed the recommended changes to the survey at the Environment
and Communities Scrutiny Committee meeting in November 2016, which
included rewording some of the questions, creating an on-line version of the
survey, extending the survey to community groups in Gloucester and

Page 42



Cheltenham, and offering a week’s lengthsman time as a prize draw to
encourage a better response rate. The surveys were to be issued in spring 2017
but were delayed due to election purdah periods. The survey was sent out in
June 2017 to be completed by the end of July.

Members were informed that the number of responses received from parish
councils, town councils and elected members had dropped compared to 
previous years. Members requested that a list detailing the parish and town 
councils that had responded to the survey be shared with them. The results 
indicated a significant improvement in customer satisfaction levels compared to 
the 2015 results, particularly in relation to the service provided by Amey 
Highways and the professionalism of staff. The Committee discussed the
results in detail, and recognised that whilst satisfaction levels had improved,
further work to raise satisfaction levels needed to be done. Members also
considered whether the low response rate could have been due to an increase 
in satisfaction levels.

The Committee was asked to consider whether the survey should be issued
again in autumn 2017. Members were informed that autumn was the preferred
time to issue the survey as a significant amount of construction work is carried
out over the summer, the survey had previously been issued in the autumn, and
also because the results of the National Highways and Transport Survey are
published at this time. Members compared the benefits of sending the survey 
out in autumn 2017 or summer 2018. It was agreed that officers and the Cabinet

Member for Highways and Flood would discuss the options, with reference to 
the thoughts of the Committee, and would provide the Committee with an 
update on their decision at a future meeting.

5.2 Commissioning Director’s Report – Including the Quarter 1 Strategic
Performance Report 2017/18

Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure, updated 
the Committee on current issues. In particular, members asked questions about 
the Local Growth Fund, Community Infrastructure Levy, LED Street Lighting 
Project, and the Gloucester South West By Pass. In response to a request, a 
private briefing on the status of Commons and Rights of Way applications will be 
provided to Committee members before the next meeting. Members also 
received an update from Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure, on the Minerals Local Plan Cabinet Panel. Members considered 
the Quarter 1 Strategic Performance Report 2017/18. In response to a query, it 
was clarified that the quarterly figures for the number of killed and seriously 
injured children under road safety were cumulative. The Committee noted the 
report.

Page 43



5.3 Chief Fire Officer Report

The Committee received a report from Stewart Edgar, Chief Fire Officer, 
detailing information on the portfolio of services provided by the Gloucestershire 
Fire and Rescue Service on behalf of Gloucestershire County Council.
Members noted, in an update on the Fire and Police Governance Review, that
the Police and Crime Commissioner has issued a formal response stating that
the governance change process will now be put on hold indefinitely. It was
agreed that it would be helpful if the Committee could be provided with an
estimate of the costs to Gloucestershire County Council for contributing to the
review.

It was also noted that the draft Statement of Assurance for 2016/17 will be
reported to the Committee for comment at its meeting in November, and that
Registration Services are currently monitoring new legislation. The Committee 
discussed the six Capital bids submitted by GFRS in detail, and clarification was 
sought on the disposal of assets.

5.4 Work Plan

The Committee queried how Motion 787 – Pavements, which requested that the
Cabinet Member report back to the Highways Advisory Group on measures to
improve the inspection and fixing of pavements, before reporting to the
Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee with a positive action plan,
can be addressed now that the Highways Advisory Group has been disbanded.
This will be clarified at the next meeting.

It was requested that an update on the road safety review in Gloucestershire be 
provided as part of the Chief Fire Officer report at the next Committee meeting.
Members discussed Motion 798 – Gloucestershire Flood and Community
Resilience, which had been referred to the Committee by full Council at its 
meeting on 13 September 2017. It was agreed that a presentation would be 
given at the meeting on 17 January 2018 outlining Gloucestershire’s flood 
resilience, Gloucestershire’s role as lead local flood authority, and how the flood 
levy has been used. Cllrs Kate Haigh and Lesley Williams, the proposer and 
seconder of the motion, would be invited to attend the meeting to contribute to 
the debate.

The Committee is to receive a report on the Minerals Local Plan and the Draft
Integrated Risk Management Plan 2018-21 at its meeting on 22 November 2017

Page 44



22 November 2017

5.5 Minerals Local Plan

Members received a report on progress with the emerging Minerals Local Plan 
for Gloucestershire (2018-32), including an analysis of representations received 
to the draft plan consultation and proposed significant changes to be considered 
for incorporation into the Publication version of the plan. This plan will replace 
the existing Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan which was adopted in 2003.

Over 2,500 individual representations were made to the draft plan consultation, 
which have been reviewed by officers. Members were informed that the 
comments raised through the draft plan consultation have resulted in a number 
of proposed changes, including:

 The removal of draft policy MW06 Oil and Gas and its supporting text;
 The expansion of the spatial portrait to explain the current 

circumstances surrounding the diminished likelihood of oil and gas 
resources in Gloucestershire being exploited. The spatial portrait will 
also include a new commitment to instigate a review of the plan if 
renewed interest is shown in oil and gas extraction in the future 
through any attempts to acquire new Petroleum Exploration and 
Developments Licences (PEDLs), if these are made available by the 
government;

 The removal of oil and gas development from the spatial strategy and 
the introduction of specific references to measures to support climate 
change mitigation and/or adaption; and

 The removal of candidate allocation 07 – Preferred area at Redpool’s 
Farm, Twyning, on the grounds of concern over deliverability and 
‘strategic’ fit.

Members noted the proposed timescale for the emerging plan. The next step 
was for Cabinet, at its meeting on 31st January 2018, to consider making a 
recommendation to Full Council for the approval of the Publication version of the 
Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018-2032) and to also enable the plan 
to be subsequently submitted to the Secretary of State.

The Committee discussed the proposed changes to the plan in depth, 
particularly in relation to oil and gas extraction, and noted the report.

Page 45



5.6 Draft Integrated Risk Management Plan 2018-21

The Committee was informed of the development and progression for the next 
Integrated Risk Management Plan (2018-21) for Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service.

The draft IRMP was considered by Cabinet on 27 September 2017, where it 
was approved for public consultation. The consultation is open until 8 January 
2018.

Members noted that the draft IRMP outlines three objectives that will be 
addressed by the Service between 2018 and 2021:

 Objective 1 – Increased focus on prevention and protection initiatives;
 Objective 2 – Explore, further develop, and maximise opportunities to 

collaborate with partners and other stakeholders; and
 Objective 3 – Reconfigure and reform the Service with the aim of 

driving efficiencies across the Service, delivering continual 
improvements in working practices, even greater levels of value for 
money than are already achieved, and a Service that is fit for purpose 
both now and in the years to come. 

Members were asked to comment on the plan and consider a submission by the 
Committee to the public consultation. The Committee agreed to endorse the 
draft IRMP (2018-21), in addition to individual Committee members submitting 
representations to the consultation. 

5.7 Local Risk Management Strategy – Annual Progress and Implementation Plan 
2017/18

Members were informed that Gloucestershire County Council, as the Lead Local 
Flood Authority for Gloucestershire, adopted its Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy in 2014, which sets out the Council’s proposals to fulfil its role over the 
subsequent 10 years. The Council is also required to produce an Annual 
Progress and Implementation Plan to enable it to respond to any legislative, 
regulatory and financial changes that might occur during the delivery period of 
the Local Strategy.

Members considered the Annual Progress and Implementation Plan 2017/18. 
Clarification was sought on funding for schemes, collaboration with other local 
authorities on schemes, and on the collection of flooding data.

Page 46



The Committee recognised the significant number of flood alleviation schemes 
which the Flood Alleviation Team has and continues to deliver for the County.

It was suggested that the Committee may wish to consider soft flood alleviation 
schemes as an item for scrutiny at a future meeting.

It was noted that a final version of the Plan, which will take into account the 
Committee’s comments, will be added to the Flood Risk related pages on the 
Council’s website.

5.8 Chief Fire Officer Report

The Committee received a report from Stewart Edgar, Chief Fire Officer, 
detailing information on the portfolio of services provided by the Gloucestershire 
Fire and Rescue Service on behalf of Gloucestershire County Council. 

5.9 Commissioning Director’s Report – Including the Quarter 2 Strategic 
Performance Report 2017/18

Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure, updated 
the Committee on current issues.

The Committee noted the report, including the Quarter 2 Strategic Performance 
Report 2017/18. 

5.10 Work Plan 

At its meeting on 17 January 2018, the Committee is to receive a presentation 
outlining Gloucestershire’s flood resilience, Gloucestershire’s role as lead local 
flood authority, and how the flood levy has been used, as part of its 
consideration of Motion 798: Gloucestershire Flood and Community Resilience. 
The Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood will also report to the Committee 
on measures to improve the inspection and fixing of pavements at the meeting 
in January, as part of the Committee’s consideration of Motion 787: Pavements.

6 Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee (19 October) – Cllr 
Dave Norman 

At the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee meeting on 21 
June 2017, the committee endorsed a proposal by the former committee to 
arrange two of the six annual scheduled scrutiny committee meetings held at 
Shire Hall as ‘stand alone meetings’ at one of the district/borough council offices 
in Gloucestershire, (arranged on a rotational basis). At the committee meeting in 

Page 47



September, it was agreed that the first of the ‘roadshow’ meetings would be held 
at the Tewkesbury Borough Council Offices on 19 October 2017.

Cllr Dave Norman, as Chairman of the Committee, invited local members and 
lead officers from the Borough Council to present information on current issues 
and priorities relevant to the economic growth agenda for the authority, and for 
scrutiny members to ask questions on the measures in place to grow and 
sustain the local economy. There was also an opportunity for local members to 
consider the relationship between the District Authorities and the 
Gloucestershire First LEP, (Local Enterprise Partnership). Mike Dawson, Chief 
Executive of Tewkesbury Borough Council, and Cabinet Member for Economic 
Development and Promotion, Cllr Rob Bird, gave a very useful and informative 
presentation, before inviting local member and scrutiny committee members to 
ask questions.

The Chief Executive explained that the focus of the economic agenda for
Tewkesbury was to work with the other districts in prioritising and promoting the
economic development of Gloucestershire. As part of a new ‘economic 
development and tourism strategy’, the Borough Council’s ambition was to 
become the ‘growth engine’ for Gloucestershire. Key aspirations included; 
identifying and delivering employment land; maximising the growth potential of 
Junctions 9 and 10 of the M5 motorway; regenerating Tewkesbury town centre, 
and delivering major housing development. Responding to questions about the 
relationship between the Borough Council and GFirst LEP, the Chief Executive 
advised of the commitment between the two organisations in developing more 
formal links of engagement at both member and strategic level. The Chief 
Executive confirmed that the relationship had recently benefitted from a number 
of improvements and was gaining in strength. During the meeting, it was 
suggested that the success of the relationship between the LEP and the seven 
local authorities was dependent on the individual council’s commitment to 
supporting delivery of the programmes set out in the Strategic Economic Plan, 
and to the council’s contributions to the wider growth ambitions for 
Gloucestershire.

Reflecting on the role of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee, 
it was suggested that the purpose of the Joint Committee was to provide a 
mechanism for co-ordinating this commitment from the local authorities. In turn, 
the role of the Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee was to review the 
performance of the Joint Committee in fulfilling its responsibilities. The 
discussion provided a positive and encouraging outlook, with several
suggestions made at the meeting noted by the Chief Executive for the council to
pursue in more depth and consider as part of the economic agenda for 
Tewkesbury.

Page 48



Overall, the meeting was considered a very useful exercise, providing an 
excellent starting point for meetings to be held locally. The next ‘roadshow’ 
meeting will be held at the Cotswold District Council Offices on Thursday 22 
February 2018.

7. Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel (8 September and 8 November) – 
Cllr Will Windsor Clive

8 September 2017

7.1  Complaints and Crime Statistics 

Paul Trott presented the report detailing Freedom of Information requests and
Complaints. He explained that there had been a slight rise in complaints in comparison 
to the previous five years. The crime data was set out within the report and showed that 
crime had risen over the previous 6 months with a spike in March and April. This had 
been replicated across the Country. In most parts of the County, districts were 
performing well against comparators across the country; the exception was Cheltenham 
and the Constabulary was taking action to address that. In response to a question 
regarding Cheltenham, it was explained that there had been an increase in violent crime 
but that resources were being redeployed into that area.

7.2  Emergency Services Collaboration

The Panel discussed the recent update regarding ‘Emergency Service
Collaboration’. Members had been circulated a report from the consultants
who had worked on behalf of the Commissioner to consider the viability of
moving the governance of the service to the Commissioner’s Office. In
addition, the Commissioner had circulated his report with the conclusion that he would 
not be proceeding with the business case. There was a detailed discussion, with some 
members expressing their concern regarding what they saw as criticisms of the County 
Council within the report. It was clarified that the Council had a Medium Term 
Financial Strategy that included the Fire and Rescue Service and an estates strategy 
supported by government grants. It was also emphasised that the Service was scrutinised 
by Environment and Communities Scrutiny as well as by the relevant Cabinet Member. 
The reports were also in the public arena.

The Commissioner explained to the Panel that he had decided not to proceed because 
there had been too much opposition. He explained that if there were issues with the Fire 
and Rescue Service performance then it was something he would look at again.

Page 49



Some members commented on the apparent ‘bad feeling’ that had been created by the 
discussion around the governance of the Fire and Rescue Service. It was felt that it was 
important to move on now that the reports had
been made and conclusions drawn.

The Commissioner had informed the Chairman of the Panel earlier in the week that he 
needed to leave the meeting at 11am due to a meeting with the Home Secretary. One 
member asked why the Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner would not be present to 
deputise for him for the remainder of the meeting. The Panel was informed that the 
Deputy was at the Podsmead and Matson Regeneration and could not attend. Officers 
would be present to respond and to take back questions where required. The 
Commissioner then left the meeting.

7.3. Safer Gloucestershire

Richard Bradley reminded the Panel of the review of community safety
conducted the previous year. As a result of that review, Safer Gloucestershire
had been created. The first meeting had been held in July and, from that
meeting, a number of documents were being prepared. This was the Joint
Strategic Needs Assessment and developing a protocol to share information.
The main thrust of the meeting was to ensure an integrated approach. At the
next meeting on 8 October those documents would be brought forward. The
meetings were ‘closed’ officer meetings held at police headquarters.

7.4 Young People Becoming Adults

Kate Langley, strategic lead for justice in Gloucestershire was the lead on the
priority area for the Commissioner. Chief Inspector Paul Dutton was the head
of emergency response for Gloucestershire and Chair of the youth justice
partnership board. Paul outlined the six objectives:

 Raise awareness of young people – ensure young people have a voice,
 dignity and respect.
 Reduce first time entrants into the criminal justice system – reducing the
 time they spend with the police.
 Anti-social behaviour – supporting through early intervention
 Create strong and successful partnership for young people
 Communication strategy across Gloucestershire

The Panel were informed of the Overarching piece of work, ‘Children First – restorative 
intervention.’ The focus was to keep young people out of criminal
justice system, based on the evidence that young people were more likely to
continue to offend once in it.

Page 50



Members were provided with the aim of Children First:

 To divert children and young people away from the formal criminal justice
 system wherever possible and reduce unnecessary criminalisation
 particularly of vulnerable groups e.g. children in care, learning difficulties,
 mental health problems.
 To encourage children and young people to take responsibility for their
 own actions and promote reintegration into their communities
 To ensure children and young people are offered the right support in order
 to prevent further offending at the earliest opportunity
 To make restorative Interventions the norm and default disposal for
 children and young people who offend.
 To see the child first and offender second
 To put the victim at the heart of the youth justice system

7.5 Items for upcoming meetings

 It was suggested that the Panel receive an item on wildlife crime, detailing
 the resources put into it and number of prosecutions. The Commissioner
 explained that this was part of the police and crime plan called the
 ‘compassionate approach’. He suggested the item could include the
 compassionate approach to animals and environmental footprint of the
 constabulary
 The consideration of the Annual Report was deferred until the next
 meeting as the Commissioner was not in attendance.
 Members requested an item updating on the Neighbourhood Policing Offer

8 November 2017

7.6 Chief Executive’s Report 

Paul Trott, Chief Executive of the Commissioner’s Office introduced the report. 
This included a log on decisions that had been made since the previous Panel 
meeting in September. The Panel noted the crime statistics within the report 
with it being explained that although crime was increasing Gloucestershire was 
performing well in comparison to those areas deemed most geographically 
similar as well as in comparison with England and Wales. Despite recent 
increases in crime, it was emphasised that crime rates were actually low in 
Gloucestershire making it one of the safest places in the country The 
Commissioner did state his concerns about the continued impact of reductions 

Page 51



in funding across the public sector and the impact this could have on crime 
figures.

The Panel were informed that regional collaboration discussions had been 
initiated to explore potential opportunities. The Commissioner explained that he 
had entered into discussions with Gloucestershire County Council about future 
collaboration of governance arrangements and areas for potential exploration 
with the Fire and Rescue Service.

The Commissioner had started discussions with Her Majesty’s Courts and
Tribunals Service regarding the possibility of building a new, multi-purpose 
courthouse within the Waterwells Campus. Architects had been asked to draw 
up some plans. There was some discussion around the impact of such an 
introduction. The Commissioner outlined that his question was ‘Can we together 
design the court of the future?’ The Commissioner was keen to engage with the 
County Council on this matter and was seeking support from the Panel. The 
Panel outlined that it was supportive of the Commissioner exploring this further 
with consultation with partners.

The Panel understood that the temporary Chief Constable’s contract was due to 
expire in May 2018. The Commissioner had asked the Chief Executive to begin 
the process of recruitment for a permanent Chief Constable with a view to 
completing the process before Christmas. The Panel has a requirement to hold 
a confirmatory hearing at the end of this process.

7.7 Child Protection

Detective Chief Superintendent Steve Porter provided members with an
update following the HMIC inspection of Safeguarding. The presentation
included the national and local context, the key positive and key improvement
themes arising from the inspection and the approach being taken to meet the
challenges identified.

Nationally and locally there had been an increase in demand for child
protection, CSE and CSE Online and was subject to more public and
Government scrutiny. The Ofsted inspection themes included the link between
missing children and CSE and the drift and delay of investigations. HMIC had
identified that the teams were under resourced and carrying out too many
investigations.

In terms of meeting the challenges the Constabulary would be ensuring
providing effective strategic and tactical oversight to ensure good governance;
to be more people focussed in leadership to provide support and effective
direction; to introduce new processes and systems to deliver the hallmarks of

Page 52



success; to develop a clear understanding of how we delivery providing
effective oversight of quality; and collaborating and working together to
safeguard children.

HMIC had been in for an effectiveness inspection and provided favourable
comments on how the Constabulary had dealt with vulnerability. The report
would be out in February 2018.

7.8 Annual Report

This item had been deferred from the previous meeting. The Commissioner
introduced the Annual report for the Panel’s comments. It was noted that it
was the same style that had been used in the previous year which had been
received well by the Panel. The Panel made no comment.

7.9  Force Control Room

Superintendent Rob Priddy updated the Panel on the restructuring of the
Force Control Room, including details on the number of 999 and 101 calls.
The Panel welcomed the measures being taken around changing staff shift
patterns and employee development that appeared to be having positive
results.

7.10 Police and Crime Plan Highlight Report

Richard Bradley introduced the highlight report providing information on
progress against the priorities within the Commissioner’s plan.
The Panel asked that at the next meeting they receive some information on
the Restorative Justice work being carried out.

7.11  The Compassionate Approach

The Commissioner provided an update on the Constabulary’s approach
towards animals and the environmental footprint. He focussed on the vehicles
within the Constabulary’s fleet which was under review. The Constabulary had
been asked to carry out a ‘root and branch’ review of the environmental
footprint which would be circulated to the Panel.

The Commissioner held the Constabulary to account on how to respond to
rural crime. While the volume of rural crime was generally low, he
acknowledged the high impact such crimes had in rural communities. There
was some discussion around the badger cull and the work that had been
carried out through the multi-agency group to help ease tensions and engage
with all interested parties. The Commissioner stated that he would be

Page 53



appointing someone to take the lead on the ‘compassionate approach’.

Page 54



GLOUCESTERSHIRE LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION FUND ANNUAL 
REPORT AND PENSION BOARD ANNUAL REPORT FOR 2016/2017

1 Introduction
The Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund produces an 
Annual Report that is distributed to all employers within the Fund and to 
those attending the Fund’s Annual Meeting in December. Copies are also 
available on request to scheme members, organisations and the general 
public. In addition the Annual Report is available on the County Council 
website.

2 Annual Report
The Annual Report provides information on the management of the Fund, 
an analysis of investment activity and investment performance, details of 
Fund membership and a summary of Fund benefits. The report also 
contains the formal accounts of the Fund for the year ended 31st March 
2017 and copies of all of the Fund’s strategy and policy statements.

3 Pension Board
The Pension Board’s Annual Report to County Council is contained within 
the main Annual Report on page 37.  The report sets out the background 
to the setting up of the Pension Board, its members and activities during 
the year.

 
4 Recommendation

That the Council notes the Pension Fund Annual Report and Pension 
Board’s Annual Report for 2016/2017.

Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Chairman of the Pension Committee

Page 55

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Local Government 

Pension Fund

www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

16/17

Page 57



1  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Information contained in this report is provided for information purposes 
only. Nothing contained herein should be construed as a recommendation or 
solicitation to buy or sell any security. Please remember past performance is 
not necessarily a guide to future returns.

Page 58



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  2

Introduction 03
Independent Investment Advisor’s Report  05
Management and Financial Performance 07
 Scheme management and advisors 07
 Risk management 08
 Financial performance 09
 Administrative management performance 13
 Comparison of investment performance with other LGPS 22
Investment Policy and Performance Report 23
Scheme Administration Report 32
Executive Summary on the Last Triennial Valuation 33
Actuarial Report on Fund 35
Pension Board 37
Governance Compliance Statement 38
Fund Account, Net Assets Statement and Notes 47
Pensions Administration Strategy 85
Pensions Administration Strategy Report 90
Funding Strategy Statement 91
Rates and Adjustment Certificate 117
Statement of Investment Principles 123
Communications Policy Statement 130
Summary of Fund Benefits, Membership and Beneficiaries 132
Other Appropriate Material 134
Glossary of Terms  135

Contents

Page 59



3  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

It is with pleasure that we 
introduce this year’s Annual 
Report of the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund. It contains 
details of the administration 
of the Fund, together with its 
investments and accounts for 
the year to 31st March 2017. 

Introduction

The Fund is managed and 
administered by Gloucestershire 
County Council on behalf of 
Gloucestershire local authorities, 
other bodies providing public 
services and certain admitted 
bodies, as part of the national 
Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) Regulations. The 
Fund meets the cost of pension 
benefits due to current and former 
employees of these organisations.

This report is primarily aimed at 
Fund members and participating 
employer organisations within 
the Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund (listed on pages 19 to 22), 
to provide information on the 
management arrangements and 
performance of the Fund over the 
last 12 months. The latest version 
of the Fund’s policy statements 
covering investment principles, 
funding strategy, governance and 
communication, as well as details 
of Fund membership and a brief 
summary of scheme benefits are 
also included within the Report. 
The formal accounts of the Fund 
for the year ended 31st March 
2017 can be found on pages 47 

to 84. Membership of the Pension 
Fund remained fairly static at 
around 52,000 during the 2016/17 
year. A breakdown of the Fund 
membership is included on page 
16.

The actuarial report on the Fund 
can be found on pages 35 to 36. 
This outlines the approach taken 
to secure Fund solvency while 
keeping employer contributions 
stable and also gives the web link 
to the 2016/17 Fund Valuation 
Report which gives details of 
the actuarial assumptions and 
methods used to value liabilities. 
From this report it can be seen 
that the Fund’s assets, as at the 
last triennial valuation date of 31st 
March 2016 were valued at £1,703 
million, which were sufficient to 
meet 79.7% of the liabilities (i.e. 
the present value of promised 
retirement benefits) accrued up 
to that date. The resulting deficit 
at the 2016 valuation was £435 
million.

During 2016/17, largely due to 
excess returns on assets, partially 
offset by the fact that bond yields 

have fallen placing a higher value 
on the liabilities of the fund, the 
overall funding position of the 
fund improved, with the value of 
the assets as at 31st March 2017 
rising to £2,082 million, which 
were sufficient to meet 82.1% of 
the liabilities accrued up to that 
date. The resulting deficit as at 
31st March 2017 had reduced to 
£417 million.

During 2016/17 the Fund 
achieved a +21.3% return on 
its investments. This was just 
below the average local authority 
universe return of 21.4 %, as 
calculated by PIRC Local Authority 
Pension Performance Analytics 
(who monitors the performance 
of pension funds) and placed 
Gloucestershire in the 46th 
percentile of a universe of 60 local 
authority pension funds.   

As in the latest year, the 
Gloucestershire Fund has 
performed very close to the 
average over longer terms too. The 
Gloucestershire Fund achieved 
annualised returns of 10.9% over 
5 years and 6.8% over 10 years 

Page 60



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  4

compared to the average annual 
returns of local authority funds of 
10.7% over 5 years and 7.0% over 
10 years. Further details on the 
Fund’s performance can be found 
on pages 24 to 26. 

The performance of all of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
investment managers are kept 
under regular review to help ensure 
that our management policies 
have the best possible prospect 
of adding value over a full market 
cycle. During the period covered 
by this report the Fund ended its 
investment mandate with one of 
the Global Equity Managers and 
reinvested these funds with another 
current Global Equity Manager to 
improve investment returns.

During the year the Fund instigated 
a review of its Strategic Investment 
Strategy. The new strategy 
emanating from this review is set 
out in the Investment Strategy 
Statement (ISS) and came into 
effect on the 1st April 2017.  A 
copy of the ISS can be found 
at www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
extra/pensions/investments. More 
details on the Fund’s investments 
and performance can be found on 
pages 23 to 31. 

We remind both existing and 
future pensioners, that the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) is determined by statutory 
legislation.  This legislation can only 
be changed by the Government 
via the department of Communities 
and Local Government (CLG) and 
the scheme cannot be changed  
by the County Council or other 
scheduled employers of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund. 

Following a review by the Public 
Service Pensions Commission 
a new LGPS scheme was 
introduced, commencing from 1st 
April 2014. The terms of the new 
LGPS scheme only apply to new 
pensionable service accrued with 
effect from April 2014. Previously 
accrued pensionable service and 

pensions in payment prior to April 
2014 are not affected. 

Further information on the main 
features of the new 2014 LGPS 
scheme can be found on pages 
132 to 133.

Details relating to the 
administration of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Scheme 
are shown on pages 13 and 14 
and also within the Administration 
Strategy at page 90. From the 
performance figures on page 
13 it can be seen that, although 
performance improved slightly in 
2016/17 compared with 2015/16, 
it is significantly lower than the 
performance levels achieved 
under pre April 2014 scheme. 
The reason for this is due to the 
increased complexities of the new 
scheme, which have now been 
recognised, with staffing levels 
within the Pensions Administration 
team having now been increased 
to take account of these increased 
complexities.

The Public Service Pensions 
Act 2013 and LGPS regulations 
required LGPS Funds to set 
up local Pension Boards from 
2015/16. Their role, which 
continued in 2016/17, is to 
assist administering authorities in 
ensuring compliance with LGPS 
and other pension regulations. 
More details of the membership, 
meetings and work of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Board 
during 2016/17 can be found on 
pages 37 and 38.

In July 2015 the government 
announced their intention for LGPS 
Funds to set up investment pooling 
arrangements. This would involve a 
number of LGPS Funds with assets 
totalling approximately £25 billion 
jointly investing in the various asset 
classes, as chosen by each Fund, 
via a FCA approved organisation. 
The aim of this approach is to 
reduce investment manager fees 
while not adversely affecting, or 
even improving, individual Fund 

investment performance. During 
2016/17 the government approved 
and issued new investment 
regulations for the LGPS Funds 
to both facilitate and ensure 
investment pooling took place. 

The Gloucestershire Fund is 
collaborating with nine other LGPS 
Funds from the south west of 
England and has established a 
new investment pooling company 
called the Brunel Pension 
Partnership (BPP). This process 
is ongoing and is on course for 
the ten Funds to be able to begin 
transferring their investments 
into the BPP from April 2018, as 
expected by the Government.

We express our thanks to all those 
involved with the investment, 
accounting and pension 
administration activities of the 
Fund, and the development of 
the Brunel Pension Partnership. 
In this, we acknowledge the 
continuing work of the members 
of the Pension Committee, 
whose membership is shown on 
page 7, in overseeing the Fund’s 
investment management and 
administration arrangements 
as well as the support from 
the Pension Board, whose 
membership is shown on page 
37, in assisting the administering 
authority to comply with the LGPS 
and other pension regulations.

We trust you find the report 
informative and as we are always 
seeking to make improvements we 
would welcome any constructive 
comments on its content and 
presentation.  Further information 
is available from the contact points 
shown on page 8.

Raymond Theodoulou 
Chairman of the Pension 
Committee  

Jo Walker, CPFA 
Strategic Finance Director

Page 61



5  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Economic Background

The rate of economic growth in 
the UK and US slowed in 2016 
to 2.0% and 1.6% respectively. 
China defied earlier fears by 
reporting growth of 6.7% - only 
slightly down on 2015 – while 
Japan improved to 0.9% and the 
Eurozone to 1.6%. The oil price 
continued to recover from the low 
of $28 reached in January 2016, 
and spent most of the year in the 
$50-55 range. Base metal prices 
also strengthened.

The vote in the June Referendum 
for the UK to leave the EU was a 
major surprise, and initially caused 
sharp falls in UK Equities. The 
value of sterling fell significantly. 
While the equity market recovered 
lost ground after the rapid 
replacement of David Cameron as 
Prime Minister by Theresa May, 
the pound remained depressed, 
falling below $1.25 by the end 
of 2016 – a 15% decline on its 
pre-Referendum level. The Bank 
of England responded to the 
economic uncertainty by cutting 
UK interest rates from 0.5% to 
0.25% in early August, and UK 
growth remained steady in the 
second half of the year. Elsewhere, 
the European Central Bank and 
the Bank of Japan continued their 
programmes of quantitative easing.

In another unexpected outcome, 
Donald Trump was elected 
President of the United States in 
November. Again, markets’ initial 
reaction was nervous, but this 
was soon replaced by optimism 
about his plans to cut taxes, 

deregulate energy, healthcare and 
financial services, and to offer tax 
incentives for infrastructure. In the 
event, his tax proposals look likely 
to be delayed into the autumn, 
and the extent of any significant 
boost to infrastructure is in doubt. 
In December the Federal Reserve 
raised US interest rates by 0.25% 
and again in March 2017, and 
indicated that they expect to make 
further rises during 2017.

Market Returns

Global Equities gave an 
exceptional return of 33.1% in 
sterling terms during the year 
to March. While this return was 
boosted by the weakness of the 
pound, the UK market itself rose 
by a very creditable 23.1%. The 
gains in North America, Japan, 
Pacific Basin and Emerging 
Markets were all in the 32-37% 
range, while Continental Europe 
gained 28.5%. 

Source of equity market returns:  
FTSE All-World Total Return series 
(£)

The pound fell by some 13% 
against both the dollar and the 
yen during the year, and by 6% 
against the euro. Conventional 
UK government bonds ended 
the year showing modest gains, 
after reaching record low yields 
in the summer of 2016, while 
Index Linked Gilts gained 22% as 
inflation expectations rose after 
the drop in sterling and private 
sector pension schemes bought 
them in great quantity. Yields 
on US government bonds rose 

after the Presidential Election, 
on anticipation of expansionary 
moves by the new administration, 
and in recognition of the likely rise 
in short-term US interest rates, 
but have begun to fall back again 
recently.

Source: FTSE-A Index Linked (over 
5 years), total return

The strong growth seen since 
2013 in UK Commercial Property 
values had begun to slow down 
ahead of the EU Referendum, and 
sentiment in the Central London 
rental market deteriorated after 
June on the potential weakness in 
demand from overseas occupiers. 
The fall in sterling, however, 
increased the attraction of the 
UK for foreign buyers of property, 
and for the year to March the All 
Property total return was a modest 
+3.8%. 

Source: IPD Monthly Index of Total 
Returns

Economic and Market 
Outlook

With equity markets having 
taken the surprise outcomes of 
the EU Referendum and the US 
Presidential Election in their stride, 
it is tempting to downplay the 
degree of influence exercised on 
markets by political events. This, 
however, would be too sanguine a 
view to take. Whether prompted by 
the various elections taking place 
in Europe, the Brexit negotiations, 
the course of President Trump’s 
trade and foreign policy or the 
Syrian conflict, we must expect 

Independent Investment 
Advisor’s Report

Page 62



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  6

some disruption to the smooth 
upward path which equities have 
travelled in the past year. With 
further increases in US short-term 
interest rates predicted for 2017 
and 2018, yields on medium-dated 
US government bonds seem 
unlikely to fall from their present 
levels. Any signs of a slowdown in 
the pace of quantitative easing in 
Europe or Japan could also have 
an adverse effect on those bond 
markets.

This is likely to be a challenging 
period for future investment 
returns. However, we have a 
diversified portfolio strategy, and 
seek to ride out periods of volatility. 
In the very long term, we seek to 
capture the excess returns that 
arise from investing in equities and 
real assets.

The Pension Fund has a long term 
horizon and the investment priority 
remains long term returns rather 
than short term risk mitigation.

There were some changes to the 
strategy and investment managers 
during the year under review. 
£34m was reallocated from the 
Western Asset Management UK 
Gilt and Corporate bond portfolio 
to the Global Multi Sector portfolio 
as it was believed that gilts were 
overvalued. An active global 
equity strategy managed by 
GMO was replaced by a passive 
Blackrock global equity strategy 
for performance reasons. The 
Fund started hedging some of 
its overseas currency exposure 
towards the end of the year after 
sterling’s fall in order to partially 

protect the value of the overseas 
holdings. 

Following the 2016 triennial 
actuarial valuation, the Fund 
conducted an investment strategy 
review and an allocation to private 
debt is currently taking place.

Steve Tyson

July 2017

Page 63



7  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Management and 
Financial Performance 

Scheme Management and Advisors

Administering Authority: Gloucestershire County Council

Pension Committee at 31st March 2017
Representing Gloucestershire County Council:

Cllr. D. Brown Cllr. J. Gill       Cllr. C. Hay      Cllr. S. Parsons              Cllr.  L. Stowe                                                       

Representing Gloucestershire 
District Councils: 
Cllr. N. Cooper             

Investment Managers as at 31st March 2017: 
BlackRock Investments
CBRE Global Investment Partners (CBRE)
Grantham, Mayo, Van Otterloo & Co LLC (GMO)
Hermes Investment Management
Standard Life Investments
Western Asset Management Company
Technology Venture Partners (TVP)
Yorkshire Fund Managers Equity Partners (YFM)

AVC Provider:
Prudential Assurance Company Limited
Phoenix Life Limited

Auditor: 
Grant Thornton UK LLP
 
Global Custodian:
BNY Mellon Asset Servicing SA/NV

Performance Measurement:
BNY Mellon Asset Servicing
PIRC Limited
 
Banker:
HSBC
 
Legal Advisor:
Gloucestershire County Council in-house legal team

Cllr. R. Theodoulou 
(Chairman)                         

Representing Scheme 
Members:
Mr. P. Clark

County Council Officers: 
Mrs. J. Walker
Strategic Finance Director

Mr. M. Spilsbury
Head of Pension Fund

Independent Advisor: 
Mr. S. Tyson, AllenbridgeEpic

Fund Actuary:
Mrs J. West, Hymans Robertson 
Mr. D. Green, Hymans Robertson 

Scheme Administrator:
Gloucestershire County Council

Page 64



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  8

Post Year-End Changes 
Following the council elections 
held in May 2017 Councillor J. Gill 
left the Pension Committee and 
was replaced by Councillor B. 
Oosthuysen.

Enquiries
For information/contact details 
for committee members, fund 
managers and advisors or for 
details regarding the Fund’s 
investments and accounting 
activities, please contact the 
Finance Manager at Shire Hall, 

Gloucester, phone (01452) 
328945.

For details of Local Government 
Pension Scheme benefits and 
administration, please contact the 
Pension Administration Manager 
at Shire Hall, Gloucester, phone 
(01452) 328866.

Complaints 
In the event of a complaint 
members should contact the 
Pension Administration Manager 
at Shire Hall, Gloucester, phone 
(01452) 328866 in the first instance.

Website  
Investments and Accounting 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
extra/pensions/investments

Benefits and Administration 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
pensions

Pension Schemes Office 
Registration Number:  
PSO 10079170

> Risk Management
The Pension Fund maintains a 
Risk Register which is reviewed 
and reported to every Pension 
Committee and Pension Board 
meeting. Risks are rated on a 
“traffic light system” and assigned 
to a lead officer for monitoring and 
review. Controls are documented 
and further actions identified where 
necessary.

These risks associated with 
the Fund’s administration, 
management and investments are 
included in the Funding Strategy 
Statement (FSS). The risks and 
actions to manage and reduce 
them are shown within the FSS on 
pages 108 to 111 of this report.  

In addition, the Fund’s Statement 
of Investment Principles 
(SIP) details the individual 
responsibilities, (including the 
management of risk), of the 
Pension Committee, Investment 
Managers, Council Officers, 
Custodian and Investment Advisor. 
It should be noted that the SIP has 
been replaced by an Investment 
Strategy Statement from the 
start of 2017/18, which sets out 
the approach to investment risk, 

including the ways in which risks 
are to be measured and managed.

Internal auditors also evaluate 
both risk and controls for the main 
areas of governance, pension 
administration and investment 
management. This includes third 
party risk and involves obtaining 
assurances from the external fund 
managers on their governance 
and administration arrangements 
as well as acquiring copies of their 
latest accounts and internal control 
assurance reports, AAF01/06 
or ISAE 3402. The internal audit 
results then feed into an annual 
governance statement. 

Other Third Party Risk
The receipt and calculation of 
employer pension contributions 
is monitored monthly. Employers 
are required to complete a 
return, which reconciles to the 
pension payment and verifies the 
calculation of both employee and 
employer contributions.

Other Investment Risk
The Pension Fund employs 
an Independent Investment 

Advisor to assist and advise the 
Pension Committee. Investment 
performance is reviewed by 
committee every quarter. Fund 
managers attend committee on 
a regular basis and are held to 
account on their performance. In 
addition further in-depth meetings 
are held at manager’s offices 
during the year. During 2016/17 
performance data was provided 
by the Fund’s Custodian as well 
as by an independent specialist 
company, PIRC Local Authority 
Pension Performance Analytics. 
Performance is measured 
against both a customised fund 
benchmark and mandate specific 
benchmarks. 

Page 128 of the Statement of 
Investment Principles contains 
further details of how the 
Fund controls risk linked to its 
investments. There is an additional 
note on the Nature and Extent 
of Risks Arising from Financial 
Instruments within the Notes to the 
Accounts on pages 70 to 76.

Page 65

www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/pensionsinvestments 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/pensions
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/pensions
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/pensions 


9  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

> Financial Performance
Analysis of pension contributions 
The timeliness of employee and employer pension contributions which should be paid to the Pension Fund no 
later than 19 days after the end of the month in which they were deducted from pay is shown below.

In total 21 (29 2015/16) monthly payments were received late, of which all 21 (27 2015/16) were received 
within the month.  In 2015/16, two payments were received 42 and 112 days late.

The option to levy interest on overdue contributions was not exercised.

Employee and Total                        On Time                                   Late
Employer
Contributions £000 £000 % £000 %

2013/14 82,000 81,600 99.6 400 0.4

2014/15 90,000 89,500 99.4 500 0.6

2015/16 97,000 96,600 99.6 400 0.4

2016/17 103,000 102,900 99.9 100 0.1

Fund Account (inflows) and outflows
The following table shows the income and expenditure of the Pension Fund over the last four years together 
with an estimate for 2017/18.

 Fund Account 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
  Actual Actual Actual  Actual  Budget

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

 Contributions -84,895 -92,866 -98,448 -105,548 -111,889

 Transfers in -4,719 -3,708 -1,131 -7,100 -3,980

 Bulk transfer values in - -2,556 - -94 -

 Investment income -26,785 -23,614 -24,723 -27,256 -25,198

 Other income -297 -157 -139 -151 -149

 Benefits payable   68,488 71,008 71,937 76,653 79,476

 Payments to and on account 3,850 3,712 2,365 3,323 3,133
 of leavers

 Bulk transfer values out 9,200 29,012 1,078 338   -

 Administration and Oversight  1,316 1,340 1,477 1,827 2,301
 & Governance expenses

 Investment management 6,074 5,753 6,136 6,698 5,230
 expenses

 Profit, loss and change in -93,887 -190,503 48,019 -334,803 -159,096
 market value

 Net increase (-) / decrease -121,655 -202,579 6,571 -386,113 -210,172
 in the Fund

Page 66



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  10

Transfers in
Transfers in relate to benefits 
accrued in other pension schemes 
by members which have then been 
transferred into the Gloucestershire 
Fund. These payments are 
unpredictable and depend on the 
number of members transferring 
their service and the amount of 
service each member has.

Investment income
Investment income is the income 
received by way of dividend 
payments and distributions. In 
2016/17 over £2m was received 

from the Fund’s equities and 
property pooled fund investments 
in excess of the previous year.

Profit, loss and change in 
market value
Profit, loss and change in market 
value is the total of realised and 
unrealised profits and losses of the 
Fund’s investments.

Profits and losses realised on sales 
of investments during the year 
totalled a net profit of £237.9m 
(£14.1m (re-stated) in 2015/16, 
£21.0m in 14/15). A large 

proportion of this can be attributed 
to the disinvestment of one of the 
pooled funds which realised the 
profits that had accrued since its 
inception in 2009.

The change in the market value 
of investments held at the 31st 
March 2017 on the previous 
year totalled £96.9m (-£62.1m in 
2015/16, £169.5m in 2014/15). 
During 2016/17 the Fund achieved 
a performance figure of 21.3% 
compared to -1.4% in 2015/16 
and 14.4% in 2014/15.

 Fund Account  2016/17
  Actual Budget Variance

  £000 £000 £000

 Contributions -105,548 -105,979 431

 Transfers in -7,100 -3,186 -3,914

 Bulk transfer values in -94 - -94

 Investment income -27,256 -23,541 -3,715

 Other income -151 -198 47

 Benefits payable  76,653 73,662 2,991

 Payments to and on account of leavers 3,323 3,309 14

 Bulk transfer values out 338 - 338

 Administration and Oversight & Governance expenses 1,827 1,814 13

 Investment management expenses 6,698 5,766 932

 Profit (-), loss and change in market value -334,803 -78,841 -255,962

 Net increase (-) / decrease in the Fund -386,113 -127,194 -258,919

The following table compares the actual income and expenditure of the Pension Fund for 2016/17 against 
budget.

Cash flow  

For 2016/17 the inflow of cash to the Fund continued to exceed the outflow. Details of the net cash inflow to 
the Fund for the past 4 years and a forecast for the following year are shown below:

 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
 Actual Actual Actual Actual Forecast

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Net cash inflow 30,483  15,117  44,783  55,028 50,566

There are a number of factors that affect the size of the net cash inflow. These factors include changes in the 
levels of retirements and pensioner numbers, contribution levels, dividend income and transfers into and out 
of the scheme. In 2016/17 there were extra-ordinary net payments out of £0.2m (£1.1m 2015/16) relating to 
transfers of staff to another pension fund.

Page 67



11  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

 2013/14           2014/15                  2015/16                2016/17   2017/18
 Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 
Administrative costs

Staff costs 449 656 500 692 551 769 586 807
Premises 42 42 42 42 46 49 66 52
IT 154 191 164 173 186 192 209 317
Supplies and services 181 173 172 183 174 220 182 205
Other central costs 32 52 55 51 41 59 47 60
Cost of democracy  - - - - - - - -
Other - - - - 4 - 43 -

 858 1,114 933 1,141 1,002 1,289 1,133 1,441

Oversight & governance costs

Staff costs  107 138 131 142 140 181 189 193
Audit fees 20 24 21 24 24 25 24 38
Actuarial fees 260 95 187 117 199 213 326 214
Pension Committee/Board 1 - 1 1 1  3 1 5
Performance monitoring 38 18 38 19 37 39 23 39
service
Investment consultancy 23 20 20 20 20 21 20 21
Other professional fees 9 29 9 31 54 44 111 350

 458 324 407 354 475 526 694 860

Operational expenses  

The following tables show budgeted and actual figures of the three constituent parts that make up the 
operating expenses of the Pension Fund.

Actual actuarial fees within 
Oversight & Governance contain 
actuarial expenses of £135,000 
(2015/16 £110,000) which arose 
as a result of employer requests 
and was therefore recharged back 
to them. Net actuarial fees for 
2016/17 were £191,000 (2015/16 
£89,000).

The increases in the staffing 
budgets in Administration and 
Oversight & Governance between 
2015/16 and 2016/17 were as a 
result of a job evaluation review 
and the re-grading of a number of 
officers.

The increase in the budget 
for Other professional fees in 
Oversight & Governance between 
2016/17 and 2017/18 is as a 
result of increased professional 
fees relating to the Government’s 
investment pooling initiative.

Transaction costs cannot be forecast in advance and hence are not budgeted for. The £1.2m transaction costs 
in 2016/17 related to the full transition of investments from one global equity mandate to another manager.

 2013/14           2014/15                  2015/16                2016/17   2017/18
 Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 
Investment management expenses

Management fees  3,752 4,206 4,733 4,594 4,902 4,913 4,953 4,562
Performance fees 1,915 734 598 836 463 775 377 578
Transaction costs 345 - 350 - 695 - 1,228 -
Custody fees 62 84 72 96 76 78 118 90
Tax & legal costs - - - - - - 22 -

 6,074 5,024 5,753 5,526 6,136 5,766 6,698 5,230

Page 68



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  12

Financial Summary  

* Excludes recoverable expenditure
** The accounting treatment of expenses has changed, as per guidance received from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA), figures for 2015/16 have been re-stated to enable a meaningful comparison between 2015/16 and 2016/17.  

 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
 £000  £000 £000

Pension overpayments b/fwd. 7.6 23.5 29.1

Pension overpayments in the current year 38.6 29.8 88.4

Overpayment recovered (21.9) (24.1) (50.2)

Overpayments written off (0.9) (0.2) -

Pension overpayments c/fwd. 23.4 29.0 67.3

Analysis of pension overpayments 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
participates in the National 
Fraud Initiative (NFI) which is a 
biennial data matching exercise 
administered by the Cabinet Office.

Pension data was submitted 
through the web portal in October 
2016 and data match reports 
produced matching:-

  Active pensioners with 
Department of Works and 
Pensions (DWP) deceased 
records, to identify cases where 
we might be continuing to pay 
someone who has died;

  Pensioners with payroll records 
for public sector bodies to identify 
cases where pensions should be 
abated; and

  Pensioners receiving an 
enhanced injury pension with 
individuals receiving relevant state 
benefits to identify cases where 
they have failed to declare relevant 
state benefits that may remove 
or reduce entitlement to the 
enhanced pension.

Match reports were reviewed and 
additional information sought as 
necessary. The reports identified 

50 pensioners who had died where 
the Pensions Section had not been 
informed of their death, although 
in 18 of these cases the pension 
had already been suspended. This 
is the reason for the increase in the 
overpayments identified during the 
year. Although the vast majority 
of the overpayments were of a 
minor nature, invoices have been 
raised to recover them all, and 
the expectation is that the vast 
majority will be repaid.

   2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
      re-stated**  

    £m  £m  £m  £m  £m

 Contributions and investment income *  107.5 116.4 122.7 124.3 140.0

 Realised profit/(loss)  13.3 13.0 21.0 14.1 237.9

 Less benefits and other expenses *  (74.6) (88.6) (110.6) (82.8) (88.7)

 Annual surplus/(shortfall)  46.2 40.8 33.1 55.6 289.2

 Increase/(decrease) in market value  133.4 80.9 169.5 (62.2) 96.9
  of investments

 Increase/(decrease) in Fund during year  179.6 121.7 202.6 (6.6) 386.1

 Market Value of net assets at 31st March 1,384.8 1,506.5 1,709.1 1,702.5 2,088.6

Page 69



13  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

> Administrative Management Performance
Key administration performance indicators

The Pension Fund has a number of local performance targets which are included within the Pension 
Administration Strategy report, and are detailed in the table below. The table shows the levels of achievement 
for the last five years.

 Activity Target 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

 Annual Benefit Statements  31/10/13 31/10/14 31/08/15 31/08/16 31/08/17
 sent by statutory deadline:

       Anticipate
  100% 100%* 100%* 0%** 100%* 100%*

 Provide retirement estimates within 15 working days   

 Total completed  655  531 646 693 669
 Completed on time  594 428 505 228 442
 Achievement 90% 90.7% 80.6% 78.2% 32.9% 66.1%

 Pay retirement grants within 15 working days 

 Total completed  739 745 707 650 807
 Completed on time  716 721 634 151 285
 Achievement 90% 96.9% 96.8% 89.7% 23.2% 35.3%

 Pay death grants within 8 working days

 Total completed  65 57 40 55 59
 Completed on time  58 54 39 6 32
 Achievement 90% 89.2% 94.7% 97.5% 10.9% 54.2%

 Pay refunds within 15 working days 

 Total completed  n/a n/a n/a n/a 290
 Completed on time  n/a n/a n/a n/a 203
 Achievement 90% n/a n/a n/a n/a 70%

 Pay transfer values within 15 working days

 Total completed  n/a n/a n/a n/a 71
 Completed on time  n/a n/a n/a n/a 55
 Achievement 90% n/a n/a n/a n/a 77.5%

* Where all necessary information/clarification received from member’s employer.

**  This was the result of the fund not receiving the majority of necessary employer pay data in time. The 2014 LGPS introduced 
substantial change and additional requirements of employers and fund administrators alike. Statements were issued by 30th 
November 2015.

From the performance figures above it can be seen that, although performance improved slightly in 2016/17 
compared with 2015/16, it is significantly lower than the performance levels achieved under pre April 2014 
scheme. The reason for this is due to the increased complexities of the new scheme, which have now been 
recognised, with staffing levels within the Pensions Administration team having now been increased to take 
account of these increased complexities.

Page 70



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  14

Results from employer satisfaction survey 

The Fund also carries out an annual employer satisfaction survey to measure the level of benefit/improved 
understanding employers derive from attending the employers’ forums and when contacting the Pensions 
section. 

% of employers completing the survey who agreed with the following statements: 

  2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
  % % % % %

 The forums had raised their understanding  88 83 83 100 100
 of current pension issues 
 Employers who felt that what they had 
 learned at the Forum and from the Pensions 94 78 88 89 100
 office would help them in their role as a
 pension fund employer 
 Where I have contacted the Pensions office 
 regarding a pension related issue, I am  100 72 95 93 100
 satisfied with the assistance given in relation 
 to the query raised

Type of complaint 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

System error - - -
Staff error 1 - -
Staff attitude - - -
Total 1 - -
Total as % of workload 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Complaints received

> Financial Indicators

Scheme Administration Costs
The Pension Fund subscribes to the annual CIPFA Benchmarking Survey. The results for 2016/17 were not 
available at the time of publication; however survey results for 2015/16 shows that our administration costs 
per member were £12.89 compared to the average cost of £18.37 per member of all the Funds within the 
survey.  This placed the Fund in the lowest cost quartile.  

 Cost per member  2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
     £  £  £  £

 Fund cost  14.40 13.08 13.45 12.89

 Group average   20.87 20.75 19.17 18.37

 Difference  (6.47) (7.67) (5.72) (5.48)

Page 71



15  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

  2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
   £  £  £  £  £
 ** re-stated re-stated re-stated re-stated

 Cost per member 66.23 109.54 *108.13 *109.78 114.56

Investment Management Costs

* Pension Fund expenses have been accounted for in accordance with the CIPFA guidance, Accounting for Local Government 
Pension Scheme Management Costs. In accordance with this guidance, from 2014/15 transaction costs previously included within the 
purchase cost/proceeds of investment purchases and sales have been added to Investment Management Costs with a corresponding 
offset against Profit on Disposal of Investments.  

** Membership numbers on the following page now include unprocessed leavers and the investment management cost per member 
has been re-calculated to include those people.

The management fees disclosed 
above include investment 
management fees directly 
incurred by the Fund i.e. including 
those charged on pooled fund 
investments which tend to be 
deducted from the market value 
of the investments rather than 

invoiced to the Fund. In addition 
to these costs, indirect costs are 
incurred through the bid-offer 
spread on investments sales and 
purchases. These are reflected in 
the cost of investment acquisitions 
and in the proceeds from the sales 
of investments.

From 2014/15 a third category 
of expense, Oversight & 
Governance, has been added and 
some costs previously included 
within Administration Costs and 
Investment Management Costs 
now come under this category.

 Number of full time equivalent  9.8 9.8 10.6 10.8 11.8
 Pension Fund staff

 Total fund membership  48,524 51,470 53,203 55,891 58,465

 Number of fund members to one 4,951 5,252 5,019 5,175 4,954
 member of administration staff

  2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

  2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

   £ £ £
 ** re-stated re-stated

 Cost per member 7.65 8.50 11.87

Key Staffing Indicators 

The table below shows the number of staff over the last five years in the Pensions Administration Team 
working exclusively on local government pension scheme benefits.

Oversight and 
Governance Costs

** Membership numbers on the following page now include unprocessed leavers and 
the oversight and governance cost per member has been re-calculated to include those 
people.

Page 72



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  16

> Membership Summary

 Contributors 16,877 +6.27 17,936 +1.14 18,141 +2.70 18,630 +1.91 18,986

 Pensioners 12,788 +5.15 13,446 +2.03 13,719 +3.56 14,207 +3.47 14,700

 Deferred 15,339 +6.31 16,307 +5.48 17,201 +5.51 18,149 +3.25 18,738
 pensioners

  45,004 +5.97 47,689 +2.88 49,061 +3.92 50,986 +2.82 52,424

 Undecided/ 3,520 +7.41 3,781 +9.55 4,142 +18.42 4,905 +23.16 6,041
 unprocessed
 leavers

  48,524 +6.07 51,470 +3.37 53,203 +5.05 55,891 +4.61 58,465

Deferred pensioners are former employees who have not transferred their pension rights and to whom benefits will be paid, from their 
eligible retirement date.

Undecided leavers are those members who are no longer accruing service and to whom a refund of contributions or transfer out may 
be due.

Unprocessed leavers are those members which represent cases where we are aware that a member has left, but that case has not 
yet been processed. These cases (once processed) could end up becoming Undecided Leavers or Deferred’s (depending on length of 
membership) or indeed could end up being aggregated with another record the member may hold, in which case the particular record 
itself would be deleted.

  2012/13 % 2013/14 %  2014/15 %  2015/16 %  2016/17
   diff  diff  diff  diff

Page 73



17  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

The following gives an age profile of fund members.

 Gender Category Age Active Deferred Pensioner Widow(er)/ 
      Dependant

 F under 15 0 0 0 18
 M under 15 0 0 0 11
 F 15 to 19 94 1 0 17
 M 15 to 19 57 3 0 31
 F 20 to 24 555 230 0 25
 M 20 to 24 263 141 0 18
 F 25 to 29 803 781 0 2
 M 25 to 29 361 401 0 2
 F 30 to 34 1,098 1,147 0 0
 M 30 to 34 326 491 0 0
 F 35 to 39 1,520 1,468 2 3
 M 35 to 39 345 478 0 1
 F 40 to 44 2,069 1,757 2 3
 M 40 to 44 357 436 0 5
 F 45 to 49 2,915 2,571 19 15
 M 45 to 49 478 598 5 15
 F 50 to 54 2,907 3,042 33 19
 M 50 to 54 541 692 19 25
 F 55 to 59 2,067 2,497 313 39
 M 55 to 59 522 698 120 56
 F 60 to 64 996 925 1,765 73
 M 60 to 64 371 232 720 68
 F 65 to 69 200 97 2,531 107
 M 65 to 69 96 29 1,233 72
 F 70 to 74 22 9 1,706 167
 M 70 to 74 23 13 1,022 92
 F 75 to 79 0 1 993 210
 M 75 to 79 0 0 619 85
 F 80 to 84 0 0 531 221
 M 80 to 84 0 0 391 70
 F 85 to 89 0 0 297 191
 M 85 to 89 0 0 214 46
 F 90 to 94 0 0 116 138
 M 90 to 94 0 0 85 13
 F 95 to 99 0 0 29 38
 M 95 to 99 0 0 22 0
 F 100 to 104 0 0 3 8
 M 100 to 104 0 0 2 0
 F 105 to 109 0 0 1 1
 M 105 to 109 0 0 1 0
 F 110 to 114 0 0 0 1

 Total Members    52,424 18,986 18,738 12,794 1,906

Page 74



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  18

The Pension Scheme

The Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) is governed by 
statutory regulations. The statutory 
responsibility of the LGPS is with 
the department of Communities 
and Local Government (CLG).  For 
the period covered by this report 
the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) Regulations  
2013 (as amended by LGPS 
(Amendment) Regulations 2015) 
were in operation. The LGPS is 
a statutory funded scheme and 
was on a final salary basis until the 
31st March 2014 when it went to a 
C.A.R.E. scheme (career average 
revalued earnings) and the benefits 
are defined and guaranteed by law. 
Any changes to the legislation of 
the scheme are governed by CLG 
– See page 132 to 133 for benefit 
changes since 1st April 2014.

The scheme applies to employees 
of local authorities and certain 
other bodies providing a public 
service. Teachers, police officers 
and fire officers have their own 
pension schemes and are excluded 
from this Fund. Under the LGPS 
Regulations, Gloucestershire 
County Council administers the 
Pension Fund in the county on 
behalf of its own employees 
and those of a number of other 
public bodies, in particular District 

Councils. Within the County 
Council, staff from Strategic 
Finance are responsible for the 
investment administration of the 
Fund supported by the Fund’s 
Global Custodian, BNY Mellon 
Asset Servicing, who provides 
custody and accounting support. 
The Fund is a member of the PLSA 
(Pensions and Lifetime Savings 
Association) formerly the NAPF 
(National Association of Pension 
Funds) and delegates voting rights 
to fund managers to exercise 
these rights in line with PLSA or 
PIRC (Pensions and Investment 
Research Consultants) proxy voting 
guidelines. Details of the Fund’s 
investment managers and their 
mandates are detailed on page 24 
of this report. A list of participating 

employer bodies within the Fund is 
shown on pages 19 to 22.

The Fund is financed by 
contributions from employees and 
employers, together with proceeds 
from investments. Contributions in 
the financial statements represent 
those amounts receivable from 
various employing authorities in 
respect of their own contributions 
and those of their pensionable 
employees.

Employee Contributions

Employee contributions are 
prescribed by statute and are 
based on pay bands. The pay 
bands and rates applicable from 
April 2016 are detailed below:

> Management Report

Pensionable Pay Employee Contribution Rate
 % 

Up to £13,600  5.5
£13,601 to £21,200  5.8
£21,201 to £34,400  6.5
£34,401 to £43,500  6.8
£43,501 to £60,700  8.5
£60,701 to £86,000  9.9
£86,001 to £101,200  10.5
£101,201 to £151,800 11.4
More than £151,801  12.5

Employer Contributions

Employer contributions are assessed every three 
years by the Scheme Actuary. The contributions are 
required to be sufficient to maintain the long-term 
solvency of the Fund. 

The results of the most recent actuarial valuation of 
the Fund, as at 31st March 2016, were announced in 
March 2017 and set the employers’ contribution rates 
payable in each of the three years commencing 1st 
April 2017. The next actuarial valuation is due as at 
31st March 2019, which will prescribe the employer 
rates from 1st April 2020.

The table overleaf summarises the whole fund 
Primary and Secondary Contribution rates at the 
2016 valuation. Primary rates relate to future service 
liabilities whilst the secondary rate relates to past 
service deficit payments. These rates are the payroll 
weighted average of the underlying individual 
employer primary and secondary rates calculated in 
accordance with the Regulations and the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) 
guidance.

Whilst these same rates will apply to the 2017/18 financial year, the 
pensionable pay banding levels have increased slightly.

Page 75



19  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Employer Contributions as a % of pay 31st March 31st March  31st March
 2007 2010 2013

(a) Future Service Funding Rate 14.6% 15.5% 19.7%
(b) Past Service Adjustment 7.7% 10.3% 13.2%

Total Common Contribution Rate 22.3% 25.8% 32.9%

Further information regarding 
the valuation and the scheme’s 
funding position is included in the 
Actuarial Report on Fund on pages 
35 to 36.

Details of benefits payable under 
the LGPS and how they are 
calculated are contained in a 
scheme booklet that is issued 
to new employees. A general 
guide to the benefits payable is 

contained on pages 132 to 133 
of this report. In accordance with 
the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971 
pensions payable are increased 
in relation to the movement in the 
Consumer Price Index.

Participating Employers 
and Contributions 
Receivable

A list of the Fund’s participating 

and contributing employers 
is shown below. The Rates & 
Adjustment Certificate showing 
each individual employer’s 
contribution rate, as agreed with 
the Scheme Actuary, for the period 
1st April 2017 to 31st March 2020 
may be found in the Funding 
Strategy Statement on pages 117 
to 122.

* including schools

Primary Employer Contribution Rate  Secondary Rate
as a % of pay  £000
1st April 2017 to 31st March 2020 2017/18 2018/19  2019/20

                        19.6% 32,487 36,638 40,905

The table below shows the Fund “Common Contribution rate” as at 31st March for the previous three 
valuation periods for information purposes.  Due to changes in the regulatory regime and guidance on 
contribution rates, comparison to the whole fund rate at 2016 is not appropriate.

2016/2017 Contributions  Employer  Employee  Total
 Contributions Contributions
 
 
Administering Authority    

Gloucestershire County Council*                                  39,564,946         7,776,364            47,341,310 

Scheduled Bodies    

Cheltenham Borough Council                             4,170,508              442,354              4,612,862 
Cotswold District Council              2,521,801              504,075              3,025,876 
Forest of Dean District Council              2,233,145              233,666              2,466,811 
Gloucester City Council              3,808,150              364,848              4,172,998 
Stroud District Council              3,619,429              592,954              4,212,383 
Tewkesbury Borough Council              2,243,642              331,564              2,575,206 
Cotswolds Conservation Board                   83,499               26,921                 110,420 
Cheltenham Borough Homes                 982,045              287,071              1,269,116 
Farmors Sport Centre Ltd                   10,146                 2,176                  12,322 
Sir William Romneys Leisure                     8,296                 1,671                    9,967 
Gloucestershire Police Authority              4,310,905           1,299,371              5,610,276 
Lower Severn Drainage Board                 139,057               25,448                 164,505 
Parish and Town Councils (pooled)                 476,504              111,450                 587,954 
University of Gloucestershire              3,360,236           1,032,946              4,393,182
Cirencester College                 334,813               91,662                 426,475

continued...

Page 76



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  20

2016/2017 Contributions  Employer  Employee  Total
 Contributions Contributions
 
 
Scheduled Bodies (continued)   

Gloucestershire College              2,192,025              525,121              2,717,146 
Hartpury College              1,036,991              328,100              1,365,091 

Academies    

Abbey View CCT                                              16,494                 5,054                  21,548  
All Saints                 220,710               55,661                 276,371 
Balcarras School                 224,962               56,344                 281,306 
Beaufort Academy                 253,950               57,428                 311,378 
Berkeley Primary                        33,301                 6,464                   39,765 
Bishops Cleeve Primary                 128,450               31,105                 159,555 
Blockley Primary Academy                   34,722                 7,666                  42,388 
Bourton on the Water                   70,207               15,516                  85,723 
Brockworth Primary                  75,803               19,159                  94,962 
Charlton Kings Infants School                   82,292               16,821                  99,113 
Charlton Kings Junior School                   77,562               14,343                  91,905 
Cheltenham Bournside School                 305,496               63,348                 368,844 
Chipping Campden School                 212,619               46,329                 258,948 
Chosen Hill School                 254,599               50,016                 304,615 
Christ Church C of E                   73,814               13,344                  87,158 
Churchdown School                304,975               56,808                 361,783 
Churchdown Village Infants                   73,943               16,723                  90,666 
Cirencester Deer Park School                 261,688               61,862                 323,550 
Cirencester Kingshill School                 150,423               42,040                 192,463 
Cleeve School                 246,225               58,100                 304,325 
Cotswold School                 289,343               63,771                 353,114 
Crypt School                 123,295               32,535                 155,830 
Dene Magna School                 246,511               46,238                 292,749 
Diocese of Gloucester Academies Trust                   23,512               10,322                  33,834 
Dursley Primary                   61,254               12,905                  74,159 
Farmors Academy                 143,551               35,118                 178,669 
Field Court C of E Infant School                 107,975               22,290                 130,265 
Field Court C of E Junior School                   68,503               11,680                  80,183 
Forest High School                 107,761               20,984                 128,745 
Forest View Primary                   74,774               14,705                  89,479 
Gloucester Academy                 278,348               67,650                 345,998 
Gotherington Primary School                   39,309                 6,262                  45,571 
Green Field Academy                  10,643                 2,064                  12,707 
Gretton Primary School                  19,689                 4,394                  24,083 
Hardwicke Primary School                    99,970               20,119                 120,089 
High School for Girls                  136,453               30,565                 167,018 
Highnam C of E Primary School                    33,076                 7,888                  40,964 
Katherine Lady Berkeley School                  288,445               56,595                 345,040 
Lakefield Primary Academy                   38,368                 7,312                  45,680 
Longney C of E Primary Academy                   36,236                 5,073                  41,309 
Marling School                 139,489               32,840                 172,329 
Millbrook Academy                 159,391               37,916                 197,307  
Minchinhampton Academy                   52,977               12,798                  65,775 
Mitton Manor Primary Academy                   37,722                 8,593                  46,315 
Newent Community School                228,820               47,354                 276,174

continued...

Page 77



21  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

2016/2017 Contributions  Employer  Employee  Total
 Contributions Contributions
 
Academies (continued)   

North Cerney C of E Primary Academy                  21,855                 3,837                  25,692 
Offas Mead Primary                  35,625                 6,259                  41,884 
Pates School                 206,854               75,951                 282,805 
Peak Academy                  62,097               14,269                  76,366 
Primrose Hill Academy                   50,657               10,289                  60,946 
Redmarley C of E School                      9,049                 1,728                  10,777 
Ribston Hall School                 154,038               37,781                 191,819 
Robinswood Primary School                  257,050               53,713                 310,763 
Rosary Catholic Primary School                    46,819                 9,966                  56,785 
Rowanfield Junior School                    64,058               17,072                  81,130 
Severnbanks Primary                   74,474               14,580                  89,054 
Severn Vale School                 358,856               59,333                 418,189 
Severn View Primary                   29,769                 5,608                  35,377 
Sir Thomas Rich’s School                 142,287               28,852                 171,139 
Sir William Romney’s School                 127,049               25,027                 152,076 
Springbank Primary                   74,111               20,483                  94,594 
St David’s Primary                   54,546               13,662                  68,208 
St Dominic’s Catholic Primary School                   21,546                 4,616                  26,162 
St John’s C of E Primary                  66,781               12,338                  79,119 
St Mary’s Catholic Primary School                    57,040               14,462                  71,502 
St Peter’s Catholic High School                  363,938               80,154                 444,092 
Staunton and Corse C of E School                   19,056                 3,856                  22,912 
Stone with Woodford C of E Academy                   18,853                 3,625                  22,478 
Stroud High School                 150,404               38,319                 188,723 
Tewkesbury School                 336,406               68,429                 404,835 
The Dean Academy 218,996 41,198 260,194
The Ridge Academy 59,245 16,193 75,438
Thomas Keble School 180,794 39,030 219,824
Tredworth Infants Academy                   74,965               16,061                   91,026 
Whiteshill Primary Academy                   23,082                 4,023                   27,105 
Winchcombe School                 141,904               26,793                 168,697 
Winchcombe Abbey                   52,855               11,900                  64,755 
Wyedean School                251,123               48,838                 299,961 

                                       41,285,024           8,341,745            49,626,769  

Admitted Bodies    

Amey                                     242,560               69,259                 311,819 
APCOA                   38,580                 9,925                  48,505 
Aspire Sports and Cultural Trust                   90,179               37,413                 127,592 
Barnardo’s - Forest of Dean                   40,940                 6,128                  47,068 
Barnardo’s - North                  42,304                 9,703                  52,007 
Barnardo’s - South Glos.                   66,911               21,185                  88,096 
Barnardo’s - Tewkesbury                   51,850               13,807                  65,657 
Brandon Trust                     3,712                    347                    4,059 
Brandon Trust (New contract)                  45,079                 4,784                  49,863  
Carers Glos. Parent Partnership                     9,708                 3,034                  12,742
Carers Glos. Advice & Support                     3,551                    821                    4,372 
Cheltenham Leisure & Culture                 254,488               82,337                 336,825
Civica (FOD DC)                   76,385               19,723                  96,108 

continued...

Page 78



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  22

 *    including schools    
**   includes ill health and early retirement contributions totalling £3.0m.
Some of the employers will include accruals for contributions due but not received as at 31st March 2017

2016/2017 Contributions  Employer  Employee  Total
 Contributions Contributions
 
Admitted Bodies (continued)   

Civica UK Ltd                 182,005               49,708                 231,713 
Civica UK Ltd - Glos City IT                   15,036                 5,474                  20,510 
Cotswold Archaeological Trust                 165,258               44,551                 209,809 
Enterprise (Accord Operations Ltd)                 171,516               54,433                 225,949 
Fosseway Housing Association                 995,713               70,714              1,066,427 
Gardners Lane & Oakwood Federation                 208,568               69,019                 277,587 
Gloucester City Homes                  543,756              167,840                 711,596 
Gloucestershire Airport                 234,163               31,833                 265,996 
Gloucestershire Group Homes                 140,270               17,872                 158,142 
Hill Valley & Vale Ltd                   93,902               25,913                 119,815 
 INTO University Partnerships                     7,089                 2,048                    9,137 
Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust                 318,592               26,155                 344,747 
Kiddywinks                       969                    314                    1,283 
Lovell Partnership                 101,096               16,106                 117,202 
The Orders of St John Care Trust                 234,413               26,729                 261,142 
Places for People                  30,664               11,516                  42,180 
Prospects Youth Service                 603,963              195,413                 799,376 
Severnvale Housing Association                 535,394               30,047                 565,441 
Skanska                    10,244                 3,373                  13,617 
Sport & Leisure Management                   99,690               31,712                 131,402 
Stroud Court Community Trust                   88,595               21,083                 109,678 
Tinies UK                    52,835               12,581                  65,416 
Two Rivers Housing                 219,827               86,371                 306,198 
UBICO LTD (Cheltenham)                 641,814              118,413                 760,227 
UBICO LTD (Cotswolds)                   14,504                 4,411                  18,915 
UBICO LTD (FODDC)                   25,211                 6,023                  31,234 
UBICO LTD (Tewkesbury)                 190,483               55,439                 245,922 
Wealdon Leisure (FODDC)                 148,636               34,047                 182,683 
4Children (Cotswolds)                   10,660                 3,022                  13,682 
4Children (North Glos.)                   21,236                 5,958                  27,194 
   
                          7,072,349 1,506,584 8,578,933

 Total contributions                  87,922,319  17,624,693 **105,547,012 

The Fund’s investment 
performance is compared on 
an annual basis against other 
local authority pension funds 
subscribing to PIRC Local 
Authority Pension Performance 
based on the Analytics Universe of 
60 local authority pension funds. 
The Fund was 28th in 2016/17. 

Further details are given on pages 
24 to 25 of this report.

The Fund’s administration 
performance is benchmarked 
on an annual basis against 
other local authority pension 
funds subscribing to the CIPFA 
benchmarking service. Over 

the previous ten years this has 
consistently shown the Fund’s 
administration cost per member 
to be below the average cost of 
all the other funds which were 
benchmarked. Further details of 
the Fund’s performance compared 
to other funds is given on page 14 
of this report. 

Comparison of investment performance with other LGPS

Page 79



23  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Investment Powers 
and Duties

The powers and duties concerning 
the investment of Fund monies are 
set out in the Local Government 
Pension Scheme Management and 
Investment of Funds Regulations 
2016 (as amended) which came 
into force on the 1st November 
2016. The 2016 Regulations 
require the County Council, as 
Administering Authority for the 
Gloucestershire LGPS Fund, 
to invest any monies that are 
not immediately required to pay 
pensions and other benefits. 

The previous Regulations allowed 
a wide range of investments, 
but set certain limits; the 2016 
Regulations allows the authority to 
invest, without any restriction as to 
quantity, in any investment made 
in accordance with a scheme 
under section 11(1) of the Trustee 
Investments Act 1961. However 
the authority’s investment strategy 
must set out the maximum 
percentage of the total value of all 
investments of fund money that it 
will invest in particular investments 
or classes of investment. The 
authority’s investment strategy 
may not permit more than 5% of 
the total value of all investments 
of fund money to be invested in 
entities which are connected with 
that authority.

The Regulations require the 
County Council to have a suitably 
diversified portfolio of investments 
and must obtain the advice of 
properly qualified persons on 
investment matters. In carrying 

out these duties, the County 
Council owes a fiduciary duty to 
the contributors and beneficiaries 
of the Fund, as well as to the 
council taxpayers who ultimately 
‘guarantee’ the financing of future 
liabilities.

Investment Strategy

The Pension Committee is 
responsible for the Fund’s 
investment policy. During 2016/17 
the Committee comprised of six 
County Councillors, one District 
representative and a union 
nominated representative for staff 
/ deferred / pensioner members.  
Further details on the Pension 
Committee regarding meetings 
held and voting arrangements 
can be found in the Governance 
Compliance Statement report on 
pages 38 to 41.

The Committee determines the 
overall investment strategy for the 
Fund after receiving advice from its 
officers, independent advisor and 
appropriate external investment 
consultants. The investment 
strategy developed by the Pension 
Committee is detailed in the 
Statement of Investment Principles 
(SIP) on pages 123 to 129 of this 
report. This includes details of 
the Fund’s agreed strategic asset 
allocation to the various investment 
markets. 

The Fund’s policy in respect of 
Socially Responsible Investment 
issues may be found on page 126 
of the Statement of Investment 
Principles contained within this 
report.

The SIP will be replaced by the 
Investment Strategy Statement 
(ISS) from 1st April 2017 and 
this can be found at www.
gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/
pensions/investments

Investment Management

The objective of LGPS pension fund 
investment policy is to minimise the 
level of the contributions to be paid 
into the Fund by employer bodies 
to ensure its solvency. In place at 
the year-end were five investment 
managers, Standard Life 
Investments, BlackRock, Western 
Asset Management, Hermes 
Investment Management and 
CBRE who each manage portfolios 
within specific asset categories of 
the Fund’s investments. In addition 
there was a small residual amount 
with GMO following a decision by 
the Pension Committee to disinvest 
from GMO and invest the money 
in additional funds managed by 
BlackRock, with a relatively small 
amount invested in two private 
equity/venture capital funds.

The Committee has adopted a 
fund-specific benchmark, and 
details of the Fund benchmark 
currently being used is shown 
on page 31. The benchmark 
represents the optimal investment 
portfolio distribution between asset 
classes to deliver the Fund back 
to 100% funding in accordance 
with the principles outlined in our 
Funding Strategy Statement.

Investment Policy and 
Performance Report

Page 80



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  24

The Fund’s Investment Mandate Bid Market Value
Managers are:  31st March 2017 
  £m

Standard Life Investments UK Equities 388.8
 Global Multi Asset Absolute Return Fund  76.7

BlackRock  Global Equities Including Emerging Markets 561.2
 Emerging Markets 127.9
 Developed World 345.3

Western Asset Management Global Fixed Interest 304.2
 Global Multi Strategy Fixed Interest 122.5

GMO Global Equities Including Emerging Markets 0.6

Hermes Investment Management UK Property Unit Trusts 98.4

CBRE Global Property 44.0

YFM Group Private Equity 1.9

Technology Venture Partners Private Equity 3.5

Each manager is required to have regard for the Fund’s Statement of Investment Principles, the Investment 
Strategy Statement from April 2017 and the legislative environment in which the Fund operates.

BNY Mellon Asset Servicing is the Fund’s appointed global custodian. The appointment has been effective 
since January 2005.

Fund Performance

Primarily, BNY Mellon Asset Servicing and additionally, 
PIRC Local Authority Pension Performance Analytics, 
measure the Fund’s investment performance. These 
companies provide independent performance 
measuring services for the Fund.  

To 31st March 2017 the Fund realised the opposite 
returns: >

  Strategic
 Fund % p.a. Benchmark % p.a. 
 

  1 year 21.3 22.3
  3 years 11.1 12.3
  10 years 7.1 7.4

For general market background 
information the following shows 
rates of return achieved on 
representative market indices over 
the 12 months to 31st March 2017:

 Japan and Pacific Rim equities 
provided the best performance 
of the major equity asset 
categories, returning 35.3% and 
35% respectively. Other equity 
markets also experienced strong 
performance in the last 12 months.

 UK equities returned 21.4%.

 UK bonds returned 10.8% and 
UK index linked bonds returned 
18.2%. 

 UK index linked bonds was 
the best performing category of 
the major fixed interest categories 
in 16/17 with a return of 18.2% 
followed by Non UK bonds at 
14.8%.

 For another year Private Equity 
performed the best in Alternatives 
with a return of 19.6% followed 
by Infrastructure with a return of 
17.7%

 At the end of March 2017 the 
UK Retail Price Index was 3.1% 
and the UK Consumer Price Index 
was 2.3%.

Page 81



25  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Local Authority Universe

For 2016/17, 60 local authority 
funds (out of a total of 89 funds) 
were included directly in the 
PIRC Local Authority Pension 
Performance Analytics Universe. 
The average investment return 
achieved by Local Authority 
Pension Funds within the 
Universe for 2016/17 was 21.4% 
(including property assets), placing 
Gloucestershire 28th out of the 60 
funds.

The average total fund returns for 
the average local authority funds 
are shown below:

The total Fund return of the 
Gloucestershire Fund compared 

to other local authority returns 
placed the Gloucestershire Fund 
28th out of 60 and 29th out of 60 
over the three and ten year periods 
respectively.

Average returns over: Local Authority Universe
 % 

1 year 21.4

3 years 11.2

10 years 7.0

Investment Performance

31st March 2017 investment returns over 12 months and 3 years as derived from the various asset categories 
in the Gloucestershire Fund compared to the specific performance benchmark used for each asset class:

    3 years   12 months  
   Fund  Benchmark Fund  Benchmark 
    %  % %  %

Equities  11.8  13.0  27.0  28.5

UK Bonds  9.3  9.2  12.0  9.2

Overseas Bonds  6.7  n/a  13.7  n/a

UK Index-Linked  15.7  14.6  22.1  22.0

Global Multi Sector  4.1  10.9  11.5  13.3

Property  12.3  10.2  6.7  3.3

Global Absolute Return  2.6  10.9  1.3  13.3

Total Fund Return  11.1  12.3  21.3  22.3

10 year returns are not available in the same format, 
by each major asset class. However, the 10 year total 
fund performance returns are shown on page 24.  
Performance returns by fund manager are shown on 
page 26.

Each mandate awarded over the asset categories 
has a targeted outperformance of their fund specific 
benchmark over a rolling 3 year period.

Page 82



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  26

* The new Global Fund commenced 8th March 2012 replacing the regional funds and their benchmarks. Both performance and 
benchmark returns, for the original regional funds, are included above to the end of February 2012.

** These mandates are monitored against the benchmark of the investment (WAMCO – Global Fixed Interest) from where the 
original funding was taken.

                     Since Inception  3 years                  1 year 
 Mandate Benchmark Portfolio  B/mark Portfolio  B/mark Portfolio B/mark 
   %  % %  % % %

Standard Life   UK Equity FTSE All Share 7.2  7.6  5.0  7.3  15.9 20.0

Standard Life   Multi Asset Composite 4.6  5.7  3.3  5.7 2.0 5.6
 Global Absolute UK/Overseas**
 Return 

BlackRock  Global Equity  MSCI All Country 10.8  10.0 16.8  15.7 33.2 32.2 
 Inc. Emerging  World Index
 Markets*

BlackRock  Emerging   MSCI Emerging 8.1  7.7 12.0  11.3 35.2 34.7 
 Markets Market Index 

Western Asset Global Fixed Composite 7.2  7.4 10.6  10.9 13.9 13.3 
 Interest UK/Overseas

Western Asset Global Multi Composite    4.6  2.6 4.5  2.5 11.7 2.5 
 Strategy Fixed UK/Overseas**
 Interest

Hermes UK Property IPD UK PPF 6.8  4.7 13.0  10.7 6.7 4.6 
Investment  Balanced PUT 

CBRE Global IPD All Balanced  9.9  8.5 10.4  10.8 5.1 5.3 
 Property Property Funds Index 

GMO Global Equity MSCI World Index 13.4  14.5 12.1  16.1 25.2 31.9
 Inc. Emerging 
 Markets

Investment performance by fund manager against benchmarks as at 31st March 2017, annualised for 1 and 3 
years and since inception:

 Strategic asset  Actual asset Actual asset
 allocation allocation as at allocation as at
 target 2016/17 31st March 2016 31st March 2017
 % % %

UK Equity 20.0 18.8 18.7
Emerging Markets 4.0 3.8 6.1
Global Equity 17.5 17.8 16.6
Global Equity Including Emerging Markets 23.5 24.9 27.0
Total Equity 65.0 65.3 68.4
Global Fixed Interest (including Index Linked 22.0 21.8 20.5
Securities) & Global Multi Strategy Fixed Interest
UK and Global Property 7.5 7.9 6.8
Multi Asset Global Absolute Return   5.0 4.4 3.7
Cash & Venture Capital 0.5 0.6 0.6

 100.0  100.0 100.0

Asset Allocation – Planned compared to actual

Page 83



27  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Significant changes during the year:

Planned Strategic Asset Allocation – No changes.

Asset Allocations

Snapshot of the Fund’s actual investment exposure as at 31st March 2017 and 31st March 2016 expressed 
as a percentage of the Fund:

UK Equities 20.9 18.7
Global Equities 43.7 49.7
Fixed Interest 21.4 20.5
Property 7.8 6.8
Global Multi Sector 4.5 3.7
Private Equity 0.3 0.3
Cash  1.4 0.3

 100.0 100.0

< As at 31st March 2017 the 
scheme assets were invested 
in a diversified portfolio that 
consisted primarily of equity and 
debt securities. The majority of 
the equities held by the scheme 
are in international blue chip 
entities as included in the FTSE 
and MSCI Indices. The aim is to 
hold a globally diversified portfolio 
of equities with a small allocation 
to higher risk markets, such as 
Emerging Markets, to maintain a 
wide range of diversification and to 
improve return opportunities.  

Total Fund                                   Gloucestershire Fund
 31st March 2016  31st March 2017
 %  %

Voting

The Fund supports the principles of best practice in corporate governance and delegates authority to the 
investment managers to exercise these voting rights.  This delegation, during the period of this report, was 
in line with the PLSA, formerly NAPF, PIRC or other proxy voting guidelines.  The investment managers are 
required to report their voting actions as part of their quarterly reports to the Pension Committee.

The voting activity of the Pension Fund during the financial year for directly held investments is summarised in 
the following table.

Where voting Number of                  Number of resolutions
activity took place meetings  In total Voted Voted Abstained
   for against

UK, Canada, Channel  98 1,741 1,698 31 12
Islands, Germany,
Ireland, Isle of Man
& Spain

Blackrock, who is the manager of several of our pooled funds, publishes details of its corporate governance 
activities on the following link - http://www.blackrock.com/corporate/en-gb/about-us/responsible-investment/
responsible-investment-reports.

In addition Standard Life, our UK equity manager, discloses all its voting in all markets on a monthly basis 
and these can be found at http://www.standardlifeinvestments.com/governance_and_stewardship/what_is_
corporate_governance/our_voting_records.html

Page 84

http://www.standardlifeinvestments.com/governance_and_stewardship/what_is_corporate_governance/our_voting_records.html
http://www.standardlifeinvestments.com/governance_and_stewardship/what_is_corporate_governance/our_voting_records.html


Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  28

Manager Signatory to UK Notes  
 Stewardship Code 
  

BlackRock Advisors (UK) Yes

CBRE Global Yes Although not relevant to the type of investment CBRE 
Collective Investors  undertakes. CBRE is fully supportive of the Code and 
  applies the stewardship principles to its dealings.

GMO No GMO has clearly articulated proxy voting policies 
  which are integral to their investment process and 
  which they believe capture the broader themes 
  included in the Code.

Hermes Real Estate  Yes Hermes has signed up to the Code. However whilst 
Investment Management  the Code itself is focused on equities, Hermes applies 
  similar stewardship principles to all asset classes, 
  where appropriate, including real estate.

Standard Life Investments Yes

Western Asset Management  No Not relevant because interest mandates.

Stewardship Code

Stewardship aims to promote the 
long term success of companies.  
Effective stewardship benefits 
the Fund, companies and the 
economy as a whole. During 2017 
the Pension Fund is looking to sign 
up to the Code.

The UK Stewardship Code sets 
out seven principles of effective 
stewardship by investors and 
assists institutional investors better 
to exercise their stewardship 
responsibilities. These are set out 
in the following section.

Institutional investors should:

1.   Publicly disclose their policy 
on how they will discharge their 
stewardship responsibilities.

2.   Have a robust policy on 
managing conflicts of interest in 
relation to stewardship and this 
policy should be publicly disclosed.

3.   Monitor their investee 
companies.

4.   Establish clear guidelines on 
when, and how they will escalate 
their activities as a method 

of protecting and enhancing 
shareholder value.

5.   Be willing to act collectively 
with other investors where 
appropriate.

6.   Have a clear policy on voting 
and disclosure of voting activity.

7.   Report periodically on their 
stewardship and voting activities. 

Details of the Fund’s managers 
and whether they are signatories 
to the UK Stewardship Code are 
set out below.

Page 85



29  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

= Market Value

920.8

737.5

1053.5

1157.41200

1000

800

600

400

200

0
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

1205.2

1384.81400

1600

1506.5

Value of Fund

The Fund’s investments were valued at £2,088.6m at 31st March 2017, 
an increase of £386.1m from the beginning of the year. The chart below 
illustrates the movement in the market value of the Fund over the last 
ten years.

1800

1709.1 1702.5

2088.6

£m
2000

Page 86



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  30

31st March 2016  31st March 2017 
 Re-stated  
 £000 Geographical Analysis £000  %

 759,133 United Kingdom   860,661  41.2
 456,387 North America   629,657  30.1
 159,867 Europe   197,533  9.5
 92,125 Far East & Australia   99,792  4.8
 157,428 Emerging Markets   222,612  10.7
 77,563 Global   78,361  3.7

 1,702,503    2,088,616  100.0

31st March 2016  31st March 2017   
 £000 Sector Analysis £000  %

 318,085 Equities UK  382,777  18.3
 787,906  Overseas*  1,034,998  49.6
 250,596 Bonds UK  254,686  12.2
 113,317  Overseas*  160,898  7.7
 119,972 Property Funds UK  126,449  6.0
 12,999  Overseas  13,918  0.7
 75,700 Multi Asset Global  76,646  3.7
 24,717 Cash, Net Current   37,808  1.8 
  Assets & Other Balances
 -789 Derivatives   436  0.0

 1,702,503    2,088,616  100.0

Analysis of Investments as at 31st March 2017

* Pooled funds within these categories may incorporate some UK assets 

Page 87



31  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Implementation and 
application of the Funding 
Strategy Statement

The Funding Strategy Statement 
(FSS) focuses on how employer 
liabilities are measured, the pace at 
which these liabilities are funded, 
and how employers or pools 
of employers pay for their own 
liabilities. The FSS is in essence a 
summary of the Fund’s approach 
to funding its liabilities. The FSS 
was reviewed as part of the 
Triennial Fund Valuation process 
and employers consulted prior to 
the current FSS being finalised.  
The full version of the FSS can be 
found on pages 91 to 116.

A key challenge for the 
Administering Authority is to 
balance the need for stable 

affordable employer contributions 
with the requirement to take a 
prudent, longer-term view of 
funding and ensure the solvency 
of the Fund. With this in mind, 
there are a number of methods 
which the Administering Authority 
may permit in order to improve the 
stability of employer contributions.  
These include, where 
circumstances permit, capping 
of employer contribution rate 
changes within a pre-determined 
range (“stabilisation”), the use of 
extended deficit recovery periods, 
the phasing in of contribution 
rises or reductions, the pooling of 
contributions amongst employers 
with similar characteristics and 
the use of some form of security 
or guarantee to justify a lower 
contribution rate than would 
otherwise be the case. Section 

3.3 of the FSS on page 97 gives a 
summary of how the main funding 
policies differ for different types of 
employer.  

New eligible admitted bodies, 
those employers who do not 
have an automatic right to join the 
Pension Fund, are only admitted 
into the Fund if they have a 
guarantor to cover any pension 
obligations which are not met.  
They may also be required to have 
an indemnity bond or security in 
place to cover any potential risks 
and these are reviewed annually.  
Admitted bodies do not have the 
same freedoms as scheduled 
bodies in how they fund their 
liabilities and these are set out 
again in Section 3.3 of the FSS on 
page 97.

Main Holdings as at 31st March 2017

  Market Fund  Market Fund 
  Value   Value  
  £m %  £m %

 United Kingdom

 Hermes Property Unit Trust 98.4  4.7 Treasury 1.25% 2055 12.2  0.6

 Treasury 4.25% 2040 26.8 1.3 Vodafone Group 10.5 0.5

 Prudential PLC 15.3 0.7 Treasury 4.25% 2039 10.4 0.5

 Treasury 1.25% 2027 15.1 0.7 Barclays Bank PLC 10.3 0.5

 Treasury 2% 2035 14.9 0.7 Imperial Brands 10.0 0.5

 Treasury 1.875% 2022 13.9 0.7 Babcock International Group PLC 9.8 0.5

 Treasury 1.125% 2037 12.9 0.6 Aviva PLC 9.6 0.5

 Glencore PLC 12.8 0.6 BP PLC 9.5 0.5

 Rio Tinto PLC 12.5 0.6 Treasury 1.25% 2032 9.5 0.5

 Shire PLC 12.4 0.6 National Grid 9.0 0.4

 Overseas

 BlackRock Global Equity Fund  561.2  26.9 Legg Mason Global Funds – WA GMS 122.5 5.9

 BlackRock Aquila Life MSCI Developed 172.8  8.3 Standard Life Global Absolute  76.6  3.7
 World (Unhedged)   Return Strategies

 BlackRock Aquila Life MSCI Developed  172.5 8.3 US Treasury Inflation Linked  10.6 0.5
 World (Hedged)   1.375% 2044

 Blackrock Emerging Markets Index Fund 127.9  6.1 Global Alpha Fund - CBREI 10.3 0.5

 Cash Instruments 

 Standard Life AAA Call Account 11.1 0.5 BNY Mellon Sterling Liquidity Fund 6.1 0.3

Page 88



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  32

Scheme Administration Report

Administration 
Arrangements

The Pensions Administration 
team is responsible for the 
scheme member and pensioner 
administration of the Fund.  
Members of the Pensions Finance 
team provide support to the 
Pension Committee including 
the production of management 
information and reports. In 
addition employers are responsible 
for ensuring that member and 
employer contributions are 
deducted at the correct rate 
and member data is sent to 
the Pensions Administration 
team. To enable assurances to 
be obtained as to the effective 
and efficient operation of these 
functions the Fund’s administration 
and investment performance 
is benchmarked on an annual 
basis against other local authority 
pension funds subscribing to the 
CIPFA benchmarking service and 
the PIRC Local Authority Pension 
Performance Analytics’ Universe 
of 60 local authority pension funds 
respectively. Internal controls 
are also in place to support the 
reliability and integrity of financial 
information and the Fund is subject 
to internal and external audit.

The County Council website 
(see web addresses on page 8) 
contains detailed documents and 
information on the following areas: 

 All the Pension Fund’s policy 
statements.

 The actuary’s triennial valuation 
report at March 2007, March 
2010, March 2013 and March 
2016.

 Annual reports from 2007/08 to 
the present.

 Business Plan

 Funding Strategy Statements

 Investment Strategy Statement

 Pension Board Report

 A range of guides for scheme 
members in “booklet” form 
covering different topics.

 Online copies of the various 
forms members may wish to use 
in connection with their scheme 
membership.

 Updates on latest developments 
affecting the pension scheme.

 Information on the Annual 
Benefit Statements.

 Employer pages providing 
an Employer’s Administration 
Guide and associated forms/
documentation together with 
other relevant information.

The Fund’s Internal 
Disputes Resolution 
Procedure (I.D.R.P.) 

Although the majority of problems 
relating to members benefits 
are normally the result of 
misunderstandings or incorrect 
information and can be dealt with 
informally, the LGPS Regulations 
provide a formal complaint 
procedure known as the Internal 
Dispute Resolution Procedure. 
This formal process consists of 
two stages, as detailed below, 
although many of the complaints 
are resolved during the first stage.

Stage 1

 In the first instance you should 
write to the person nominated by 
the body who made the decision 
about which you wish to appeal.  
You must do this within six months 
of the date of the notification of 
the decision or the act or omission 
about which you are complaining 

(or such longer period as the 
nominated person considers 
reasonable). This is a formal review 
of the initial decision or act or 
omission and is an opportunity 
for the matter to be reconsidered.  
The nominated person will 
consider your complaint and notify 
you of his or her decision.

Stage 2

 If you are dissatisfied with that 
person’s decision, (or their failure 
to make a decision) you may 
apply to the Fund’s administering 
authority to have it reconsidered.

The Pensions Section can tell you 
who your employer’s nominated 
person is and supply you with a 
more detailed leaflet on the Internal 
Disputes Resolution Procedure 
and relevant time limits together 
with a form to fill in or you can ask 
your employer.

The Pensions Advisory 
Service (TPAS)

TPAS is available at any time to 
assist members and beneficiaries 
of the scheme in connection 
with any pension query they may 
have or any difficulty which they 
cannot resolve with the scheme 
administrator. TPAS can be 
contacted on 0300 123 1047.

Pensions Ombudsman

In cases where a complaint or 
dispute has not been satisfactorily 
resolved through the Internal 
Disputes Resolution Procedure 
or with the help of TPAS, an 
application can be made to the 
Pensions Ombudsman within 
three years of the event that gave 
rise to the complaint or dispute.  
The Ombudsman can investigate 
and determine any complaint or 
dispute involving maladministration 

Page 89



33  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

of the scheme or matters of fact 
or law and his or her decision is 
final and binding (unless the case 
is taken to the appropriate Court 
on a point of law).  Matters where 
legal proceedings have already 
started cannot be investigated by 
the Pensions Ombudsman.  The 
Pensions Ombudsman can be 
contacted at 0207 630 2200.   

More detailed information can 
be found on the pages of the 
Pension Section’s website by 
using the following link  
www.gloucestershire.gov.
uk/lgpsmemberguides and 
downloading “Booklet 11 – 
Help with Pensions Problems”. 
Alternatively, you can contact the 
Pensions Section by telephoning 
(01452) 328888. 

Details of scheme member 
appeals during 2016/2017 are as 
follows:

One appeal was made against 
the Administering Authority during 
the 2016/2017 year. The appeal 
was made against the funds 
interpretation and implementation 
of the Regulations. The appeal 
was not upheld.

Funding Position

The table below summarises the financial position of the Fund at 31st 
March 2016 in respect of benefits earned by members up to this date.

Executive Summary on the 
Last Triennial Valuation

Past Service Liabilities 1,498 1,976 2,138

Market Value of Assets 1,054 1,385 1,703

Surplus / (Deficit) (444)  (591) (435)

Funding Level                               70.4%                        70.1% 79.7%

 31st March 2010 31st March 2013 31st March 2016 

Past Service Position £m £m £m

An actuarial valuation of the Fund was carried out as at 31st March 2016. 
The results are briefly summarised below.

The main reasons for the change in the funding level over the period 
were better than anticipated investment returns, receipt of deficit repair 
contributions and changes in mortality rates. Increases in the value 
placed on liabilities due to changes in market conditions have been 
partially offset by a change in approach to determining assumptions.

Contribution Rates

The table opposite summarises the whole fund Primary and Secondary 
Contribution rates at the 2016 valuation. These rates are the payroll 
weighted average of the underlying individual employer primary and 
secondary rates calculated in accordance with the Regulations and the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) guidance.

Page 90

www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/lgpsmemberguides
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/lgpsmemberguides


Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  34

The Primary rate also includes an 
allowance of 0.5% of pensionable 
pay for the Fund’s expenses. The 
average employee contribution 
rate is 6.3% of pensionable pay.

Broadly, contributions required 
to be made by employers in 
respect of new benefits earned by 
members (the primary contribution 
rate) have increased as future 
expected investment returns have 
fallen. 

The minimum contributions to 
be paid by each employer from 
1st April 2017 to 31st March 
2020 are shown in the Rates and 
Adjustment Certificate on pages 
117 to 122.

The next triennial valuation will take 
place as at 31st March 2019. This 
will set the minimum contributions 
to be paid by each employer from 
1st April 2020 to 31st March 2023. 

A copy of the most recent 
valuation can be found at  
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/
pensions/investments

Result of interim valuation 
and monitoring

An interim monitoring report 
showed a funding level of 83.4% 
as at 30th June 2017.

The Fund continues to set life 
expectancy assumptions using 

ClubVita, which is a specialised 
longevity company and provides 
life expectancy assumptions based 
on annual monitoring of the Fund’s 
own membership. In addition 
employers’ ill health and early 
retirement experience is monitored 
and extra contributions obtained 
where necessary. In 2016/17 extra 
contributions of £1.9m (£0.8m 
2015/16) were collected from 
employers in connection with early 
retirements and £1.0m (£0.4m 
2015/16) in connection with ill-
health retirements.

Primary Employer Contribution Rate as a %  Secondary Rate
of pay 1st April 2017 to 31st March 2020  £000

 2017/18 2018/19  2019/20

                        19.6% 32,487 36,638 40,905

Page 91

www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments


35  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Actuarial Report on Fund

This statement has been prepared 
in accordance with Regulation 
57(1)(d) of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme Regulations 
2013. It has been prepared at 
the request of the Administering 
Authority of the Fund for the 
purpose of complying with the 
aforementioned regulation.  

Description of Funding 
Policy

The funding policy is set out in the 
Administering Authority’s Funding 
Strategy Statement (FSS), dated 
25th February 2017. In summary, 
the key funding principles are as 
follows:

 to ensure the long-term 
solvency of the Fund, using a 
prudent long term view. This will 
ensure that sufficient funds are 
available to meet all members’/
dependants’ benefits as they fall 
due for payment;

 to ensure that employer 
contribution rates are reasonably 
stable where appropriate;

 to minimise the long-term cash 
contributions which employers 
need to pay to the Fund, by 
recognising the link between 
assets and liabilities and adopting 
an investment strategy which 
balances risk and return (this will 
also minimise the costs to be 
borne by Council Tax payers);

 to reflect the different 
characteristics of different 
employers in determining 
contribution rates. This involves 
the Fund having a clear and 
transparent funding strategy to 
demonstrate how each employer 
can best meet its own liabilities 
over future years; and

 to use reasonable measures to 
reduce the risk to other employers 
and ultimately to the Council Tax 
payer from an employer defaulting 
on its pension obligations.

The FSS sets out how the 
Administering Authority seeks 
to balance the conflicting aims 
of securing the solvency of the 
Fund and keeping employer 
contributions stable. For employers 
whose covenant was considered 
by the Administering Authority to 
be sufficiently strong, contributions 
have been stabilised to return their 
portion of the Fund to full funding 
over 20 years if the valuation 
assumptions are borne out.  
Asset-liability modelling has been 
carried out which demonstrate that 
if these contribution rates are paid 
and future contribution changes 
are constrained as set out in the 
FSS, there is still around a 67% 
chance that the Fund will return to 
full funding over 20 years.

Funding Position as at 
the Last Formal Funding 
Valuation

The most recent actuarial valuation 
carried out under Regulation 62 
of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme Regulations 2013 was 
as at 31st March 2016. This 
valuation revealed that the Fund’s 
assets, which at 31st March 2016 
were valued at £1,703 million, 
were sufficient to meet 79.7% 
of the liabilities (i.e. the present 
value of promised retirement 
benefits) accrued up to that date. 
The resulting deficit at the 2016 
valuation was £435 million.

Each employer had contribution 
requirements set at the valuation, 

with the aim of achieving full 
funding within a time horizon 
and probability measure as per 
the FSS. Individual employers’ 
contributions for the period 1st 
April 2017 to 31st March 2020 
were set in accordance with the 
Fund’s funding policy as set out in 
its FSS.  

Principal Actuarial 
Assumptions and Method 
Used to Value the Liabilities

Full details of the methods and 
assumptions used are described in 
the 2016 valuation report.

Method

The liabilities were assessed using 
an accrued benefits method which 
takes into account pensionable 
membership up to the valuation 
date, and makes an allowance 
for expected future salary growth 
to retirement or expected earlier 
date of leaving pensionable 
membership.

Assumptions

A market-related approach was 
taken to valuing the liabilities, for 
consistency with the valuation of 
the Fund assets at their market 
value. 

Page 92



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  36

The key financial assumptions adopted for the 2016 valuation were 
as follows:

 31st March 2016
 Financial assumptions 

 Discount rate 4.0%

 Salary increase assumption  2.4%

 Benefit increase assumption (CPI) 2.1%

  Males Females

 Current Pensioners 22.4 years 24.6 years

 Future Pensioners* 24.0 years 26.4 years

The key demographic assumption was the allowance made for longevity. 
The life expectancy assumptions are based on the Fund’s VitaCurves 
with improvements in line with the CMI 2013 model, assuming the 
current rate of improvements has reached a peak and will converge to a 
long term rate of 1.25% p.a. Based on these assumptions, the average 
future life expectancies at age 65 are as follows: 

Copies of the 2016 valuation report and Funding Strategy Statement are 
available on request from the Administering Authority to the Fund. 

Experience Over the Period Since 31st March 2016

Since the last formal valuation, real bond yields have fallen placing a 
higher value on the liabilities. The effect of this has been broadly offset by 
strong asset returns. Both events have roughly cancelled each other out 
in terms of the impact on the funding position as at 31st March 2017. 

The next actuarial valuation will be carried out as at 31st March 2019. 
The Funding Strategy Statement will also be reviewed at that time. 

Douglas Green FFA 
For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP
4th May 2017

Hymans Robertson LLP
20 Waterloo Street, 
Glasgow, G2 6DB

*Aged 45 at the 2016 Valuation.

Page 93



37  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

The Gloucestershire Local 
Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) Pension 
Board

All Public Sector Pension schemes 
were required under the Public 
Service Pensions Act 2013 to 
set up a Pension Board with 
effect from 2015/16 to assist 
the administering authorities of 
their Pension scheme in ensuring 
compliance with LGPS and other 
pension regulations.

The County Council, as 
administering authority of the 
Gloucestershire LGPS agreed the 
terms of reference of the Pension 
Board in February 2015. These 
terms of reference are included 
within the Fund’s Governance 
Policy document on pages 41 to 
46 of this Annual Report.

Employers, scheme members and 
the relevant unions were invited 
to be considered to become 
members of the Pension Board 
and the following were appointed.

Employer representatives

Cllr. Nigel Moor (Gloucestershire 
County Council)

Kate Walton (to March 2017) John 
Wills (from March 2017) (University 
of Gloucestershire)

Scheme member 
representatives

Owen Shaw

Jon Topping

Taking account of the relevant 
LGPS regulations and guidance, 
the Gloucestershire LGPS decided 
to also appoint an independent 
non voting chair of the Pension 
Board. An independent chair of 
the Pension Board can not have 
any involvement (e.g., through 
membership or employer links) 
with the local pension scheme they 
would be chairing but having good 
experience and knowledge of the 
LGPS would be advantageous 
and would assist the other Board 
members in their role. To comply 
with these requirements the 
Gloucestershire LGPS invited 
the Head of Pension Fund at 
the Oxfordshire LGPS, Sean 
Collins, to become chair of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Board. 

The Board met on three 
occasions during the financial 
year 2016/17 and the areas they 
have focussed on include: the 
Pension Fund’s Risk Register, 
Key Performance Indicators, 
the Fund’s Business Plan, 
Scheme Costs and the continued 
development of proposals to meet 
the Government’s requirement for 
LGPS Funds to pool their Pension 
Fund investments with other LGPS 
funds.  

In addition to attending at 
meetings of the Board, Members 
of the Pension Board are also 
invited to attend joint training and 
update sessions with members 
of the Pension Committee and 
are also sent all agenda papers 
for the Pension Committee 
meetings, which they can attend 
as observers. The minutes of the 

Pension Board are reported to 
the next Pension Committee and 
a member of the Board attends 
the Committee to give a verbal 
update to the Committee on these 
minutes.

Pension Board

Page 94



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  38

Governance Compliance

The Pension Fund’s Governance 
structure and the roles and 
responsibilities of each element 
within the structure are contained 
in the Governance Policy 
Statement on pages 41 to 46 of 
this report.

Membership of the Pension 
Committee showing voting 
rights, attendance at meetings 
and training received are shown 
in the matrix opposite. Training 
days shown includes attendance 
at courses, seminars and 
conferences. This is in addition 
to training received at Pension 
Committee meetings which 
includes fund manager and 
performance presentations, as well 
as officer and investment advisor 
briefings.

Meetings were held on 13th May 
2016, 1st July 2016, 12th August 
2016, 11th November 2016, 2nd 
December 2016 (Annual Meeting), 
10th February 2017 and 29th 
March 2017.

Pension Board

Membership of the Pension Board 
showing attendance at meetings 
and training received are shown in 
the matrix opposite. 

Meetings were held on 22nd April 
2016, 26th October 2016 and 
24th March 2017.

The Fund has adopted the CIPFA 
Knowledge & Skills Framework 
to help assess and action the 
training needs of both Committee 
Members and Pension Fund 
Members. The Strategic Finance 
Director is responsible for 
ensuring training requirements are 
implemented.

Fund Governance 
Compliance Statement

Pension Funds are required to 
produce a statement explaining 
how well they comply with 
a number of best practice 
principles covering governance 
arrangements for the Fund. Good 
governance means there are clear 
arrangements and controls in 
place to help ensure the Pension 
Fund is managed efficiently. The 
following Governance Compliance 
Statement was reviewed in June 
2017 and only minor updates 

were made to the previous 
version. The statement details the 
areas where these best practice 
principles apply, for example, 
covering committee structure and 
representation, arrangements for 
training, etc. The Governance 
Compliance Statement then 
indicates whether the Fund 
is fully compliant in all these 
areas and refers to the relevant 
policy documents such as the 
Governance Policy Statement 
(on page 41) which gives more 
information on the governance 
arrangements which are in place.

*Peter Clark joined the Committee in August 2015.

  Meetings               Training Received
 Member Attended                Number of Days

   From 2015/16 During 
   to 2016/17 2016/17

 S. Collins 3 2 1

 Cllr. N. Moor 3 1 0

 O. Shaw 3 1 1

 J. Topping 3 2 1

 K. Walton 3 2 1

  Voting Meetings       Training Received
 Member Rights Attended        Number of Days

    From During 
    2014/15 to 2016/17
    2016/17

 Cllr. R. Theodoulou Yes 7 8 3

 Cllr. D. Brown Yes 7 3 1

 Cllr. N. Cooper Yes 6  6 3 

 Cllr. J. Gill Yes 7 3 1

 Cllr. C. Hay Yes 6 2 1

 Cllr. S. Parsons Yes 6 7 3

 Cllr. L. Stowe Yes 4 4 1

 P. Clark*  No 6 4 3
 (Scheme Member Rep.)

Page 95



39  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

 
Area

 
Principle

Level of 
Compliance

Reason for 
Non-Compliance

A) Structure a) The management of the 
administration of benefits and 
strategic management of fund assets 
clearly rests with the main committee 
established by the appointing council.

FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement

b) That representatives of participating 
LGPS employers, admitted bodies and 
scheme members (including pensioner 
and deferred members) are members 
of either the main or secondary 
committee established to underpin the 
work of the main committee. 

FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement

c) That where a secondary committee 
or panel has been established, 
the structure ensures effective 
communication across both levels.

Not Applicable 
- There is no 
secondary 
committee or panel

d) That where a secondary committee 
or panel has been established, at 
least one seat on the main committee 
is allocated for a member from the 
secondary committee or panel.

Not Applicable 
- There is no 
secondary 
committee or panel

B) 
Representation

a) That all key stakeholders are afforded 
the opportunity to be represented 
within the main or secondary 
committee structure. These include:

PARTIAL - not 
all employing 
authorities are 
represented

FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement
 
FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement

FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement

Concerns over logistics 
and potential size of 
Committee but will keep 
under review.

Employers are able to 
attend Committee as 
observers and submit 
written questions. Also, 
Employer Forums, 
which are open to all 
employers, are held at 
least twice a year.

b) That where lay members sit on a main 
or secondary committee, they are 
treated equally in terms of access to 
papers and meetings, training and are 
given full opportunity to contribute to 
the decision making process, with or 
without voting rights.

FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement

Fund Governance Compliance Statement

i. employing authorities (including non-
scheme employers, e.g. admitted 
bodies);

ii. scheme members (including 
deferred and pensioner scheme 
members); 

iii. where appropriate, independent 
professional observers; and

iv. expert advisors (on an ad-hoc 
basis).

Page 96



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  40

 
Area

 
Principle

Level of 
Compliance

Reason for 
Non-Compliance

C) Selection 
and Role of Lay 
Members

a) That committee or panel members are 
made fully aware of the status, role and 
function they are required to perform on 
either a main or secondary committee.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement 

b) That at the start of any meeting, committee 
members are invited to declare any financial 
or pecuniary interest related to specific 
matters on the agenda.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

D) Voting a) The policy of individual administering 
authorities on voting rights is clear and 
transparent, including the justification for not 
extending voting rights to each body or group 
represented on main LGPS committees.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

E) Training/
Facility Time/
Expenses

a) That in relation to the way in which 
statutory and related decisions are taken 
by the administering authority, there is a 
clear policy on training, facility time and 
reimbursement of expenses in respect of 
members involved in the decision-making 
process.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement 
and Members 
Allowances 
scheme within 
the Council’s 
Constitution

b) That where such a policy exists, it applies 
equally to all members of committees, sub-
committees, advisory panels or any other 
form of secondary forum.

FULL -  see 
Governance 
Policy Statement 
and Members 
Allowances 
scheme within 
the Council’s 
Constitution

c) That the administering authority considers 
the adoption of annual training plans for 
committee members and maintains a log of 
all such training undertaken.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

F) Meetings - 
Frequency

a) That an administering authority’s main 
committee or committees meet at least 
quarterly.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

b) That an administering authority’s secondary 
committee or panel meet at least twice a 
year and is synchronised with the dates 
when the main committee sits.

Not Applicable 
-  There is no 
secondary 
committee or 
panel

c) That administering authorities who do 
not include lay members in their formal 
governance arrangements, provide a forum 
outside of those arrangements by which 
the interests of key stakeholders can be 
represented.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

Page 97



41  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

> Governance Policy Statement

Introduction

1. The County Council, as 
Administering Authority, has 
prepared this policy statement and 
consulted upon it with scheme 
employers.

2. This statement addresses the 
best practice principles identified in 
the statutory guidance issued and 
is in accordance with regulation 55 
of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) Regulations 2013.

3. The County Council’s 
Compliance Statement which 
identifies the level of compliance 
against these best practice 
principles is shown as an appendix 
to this policy statement. The 
Governance and Policy Statement 
was reviewed and updated in July 
2017.

Purpose of Governance 
Policy Statement

4. The regulations on governance 
policy and compliance statements 
require an administering 

authority, after consultation with 
such persons as they consider 
appropriate, to prepare, maintain 
and publish a written statement 
setting out:

(a)  whether it delegates its 
functions in relation to maintaining 
a pension fund to a committee, 
sub-committee or officer of the 
authority;

(b)  and, if so, it must state:

 the frequency of any committee 
/sub-committee meetings;

 the terms of reference, structure 
and operational procedures of the 
delegation;

 whether the committee/sub-
committee includes representatives 
of

- employing authorities (including 
non-scheme employers)

- scheme members

 and, if there are such 
representatives, whether they have 
voting rights.

(c)  the extent to which a 
delegation, or the absence of a 
delegation, complies with guidance 
given by the Secretary of State 
and, to the extent that it does 
not comply, the reasons for not 
complying; and 

(d)  details of the terms, structure 
and operational procedures 
relating to the local pension board 
established under regulation 53(4) 
(Scheme managers).

5. Thus, the policy statement 
should include information about 
all of the administering authority’s 
pension fund governance 
arrangements. Information 
about the representation of 
employers should also cover any 
arrangements for representing 
admitted body employers (non-
scheme employers). 

 A copy of the Terms of Reference 
for the Fund’s local pension board 
is included on pages 44 to 46.

 
Area

 
Principle

Level of 
Compliance

Reason for 
Non-Compliance

G) Access a) That subject to any rules in the council’s 
constitution, all members of main and 
secondary committees or panels have equal 
access to committee papers, documents 
and advice that falls to be considered at 
meetings of the main committee.  

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

H) Scope a) That administering authorities have taken 
steps to bring wider scheme issues 
within the scope of their governance 
arrangements.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

I) Publicity a) That administering authorities have 
published details of their governance 
arrangements in such a way that 
stakeholders with an interest in the way in 
which the scheme is governed, can express 
an interest in wanting to be part of those 
arrangements.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

Page 98



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  42

Pension Committee

8.  The Pension Committee’s 
formal terms of reference (above) 
are interpreted as including:

 Determining the overall 
investment strategy and strategic 
asset allocations of the Fund, with 
regard to investment suitability and 
diversification.

 Overseeing the preparation of 
the Investment Strategy Statement 
(ISS), including the Fund’s policy 
on socially responsible investment 
and Corporate Governance.

 Annually reviewing the ISS.

 Monitoring compliance with the 
ISS

 Overseeing the preparation of 
the Funding Strategy Statement.

 Approving the Annual Report.

 Appointing, reviewing and 
when necessary, dismissing, the 
Fund’s investment managers and 
custodian, subject to changes 
agreed by Brunel Partnership as 
part of the Pooled Investments.

 Reviewing investment 
manager performance against set 

benchmarks on a regular basis.

 Appointing, reviewing and when 
necessary, dismissing, the Fund’s 
actuary, investment advisors/
consultants and performance 
measurement consultants.

 Ensuring appropriate Pension 
Fund governance arrangements 
are in place in accordance with 
the LGPS regulations and other 
regulatory requirements.

 Holding an annual meeting.

The Pension Committee reports to County Council. It meets formally each quarter and more frequently 
if formal decisions on fund management are required.

Terms of Reference:

 To set the investment policies of the Fund, including the establishment and maintenance of a strategic 
benchmark for asset allocation, drawing upon professional service providers, considering the 
forthcoming changes with Pooled Investments within Brunel Partnership.

 To appoint and review the performance of all Fund Managers and associated professional service 
providers.

 To approve and keep under review the Funding Strategy Statement.

 To approve and keep under review the Investment Strategy Statement.

 To report annually to the full Council.

 To consider any other matter relevant to the proper operation and management of the Fund.

 To review the Council’s performance as Administering Authority.

 To decide upon arrangements for managing the Administering Authority’s relationship with employers 
in the Fund e.g. agreeing contribution rates, establishing dispute resolution procedures and ensuring 
employers have established policies as required by Regulations.

 To decide upon requests for admission of qualifying organisations wishing to join the Fund.

 To decide upon key pension policy and discretions that are the responsibility of the Administering 
Authority.

 To consider advice and recommendations from the Pension Board on areas that may improve the 
governance of the Pension Fund (the remit of the Pension Board is detailed in its Terms of Reference).

 To consider the Pension Board’s proposed work plan for the forthcoming financial year.

Principle A - Structure

6. The purpose of the Pension 
Committee is to give advice on 
the proper management of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and carry out the function of the 
Council as Administering Authority.

7. Under the cabinet structure in 
local government, management 
of the pension fund is a 
non-executive function. In 
Gloucestershire it is linked to 
the administration by virtue of 
the Chairman of the Pension 
Committee being the Deputy 

Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Change. 

Page 99



43  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Principle B - 
Representation

9. The role of independent 
professional observers in e.g. 
assessing compliance with 
the ISS’ principles and risk 
management, will be met 
by elected councillors with 
support from officers within the 
County Council and the Fund’s 
independent advisor.

Principle C – Selection & 
Role of Lay Members

10. The Agenda for any meetings 
of the Pension Committee will 
include an item at the start of the 
meeting inviting all committee 
members to declare any financial 
or pecuniary interest related to 
specific matters on the agenda.

Principle D – Voting

11. The Pension Committee 
comprises 6 County Councillors, 
including the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Change, together 
with one voting district council 
representative and one non-voting 
scheme member representative 
(who also represents pensioners 
and deferred members). The 
scheme member representative 
is non-voting because as the 
LGPS is a statutory scheme with 
benefits fully protected by statute, 
any changes in investment or 
other policies which were voted 
on by the scheme member 
representative does not affect the 
scheme members’ benefits.

The Fund’s independent 
investment advisor and the Chief 
Financial Officer and staff support 
the Committee in its role.

12. Elected councillors already 
have legal responsibilities for the 
prudent and effective stewardship 
of LGPS funds and in more general 
terms have a clear fiduciary duty in 
the performance of their functions. 
Lay members (non councillors) 
should be reminded that they 
owe a duty of care to the fund 

beneficiaries and are required to 
act in their best interests at all 
times, particularly in terms of their 
investment decisions. They are not 
there to represent their own local, 
political or private interest.

Principle E – Training/
Facility Time/Expenses

13. Decisions should only be 
taken by persons or organisations 
with the skills, information and 
resources necessary to take them 
effectively. Where trustees elect to 
take investment decisions, they 
must have sufficient expertise 
and appropriate training to be 
able to evaluate critically any 
advice they take. All members 
of the Committee (including lay 
members) are offered training, 
including that offered by the 
Employers Organisation (and are 
exposed to presentations at the 
Committee’s quarterly meetings on 
investment matters). Substitutions 
are not permitted on the Pension 
Committee.

14. Committee members 
complete a training requirement 
self-assessment form. These are 
used to determine the training 
to be provided to Committee 
Members and a log of training 
undertaken is maintained by the 
Administering Authority.

15. The members’ allowances 
scheme within the County 
Council’s Constitution outlines the 
process for both councillors and 
lay members reclaiming expenses. 
The same rules apply to both 
councillors and lay members.

Principle F – Meetings 
(frequency/quorum)

16. The Pension Committee 
reports to County Council. It meets 
formally each quarter and more 
frequently if formal decisions on 
fund management are required.

Other ways of engaging 
stakeholders which the Council 
have adopted are:

 bi-lateral discussions, and 
similar forums, involving employers 
and other stakeholders;

 an annual meeting for all 
employers and fund members;

 a triennial meeting between 
all employers and the actuary to 
discuss the results of the actuarial 
valuation.

Principle G – Access 

17. All members of the Pensions 
Committee have equal access to 
committee papers, documents 
and advice. 

Principle H – Scope

18. The terms of reference of the 
Pensions Committee (as detailed 
in paragraph 7, on page 42 of this 
document) include general scheme 
and other administrative issues 
in connection with their role as 
Administering Authority. 

19. The finance and operational 
arrangements of the Fund are 
subject to review and audit by 
both the Fund’s external auditor, 
Grant Thornton, and the Council’s 
own internal audit service. Reports 
issued by our auditors are subject 
to consideration by the Council’s 
elected members acting as an 
audit committee.

Principle I – Publicity

20. The County Council is 
committed to the widest 
inclusion of all stakeholders in 
consultation and communication 
outside of the formal governance 
arrangements. In this respect it 
has made arrangements to make 
its publications available via the 
Council’s public website and its 
intranet.

21. A copy of the Governance 
Compliance Statement will be 
published as part of the Pension 
Fund Annual Report. The Annual 
Report is discussed at the Fund’s 
annual meeting which is open to all 
fund members and employers.

Page 100



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  44

Terms of Reference for the Pension Board of the 
Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund

1.  Role of the Pension 
Board

1.1 The role of the local Pension 
Board as defined by sections 5 
(1) and (2) of the Public Service 
Pensions Act 2013, is to –

 Assist Gloucestershire County 
Council  as Scheme Manager; –

- to secure compliance with 
the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) Regulations and 
any other legislation relating to the 
governance and administration of 
the LGPS

- to secure compliance with 
requirements imposed in relation 
to the LGPS by the Pensions 
Regulator

- in such other matters as the 
LGPS regulations may specify

 Provide the Scheme Manager 
with such information as it requires 
to ensure that any member of the 
Pension Board or person to be 
appointed to the Pension Board 
does not have a conflict of interest.

1.2 In addition the LGPS 
(Amendment) (Governance) 
Regulations 2015 expect the 
Pension Board to assist the 
Scheme Manager to secure the 
effective and efficient governance 
and administration of the LGPS 
for the Gloucestershire Local 
Government Pension Fund.

1.3 The Board shall provide 
an annual report to the Pension 
Committee and then to a full 
meeting of Gloucestershire County 
Council. The report will include 
information on the business 
conducted by the Pension 
Board with any risks or concerns 
identified and mitigation steps 
proposed. The report will also be 
published on the Pension Fund’s 
website. Any concerns requiring 

reporting outside the annual 
process should be raised with the 
Pensions Committee.

1.4 The Pension Board will 
ensure it effectively and efficiently 
complies with the code of 
practice on the governance and 
administration of public service 
pension schemes issued by the 
Pension Regulator.

1.5 The Pension Board 
will also help ensure that the 
Gloucestershire Local Government 
Pension Fund is managed and 
administered effectively and 
efficiently and complies with 
the code of practice on the 
governance and administration of 
public service pension schemes 
issued by the Pension Regulator. 

1.6 The cost of running the 
Pension Board will be met from the 
Pension Fund.

2.  Appointment of 
Members of the Pension 
Board

2.1 The Pension Board shall 
consist of 5 members and be 
constituted as follows:

a)  The Chairman
The Chair of the Pension Board, 
who can demonstrate their 
knowledge and understanding of 
the Local Government Pension 
Scheme will be appointed by 
the Scheme Manager following 
a selection process to be 
determined by the Constitution 
Committee members. The Chair 
of the Pension Board cannot be a 
Gloucestershire County Councillor.

b) Two employer representatives 
who can demonstrate their 
capacity to represent other 
scheme employers, and their 
knowledge and understanding of 
the Local Government Pension 
Scheme. To be appointed by the 

Scheme Manager following a 
selection process to be determined 
by the Constitution Committee 
members.

c)  Two scheme member 
representatives who can 
demonstrate, their capacity 
to represent other scheme 
members, and their knowledge 
and understanding of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme. 
To be appointed by the Scheme 
Manager following a selection 
process to be determined by the 
Constitution Committee members.

One of the employer or member 
representatives should be a 
County Councillor appointed 
annually at a meeting of Full 
Council.

3.  Length of Term and 
Removal

3.1 The Chairman, each 
employer representative, and 
scheme member representative so 
appointed shall serve initially for a 4 
year term, which may be extended 
for further 4 year terms subject to 
re-nomination and re-selection.

3.2 Board members can be 
removed on grounds of non 
attendance, breach of code of 
conduct and non participation in 
training.

3.3 Each Board member should 
endeavour to attend all Board 
meetings during the year and is 
required to attend at least one 
of the scheduled meetings each 
financial year. In the event of a 
Board member failing to do this, or 
other persistent non-attendance 
then the tenure of that member 
should be reviewed by the other 
Board members in liaison with the 
Constitution Committee members.

Page 101



45  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

3.4 Other than by ceasing to 
be eligible, a Board member 
may only be removed from office 
during a term of appointment by 
the unanimous agreement of all of 
the other members in attendance 
at the Board Meeting where this 
is being considered. The removal 
of the Chairman also requires the 
consent of the Scheme Manager. 

4.  Quorum

The Board shall have a formal 
quorum of 3 to include one 
employer representative and one 
member representative.

Because of the specialist nature 
of their work, no substitution is 
permitted.

5.  Code of Conduct and 
Conflicts of Interest

The principles included in the 
County Council’s Member Code of 
Conduct applies to all members of 
the Local Pension Board. Likewise, 
all other relevant County Council 
policies shall apply to members of 
the Pension Board.

As a condition of appointment, 
Board members shall be required 
to enter into a confidentiality 
agreement with the County 
Council. 

6. Knowledge and Skills 

A member of the Pension Board 
will be conversant with –

 The legislation and associated 
guidance of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS).

 Any document recording policy 
about the administration of the 
LGPS which is for the time being 
adopted by the Gloucestershire 
Local Government Pension Fund.

A member of the Pension Board 

must have knowledge and 
understanding of –

- The law relating to pensions, 
and

- Any other matters which are 
prescribed in regulations.

7.  Board Meetings and 
Publication of Board 
Information

7.1  The Board shall meet no less 
than twice per annum. If there is a 
need for an additional meeting this 
will be determined by the Chair of 
the Board.

7.2 The agenda and supporting 
papers shall be distributed to 
members of the board 5 clear 
working days prior to each 
meeting.

7.3 Pension Board papers, 
agendas and minutes of 
meetings will be published on the 
Gloucestershire Local Government 
Pension Fund website subject to 
the Rules on Access to Information 
and the Data Protection Act 1998. 

8. Remit of the Board

The Board shall:

i. Ensure the Pension Fund’s 
strategy and policy documents are 
in place and have been maintained 
in accordance with the LGPS 
Regulations. These documents 
are the communications policy 
statement, funding strategy 
statement, governance 
compliance statement, pensions 
administration strategy, Pension 
Fund annual report and accounts 
and Investment Strategy 
Statement.

ii. Ensure the Pension Fund’s 
internal Risk Register is in place 
and reviewed at least annually.

iii. Review the Pension Fund’s 
performance in complying 
with the requirements of the 
LGPS Regulations and any 
other legislation relating to the 
governance and administration of 
the LGPS.

iv. Review the Pension Fund’s 
performance in complying with 
the requirements of the Pension 
Regulator.

v. Provide advice and make 
recommendations when required, 
to the Pensions Committee, 
on areas that may improve the 
governance of the Pension Fund.

vi. Each January, submit a 
proposed work plan for the 
forthcoming financial year, to the 
Pensions Committee. 

vii. To carry out any other activities 
relating to the efficient governance 
and administration of the Pension 
Fund, which the Pensions 
Committee may request the 
Pension Board to undertake.  

9. Voting Rights and 
Decision Making

9.1 Only members of the 
Pension Board who are employer 
or member representatives will 
have an individual voting right but 
it is expected the Pension Board 
will as far as possible reach a 
consensus.

9.2 A majority of Board 
members, with a voting right 
and present at a meeting, will be 
required to agree any decision of 
the Board, including any referrals 
back to the Pensions Committee. 

10.  Accountability

The Pension Board will be 
collectively and individually 
accountable to the Scheme 
Manager. 

Page 102



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  46

Definitions

The undernoted terms shall have the following meaning when used in this document:

“Pension Board” or “Board” Means the local Pension Board for Gloucestershire County Council as 
Administering Authority for the Gloucestershire Local Government (LGPS) 
Pension Fund as required under the Public Service Pensions Act 2013

“Scheme Manager” Means Gloucestershire County Council as Administering Authority of the 
Gloucestershire Local Government (LGPS) Pension Fund

“LGPS” The Local Government Pension Scheme as constituted by the Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013, the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 and The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management 
and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016

“Scheme” Means the Local Government Pension Scheme as defined under “LGPS”

Page 103



47  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Fund Account and 
Net Assets Statement

> Statement of Accounts 2016/17

Statement of Responsibilities and Foreword 
to Accounts

The audited accounts and notes following on pages 49 to 84, 
summarise the transactions and net assets of the Fund.  

Authority’s Responsibilities

The Authority is required:

 To make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial  
affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for 
the administration of those affairs (the Chief Financial Officer).

 To manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of 
resources and safeguard its assets.

 To approve the statement of accounts.

The Chief Financial Officer’s Responsibilities

The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the preparation of the 
Fund’s statement of accounts in accordance with proper practices 
set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom.

In preparing this statement of accounts, the Chief Financial Officer has:

 Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently.

 Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent.

 Complied with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting.

 Kept proper accounting records which were up to date.

 Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

Jo Walker, CPFA 
Strategic Finance Director 
(and Section 151 Officer) 
28th July 2017

Page 104



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  48

Independent Auditor’s 
Report to the Members 
of Gloucestershire County 
Council

We have audited the Pension 
Fund financial statements of 
Gloucestershire County Council 
(the “Authority”) for the year ended 
31st March 2017 under the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 
(the “Act”). The Pension Fund 
financial statements comprise the 
Fund Account, the Net Assets 
Statement and the related notes. 
The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law 
and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code 
of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2016/17.

This report is made solely to the 
members of the Authority, as a 
body, in accordance with Part 
5 of the Act and as set out in 
paragraph 43 of the Statement 
of Responsibilities of Auditors 
and Audited Bodies published by 
Public Sector Audit Appointments 
Limited. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state 
to the members those matters 
we are required to state to them 
in an auditor’s report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the Authority 
and the Authority’s members as a 
body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have 
formed. 

Respective Responsibilities 
of The Strategic Finance 
Director and Auditor

As explained more fully in the 
Statement of Responsibilities, the 
Strategic Finance Officer (Chief 
Financial Officer) is responsible for 
the preparation of the Authority’s 
Statement of Accounts, which 
includes the Pension Fund financial 

statements, in accordance with 
proper practices as set out in the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting 
in the United Kingdom 2016/17, 
which give a true and fair view. 
Our responsibility is to audit 
and express an opinion on the 
Pension Fund financial statements 
in accordance with applicable 
law, the Code of Audit Practice 
published by the National Audit 
Office on behalf of the Comptroller 
and Auditor General (the “Code of 
Audit Practice”) and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the 
Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the Audit of the 
Pension Fund Financial 
Statements

An audit involves obtaining 
evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, 
whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of 
whether the accounting policies 
are appropriate to the Pension 
Fund’s circumstances and 
have been consistently applied 
and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by 
the Strategic Finance Director; 
and the overall presentation of the 
Pension Fund financial statements. 
In addition, we read all the financial 
and non-financial information in the 
Authority’s Statement of Accounts 
to identify material inconsistencies 
with the audited Pension Fund 
financial statements and to identify 
any information that is apparently 
materially incorrect based on, 
or materially inconsistent with, 
the knowledge acquired by us 
in the course of performing the 
audit. If we become aware of any 
apparent material misstatements 

or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report.

Opinion on the Pension 
Fund Financial Statements

In our opinion 

 the Pension Fund financial 
statements present a true and fair 
view of the financial transactions of 
the Pension Fund during the year 
ended 31st March 2017 and of the 
amount and disposition at that date 
of the Fund’s assets and liabilities; 
and

 the Pension Fund financial 
statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom 2016/17 and 
applicable law.

Opinion on Other Matters

In our opinion, the other information 
published together with the audited 
Pension Fund financial statements 
in the Authority’s Statement of 
Accounts for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the 
audited Pension Fund financial 
statements.

Elizabeth Cave
for and on behalf of 
Grant Thornton UK LLP,
Appointed Auditor

Hartwell House
55 – 61 Victoria Street
Bristol BS1 6FT

28th July 2017

Page 105



49  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

 2015/16 
    
 £000  £000 £000 Note 

Fund Account for the year ended 31st March 2017

  Contributions  
 -81,156  employer contributions -87,923  N20 
 -17,292  members’ contributions -17,625  N20 
 -98,448    -105,548  N7 
   
  Transfers in from other pension funds 
 -1,131  individual transfers from other schemes or funds -7,100
 -  group transfers from other schemes or funds -94  
 -1,131    -7,194 
   
  Other income    
 -139  recoveries for services provided  -151 N22 
  
  Benefits     
 62,087  pensions 63,551  N32 
 8,506  commutation of pensions and lump sum 12,244 
   retirement benefits    
 1,344  lump sum death benefits 858   
 71,937    76,653 N7 
   

  Payments to and on account of leavers    
 115  refunds to members leaving scheme or fund 135   
 50  payments for members joining state scheme or fund 42   
 2,200  individual transfers to other schemes or funds 3,146
 1,078  group transfers to other schemes or funds 338  N30 
 3,443    3,661 
 
 -24,338 Net (addition)/withdrawal from dealings with members  -32,579

 7,613 Management expenses  8,525 N22 & N34
       

  Returns on investments 
 -24,696  investment income -27,305  N15 & N34 
 -27  taxes on income 49  N3 & N15 
 48,019  Profit(-) and losses on disposal of investments and -334,803  N4 & N34 
   changes in market value of investments   
 
 23,296 Net returns on investments  -362,059 
  
 6,571 Net increase (-) / decrease in the net assets  -386,113  
  available for benefits during the year   
 
1,709,074 Opening net assets of the scheme  1,702,503 
  

1,702,503 Closing net assets of the scheme  2,088,616

2016/17

Page 106



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  50

 2015/16  2016/17
   
 £000  £000 Note 

Net Asset Statement as at 31st March 2017

The Fund’s financial statements do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits after the 
period end but rather summarise the transactions and net assets of the scheme.

The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits is disclosed at Note N26.

The notes on the following pages form part of these Financial Statements.

  Investment assets  
 280,881  Bonds 280,713 N34

 312,866  Equities 377,449
 952,078  Pooled investment vehicles 1,253,165 N34

 127,532  Property unit trusts  133,718 N10 & N34 
  138  Derivative contracts 589 N2 & N17 

  5,219  Other investments - Venture Capital/Private Equity 5,328 N10 
  9,198  Cash held on behalf of the investment managers 21,509  
  7,254  Other investment balances 5,522  
 1,695,166   2,077,993 N14

  Investment liabilities   
 -927  Derivative contracts -153 N2 & N17 

 -1,789  Other investment balances -2,720  
 -2,716   -2,873 N14

 1,692,450 Total Net Investments 2,075,120

  Long term assets   
 288  Contributions due from employers 334  

 2,472  Other long term assets (debtors)  1,854 
 2,760   2,188 N14 & N24

  Current assets   
 3,773  Contributions due from employers 5,132  

 286  Other current assets 238
 618  Money due re. transfer of staff to another pension scheme 618 
 4,321  Cash balances 7,160 N2, N23
     & N27

 8,998   13,148 N14 & N24

  Current liabilities   
 -10  Unpaid benefits -4  
 -1,695  Other current liabilities -1,836
 -1,705   -1,840 N14 & N25

 1,702,503 Net assets of the scheme available to fund 2,088,616 N4, N5,
  benefits at the period end  N14 & N18

Page 107



51  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

N1 Introduction  

The County Council is the 
administering body for the 
Gloucestershire Local Government 
Pension Fund. This is not only for 
County Council employees but 
also for District Councils within 
the County and other local bodies 
providing public services. A full list 
of all employing bodies who are 
members of the Fund are shown 
on pages 19 to 22. 

The Local Government Pension 
Scheme is a statutory funded 
defined benefit pension scheme. 
Previously the Fund was 
“contracted out” of the state 
scheme but from the 1st April 
2016 onwards all members have 
been contracted back into the 
state scheme in addition to being 
in the Pension Fund. From 1st 
April 2014, the scheme became a 
career average scheme, whereby 
members accrue benefits based 
on their pensionable pay in that 
year at an accrual rate of 1/49th.  
Accrued pension is increased 
annually in line with the Consumer 
Prices Index.

The scheme is voluntary 
and made available to all (*) 
employees except fire fighters, 
police and teachers (who have 
their own separate nationally-
administered schemes). The 
Fund is financed by contributions 
paid in by the existing employees 
and their employers and by 
earnings from the investment 
of Fund monies. The number of 
contributors at 31st March 2017 
was 18,986 (2016 18,630). The 
Fund is governed by the Public 
Service Pensions Act 2013 and 
administered in accordance with 
the following secondary legislation:                                                                                                                                     
                                                                                     
- The LGPS Regulations 2013 (as 
amended)

- The LGPS (Transitional 

Provisions, Savings and 
Amendment) Regulations 2014 (as 
amended)

- The LGPS (Management and 
Investment of Funds) Regulations 
2016 (as amended)

A full analysis of membership, 
funding and benefits can be found 
in the Pension Fund’s Annual 
Report. The Fund exists to provide 
pensions and certain other benefits 
to former employees. The Pension 
Fund is not a Gloucestershire 
County Council fund and is 
subject to its own audit; therefore 
balances are not included in the 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Consolidated Balance Sheet.  
The Fund is administered by the 
Pension Committee, which is a 
committee of Gloucestershire 
County Council. The Pension 
Board was set up with effect from 
the 1st April 2015 to assist the 
Pension Committee in securing 
compliance with the relevant laws 
and Regulations and to help the 
Pension Committee ensure the 
effective and efficient governance 
and administration of the Fund.

N2  Summary of 
significant accounting 
policies

Basis of Preparation

The Statement of Accounts 
summarises the Funds’ 
transactions for the 2016/17 
financial year and its position at 
year end as at 31st March 2017. 
The accounts have been prepared 
in accordance with the Code 
of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2016/17 which is based upon 
International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), as amended for 
the UK public sector. The accounts 
summarise the transactions of the 
Fund and reports on the net assets 
available to pay pension benefits. 

The accounts do not take account 
of obligations to pay pensions and 
benefits which fall due after the end 
of the financial year. The actuarial 
value of promised retirement 
benefits, valued on an International 
Accounting Standard (IAS19) 
basis, is disclosed at Note 26 of 
these accounts. The accounts are 
prepared on a going concern basis.

Critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies

The net Pension Fund liability is 
recalculated every three years by 
the appointed actuary, with annual 
updates in the intervening years.  
The methodology used is in line 
with accepted guidelines.

This estimate is subject to 
significant variances based 
on changes to the underlying 
assumptions which are agreed 
with the actuary and have been 
summarised in Note N26.

These actuarial revaluations are 
used to set future contribution 
rates and underpin the Fund’s 
most significant investment 
management policies.

Assumptions made about the 
future and other major sources 
of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial 
statements requires management 
to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported for assets and 
liabilities at the year-end-date 
and the amounts reported for the 
revenues and expenses during the 
year. Estimates and assumptions 
are made taking into account 
historical experience, current 
trends and other relevant factors.  
However, the nature of estimation 
means that the actual outcomes 
could differ from the assumptions 
and estimates. Income and 
expenditure have been accounted 
for on an accruals basis so far 

Notes to the Pension Fund Accounts 2016/17

* There are restrictions with some casual staff 

Page 108



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  52

as amounts due have been 
determined in time for inclusion 
in the accounts. Any amount due 
in year but unpaid will be classed 
as a current financial asset.  
Benefits payable and refunds of 
contributions have been brought 
into the accounts on the basis of 
all valid claims approved during the 
year. Individual transfer values are 
accounted for when they are paid 
or received. Bulk transfer values 
are accrued when the value has 
been determined.

Management Expenses

Pension Fund expenses have been 
accounted for in accordance with 
the CIPFA guidance Accounting 
for Local Government Pension 
Scheme Management Costs.  
A more detailed breakdown of 
management expenses can be 
found in Note N22.

Investment Management 
Expenses

The managers’ fees have been 
accounted for on the basis 
contained within their management 
agreements. Broadly these are 
based on the market value of the 
investments under management 
and therefore increase or decrease 
as the value of these investments 
change. In addition the Fund 
has agreed with the following 
managers that an element of 
their fee be performance related:                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                 
 Standard Life Investments - UK 

Equities                                                                                                                        

 Hermes - Property Unit Trusts                                                                                                        

Hermes deducts its fees from a 
combination of assets held and 
income distributions. GMO, TVP 
and Yorkshire Fund Managers 
(YFM) deduct their fees from the 
value of the assets under their 
management. Fees have been 
calculated for Hermes and GMO 
and included within Investment 
Management Expenses. Fees 
for TVP and YFM have not been 
included as they are the legal 

responsibility of the managers and 
not the Fund.

Acquisition and Transaction 
Costs of Investments

Acquisition costs of investments 
(e.g. stamp duty) and transaction 
costs are included within 
Investment Management Expenses 
with a corresponding offset against 
Profit on Disposal of Investments.  
In addition to the transaction 
costs disclosed, indirect costs 
are incurred through the bid/offer 
spread on investments within 
pooled investment vehicles. The 
amounts of indirect costs are not 
separately provided to the Fund.  
A more detailed breakdown of 
management expenses, including 
transaction costs, can be found in 
Note N22.

Administration Expenses

All administrative expenses are 
accounted for on an accrual basis.  
All staff costs associated with 
administration is charged to the 
Fund. Associated management, 
accommodation and other 
overheads are apportioned to this 
activity and charged as expenses 
to the Fund. Further information 
on administrative expenses can be 
found in Note N22.  

Oversight & Governance 
Expenses

All Oversight and Governance 
expenses are accounted for on 
an accrual basis. All staff costs 
associated with Oversight and 
Governance is charged to the 
Fund. Associated management, 
accommodation and other 
overheads are apportioned to 
this activity and charged as 
expenses to the Fund. The 
cost of investment advice from 
external consultants is included in 
Oversight & Governance. Further 
information on Oversight and 
Governance expenses can be 
found in Note N22.  

Investment Income

Dividends from quoted securities 
are accounted for when the 
security is declared ex-dividend.  
Any amount not received by the 
end of the reporting period is 
recognised as a current financial 
asset. Investment income arising 
from the underlying investments 
of Pooled Investment Vehicles 
is reinvested within the Pooled 
Investment Vehicle and reflected in 
the unit price.

Cash

Cash balances held in accordance 
with the County Council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy 
and those held with the Fund’s 
Custodian BNY Mellon, on behalf 
of investment managers, are in 
instant access accounts.

Valuation of Assets

The SORP requires securities to 
be valued on a Fair Value Basis 
therefore assets, where there is 
an active and readily available 
market price, are valued at the 
bid price and liabilities on an offer 
price basis. Where assets do not 
actively trade through established 
exchange mechanisms a price is 
obtained from the manager of the 
investment asset. Investments held 
in foreign currencies are shown at 
market value translated into sterling 
at the exchange rates prevailing 
as at 31st March 2017. Purchases 
and sales during the year which 
require settlement in a foreign 
currency are converted from/
to sterling at the exchange rate 
prevailing on the trade date. Fixed 
interest securities are recorded at 
net market value based on their 
yields. Pooled investment vehicles 
are valued at closing bid price 
if both bid and offer prices are 
published; or if single priced, at the 
closing single price. In the case of 
pooled investment vehicles that 
are accumulation funds, change 
in market value also includes 
income which is re-invested in the 
fund, net of applicable withholding 

Page 109



53  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

N4  Investment Movements Summary

Asset Class

 Market value Purchases  Sales  Change in  Market value  
 at 31st  at cost and  proceeds and  market value, at 31st 
 March 2016  derivative  derivative  new money  March 2017 
2016/17   payments  receipts  and accruals   

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000

Bonds 280,881 33,311 -63,892 30,413 280,713 
Equities 312,866 729,279 -700,784 36,088 377,449
Pooled Investments 952,078 769,902 -735,819 267,004 1,253,165
Property Unit Trusts 127,532 7,871 -2,450 765 133,718
Private Equity 5,219 - - 109 5,328

 1,678,576 1,540,363 -1,502,945 334,379 2,050,373

Derivative contracts:
   Futures -29 2,269 -3,673 1,653 220
   Forward currency contracts -760 - - 976 216

 -789 2,269 -3,673 2,629 436

Net investment assets 1,677,787 1,542,632 -1,506,618 337,008 2,050,809

tax. Property within the property 
unit trusts are independently 
valued mainly in accordance with 
the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors valuation standards. 
Private Equity is valued using 
the latest financial statements 
published by the respective fund 
managers and in accordance with 
the International Private Equity and 
Venture Capital Guidelines.  

Derivatives

Derivative contracts are valued 
at fair value and are determined 
using exchange prices at the 
reporting date. The fair value is 
the unrealised profit or loss at 

the current bid or offer market 
quoted price of the contract. 
Derivative contract assets, those 
with a positive value, are valued at 
bid price and derivative contract 
liabilities, those with a negative 
value, are valued at the offer 
price. Amounts due from the 
broker represent the amounts 
outstanding in respect of the initial 
margin (representing collateral on 
the contracts) and any variation 
margin which is due to or from 
the broker. The amounts included 
in change in market value are 
the realised gains and losses on 
closed futures contracts and the 
unrealised gains and losses on 
open futures contracts. The fair 

value of the forward currency 
contracts are based on market 
forward exchange rates at the year 
end date.

N3  Taxation

The Fund is exempt from UK 
capital gains tax on the proceeds 
of investments sold. Corporation 
Tax is deducted from UK equity 
dividends; tax deducted from 
property unit trusts can be 
reclaimed. Withholding tax is 
payable on income from overseas 
investments. This tax is recovered 
wherever local tax laws permit.

In addition to the investments there was £37,807k (£24,716k 2015/16) in cash and accruals. Cash 
movements, currency adjustments and other end of year settlements totalled -£2,205k (£4,853k re-stated 
2015/16). As a result the total profit (-) and losses on disposal of investments and changes in market value of 
investments was -£334.8m (£48.0m re-stated 2015/16). 

Please see note N34(a) for details of changes to comparable figures.

Page 110



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  54

Asset Class

 Market value Purchases  Sales  Change in  Market value  
 at 31st  at cost and  proceeds and  market value, at 31st 
 March 2015  derivative  derivative  new money  March 2016 
2015/16   payments  receipts  and accruals   

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000

Bonds 277,200 45,810 -34,464 -7,665 280,881 
Equities 312,365 115,559 -92,476 -22,582 312,866
Pooled Investments* 978,743 17,256 -10,619 -33,302 952,078
Property Unit Trusts* 113,586 5,551 -1,232 9,627 127,532
Private Equity 4,587 135 - 497 5,219

 1,686,481 184,311 -138,791 -53,425 1,678,576

Derivative contracts:
   Futures -46 725 -1,705 997 -29
   Forward currency contracts -316 - - -444 -760

 -362 725 -1,705 553 -789

Net investment assets 1,686,119 185,036 -140,496 -52,872 1,677,787

*In addition to the investments 
there was £24,716k (£22,955k 
2014/15) in cash and accruals.  
Cash movements, currency 
adjustments and other end 
of year settlements totalled 
£4,853 re-stated from £5,004k 
in 2015/16 (£6,196k 2014/15). 
As a result the total profit (-) and 
losses on disposal of investments 
and changes in market value of 
investments was £48.0m re-
stated from £47.9m in 2015/16 
(-£190.5m 2014/15).

An investment valued at £458k 
in 2015/16 was classified as a 
UK Property Unit Trust. Following 
further clarification this holding 
has now been deemed to be an 
Overseas Property Limited Liability 

Partnership and the 2015/16 
comparable figures have been 
amended to reflect that movement.

Please see note N34 (a & c) for 
details of changes to comparable 
figures.  

The change in market value 
of investments comprises all 
increases and decreases in the 
market value of investments 
held at any time during the year, 
including profits and losses 
realised on sales of investments 
during the year.

The closing market value of the 
derivatives in the previous tables 
represents fair value as at the 
year end date. In the case of 

derivative contracts, which are 
traded on exchanges, this value is 
determined using exchange prices 
at the reporting date. Forward 
foreign exchange contracts are 
over the counter contracts and are 
valued by determining the gain or 
loss that would arise from closing 
out the contract at the reporting 
date and entering into an equal 
and opposite contract as at that 
date. The profit or loss arising 
is included within the cash and 
accruals figure.

All derivative contracts settled 
during the period are reported 
within the table as purchases and 
sales.

Page 111



55  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

N5  Management of Fund Assets

The market value of investments managed by each external manager at the end of the financial year was:

During 2016/17 a decision was made to dis-invest from GMO and after a portfolio reorganisation the assets 
were transferred to BlackRock.

Where the value of an investment exceeds 5% of the total value of net assets or 5% of its asset class, details 
have been disclosed in note N18.

     2015/16 2016/17
 £000 % £000 %

Western Asset Management Company 370,280 21.7 426,733 20.4
BlackRock  486,382 28.6 1,034,454 49.5
CBRE 41,928 2.5 44,039 2.1
GMO 301,562 17.7 582 0.0
Standard Life Investments 394,396 23.2 465,480 22.3
Hermes Investment Management 
Property Unit Trust 92,629 5.4 98,404 4.7
Technology Venture Partners 3,056 0.2 3,453 0.2
Yorkshire Fund Managers (YFM) 2,163 0.1 1,875 0.1
Total - External Managers 1,692,396 99.4 2,075,020 99.3
In-house cash and accruals 10,053 0.6 13,496 0.7
Assets within the Transition account with 
the Custodian - - 10 0.0
Cash instruments with Custodian 54 0.0 90 0.0

 1,702,503 100.0 2,088,616 100.0

N6  Actuarial Position 
of the Fund

   In line with the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations, actuarial valuations 
of the Fund are required to be 
undertaken every three years, for 
the purpose of setting employer 
contribution rates for the 
forthcoming triennial period. The 
latest valuation took place as at 
31st March 2016 and established 
the minimum contribution 
payments for the three years 
until 31st March 2020. The next 
valuation will take place as at 
March 2019.

   The estimate of the Pension 
Fund liability is subject to 
significant variations, based 
on changes to the underlying 
assumptions used - see opposite.

   The results of the 2016 
valuation gave a primary rate 
of 19.6% for the period 1st 
April 2017 to 31st March 2020 
together with a secondary rate of 
£32,487k in 2017/18, £36,638k 
in 2018/19 and £40,905k in 
2019/20. At the previous formal 
valuation at 31st March 2013, a 
different regulatory regime was 
in force, therefore a contribution 
rate that is directly comparable to 
the rates above is not provided.    
Individual employers’ rates will vary 
depending on the demographic 
and actuarial factors particular to 
each employer. Full details of the 
contribution rates payable can 
be found in the 2016 actuarial 
valuation report and the Funding 
Strategy Statement on the Fund’s 
website. This rate of contribution 
is the rate which, in addition to the 
contributions paid by the members, 
should be sufficient to meet:

-  100% of the liabilities arising 
in respect of service after the 
valuation date;

-  plus an adjustment over a period 
of 17 years (20 years for Primary 
Rate) to reflect the shortfall of 
the value of the County Council’s 
notional share of the Fund’s assets 
over 100% of its accrued liabilities, 
allowing, in the case of members 
in service, for future pay increases.

   The market value of the 
Fund’s assets at the March 
2016 triennial valuation date 
was £1,703m (£1,385m March 
2013) and represented 79.7% 
(70.1% March 2013) of the Fund’s 
accrued liabilities, allowing for 
future pay increases. When a 
valuation reveals a deficiency, the 
employer contribution rates are 
adjusted to target restoration of a 
solvent position over a period of 

Page 112



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  56

years (the recovery period).  The 
recovery period applicable for 
each participating employer is set 
by the Administering Authority 
in consultation with the Scheme 
Actuary and employer, with a view 
to balancing the various funding 

requirements against the risks 
involved due to such issues as the 
financial strength of the employer 
and the nature of its participation in 
the Fund.

   The contribution rate has been 

calculated using the projected 
evolution of each employers’ 
section of the Fund and the main 
actuarial assumptions used are as 
follows:

N7  Analysis of Contributions Receivable and Benefits Payable

     2015/16 2016/17

 Contributions  Benefits Contributions Benefits 
 receivable payable receivable payable
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gloucestershire County Council  43,845 40,112 47,342 42,054
(Administering Authority)  

Scheduled Bodies  45,686 28,732 49,627 30,722
(146 16/17) (144 15/16)*
(Bodies admitted by right)  

Admitted Bodies  8,917 3,093 8,579 3,877
(43 16/17) (40 15/16)*
(Bodies admitted by agreement) 

 98,448 71,937 105,548 76,653

   Funding Basis

  2013  2016

Rate of return on investments (Discount Rate) 4.6% pa  4.0% pa

Rate of general pay increases* 3.8% pa  2.4% pa

Rate of increase to pensions in payment (in excess of  2.5% pa  2.1% pa
guaranteed minimum pension) 

* Plus an allowance is also made for promotional pay increases.  

   The full actuarial valuation reports for 2007, 2010, 2013 and 2016 are published on the County Council’s 
website and can be viewed using the following web address: 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments

   See note N26 for details of the Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits.

Scheduled Bodies now include 80 (78 15/16) schools who have converted to academy status.

* These numbers relate to active employers with active members.

N8  Statement of Investment Principles

A Statement of Investment Principles, which sets out 
the Pension Fund’s long-term investment objectives, 
its style of management and policies together with 
risk management, performance targets and details 
of how that performance is monitored and reviewed, 
can be found on pages 123 to 129.  

The Statement of Investment Principles was in 
place during the reporting period of these accounts, 
however on the 1st April 2017 it was superseded 
by an Investment Strategy Statement. The Pension 
Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement is available to 
view on the County Council’s website at   
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/
investments 

Page 113

www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments


57  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

  2015/16 2016/17
  £000 £000

Short-term benefits 64 99
Post-employment 18 69
benefits
Other long-term - -
benefits
Termination benefits - -
Share-based - -
payments

  82 168

N9  Related Party Transactions

Gloucestershire County Council, as Administering 
Authority for the Fund, incurred the following costs 
in relation to the administration of the Fund and was 
subsequently reimbursed by the Fund for these 
expenses. The Council is also the single largest 
employer of members of the Pension Fund. All 
monies owing to and due from the Fund were paid or 
accrued for in the year.

Part of the Pension Fund’s cash holdings are invested 
on the money markets by the Treasury Management 
team of Gloucestershire County Council, see notes 
N2, N23 and N27.

Of the County Council’s key management 
personnel, some of the Director: Strategic Finance’s 
remuneration costs were recharged to the Fund to 
reflect time spent. These consisted of salary, fees 
and allowances of £10,921 (£10,813 2015/16) and 
employers’ pension contributions of £3,047 (£2,801 
2015/16). 

The Director: Strategic Finance is a member of 
the Fund as a contributing Gloucestershire County 
Council employee. This does not impact on her role 
as Finance Director and S151 officer, which is clearly 
defined.

Mr. P. Clark, the Scheme Member Representative, is 
a non-voting member of the Pension Committee. Mr. 
Clark is a contributing member of the Pension Fund 
and this does not impact on his Pension Committee 
role.

Five members of the Pension Committee, excluding 
the District Council Representative, are also District 
Council members and these are detailed below:

In addition Councillor L. Stowe is Cotswold District 
Council’s nominated shareholder for Ubico Limited, 

Councillor C. Hay sits on the Boards of Cheltenham 
Borough Homes and Cheltenham Leisure & Culture 
Trust, a close relative of a Pension Committee 
member is in receipt of pension benefits and 
Councillor N. Cooper is a governor of Archway 
School. Ubico Limited, Cheltenham Borough Homes, 
Cheltenham Leisure & Culture Trust and Archway 
School are employers in the Fund.

The Pension Board was created on the 1st April 
2015. Two members of the Board are members of 
the Fund as contributing employees and another one 
is in receipt of pension benefits. This does not impact 
on their roles as members of the Pension Board given 
the nature of the Board’s functions.

Transactions between employers and the Fund are 
disclosed in note N7.

N9a  Key Management Personnel

The key management personnel of the Fund are 
the Section 151 Officer and the Head of Pensions 
position. The Section 151 Officer’s costs have not 
been included as the Pension Fund is recharged on 
a time spent basis and her salary is accounted for 
in Gloucestershire County Council’s accounts. Total 
remuneration payable to the Joint Heads of Pensions 
position, 1.3 full time equivalent (F.T.E.), (0.9 F.T.E. 
2015/16) is set out below.  

N10  Contingent Liabilities and 
Contractual Commitments

The Fund has an investment within a private equity 
fund managed by Yorkshire Fund Managers and a 
global property portfolio managed by CBRE. The 
following table shows the Fund’s total commitment 
and the remaining liability, following drawdowns, at 
the year end.

  2015/16 2016/17
  £000 £000

 Administrative 1,553 1,968
 expenses

Member District Council

Cllr. D. Brown Gloucester City Council

Cllr. C. Hay Cheltenham Borough Council

Cllr. L. Stowe Cotswold District Council

Cllr. R. Theodoulou Cotswold District Council

Cllr. S. Parsons Cotswold District Council

Page 114



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  58

  2015/16 2015/16 2016/17 
Pooled investment vehicles £000  £000  £000
    re-stated

Overseas equity unitised insurance policy 422,424 422,424 561,170
Global equity unitised insurance policy  -                     -    345,334
Global multi asset unitised insurance policy 75,700 75,700 76,646
Global equity managed fund 301,562 301,562 582
UK property managed fund -                     -    2,565
UK property limited liability partnership 4,981 4,981 3,947
Overseas property limited liability partnership* -    458 138
Overseas fixed interest limited liability partnerships  4,517 4,517 11,208

 809,184 809,642 1,001,590

Property unit trusts

UK property unit trust* 22,820 22,362 21,535
Overseas property unit trust 12,541 12,541 13,780

 35,361 34,903 35,315

 844,545 844,545 1,036,905

N13  Stocklending

The Pension Funds’ custodian has been authorised 
to release stock to third parties under a stock lending 
arrangement. At 31st March 2017 the value of stock 
out on loan was £22.7m (2015/16 £19.6m) of which 
£16.2m (£14.2m) was in UK equities, £6.3m (£4.9m) 
in UK and Overseas Government stock and £0.2m 
(£0.5m) in Corporate Bonds. Collateral of £25.0m 
(£20.7m) equal to 111% (106%) of stock out on 
loan was held in the form of UK, Austrian Sovereign 

bonds, G10 Overseas Government debt, AAA rated 
fixed interest stock issued by Supranational bodies 
and a restrictive list of equities indices. The Pension 
Fund stipulates those institutions that are allowed 
to borrow its stock and the type of collateral that is 
acceptable. 

These investments continue to be recognised in the 
Fund’s financial statements. During the period the 
stock is on loan, the voting rights of the loaned stocks 
pass to the borrower.

  Total  Outstanding liability Outstanding liability
  Commitment  2015/16 2016/17
  £000  £000  £000

 Chandos Fund 3,000  151  151
 CBRE 30,000 151  151

  33,000 302 302

* An investment valued at £458k in 2015/16 was classified as a UK Property Unit Trust, following further clarification, this holding has 
now been deemed to be an Overseas Property Limited Liability Partnership and the 2015/16 comparable figures have been amended 
to reflect that movement. See Note N34 (c).

N11  Contingent Assets

Due to retrospective adjustments 
to how pension payments are 
made for Registration staff 
working additional hours or on a 

fee basis, a contingent asset of 
£38,504 (15/16 £38,504) has been 
recorded for possible additional 
contributions from ex members of 
staff, during 2017/2018 and future 
years.

N12  Unquoted Holdings

The following holdings are 
unquoted:

Page 115



59  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

    2015/16 2016/17
Financial assets  £000 £000 Note

Bonds   
UK  - Public Sector                           – Quoted 155,854 156,293 N34(b) 
 - Corporate                                         – Quoted 94,743 98,394
Overseas  - Public Sector                           – Quoted 23,455 23,723 
 - Corporate                                         – Quoted 6,829 2,303
    280,881 280,713 N34(b) 

Equities   
UK                                                     – Quoted 312,866 377,449

Pooled investment vehicles   
Unit Trusts  
Overseas  - Equities                                   – Quoted 63,921 127,912 

Unitised Insurance Policies  
Overseas  - Equities                                       – Unquoted* 422,424 561,170
Global  - Equities         – Unquoted - 345,334 
Global  - Multi Asset    – Unquoted 75,700 76,646  

Other Managed Funds   
O.E.I.C.’s  - Overseas Fixed Interest  – Quoted* 78,515 123,663  
 - Global Equities               – Unquoted 301,562 582
 - UK - Property               – Unquoted - 2,565 

Limited Liability Partnerships  
                - UK - Property                    –  Unquoted 4,981 3,947
 - Overseas - Property                    –  Unquoted 458 138 N34(c)
                 - Overseas Fixed Interest   –  Unquoted 4,517 11,208 
    952,078 1,253,165 

Property Unit Trusts   
UK                       –  Quoted 92,629 98,403
                      –  Unquoted 22,362 21,535 N34(b)
Overseas                        –  Unquoted 12,541 13,780
    127,532 133,718 N10

Derivative Contracts   
Futures  - UK   - 225
  - Overseas  29 -
Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts  109 364 
    138 589 N17 

Other Investments   
Venture Capital/Private Equity - UK  5,219 5,328 N10

Cash (Managers)   
Cash instruments - UK  4,943 17,187 
  - Overseas  1,532 1,534 
Cash Deposits    - UK  2,336 2,548 
  - Overseas  387 240 
    9,198 21,509 

Other Investment Balances   
Debtors   
Outstanding settlement of investment transactions  2,979 1,099 
Accrued dividend income and tax reclaims due on dividend income  4,275 4,423 
    7,254 5,522 

Total Financial Assets  1,695,166 2,077,993

N14  Financial Asset Analysis

* These overseas pooled funds may incorporate some UK assets.

Page 116



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  60

    2015/16 2016/17
Financial Liabilities  £000 £000 Note

Derivative Contracts  
Futures  – UK   -58 -
 – Overseas  - -5
Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts  -869 -148
    -927 -153 N17 

Other Investment Balances  
Creditors  

Outstanding settlement of investment transactions  -1,789 -2,720

Total Financial Liabilities  -2,716 -2,873

Long Term Assets  
Contributions due from employers  288 334
Money due re. transfer of staff to another pension scheme  2,472 1,854 

    2,760 2,188 N24

Current Assets  
Contributions due from employers  3,773 5,129
Other current assets (debtors)  286 241 
Money due re. transfer of staff to another pension scheme  618 618 
Cash balances    4,321 7,160 N23 

    8,998 13,148 N24 

Current Liabilities  
Unpaid benefits   -10 -4
Other liabilities (creditors)  -1,695 -1,836 
    -1,705 -1,840 N25 

    1,702,503 2,088,616

Fixed interest securities and Index-linked securities, 
previously identified separately, are now amalgamated 
under the heading of Bonds.

There is no longer a requirement to separately identify 
same asset classifications between those managed 

from within the UK and those managed from outside 
the UK. This has therefore been removed and assets 
combined where applicable.

Please see Note N34 (b) for more details.

Page 117



61  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Fixed interest securities and 
Index-linked securities are now 
amalgamated under Bonds as 
per the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2016/17. The totals 
for 2015/16 have therefore been 
amalgamated.

N16  Separately Invested 
Additional Voluntary 
Contributions (AVC’s)

Gloucestershire County Council 
LGPS provides additional voluntary 
contribution (AVC) schemes for 
its members with The Prudential 
Assurance Company Limited and 
Phoenix Life Limited. The AVC’s 
are invested separately in funds 
managed by them. These are 
in the form of with-profits, unit-
linked and deposit accounts and 
secure additional benefits on a 

money purchase basis for those 
members electing to pay additional 
voluntary contributions.  Members 
participating in this arrangement 
receive an annual statement 
confirming amounts held to their 
account and movements in the 
year. These amounts are not 
included in the Pension Fund 
Accounts in accordance with 
Regulation 4 (1) (b) of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
(Management and Investment 
of Funds) Regulations 2016 (as 
amended).

AVC contributions of £586k were paid directly to Prudential during the year (£602k 15/16) and included additional death in service 
premiums of £6k (£6k 15/16). No contributions were paid to Phoenix Life.

Value of separately invested additional voluntary contributions 

  31st March 2016 31st March 2017 
  £000 £000

 Prudential 7,227  7,195 

 Phoenix Life 60  52 

         7,287  7,247 

N15  Investment Income

Investment income arises from the following investment categories:

  2015/16 2015/16 2016/17 
  £000 £000 £000
   re-stated

 Fixed interest 6,853 - -
 Index-linked 1,825 - -

  8,678
 Bonds - 8,678 8,879
 Equities 10,582 10,582 11,614
 Pooled investment vehicles*  5,192 5,293 6,326
 Interest on cash deposits  72 72 84
 Private equity - - 300
 Other income from stocklending,  71 71 102
 underwriting and class actions

  24,595 24,696 27,305
 Withholding tax 27 27 -49

  24,622 24,723 27,256

* The 2015/16 figure has been increased by £101k to incorporate property unit trust expenses which had been netted off dividend 
income at source. The investment management fees for 2015/16 have been increased as a consequence by £101k. Please see Note 
34 (a) - Changes to Comparative Figures.

Page 118



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  62

Investments in derivatives are 
only made if they contribute to 
a reduction of risks and facilitate 
efficient portfolio management.  
A derivative is a generic term for 
financial instruments used in the 
management of portfolios and 
is a financial contract between 
two parties, the value of which 
is determined by the underlying 
asset.  Derivatives include futures, 
forwards, swaps and options.

The fixed income portfolio uses 
futures and options for duration and 
yield curve management purposes. 

Additionally, the investment strategy 
for this manager, for all overseas 
currency exposures, is to be fully 
hedged back in to Sterling which 
is achieved by the use of foreign 
exchange forward contracts.  To 
mitigate large unrealised profits 
or losses accruing with any one 
counterparty the contracts are split 
between a handful of banks and 
the contracts rolled quarterly in 
order that any gains or losses are 
realised at regular intervals.

The investment strategy of the 
property manager with overseas 

holdings is to place forward 
currency trades with the intention of 
hedging foreign currency exposure 
to ensure the portfolio is not 
impacted by currency fluctuations.  
The hedges are achieved by 
placing foreign exchange forward 
contracts with the Fund’s 
custodian.

In the table below the ‘notional 
value’ of the stock purchases under 
futures contracts is the economic 
exposure and the value subject 
to market movements as at 31st 
March 2017. 

N17  Derivatives

    2015/16  2016/17  2015/16 2016/17 
   Contract Notional Notional Expiration Market Market 
   type* Value Value  Value Value

    £000 £000  £000 £000

 Investment Assets  
 Futures      
 UK - Fixed Interest       
      UK Long Gilt Future   ET  - 15,054 Less than 3 months - 225 
 UK Futures  -    15,054  - 225

 Overseas - Fixed Interest       
         US Treasury Bond Future ET -3,663 - Less than 3 months 29 - 
 Overseas Futures  -3,663 -  29 -

 Total Futures  -3,663 15,054  29 225

 Forward foreign exchange contracts  OTC  9,157 32,935 Less than 6 months 109 364

 Total Derivative Assets  5,494  47,989  138 589

 Investment Liabilities       

 Futures      
 UK - Fixed Interest ET  20,850 - Less than 3 months -58 - 
 UK Futures  20,850    -  -58 -

Overseas - Fixed Interest       
         US Treasury Bond Future ET - -899 Less than 3 months - -5 
 Overseas Futures  - -899  - -5

 Total Futures  20,850 -899  -58 -5

 Forward foreign exchange contracts  OTC  43,167  24,612 Less than 6 months -869 -148

 Total Derivative Liabilities  64,017 23,713  -927 -153

 Net Futures     -789 436

Derivative Contract Analysis

* Contract types ET (exchange traded) OTC (over-the-counter)

Page 119



63  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

   Currency Local Currency Local Asset Liability 
  Settlement bought Value Sold Value Value Value

    000  000 £000 £000

 Up to six months GBP 5,673 SEK 62,173 99 
 Up to six months GBP 8,829 EUR 10,208 90 
 Up to three months JPY 462,320 USD 4,052 82 
 Up to six months GBP 3,843 USD 4,761 39 
 Up to six months GBP 2,509 EUR 2,894 29 
 Up to six months GBP 3,331 JPY 462,151 13 
 Up to six months GBP 4,673 USD 5,845 8 
 Up to six months GBP 311 JPY 43,007 2 
 Up to six months GBP 155 NZD 278 1 
 Up to six months GBP 364 HKD 3,527 1 
 Up to six months GBP 272 SGD 476  0
 Up to six months GBP 1,125 AUD 1,853  -1
 Up to three months GBP 1,454 EUR 1,710  -10
 Up to six months USD 2,150 GBP 1,736  -19
 Up to six months GBP 8,800 USD 11,067  -42
 Up to six months GBP 11,225 USD 14,143  -76

 Open forward currency contracts at 31st March 2017        364  -148

 Net forward currency contracts at 31st March 2017    216

 Prior year comparative      

 Open forward currency contracts at 31st March 2016   109 -869

 Net forward currency contracts at 31st March 2016     -760

Open Forward Currency Contracts at 31st March 2017

The total Futures’ initial margin for 2016/17 was £0.3m (£0.4m 2015/16) 
and the total variation margin was -£0.01m (£0.4m 2015/16). The initial 
margin is an amount of money deposited by both buyers and sellers of 
Futures contracts to ensure performance of the terms of the contract. 
The variation margin reflects the accumulated cash flows from the daily 
marking to market that accrues in the futures broker’s account.

A breakdown of the open forward foreign exchange contracts at 31st 
March 2017 is given below:-

Page 120



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  64

N18  Investments Exceeding 5% of Total Net Assets or that Exceed 5% of their 
Asset Class

At 31st March 2017 the Pension Fund held five, (2015/16, three) investments that each exceeded 5% of the 
total value of the net assets of the scheme. These are detailed as follows:

Investments exceeding 5%       2015/16   2016/17
of Total Net Assets £000   %  £000   %

*  BlackRock Global Equity Fund 422,424  24.8 561,170  26.9

* BlackRock Aquila Life MSCI Developed  -  - 172,816  8.3
 World (unhedged) 

* BlackRock Aquila Life MSCI Developed -  - 172,518  8.2
 World (hedged)

* BlackRock Emerging Markets Index Fund **  ** 127,912  6.1

* Legg Mason Global Funds - WA GMS **  ** 122,525  5.9

 GMO World Equity Allocation Investment 301,562  17.7 **  **
 Fund

 Hermes Property Unit Trust 92,629  5.4 **  **

  816,615  47.9 1,156,941  55.4

The BlackRock Global and Aquila Life Funds are Unitised Insurance Policies investing 
in global equities and the developed world, excluding emerging markets, respectively. 
Blackrock Emerging is a Unit Trust investing in emerging markets.

The Legg Mason Global Fund is an O.E.I.C. investing in overseas fixed interest.

The GMO Investment Fund is an O.E.I.C. investing in global equities.

Hermes Property Unit Trust is a Property Unit Trust.

* Indicates assets which are in excess 
of 5% of both net assets and their asset 
class for 2016/17

**Investment held is below 5% of total net 
asset and/or asset class

Investments exceeding 5%       2015/16   2016/17
of their Asset Class £000  % £000 %

Bonds    

 Treasury 4.25% 2040    28,275  15.5 26,792  9.5

 United Kingdom IL 1.25% 2027    13,580   13.0 15,095  5.4
 United Kingdom IL 2.00% 2035  -   - 14,887  5.3
 Treasury 3.75% 2021 14,470  7.9  -    - 
 Treasury 4.25% 2039 9,680  5.3 ***  ***
 United Kingdom IL 1.875% 2022    14,809   14.2 ***  ***
 Treasury IL Variable Rate 2035    13,002   12.5 ***  ***
 United Kingdom IL 1.125% 2037    10,891   10.5 ***  ***
 Treasury IL 1.25% 2055      9,560   9.2 ***  ***
 US Treasury IL 1.375% 2044       9,105   8.7 ***  ***
 United Kingdom IL 0.375% 2062      8,776   8.4 ***  ***
 United Kingdom IL 1.25% 2032      8,287   8.0 ***  ***
 Treasury IL 0.75% 2047      5,225   5.0 ***  ***

***Previously Bonds were split between Fixed Interest Securities and Index-linked Securities meaning that some 
holdings which were in excess of 5% of their asset class in 2015/16 and listed above are not in excess of 5% of 
the new combined asset class in 2016/17.

Page 121



65  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

N19  Agency Services

The Pension Fund pays discretionary pension awards 
to former employees on behalf of some Pension Fund 
employers. The amounts paid are not included within 
the Fund Account but are provided as a service and 
fully reclaimed from the employer bodies. The sums 
are disclosed opposite.

N20  Contributions Breakdown 

The employers’ monthly contributions are based on 
a percentage of pensionable pay.  Deficit funding 
payments are either based on a percentage of 
pensionable pay or paid as a lump sum. Both 
monthly contributions and deficit funding payments 
have been identified opposite. The deficit funding 
contributions relate to past service benefit accrual 

and are payable over an agreed recovery period, not 
exceeding 20 years.  

Other contributions are those contributions paid by an 
employer to compensate the Pension Fund for early 
retirement costs, excess ill health retirement costs or 
to improve their funding levels.  

These payments follow the principles outlined in the 
Funding Strategy Statement. Early retirement costs 

Investments exceeding 5%       2015/16   2016/17
of their Asset Class £000  % £000 %

Pooled investment vehicles    

  *  BlackRock Global Equity Fund 422,424  44.6   561,170   44.8
  *  BlackRock Aquila Life MSCI Developed -  - 172,816  13.8
 World (unhedged)
  *  BlackRock Aquila Life MSCI Developed -  - 172,518  13.8
 World (hedged)
    GMO World Equity Allocation 301,562  31.9   **   ** Investment Fund
  *  Legg Mason Global Funds - WA GMS 77,569  8.2     122,525   9.8
 Standard Life Global Absolute Return 75,700  8.0     76,646  6.1 Strategies Fund
  *  BlackRock Emerging Markets Index Fund 63,921  6.8 127,912  10.2

Property unit trusts     

   Hermes Property Unit Trust        92,629   72.4 98,403  73.6
 Global Alpha Fund       8,771   6.9 10,304  7.7

Derivative futures contracts - assets    

 UK Long Gilt Future (ICF) Exp Jun 17 -  - 225  100.0 
 US Treasury Bond Future (CBT) Exp Jun 16 18  61.1 -  - 
 US Ultra Bond (CBT) Exp Jun 16 11  38.9 -  -

Derivative futures contracts - liabilities    

 US Ultra Bond (CBT) Exp Jun 17 -  - -5  100.0
 UK Long Gilt Future (LIF) Exp Jun 16 -58  100.0 -  -

Other investments - 
Venture Capital/Private Equity    

 South West Venture Fund      3,056  58.6 3,453  64.8
 Chandos Fund      2,163  41.4 1,875  35.2

*Indicates assets which are in excess of 5% of both net assets and their asset class for 2016/17.
**Investment held is below 5% of total net asset and/or asset class

 2015/16 2016/17 
 £000 £000

Discretionary 1,102 1,088
Payments

Page 122



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  66

are usually paid in one lump sum or were historically 
paid over several years dependent on the status of 
the employer.  When a payment is spread there is 
an extra cost to reflect the delay in total payment. 
There are currently no early retirement costs being 
spread; however at 31st March 2017 £0.4m (2015/16 
£0.04m) was due to the Pension Fund for early 
retirements, which have been accrued.  

Excess ill health retirement costs are invoiced for as 
they arise and funding level payments are made by an 
employer voluntarily.  

It had been agreed previously that an employer who 
left the Fund in 2008/09 could spread the payment of 
their deficit over a number of years. The total amount 
was credited to the Pension Fund and an accrual 
made for the outstanding amount. The accrual is rolled 
forward each year and adjusted for deficit payments 
made.

N21  Custody of Investments

The accounts for the year ended 31st March 2017 use 
the valuations for the Fund’s assets provided by our 
custodian, BNY Mellon Asset Servicing SA/NV. This 
reflects the position of the custodian who is ultimately 
the master book of record. Fund Managers must make 
sure that their records agree with those kept by the 
custodian, although the investment values may be 
obtained from different sources. Using the custodian’s 
valuations ensures that the various portfolios are priced 
consistently, so that the same stocks, in different 
portfolios, are valued on the same basis. Investments 
held in custody by BNY Mellon Asset Servicing SA/NV 
on behalf of the Pension Fund, are ring-fenced from 
the assets of the Bank and segregated within its books 
as belonging to Gloucestershire County Council’s 
Pension Fund.

N22  Management  Expenses

Pension Fund expenses have been accounted for in 
accordance with the CIPFA guidance Accounting for 
Local Government Pension Scheme Management 
Costs. 

The increase in Administration Expenses is largely 
due to an increase in overhead recharges and legal 
fees arising from employer queries. The increase in 
Oversight & Governance is mainly due to Pooling 
costs resulting from the Government’s pooling of 
investment initiative and actuarial fees including those 
as a result of the triennial valuation.

Within Oversight and Governance costs there were 
actuarial expenses of £135,313 (£109,830 2015/16) 
generated by specific employer requirements, 
these were then charged back to the employer. The 
corresponding income is included within Recoveries 
for Services Provided in the Fund Account. 

Contributions 2015/16 2016/17 
Breakdown £000 £000

From Employers: 
Normal 42,830 43,436 
Augmentation - - 
Deficit Funding 37,080 41,485 
Other 1,246 3,002 
 
 81,156 87,923 

From Members:   
Normal 16,967 17,319 
Additional Voluntary 325 306 
 
 17,292 17,625

 Management expenses 2015/16 2015/16 2016/17
   re-stated
  £000 £000 £000
 
 Investment management expenses */**   6,186 6,136          6,698 
 Administration expenses 1,002 1,002            1,133 
 Oversight & governance 475 475            694 

          7,663 7,613          8,525

* Please see a more detailed breakdown of the investment 
management expenses overleaf.

** Investment management expenses for 2015/16 previously 
£6,186k have been re-stated following new advice by the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA). 
Fees from three pooled funds of £50k have been removed as 
they were the legal responsibility of the pooled fund rather than 

a direct charge to the Pension Fund. In addition property unit 
trust expenses of £101k were discovered to have been netted off 
dividend income therefore these expenses have been added to 
the investment management expenses and dividend income has 
been increased by a corresponding amount. Please see note N34 
(a). The re-stated figures on the more detailed breakdown of the 
Investment management expenses are given overleaf.

Page 123



67  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

The management fees disclosed 
above include all investment 
management fees directly incurred 
by the Fund.  In addition to these 
costs, indirect costs are incurred 
through the bid-offer spread on 
investments sales and purchases. 
These are reflected in the cost 
of investment acquisitions and in 
the proceeds from the sales of 
investments.  

Following poor performance the 
Pension Committee decided 
to move investments from one 
manager to another existing 
manager. The portfolio restructure 
resulted in increased transaction 
and custody costs and also 
incurred costs for tax advice and 
legal expenses.

Transaction costs

When an asset is purchased or 
sold a cost is incurred for broker 
commission and stamp duty, when 
appropriate, based on a small 
percentage of the value of assets 
being transacted.  

Transaction costs of £1,227,659 
(£694,532 2015/16) were 
included within the purchase cost/
proceeds of investment at the 
point of purchase or sale but for 
transparency purposes have been 
added to Investment Management 
Expenses with a corresponding 
offset against Profit on Disposal of 
Investments as recommended by 
CIPFA.

Transaction costs have increased 
in 2016/17 largely due to a 
re-organisation of investment 
managers which resulted in a large 
number of equities being sold and 
purchased to establish the new 
portfolio.

N23  Cash

From the 1st April 2010 the 
Pension Fund has had its own 
bank account. At 31st March 2017 
cash of £7.2m (£4.3m in 2015/16) 
was invested through the County 
Council’s short-term investment 
procedures. During the year the 
average investment balance 
was £8.8m (£2.3m 2015/16) 
earning interest of £33.6k (£36.6k 
2015/16).

 Investment management 2015/16 2015/16 2016/17
 expenses  re-stated
  £000 £000 £000
 
 Fund value based management fees 
  - invoiced 2,982 3,082 3,237
  - deducted from investment 1,970 1,820 1,716

           4,952 4,902 4,953
 Performance fee
  - invoiced 117 117 -
  - deducted from investment 346 346 377

           463 463 377

   5,415 5,365 5,330
 Transaction costs 
  - equities  685 1,222
  - derivatives  4 3
  - pooled funds  6 3

   695 695 1,228

 Custody costs 76 76 118
 Tax and legal costs - - 22

          6,186 6,136 6,698

Page 124



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  68

N24  Current & Long Term Assets

Current Assets  2015/16 2016/17
  £000 £000 

Contributions due - Employees   761 745
Contributions due - Employers   3,012 4,387
Sundry debtors  286 238
Money due re. transfer of staff to another pension scheme 618 618

  4,677 5,988

Cash balances   4,321 7,160

  8,998 13,148

Analysis of debtors  
Current assets   
Central government bodies  955 1,095
Other local authorities  1,199 2,039
NHS bodies  14 223
Public corporations and trading funds  - -
Academies  938 946
Bodies external to general government  1,571 1,685

  4,677 5,988

Long term assets   
Central government bodies  2,472 1,854
Other entities and individuals  288 334

  2,760 2,188

One central government body has 
transferred to another pension fund 
and the resulting bulk transfer value 
due is being paid over a number 
of years. The total amount was 
credited to the Pension Fund and 
an accrual has been made for the 
outstanding amount. The accrual 
will be rolled forward each year and 

adjusted for payments made. A 
payment of £618,000 is due to the 
Pension Fund within the next twelve 
months.

It had been agreed that an 
employer who left the Fund could 
spread the payment of their deficit 
over a number of years. The 

total amount was credited to the 
Pension Fund and an accrual made 
for the outstanding amount. The 
accrual is rolled forward each year 
and adjusted for deficit payments 
made. A payment of £3,000 is due 
to the Pension Fund within the next 
twelve months.

N25  Current Liabilities

  2015/16 2016/17
  £000 £000 

Benefits payable  -10 -4
Sundry creditors  -1,695 -1,836
  -1,705 -1,840 

Analysis of creditors    
Central government bodies  -649 -655
Other local authorities  -64 -189
Academies  - -
Bodies external to general government  -992 -996
  -1,705 -1,840

Page 125



69  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

  Males Females 
  Years Years

Current Pensioners 22.5 24.6
Future Pensioners** 24.4 27.0

Longevity assumptions as at 31st March 2016

N26  Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits

In addition to the triennial funding valuation (See Note N6), the fund’s Actuary also undertakes a valuation of 
the Pension Fund liabilities on an IAS19 basis every year.  These liabilities have been projected using a roll 
forward approximation from the last triennial valuation as at 31st March 2016. 

Balance Sheet

Net Assets Available for Benefits

Year ended 31st March 2016 31st March 2017 
  £m £m

Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits 2,569 3,021

Year ended 31st March 2016 31st March 2017 
  £m £m

Net Assets 1,703 2,089

Year ended 31st March 2016 31st March 2017 
  % pa % pa

Inflation/Pension Increase Rate 2.2 2.4
Salary Increase Rate 3.7 2.7 
Discount Rate 3.5 2.6

Significant Actuarial Assumptions Used 
Financial assumption:

Longevity assumption:

The life expectancy assumption is based on the Fund’s VitaCurves with improvements in line with the CMI 
2013 model, assuming the current rate of improvements has reached a peak and will converge to a long 
term rate of 1.25% p.a. Based on these assumptions the average future life expectancies at age 65 are 
summarised below: 

** Future pensioners are assumed to be aged 45 at the most recent formal valuation as at 31st March 2016.

The assumptions used are suitable for IAS19 purposes as required by the Code of Practice; these differ from 
those used at the 31st March 2016. It is estimated that the impact of the change of assumptions to 31st 
March 2017 is to increase the actuarial present value by £443m (15/16 decrease of £252m). It is estimated 
that the impact of the change in demographic and longevity assumptions decreased the actuarial present 
value by £11m.

  Males Females 
  Years Years

Current Pensioners 22.4 24.6
Future Pensioners** 24.0 26.4

Longevity assumptions as at 31st March 2017

Page 126



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  70

Commutation assumption:

An allowance is included for future 
retirements to elect to take 35% 
(50% 2015/16) of the maximum 
additional tax free cash up to 
HMRC limits for pre-April 2008 
service and 68% (75% 2015/16) 
of the maximum tax free cash for 
post-April 2008 service.

Sensitivity Analysis:

CIPFA guidance requires the 
disclosure of the sensitivity 
of the results to the methods 
and assumptions used. The 
sensitivities regarding the principal 
assumptions used to measure the 
liabilities are set out opposite:

The principal demographic 
assumption is the longevity 
assumption. For sensitivity 
purposes, the Actuary estimates 
that a 1 year increase in life 
expectancy would approximately 
increase the liabilities by around 
3-5%. 

N27  Nature and Extent 
of Risks Arising from 
Financial Instruments

The Gloucestershire Local 
Government Pension Fund’s (“The 
Fund”) objective is to generate 
positive investment returns for a 
given level of risk. Therefore the 
Fund holds financial instruments 
such as securities (equities, 
bonds), collective investment 
schemes (or pooled funds) and 
cash and cash equivalents. In 
addition debtors and creditors 
arise as a result of its operations.  
The value of these financial 
instruments in the financial 
statements approximates to their 
fair value.

The Fund’s primary long-term risk 
is that the Fund’s assets will fall 
short of its liabilities i.e. promised 
benefits payable to members. 
Therefore the aim of investment 
risk management is to minimise 
the risk of an overall reduction 

on the value of the Fund and to 
maximise the opportunity for gains 
across the whole fund portfolio.  
The Fund achieves this through 
asset diversification to reduce 
exposure to market risk (price risk, 
currency risk and interest rate risk) 
and credit risk to an acceptable 
level. In addition, the Fund 
manages its liquidity risk to ensure 
there is sufficient liquidity to meet 
the Fund’s forecast cash flows.

The Fund’s investments are 
managed on behalf of the Fund 
by the appointed Investment 
Managers. Each Investment 
Manager is required to invest 
the assets managed by them in 
accordance with the terms of 
their investment guidelines or 
pooled fund prospectus. The 
Gloucestershire Local Government 
Pension Fund Committee 
(“Committee”) has determined 
that the investment management 
structure is appropriate and is in 
accordance with its investment 
strategy. The Committee regularly 
monitors each investment 
manager and considers and 
takes advice on the nature of the 
investments made and associated 
risks.

The Fund’s investments are held 
by BNY Mellon Asset Servicing, 
who acts as custodian on behalf of 
the Fund.

Because the Fund adopts a long 
term investment strategy, the high 
level risks described below will 

not alter significantly during the 
year unless there are significant 
strategic or tactical changes in the 
portfolio.  

Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk 
that the fair value of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices, interest 
rates or currencies. The Fund is 
exposed through its investments 
in equities, bonds and investment 
funds, to all these market risks.  
The aim of the investment strategy 
is to manage and control market 
risk within acceptable parameters, 
while optimising the return from 
the investment portfolio.

In general, excessive volatility in 
market risk is managed through 
the diversification of the portfolio 
in terms of geographical, industry 
sectors, individual securities, 
investment mandate guidelines 
and Investment Managers. The risk 
arising from exposure to specific 
markets is limited by the strategic 
asset allocation, which is regularly 
monitored by the Committee as 
well as appropriate monitoring of 
market conditions and benchmark 
analysis.

Other Price Risk

Other price risk represents the 
risk that the value of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate as a 
result of changes in market 
prices, caused by factors other 

 Sensitivity to the Approximate Approximate
 assumptions for the year % increase monetary
 ended 31st March 2017 to liabilities amount

  % £m

 0.5% p.a. increase in the 8 234
 Pension Increase Rate 

 0.5% p.a. increase in the 2  60
 Salary Increase Rate

 0.5% p.a. decrease in the 10  299
 Real Discount Rate

Page 127



71  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

than interest rate or foreign 
currency movements, whether 
those changes are caused by 
factors specific to the individual 
instrument, its issuer or factors 
affecting all such instruments in the 
market.

Market price risk arises from 
uncertainty about the future value 
of the financial instruments that 
the Fund holds. All securities 
investments present a risk of loss 
of capital. Except for shares sold 
short, the maximum risk resulting 

from financial instruments is 
determined by the fair value of 
the financial instruments. Possible 
losses from shares sold short 
are unlimited. The Investment 
Managers mitigate this price risk 
through diversification in line with 
their own investment strategies 
and mandate guidelines.

Other Price Risk - 
Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity of the Fund’s 
investments to changes in market 

prices has been analysed using 
the volatility of return experienced 
by each investment portfolio during 
the year to 31st March 2017. The 
volatility data is broadly consistent 
with a one-standard deviation 
movement in the value of the 
assets. The analysis assumes that 
all other variables remain constant.  

Movements in market prices would 
have increased or decreased the 
assets, as held by the Fund’s 
custodian, at 31st March 2017 by 
the amounts shown below:

As at 31st March 2017 Value Volatility Value on Value on
  of return Increase Decrease  
 £000  % £000 £000

UK Bonds 153,305 7.9 165,477 141,132

UK Index Linked Gilts 101,382 13.2 114,795 87,969

Overseas Bonds 160,898 6.2 170,938 150,858

UK Equities 377,449 9.7 413,986 340,912

Multi National Equities 1,111,644 9.9 1,221,696 1,001,591

UK Property 126,449 2.1 129,079 123,819

Overseas Property            13,918  15.7 16,107 11,728

Venture Capital/Private Equity 5,328 7.0 5,699 4,957

  2,050,373       2,237,777      1,862,966 

Total Gloucestershire Fund 2,050,373 6.7 2,187,543 1,913,203

As at 31st March 2016 re-stated* Value Volatility Value on Value on
  of return Increase Decrease  
 £000  % £000 £000

UK Bonds 158,406 6.9 169,352 147,460

UK Index Linked Gilts 92,190 10.0 101,437 82,943

Overseas Bonds 113,317 6.0 120,184 106,450

UK Equities 312,866 10.1 344,465 281,266

Multi National Equities 863,606 9.8 947,894 779,318

UK Property 119,972 2.0 122,431 117,513

Overseas Property 12,999  14.6 14,899 11,099

Venture Capital/Private Equity 5,219 14.5 5,973 4,465

  1,678,575   1,826,635  1,530,514 

Total Gloucestershire Fund 1,678,575 7.1% 1,796,915 1,560,236

*Some holdings have been moved to different categories and the comparable figures for 2015/16 have been re-stated to reflect that.

Page 128



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  72

As at 31st March 2016 Value Volatility Value on Value on
  of return Increase Decrease  
 £000  % £000 £000

UK Bonds 169,897 6.9 181,636 158,157

UK Index Linked Gilts 92,190 10.0 101,437 82,943

Overseas Bonds 101,827 6.0 107,997 95,656

UK Equities 312,866 10.1 344,465 281,266

Multi National Equities 863,606 9.8 947,894 779,318

UK Property 120,429 2.0 122,898 117,961

Overseas Property 12,541 14.6 14,375 10,708

Venture Capital/Private Equity 5,219 14.5 5,973 4,465

  1,678,575   1,826,675 1,530,474

Total Gloucestershire Fund 1,678,575 7.1% 1,796,915 1,560,236

Interest Rate Risk

The Fund invests in financial assets 
for the primary purpose of obtaining 
a return on investments. These 
investments are subject to interest 
rate risk, which represents the risk 
that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in market 
interest rates. This risk will affect 
the value of both fixed interest and 
index linked securities. The amount 
of income receivable from cash 
balances will also be affected by 
fluctuations in interest rates.

The Funds exposure to interest rate 
movements, as a result of the bond 

portfolio, as at the 31st March 
2017 is set out below along with 
the interest rate sensitivity analysis 
data.

Interest Rate Risk Sensitivity 
Analysis

The Council recognises that 
interest rates can vary and can 
affect both income to the Fund 
and the value of the net assets 
available to pay benefits. Over the 
last five years long term yields, 
as measured by the yield on the 
FTSE Over 15 Year Gilt Index, have 
averaged 2.69% (2015/16 3.05%) 
and moved between a high of 
3.64% (4.4% 2015/16) and a low 

of 1.13% (2% 2015/16). As at the 
end of March 2017 this yield was 
1.65% (2.2% 2015/16). Given the 
high degree of uncertainty over 
the future economic situation, the 
Fund’s bond manager has advised 
that it is entirely possible that 
yields could fluctuate anywhere 
within this historic range in the next 
year, or in extreme circumstances 
outside these boundaries.

The analysis that follows assumes 
that all other variables, in particular, 
exchange rates, remain constant 
and shows the effect in the year 
on the values of a +/- 100bps (1%) 
change in interest rates on a time-
weighted basis.

 Assets exposed to Carrying amount  as            Change in the year in the net
 interest rate risk      at 31st March 2017           assets available to pay benefits

    +100BPS  -100BPS
    (1% increase)  (1% decrease)

  £000  £000   £000

 Cash held directly by the Fund 7,160   -    -

 Cash and cash equivalents held  21,509   -     - 
 on behalf of the Fund

 Bond Portfolio - Fixed Interest 417,394 -45,528  45,528
 Securities excluding cash

  446,063 -45,528  45,528

Page 129



73  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk represents 
the risk that the fair value of 
future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in foreign exchange 
rates. The Fund is exposed to 
currency risk on both monetary 
and non-monetary investments 
denominated in a currency other 
than Sterling. For a Sterling based 
investor, when Sterling weakens, 
the Sterling value of foreign 
currency denominated investments 
rises. As Sterling strengthens, the 
Sterling value of foreign currency 

denominated investment falls. We 
permit the fixed income portfolio 
manager, global property manager, 
developed world passive manager 
and the global multi asset manager 
to hedge currency exposures back 
to Sterling.

Currency Risk Sensitivity 
Analysis

Following analysis of historical 
data, by the Fund’s performance 
measurement service, the likely 
volatility associated with foreign 
exchange rate movements 
is considered to be 8.5% (as 

measured by one standard 
deviation).   

This analysis assumes that all other 
variables, in particular interest 
rates, remain constant.

A 8.5% strengthening/weakening 
of the Pound against the various 
countries in which the Fund holds 
investments would increase/
decrease the net assets available 
to pay benefits as follows:

 Assets exposed to Carrying amount  as            Change in the year in the net
 interest rate risk      at 31st March 2016           assets available to pay benefits

    +100BPS  -100BPS
    (1% increase)  (1% decrease)

  £000  £000   £000

 Cash held directly by the Fund 4,321   -    -

 Cash and cash equivalents held  9,198   -     - 
 on behalf of the Fund

 Bond Portfolio - Fixed Interest 362,380  -43,491  43,491 
 Securities excluding cash

   375,899  -43,491  43,491

2016/17 Asset value as                   Change to net assets 
Currency exposure -      at 31st March 2017         available to pay benefits

Asset Type £000 £000  £000

  +8.5%  -8.5%

Global Fixed Interest               - - -  

UK Equities                               316 343 289  

Global  Equities                     181,309 196,720 165,898 

Emerging Market Equities                         127,912 138,785 117,039 

                       309,537 335,848 283,226

Page 130



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  74

2015/16 Asset value as                   Change to net assets 
Currency exposure -      at 31st March 2016         available to pay benefits

Asset Type £000 £000  £000

  +6.3%  -6.3%

Global Fixed Interest               432 460 405  

UK Equities                               449 477 421  

Global  Equities                     688,006 731,350 644,662  

Emerging Market Equities                         64,144 68,185 60,103 

                       753,031 800,472 705,591  

Credit Risk

Credit risk represents the risk that 
the counterparty to a transaction 
or financial instrument will fail 
to discharge an obligation and 
cause the Fund to incur a financial 
loss. This is often referred to as 
counterparty risk.  

In essence the Fund’s entire 
investment portfolio is exposed 
to some form of credit risk, with 
exception of the derivatives 
positions, where the risk equates 
to the net market value of a 
positive derivative position.  
However, the careful selection 
and monitoring of counterparties 
including brokers, custodian and 
investment managers minimises 
any credit risk that may occur 
through the failure to settle 
transactions in a timely manner.  
The Fund’s contractual exposure to 
credit risk is represented by the net 
payment or receipt that remains 
outstanding, and the cost of 
replacing the derivative position in 
the event of a counterparty default.  
The residual risk is minimal due 
to the various insurance policies 
held by the exchanges to cover 
defaulting counterparties.

Bankruptcy or insolvency of the 
custodian may affect the Fund’s 
access to its assets. However, 
all assets held by the custodian 
are ring-fenced as “client assets” 
and therefore cannot be claimed 

by creditors of the custodian.  
The Fund manages its risk by 
monitoring the credit quality and 
financial position of the custodian.

Credit risk on over the counter 
derivative contracts is minimised 
as counterparties are recognised 
financial intermediaries with 
acceptable credit ratings 
determined by a recognised rating 
agency.

The Fund’s bond portfolios have 
significant credit risk through its 
underlying investments. This risk 
is managed through diversification 
across sovereign and corporate 
entities, credit quality and maturity 
of bonds. The market prices of 
bonds incorporate an assessment 
of credit quality in their valuation 
which reflects the probability 
of default (the yield of a bond 
will include a premium that will 
compensate for the risk of default).

The Council believes it has 
managed its exposure to credit risk 
within an acceptable level and its 
default experience over the last five 
financial years is not significantly 
out of line with the industry.  

Another source of credit risk is 
the cash balances held to meet 
operational requirements or by 
the managers at their discretion.  
Internally held cash is managed on 
the Fund’s behalf by the Council’s 
Treasury Management Team 

in line with the Fund’s Treasury 
Management Policy which sets out 
the permitted counterparties and 
limits. The Fund invests surplus 
cash held with the custodian in 
diversified money market funds.

Through its securities lending 
activities, the Fund is exposed 
to the counterparty risk of the 
collateral provided by borrowers 
against the securities lent. This 
risk is managed by restricting 
the collateral permitted to high 
grade sovereign debt, AAA 
rated fixed interest stock issued 
by Supranational bodies and a 
restrictive list of equities indices.  
Cash collateral is not permitted.

Foreign exchange contracts are 
subject to credit risk in relation to 
the counterparties of the contracts 
which are primarily banks. The 
maximum credit exposure on 
foreign currency contracts is any 
net profit on forward contracts, 
should the counterparty fail to 
meet its obligations to the Fund 
when it falls due.

The credit risk within the bond 
portfolios can be analysed using 
standard industry credit ratings 
and the analysis as at 31st March 
2017 is set out overleaf.  

Page 131



75  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Credit Analysis AAA AA A BBB BB B Unrated
31st March 2017 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

UK Gilts - 55,322 - - - - -

UK Index Linked - 101,783 - - - - -

Overseas Govt Bonds 13,289 - - - - - -

Overseas Inflation-linked 10,604              -               -               -               -               -               -

Corporate Bonds                  - 6,140 39,863 29,879 14,842 - 1,838

Asset Backed 1,151 - 3,176 12,494 2,029 - -

Emerging Markets                  - - 523 - 854 - -

Mortgages - 1,082 - - - - -

Supra/Sov/Local Govts - - - - - - -

Cash/Cash Equivalents/       
Currency Forwards - 892 - - - - 8,670 

 25,044 165,219 43,562 42,373 17,725 - 10,508

% of Fixed Interest Portfolio 8.2 54.3 14.3 13.9 5.8 - 3.5

Credit Analysis AAA AA A BBB BB B Unrated
31st March 2016 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

UK Gilts 62,670 - - - - - -

UK Index Linked 92,596 - - - - - -

Overseas Govt Bonds 11,592 - - - - - -

Overseas Inflation-linked 10,819              -               -               -               -               -               -

Corporate Bonds                  - 2,597 43,519 27,500 8,158 - 1,682

Asset Backed 1,100 1,373 5,459 11,638 1,739 - -

Emerging Markets                  - - 495 - 1,806 - -

Mortgages - 1,057 - - - - -

Supra/Sov/Local Govts 3,136 - - - - - -

Cash/Cash Equivalents/       
Currency Forwards 1,432 - - 262 - - 2,433 

 183,345 5,027 49,473 39,400 11,703 - 4,115

% of Fixed Interest Portfolio 62.6 1.7 16.9 13.4 4.0 -  1.4

Page 132



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  76

Treasury Management Year End Cash Balances

The management of Pension Fund cash balances not held by the Custodian is delegated to Gloucestershire 
County Council’s Treasury Management team to manage in accordance with their Treasury Management 
Strategy, which reflects the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Public Services. Pension 
Fund cash is invested separately from Gloucestershire County Council monies.

The Fund’s cash holding under its treasury management arrangements at 31st March 2017 is shown below:

  Balances as at   Balances as at
       31st March 2016   31st March 2017
Account Name Rating* £000 Rating* £000

Standard Life Sterling Liquidity Fund AAAm 1,542 AAAm 4,831

Federated Short Term Sterling  AAAm 2,725 AAAm 1,810
Prime Fund

HSBC Instant Access A1+/AA- 195 A1+/AA- 66

HSBC Current Account A1+/AA- -141 A1+/AA- -19

Goldman Sachs  - AAAm 472

Total   4,321  7,160

* Ratings quoted are all Standard and Poors as at 31st March 2017 and 2016.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk represents the risk 
that the Fund will not be able 
to meet its financial obligations 
as they fall due. The Council 
therefore takes steps to ensure 
that the Pension Fund has 
adequate cash resources to meet 
its commitments. A substantial 
portion of the Fund’s investments 
consist of readily realisable 
securities, in particular equities and 
fixed income investments, even 
though a significant proportion is 
held in pooled funds. However, 
the main liability of the Fund are 
the benefits payable, which fall 
due over a long period and the 
investment strategy reflects the 
long term nature of these liabilities.  
Therefore the Fund is able to 
manage the liquidity risk that arises 
from its investments in less liquid 
asset classes such as property 

which are subject to longer 
redemption periods and cannot be 
considered as liquid as the other 
investments. The Fund maintains 
a cash balance to meet working 
requirements and has immediate 
access to its cash holdings.

Refinancing Risk

Refinancing risk relates to the 
Fund being required to replenish 
a significant proportion of its 
financial instruments at a time 
of unfavourable interest rates.  
Refinancing risk within the Bond 
portfolio is mitigated through 
credit and liquidity analysis of all 
investments and diversification 
by issuer and maturity. The 
CBRE property fund managed on 
behalf of the Pension Fund is not 
leveraged or subject to refinancing 
risk. However, the underlying 
investments within this portfolio are 

leveraged and so may be subject 
to refinancing risk. This risk is 
mitigated by covenants written into 
the Fund documentation. There 
are no other financial instruments 
that have refinancing risk as part 
of its treasury management and 
investment strategies.

N28  Fair Value Hierarchy

Basis of valuation

The basis of the valuation of each 
class of investment asset is set 
out overleaf. There has been no 
change in the valuation techniques 
used during the year. All assets 
have been valued using fair value 
techniques which represent the 
highest and best price available at 
the reporting date.

Page 133



77  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Description 
of asset

Valuation 
hierarchy

Basis of 
valuation

Observable and 
unobservable 
inputs

Key sensitivities 
affecting the 
valuations provided

Quoted Equities Level 1 Published bid market 
price ruling on the 
final day of the 
accounting period

Not required Not required

Quoted Bonds Level 1 Fixed interest 
securities are valued 
at a market value 
based on current 
yields

Not required Not required

Futures and 
options in UK 
bonds

Level 1 Published exchange 
prices at the year 
end

Not required Not required

Forward foreign 
exchange 
derivatives

Level 2 Market forward 
exchange rates at 
the year-end

Exchange rate risks Not required

Pooled 
investments

Level 2 Closing bid price 
where bid and offer 
prices are published.
Closing single price 
where single price 
published.

NAV based pricing set 
on a forward pricing 
basis and daily prices 
published.  

Not required

Pooled 
investments

Level 3 Closing bid price 
where bid and offer 
prices are published.
Closing single price 
where single price 
published.

Unobservable inputs Valuations could be 
affected by changes 
in the structure of 
the holdings such 
as changing from a 
closed ended fund to 
an open ended fund.

Private equity Level 3 Comparable 
valuation of similar 
companies in 
accordance with 
International Private 
Equity and Venture 
Capital Valuation 
Guidelines (2012)

EBITDA multiple, 
Revenue multiple, 
Discount for lack of 
marketability, Control 
premium

Valuations could be 
affected by material 
events occurring 
between the date 
of the financial 
statements provided 
and the Pension 
Fund’s own reporting 
date, by changes to 
expected cash flows 
and by any differences 
between audited and 
unaudited accounts.

Sensitivity of assets valued at level 3

Having consulted with independent advisors, the Fund has determined that the valuation methods described 
above are likely to be accurate to within the following ranges, and has set out opposite the consequent 
potential impact on the closing value of investments held at 31st March 2017.

Page 134



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  78

Sensitivity of assets valued Assessed Value at Value on Value on
at level 3 valuation 31st March Increase Decrease
 range (+/-) 2017    
   £000 £000 £000

UK property pooled funds 2% 112,078 114,320 109,836

Overseas property pooled funds 16% 2,872 3,332 2,412

Private equity 7% 5,328 5,701 4,955

Total  120,278 123,353 117,203

Fair Value Hierarchy

The Fund is required to classify 
its investments using a fair 
value hierarchy that reflects the 
subjectivity of the inputs used 
in making an assessment of fair 
value. Fair value is the value at 
which the investments could 
be realised within a reasonable 
timeframe. This hierarchy is not 
a measure of investment risk but 
a reflection of the ability to value 
the investments at fair value. 
Asset and liability valuations have 
been classified into three levels, 
according to the quality and 
reliability of information used to 

determine fair values. Transfers 
between levels are recognised 
in the year in which they occur. 
The fair value hierarchy has the 
following levels:

   Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted 
prices in an active market for 
identical assets or liabilities that the 
reporting entity has the ability to 
access at the measurement date. 
Products classified as Level 1 
comprise quoted equities, quoted 
fixed securities and quoted index 
linked securities.

   Level 2 – Inputs other than 
quoted market prices under 

Level 1, for example, when an 
instrument is traded in a market 
that is not considered to be active, 
or where valuation techniques are 
used to determine fair value.

   Level 3 – At least one input that 
could have a significant effect on 
the instrument’s valuation is not 
based on observable market data.

The following table provides an 
analysis of the financial assets 
and liabilities of the Pension Fund 
grouped into levels 1 to 3, based 
on the level at which the fair value 
is observable.

 Quoted Using With significant 
 market price observable unobservable 
  inputs inputs 

Values at 31st March 2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets at fair value  397,188 1,552,064 120,278 2,069,530
through profit and loss

Non-financial assets at fair value  - - - -
through profit and loss

Financial liabilities at fair value  - - - -
through profit and loss

Investment manager cash and    5,590
accruals

Net Investment Assets 397,188 1,552,064 120,278 2,075,120

Page 135



79  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

 Quoted Using With significant 
 market price observable unobservable 
  inputs inputs 

Values at 31st March 2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets at fair value  1,114,264 456,047 113,951 1,684,262
through profit and loss

Non-financial assets at fair value  - - - -
through profit and loss

Financial liabilities at fair value  - - - -
through profit and loss

Investment manager cash and    8,188
accruals

Net Investment Assets 1,114,264 456,047 113,951 1,692,450

Transfers between Levels 1 and 2

Pooled funds currently valued at £1,034,416k (£486,344k 2015/16) have been moved from Level 1 to Level 2 
as the units are not exchange traded.

2016/17 UK Property Overseas  
 Pooled Property Private 
 Funds Pooled Funds Equity Total

 £000 £000 £000 £000

Market Value 1st April 2016        106,703            2,029                5,219  113,951

Transfers into Level 3            1,429            1,549                     -    2,978

Transfers out of Level 3 -1,419                  -                       -    -1,419

Purchases during the year and            4,561                  83                     -    4,644
derivative payments

Sales during the year and -672 -438                    -    -1,110
derivative receipts

Unrealised gains/(losses) 1,790 -351                  109  1,548

Realised gains/(losses) -314                  -                       -    -314

Market Value 31st March 2017        112,078            2,872                5,328             120,278 

Reconciliation of Fair Value Measurements within Level 3

Page 136



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  80

2016/17 Designated as  Financial
 fair value Loans & liabilities at
 through P & L Receivables amortised cost
 £000 £000 £000 

Financial assets
Bonds 280,713                    -                     - 
Equities 377,449  - -
Pooled investments* 1,253,165  - -
Property Unit Trusts 133,718 - -
Private equity 5,328  - -
Derivative contracts 589 - -
Cash - 28,669  -
Other investment balances - 5,522  -
Debtors - 8,176  -
        2,050,962            42,367                     -   

Financial liabilities
Derivative contracts -153 - -
Other investment balances  - -2,720 -
Creditors - - -1,840
Borrowings - - -
 -153 -2,720 -1,840

Total 2,050,809 39,647 -1,840

N29  Financial Instrument Disclosure

2015/16 Designated as  Financial
 fair value Loans & liabilities at
 through P & L Receivables amortised cost
 £000 £000 £000 

Financial assets
Bonds 280,881                    -                     - 
Equities 312,866 - -
Pooled investments* 952,078 - -
Property Unit Trusts 127,532 - -
Private equity 5,219 - -
Derivative contracts 138 - -
Cash - 13,519 -
Other investment balances - 7,254 -
Debtors - 7,437 -
 1,678,714 28,210 -

Financial liabilities
Derivative contracts -927 - -
Other investment balances  - -1,789 -
Creditors - - -1,705
Borrowings - - -
 -927 -1,789 -1,705

Total 1,677,787 26,421 -1,705

*Pooled investments also include an UK Open Ended Investment Company and UK and overseas Limited Liability Partnerships 
investing in property valued at £4,085k (£5,439k 2015/16).

Page 137



81  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

N30  Bulk Transfers in and 
out of the Pension Fund

Transfers to other pension 
funds

The Pension Fund received 
notification that a service would 
be transferring its pension assets 
and liabilities to the Department for 
Work and Pensions (DWP). This 
involved a payment of £0.3m to 
the DWP. 

Transfers from other pension 
funds

The Pension Fund received 
notification that a service would 
be transferring its pension assets 
and liabilities from the Teachers 
Pension Agency (TPA) to the Fund.  
The Fund received £0.1m from the 
TPA. 

N31  Accounting 
Standards that have been 
issued but have not yet 
been adopted

The Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom 2016/17 requires 
consideration of the impact of 
Standards that have been issued 
but not yet adopted by the Code 
for the relevant financial year. This 
is to enable users to evaluate the 
risk of these new Standards on the 
Pension Fund’s current financial 
position. 

The additional disclosures that will 
be required in the 2016/17 and 
2017/18 financial statements in 
respect of accounting changes 
that are introduced in the 
2017/18 Code are amendment 
to the reporting of pension fund 
scheme transaction costs and an 
amendment to the reporting of 
investment concentration.

It is anticipated that this additional 
disclosure will not have a material 
impact on the accounts when it is 
applied prospectively from 1st April 
2017.

N32  Taxation where 
lifetime or annual 
allowances are exceeded

Where a member’s benefit 
entitlement exceeds the United 
Kingdom Inland Revenue tax 
limits (Lifetime Allowance or the 
Annual Allowance), the member 
is liable for taxation. This tax can 
be settled by the member or 
has to be settled by the Pension 
Fund on behalf of the member in 
exchange for a reduction in benefit 
entitlement. The Pension Fund has 
paid no tax on behalf of a member 
during 2016/17 (£50k 2015/16).  
Any lifetime or annual allowance 
tax paid on behalf of members is 
recovered from their future pension 
payments. No accruals are made 
for the recovery of this tax element 
on the grounds of materiality and 
the very long term nature of its 
recovery.        

N33  Events after the 
reporting date

There were no events after the 
reporting date.

N34  Changes to 
comparative figures

N34 (a) Investment income 
and Investment management 
expenses

Investment management expenses 
have been re-stated following new 
advice from the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance & Accountancy 
(CIPFA). Fees from three pooled 
funds of £50k have been 
removed as they were the legal 
responsibility of the pooled fund 
rather than a direct charge to the 
Pension Fund. In addition property 
unit trust expenses of £101k were 
discovered to have been netted off 
dividend income therefore these 
expenses have been added to the 
investment management expenses 
and dividend income has been 
increased by a corresponding 
amount. This also impacted 
on Note N4, the Investment 
movements summary, Note N15, 
Investment income and Note N22 
Management expenses.    

Page 138



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  82

  2015/16 2015/16 Difference
   re-stated 

  £000 £000 £000

 Fund Account

 Management expenses            7,663            7,613  -50

 Investment income -24,595 -24,696 -101

 Profit and losses on disposal of investments and 47,868 48,019 151
 changes in market value of investments

    -

 Investment Movement Summary
 (Note 4 statement)

 Cash movements, currency adjustments and             5,004  4,853  -151
 other end of year settlements

 Total profit (-) and losses on disposal of investments   47,868   48,019  151
 and changes in market value of investments 

    -

 Investment Income (Note 15)

 Fixed interest -6,853 

 Index-linked -1,825  

  -8,678  - 8,678

 Bonds  - -8,678 -8,678

 Pooled investment vehicles  -5,192 -5,293 -101

    -101

 Fixed interest securities and Index-linked securities are now amalgamated under Bonds as per the Code 
 of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17, please see note overleaf.

 Management expenses (Note 22)

 Investment management expenses   6,186   6,136  -50

 The re-stated figures on the more detailed breakdown of the Investment management expenses are 
 given below.

 Investment management expenses

 Fund value based management fees 

    -   invoiced 2,982 3,082 100

      -   deducted from investment 1,970 1,820 -150

  4,952 4,902 -50

Page 139



83  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

  2015/16 2015/16 Difference
   re-stated 

  £000 £000 £000

 Net Asset Statement

 Fixed interest securities         176,726                   -    -176,726
 Index-linked securities 104,155                  -    -104,155
 Bonds                   -    280,881 280,881

    -

 Financial Asset Analysis (Note 14)

 Fixed interest securities
    UK             - Public Sector - Quoted  63,664                   -    
 Index-linked securities   
      UK             - Public Sector - Quoted  92,190                   -    

  155,854   - -155,854

 Fixed interest securities   
      Overseas    - Public Sector - Quoted  11,490      -    
 Index-linked securities   
      Overseas    - Public Sector - Quoted  11,965                   -    

   23,455  -  -23,455

 Bonds   
      UK             - Public Sector - Quoted                   -     155,854  155,854
      Overseas    - Public Sector - Quoted                   -      23,455  23,455

       179,309    179,309                     -   

   

 Bonds   
      UK             - Corporate - Quoted 94,743  94,743                     -   
      Overseas    - Corporate - Quoted 6,829   6,829                     -   

           101,572          101,572                     -   

           280,881          280,881                     -   

Under the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17, there is no 
longer a requirement to split the same type of asset between those managed from within the UK and 
those managed from outside the UK.  UK Property Unit Trusts have therefore been amalgamated and the 
totals for 2015/16 have been amalgamated to enable comparison.

 Financial Asset Analysis (Note 14)

 Property Unit Trusts
    UK - managed from within the UK -   Unquoted  2,349                   -    -2,349
      UK - managed from outside the UK - Unquoted  20,471                   -    -20,471
      UK - Unquoted   22,362  22,362

    -458
 Asset re-classified (please see note opposite)   458

                       -   

N34 (b) Amalgamation of asset classes

Fixed interest securities and Index-linked securities are now amalgamated under Bonds as per the Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17. The totals for 2015/16 have therefore 
been amalgamated where they appear in the financial statements.

Page 140



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  84

N34 (c) Change in asset classification

An investment valued at £458k in 2015/16 was classified as a UK Property Unit Trust.  Following further 
clarification, this holding has now been deemed to be an Overseas Property Limited Liability Partnership and 
the 2015/16 comparable figures have been amended to reflect that movement in the Net Asset Statement, 
Note 4, Investment Movement Summary, Note 12, Unquoted holdings and Note 14 Financial asset analysis.

  2015/16 2015/16 Difference
   re-stated 

  Market value Market value 
  £000 £000 £000

 Net Asset Statement

 Pooled investment vehicles        951,620        952,078  458
 Property unit trusts  127,990       127,532  -458

    -

  Change in Change in
 Investment Movement Summary (Note 4) market value market value
  during the year during the year
  £000 £000 £000

 Pooled Investments -33,760 -33,302 -458  
 Property Unit Trusts 10,085 9,627 458 

  -23,675 -23,675  -

  Market value Market value 
  £000 £000 £000

 Pooled Investments 951,620 952,078 -458   
 Property Unit Trusts 127,990 127,532 458  

  1,079,610 1,079,610  -

 Unquoted Holdings (Note 12) £000 £000 £000

 Overseas Property Limited Liability Partnership                   -    458 -458
   UK Property Unit Trust 22,820 22,362 458

  22,820 22,820  -

 Financial Asset Analysis (Note 14) £000 £000 £000

 Property Unit Trusts   
      UK - managed from within the UK -   Unquoted    2,349                   -    -2,349
      UK - managed from outside the UK - Unquoted  20,471                   -    -20,471
      UK - Unquoted - 22,362  22,362
 Limited Liability Partnerships   
      Overseas - Property - Unquoted                   -    458  458

    22,820  22,820  -   

Page 141



85  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Pensions Administration 
Strategy 

Introduction & Purpose

It is recognised by the Secretary 
of State that for the administration 
of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) to be improved 
and costs reduced, Employers 
and Administering Authorities must 
co-operate closely and provide 
sufficient resource to ensure that 
their statutory obligations are met. 
The purpose of this Administration 
Strategy is therefore to recognise 
those responsibilities and to set 
out the time scales within which 
tasks should be completed. 
This will subsequently improve 
the flow of information between 
Employers and Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund (as Administering 
Authority), ensuring that those 
obligations are met, and ultimately 
that costs are kept to a minimum 
and that scheme members receive 
accurate and timely payment/
notification of their entitlements. 
The Administering Authority has 
assigned responsibility for the 
management and administration of 
the Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
to the Pension Committee.

1. The Regulations

1.1 The Pension Administration 
Strategy is concerned with 
ensuring that Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund runs smoothly for its 
member’s employer organisations 
and Gloucestershire Pension Fund. 

1.2 The Pension Administration 
Strategy is made in accordance 
with Regulation 59 of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2013 which states, 
amongst other things that: 

59.(1) An administering authority 
may prepare a written statement 
of the authority’s policies in 

relation to such of the matters 
mentioned in paragraph (2) 
as it considers appropriate 
(‘its pension administration 
strategy’) and, where it does so, 
paragraphs (3) to (7) apply. 

(2) The matters are: 

(a) procedures for liaison and 
communication with Scheme 
employers in relation to which 
it is the administering authority 
(‘its Scheme employers’);

(b) the establishment of 
levels of performance which 
the administering authority 
and its Scheme employers 
are expected to achieve in 
carrying out their Scheme 
functions by:

i) the setting of performance 
targets

ii) the making of agreements 
about levels of performance 
and associated matters, or

iii) such other means as 
the administering authority 
considers appropriate

(c) procedures which aim to 
secure that the administering 
authority and its Scheme 
employers comply with 
statutory requirements in 
respect of those functions and 
with any agreement about 
levels of performance;

(d) procedures for improving 
the communication by the 
administering authority and its 
Scheme employers to each 
other of information relating to 
those functions;

(e) the circumstances in which 
the administering authority 

may consider giving written 
notice to any of its Scheme 
employers under regulation 70 
(additional costs arising from 
Scheme employer’s level of 
performance) on account of 
that employer’s unsatisfactory 
performance in carrying out 
its Scheme functions when 
measured against levels of 
performance established 
under sub-paragraph (b);

(f) the publication by the 
administering authority of 
annual reports dealing with:

(i) the extent to which that 
authority and its Scheme 
employers have achieved 
the levels of performance 
established under sub-
paragraph (b), and

(ii) such other matters 
arising from its pension 
administration strategy as it 
considers appropriate; and

(g) such other matters as 
appear to the administering 
authority, after consulting its 
Scheme employers and such 
other persons as it considers 
appropriate, to be suitable for 
inclusion in that strategy. 

1.3 The Pension Administration 
Strategy is published to 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund’s 
Scheme employers and to the 
Secretary of State.

2. The Strategy 

2.1 Procedures for liaison and 
communication with Scheme 
employers 

2.1.1 The employer will nominate 
a person to act as the ‘employer 

Page 142



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  86

representative’ and Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund’s primary 
contact. The employer will notify 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
who that person is and ensure that 
changes of nominated person are 
notified to Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund immediately. 

2.1.2 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund employs a multi-channel 
approach to liaison and 
communication with Scheme 
employers to ensure that employer 
needs are constantly and 
consistently met. 

2.1.3 Channels include: 

  The ‘Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund Employers Website’, that 
gives access to:

-  information about 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and the Local Government 
Pension Scheme

-  administration forms to 
download, print and use as 
needed 

-  contact information for key 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
representatives who can inform 
and liaise with employers on the 
scheme and its application to 
individual cases 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
issues information by e-mail to the 
nominated contact for pensions at 
each organisation. 

  Employer representatives can 
distribute pension information 
as appropriate to relevant staff 
within their organisation with 
a view to ensuring the smooth 
operation of the scheme within 
their organisation. The employer 
representative should always be 

mindful of the confidentiality of 
some correspondence.

  Employer update seminars are 
held twice yearly (usually during 
January and June) covering 
scheme development issues 
and providing the opportunity for 
Employers to field any questions/
queries.

2.2 Levels of performance 

2.2.1 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund and Scheme employers must 
have regard to the current version 
of the Pension Administration 
Strategy when carrying out their 
functions. 

Levels of performance for 
Scheme employers and the 
administering authority

2.2.2 The employer must supply 
notifications (or approved 
alternatives) to Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund as follows: 

i.  New starters (FORM: Employer 
pension starter notification): within 
5 weeks of the employee joining.

ii.  Change in member’s details 
(FORM: LGPS con-change): within 
5 weeks of the event.

iii.  Early leavers (FORM: leaver1): 
within 5 weeks of the employee 
leaving.

iv.  Retirement Notifications 
(FORM: leaver1) and all other 
required documents must be 
received by Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund on or before 5 
working days after the last day of 
employment.

v.  Death in active membership 
(FORM: leaver1): within 5 working 
days of the death of the member. 

2.2.3 Great care must be taken to 
avoid breaking The Occupational 
Pension Schemes (Disclosure of 
Information) Regulations 2013. For 
example, where a retirement takes 
place before normal pension age, 
leaver1 form must be received by 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund no 
later than one month after the date 
of retirement. Where a retirement 
takes place on or after normal 
pension age, Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund must receive leaver1 
form no later than 10 working days 
after the date of retirement. The 
above timeframes within 2.2.2 are 
therefore to allow us to ensure 
compliance with the Disclosure 
Regulations in relation to all 
scheme member matters.

2.2.4 Each employer in the fund 
will provide Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund with a monthly 
statement reconciling to the total 
contributions paid. This statement 
must be received by the Pension 
Fund before the payment of the 
contribution is made. The format 
of this statement is stipulated by 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and contains information as 
detailed in the LGPS Regulations 
2013. It also provides assistance 
to the employer by validating 
the calculations. A separate 
spreadsheet is available for 
employees utilising the 50/50 
scheme and both can be obtained 
from the ‘Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund Employers Website’. The 
deadline for receipt of these 
statements is no later than the 
10th day of the month following 
the month in which contributions 
have been deducted. Where the 
10th falls on a weekend or bank 
holiday, the due date becomes the 
last working day prior to 10th.

Page 143



87  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

2.2.5 Employers will provide 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund with 
a year-end data return as at 31st 
March each year in an approved 
format no later than *31st May 
of that year. The return must be 
balanced by the employer against 
the employee and employer 
contribution payments made for 
that financial year. 

*Please note that in the year of the 
Triennial Valuation, this date may need to 
be brought forward. Any such change will 
be notified in advance to your nominated 
person.

2.2.6 The scheme employer 
is responsible for ensuring 
that employee and employer 
contributions are deducted at the 
correct rate and on the correct 
pensionable pay. This includes 
contributions due on leave of 
absence with reduced or no pay, 
maternity leave contributions, 
contributions relating to the 50/50 
option and any other contributions 
due to the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund or requested by the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund.

2.2.7 The employer is responsible 
for exercising the discretionary 
powers given to employers by the 
regulations. The employer is also 
responsible for publishing its policy 
in respect of the key discretions as 
required by the regulations to its 
employees. 

2.2.8 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund is not responsible for verifying 
the accuracy of any information 
provided by the employer for the 
purpose of calculating benefits 
under the provisions of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
and the Discretionary Payments 
Regulations. That responsibility 
rests with the employer. 

2.2.9 Any over payment of 
benefits resulting from inaccurate 
information supplied by the 
employer shall be recovered from 
the employer. 

Similarly, where Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund are required to 
revise their calculations due to 
incorrect notification of information 
by the employer, Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund reserves the right to 
pass on the administrative costs of 
processing that revision. 

2.2.10 In the event of 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
incurring costs or being fined by 
e.g. The Pensions Regulator, as a 
result of an employer’s action or 
inaction (e.g. the failure to notify 
a retirement within the time limits 
described above), this charge 
will be passed on to the relevant 
employer. 

2.2.11 Under the Data Protection 
Act 1998, the employer will 
protect from improper disclosure 
any information about a member 
contained (where applicable) on 
any item sent from Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund. It will also only 
use information supplied or made 
available by Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund for the operation 
of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme. 

Levels of performance for 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

2.2.12 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will make available/ issue 
forms, newsletters, booklets 
and such other materials as are 
necessary for the administration of 
the Scheme. 

2.2.13 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will support employers in 
running the Local Government 
Pension Scheme by: 

i.  providing information, 
interpretation and assistance on 
the scheme and its administration

ii.  distributing regular technical 
information

2.2.14 Working co-operatively 
with employers, Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund aims to: 

i.  in relation to retirements; pay 
retirement grants within 10 working 
days of receipt of all the relevant 
required paperwork 

ii.  in relation to deaths in service; 
pay the death gratuity within 3 
working days of receipt of all the 
relevant required paperwork 

iii.  provide employer requested 
estimates within 15 working days 
of request from employer

iv.  send Annual Benefit 
Statements (ABS’s) to scheme 
members in accordance with 
the specified timeframes within 
the LGPS Regulations following 
the relevant end of financial year, 
(subject to timely receipt of all 
required notifications under 2.2.2 
and a balanced year-end return as 
stated in 2.2.5) 

2.2.15 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will produce benefit 
illustrations for members each year 
where the employer has submitted 
useable and accurate year-end 
financial data. 

2.2.16 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will supply any information 
to employers necessary to ensure 
the smooth running of the pension 
fund. 

2.2.17 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will work with employers 
to ensure that retirement is as 
smooth a process as possible for 
the member and employer. 

2.2.18 Under the Data Protection 
Act 1998, Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will protect from improper 
disclosure any information held 
about a member. Information held 
will be used by Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund for the operation 
of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme. 

2.2.19 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund is responsible for exercising 
the discretionary powers given to it 
by the regulations. Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund is also responsible 

Page 144



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  88

for publishing its policy to its 
members in respect of the key 
discretions as required by the 
regulations. 

2.2.20 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund aims to provide a service 
to members that meet the 
requirements of the Occupational 
Pension Schemes (Disclosure of 
Information) Regulations 2013. 

2.2.21 The Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund will contact all 
scheme employers throughout 
the financial year, depending on 
their year end reporting date, 
to establish requirements for an 
annual pension liability report 
produced by the Fund’s actuary. 
These reports are required 
under the relevant International 
Accounting Standards (IAS) or 
Financial Reporting Standards 
(FRS) for inclusion in the employer’s 
annual Report & Accounts. For 
those wishing to commission 
such a report, the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund will provide all the 
necessary documentation as 
provided by the Fund’s actuary; 
the cost of obtaining this report 
will be recharged to the employer. 
Employers who fail to meet the 
advised deadlines of this exercise 
may incur a further actuarial charge 
due to the nature of the bulk 
discount fee obtained by the Fund.

2.2.22 Where employers who 
are admitted bodies to the Fund 
are required to hold an indemnity 
bond, the Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will request, from the Fund’s 
actuary, revised bond valuations 
in accordance with the employer’s 
Admission Agreement. Indemnity 
bonds are normally reviewed 
annually and the standard renewal 
date is 1st April. Where an 
employer is required to obtain a 
new or revised bond they will be 
given a minimum of 20 working 
days notice by the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund. The actuary cost of 
obtaining the bond valuation will be 
recharged to the employer.

2.3 Payments by Scheme 
employers to Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund

2.3.1 Scheme employers will 
make all payments required 
under the Local Government 
Pension Scheme, and any 
related legislation, promptly to 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and/or its Additional Voluntary 
Contribution providers (Prudential / 
Phoenix Life) as appropriate.

  Payment Dates 

Contributions can be paid over 
at any time but the latest date for 
cleared funds to be received is 
the 19th of the month immediately 
following the month in which 
deductions were made. For 
example contributions deducted 
in April must be received by 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund by 
19th May at the latest. Where the 
19th falls on a weekend or Bank 
Holiday, the due date becomes the 
last working day prior to the 19th.

Similarly, the employer will pay any 
Additional Voluntary Contributions 
to the relevant AVC Provider within 
the same timeframe. 

  Late Payment 

Under the Pensions Act 1995, 
the Pensions Regulator may be 
notified if contributions are not 
received in accordance with the 
regulators code of practice, as 
described above. 

  Monthly Contribution - 
Payment Method

Apart from Additional Voluntary 
Contributions, all other 
Contributions  should be paid to 
the Gloucestershire Pension Fund’s 
bank account, by Direct Debit 
or BACS. The payment should 
match the in-month return(s) for 
the employer and a summary 
document should be sent if the 
payment covers two returns or 
more.

  Secondary(deficit) 
Contribution

It is expected that secondary 
(deficit) contribution payments will 
be included on the monthly return 
when payment is made with the 
normal monthly contributions.

  Invoice - Payment Method 

Payments of invoices raised 
by the Pension Fund are due 
immediately upon receipt and 
must be made separate to any 
contribution payment that is due. 
The payment should be paid to the 
Gloucestershire’s Pension Fund’s 
bank account, by BACS quoting 
invoice details.

  Remittance Advices 

Employers must submit a 
remittance advice with each 
payment to the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund (email address: 
peninv@gloucestershire.gov.uk).  
Employers who are paying monthly 
contributions must provide the 
statement as detailed in paragraph 
2.2.4 above.

2.4 Additional costs incurred as 
a result of Scheme employer’s 
level of performance  

2.4.1 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will charge the scheme 
employer an administrative fee, for 
chasing any overdue/outstanding 
documentation or overdue 
payment, of £6 subject to VAT in 
relation to each item, each time it 
is chased. 

Payments paid into 
Gloucestershire County Council’s 
bank account rather than the 
Pension Fund’s bank account will 
be subject to an administration 
fee of £6 subject to VAT. Any other 
additional charges imposed by the 
Bank to transfer these payments 
will also be passed on to the 
employer.

In addition, where additional 
costs have been incurred by 

Page 145



89  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
because of the Scheme employer’s 
level of performance in carrying out 
its functions under the LGPS, the 
additional costs will be recovered 
from that Scheme employer. Costs 
subject to VAT will be based on a 
time and materials basis.

2.4.2 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will give written notice to the 
Scheme employer stating - 

i.  the reasons for the additional 
cost incurred; 

ii.  that the Scheme employer 
should pay the additional costs 
attributable to that authority’s level 
of performance; 

iii.  the basis on which the specified 
amount is calculated; and 

iv.  the relevant provisions of the 
Pension Administration Strategy 
under which the additional costs 
have arisen. 

Additional costs incurred will 
be collated and invoiced each 
calendar year.

2.4.3 Any disagreement regarding 
the amount of additional cost 
being recovered, which cannot be 
resolved between the employer 
and Gloucestershire Pension Fund, 
will be decided by the Secretary of 
State who will have regard to - 

I.  the provisions of the Pension 
Administration Strategy that are 
relevant to the case; and

II.  the extent to which 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and the Scheme employer have 
complied with those provisions in 
carrying out their functions under 
these Regulations. 

2.5 Interest on late payments

2.5.1 In accordance with the 
LGPS Regulations, interest may be 
charged on any amount overdue 
from a Scheme employer by more 
than one month. 

2.5.2 Interest will be calculated at 
one percentage point above base 
rate on a day to day basis from the 
due date to the date of payment 
and compounded with three-
monthly rests. 

3. Review of the Pension 
Administration Strategy

3.1 The Pension Administration 
Strategy will be kept under review 
by the Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund’s Pension Committee. 

3.2 The Pension Committee’s 
relationship with Scheme 
employers including details on 
communication, governance, skills 
and knowledge, etc, is contained 
within the following documents: 
Communications Policy; 
Governance Policy; Governance 
Compliance Statement. All these 
documents are available on 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund’s 
website  www.gloucestershire.
gov.uk/extra/pensions/
investments

3.3 Employers may make 
suggestions to improve the 
Pension Administration Strategy for 
consideration by Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund at any time. 

3.4 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will revise the Pension 
Administration Strategy after 
consulting with Scheme employers 
and any other persons considered 
appropriate following a material 
change in any policy covered in the 
strategy. When the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund publishes its 
Strategy or a revised Strategy it will 
send a copy to each of its Scheme 
employers and to the Secretary of 
State.  

3.5 Employers are welcome to 
discuss any aspect of the Pension 
Administration Strategy with 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund at 
any time. Employers are welcome 
to visit Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund at any time, subject to notice.

3.6 The Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund Annual Report will give 
details of the extent to which 
the Administering Authority and 
employers have achieved the 
levels of performance as detailed 
in the Administration Strategy as 
well as such other matters from 
the Administration Strategy it 
considers important.

4. Employer contribution 
rates and administration 
costs 

4.1 Employers’ contribution 
rates are not fixed. Employers 
are required to pay whatever 
is necessary to ensure that the 
portion of the fund relating to their 
organisation is sufficient to meet its 
liabilities. 

4.2 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund has an actuarial valuation 
undertaken every three years by 
the Fund’s actuary. The actuary 
balances the fund’s assets and 
liabilities in respect of each 
employer, and assesses the 
appropriate minimum contribution 
rate for each employer to be 
applied for the subsequent three 
years. 

4.3 The cost of running 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund is 
charged directly to the Fund, and 
the actuary takes these costs 
into account in assessing the 
employers’ contribution rates. 

4.4 If an employer wishes 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund to 
carry out any employer specific 
work, Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund reserves the right to make 
a reasonable charge to cover the 
administration involved, where 
appropriate. Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund would always 
discuss such matters with 
the employer before any work 
commenced.

Page 146

www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments


Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  90

Levels of performance expected from the employing authorities and the Pension Fund are detailed in Section 
2.2 of the Pensions Administration Strategy, which in accordance with CIPFA guidance, LGPS Funds are 
required to include within their report. Performance against some of those targets is shown below. The Fund 
monitors the timeliness of data submissions and the payment of pension contributions by the employer and 
has the power to seek compensation from employers in respect of any service standard breaches. During 
2016/17 the option to levy interest on overdue contributions was not exercised. Charges of £1,074 (£7,116 
2015/16) were levied against employers not meeting the expected level of performance. 

Pensions Administration 
Strategy Report 

** Where all necessary information/clarification received from member’s employer
**  This was the result of the fund not receiving the majority of necessary employer pay data in time. The 2014 LGPS introduced 
substantial change and additional requirements of employers and fund administrators alike. Statements were issued by 30th November 
2015.

 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
 % % %

Pension contributions paid on or before the due date 99.4 99.6 99.9
Employers providing the Pension Fund with a copy of their 75.8 78.5 81.2 
discretions policy document (155 out of 191) 
Provision of named pensions contacts for the employer 100.0 100.0 100.0

 Activity Target 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

 Annual Benefit Statements  31/10/2013 31/10/2014 31/08/2015 31/08/2016 31/08/2017
 sent by statutory deadline:
  100% 100%* 100%* 0%** 100%* Anticipate
       100%*

 Provide retirement estimates within 15 working days   

 Total completed  655 531 646 693 669
 Completed on time  594 428 505 228 442
 Achievement 90% 90.7%  80.6% 78.2% 32.9% 66.1%

 Pay retirement grants within 15 working days 

 Total completed  739 745 707 650 807
 Completed on time  716 721 634 151 285
 Achievement 90% 96.9% 96.8% 89.7% 23.2% 35.3%

 Pay death grants within 8 working days

 Total completed  65 57 40 55 59
 Completed on time  58 54 39 6 32
 Achievement 90% 89.2% 94.7% 97.5% 10.9% 54.2%

 Pay refunds within 15 working days   

 Total completed  n/a n/a n/a n/a 290
 Completed on time  n/a n/a n/a n/a 203
 Achievement 90% n/a n/a n/a n/a 70%

 Pay transfer values within 15 working days 

 Total completed  n/a n/a n/a n/a 71
 Completed on time  n/a n/a n/a n/a 55
 Achievement 90% n/a n/a n/a n/a 77.5%

Page 147



91  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

From the performance figures on the previous page it can be seen that, although performance improved 
slightly in 2016/17 compared with 2015/16, it is significantly lower than the performance levels achieved under 
pre April 2014 scheme. The reason for this is due to the increased complexities of the new scheme, which 
have now been recognised, with staffing levels within the Pensions Administration team having now been 
increased to take account of these increased complexities.

Funding Strategy 
Statement 

The Funding Strategy Statement 
shown below is the current version 
of this statement. Should you 
wish to see the previous version 
applicable to the period that this 
report covers please contact the 
Finance Manager at Shire Hall, 
Gloucester, on (01452) 328945.

1. Introduction

1.1  What is this document?

This is the Funding Strategy 
Statement (FSS) of the 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Pension Fund (“the Fund”), 
which is administered by 
Gloucestershire County Council, 
(“the Administering Authority”). 

It has been prepared by the 
Administering Authority in 
collaboration with the Fund’s 
actuary, Hymans Robertson LLP, 
and after consultation with the 
Fund’s employers and investment 
adviser. It is effective from February 
2017.

1.2  What is the Gloucestershire 
County Council Pension Fund?

The Fund is part of the national 
Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS). The LGPS was 
set up by the UK Government 
to provide retirement and death 
benefits for local government 
employees, and those employed in 
similar or related bodies, across the 
whole of the UK. The Administering 

Authority runs the Gloucestershire 
County Council Fund, in effect the 
LGPS for the Gloucestershire area, 
to make sure it: 

 receives the proper amount 
of contributions from employees 
and employers, and any transfer 
payments;

 invests the contributions 
appropriately, with the aim that the 
Fund’s assets grow over time with 
investment income and capital 
growth; and

 uses the assets to pay Fund 
benefits to the members (as and 
when they retire, for the rest of 
their lives), and to their dependants 
(as and when members die), as 
defined in the LGPS Regulations. 
Assets are also used to pay 
transfer values and administration 
costs.

The roles and responsibilities of 
the key parties involved in the 
management of the Fund are 
summarised in Appendix B.

1.3  Why does the Fund need a 
Funding Strategy Statement?

Employees’ benefits are 
guaranteed by the LGPS 
Regulations, and do not change 
with market values or employer 
contributions. Investment returns 
will help pay for some of the 
benefits, but probably not all, 

and certainly with no guarantee.  
Employees’ contributions are fixed 
in those Regulations also, at a level 
which covers only part of the cost 
of the benefits.  

Therefore, employers need to 
pay the balance of the cost of 
delivering the benefits to members 
and their dependants.  

The FSS focuses on how employer 
liabilities are measured, the pace at 
which these liabilities are funded, 
and how employers or pools 
of employers pay for their own 
liabilities. This statement sets out 
how the Administering Authority 
has balanced the conflicting aims 
of:

 affordability of employer 
contributions, 

 transparency of processes, 

  stability of employers’ 
contributions, and 

  prudence in the funding basis. 

There are also regulatory 
requirements for an FSS, as given 
in Appendix A.

The FSS is a summary of the 
Fund’s approach to funding 
its liabilities, and this includes 
reference to the Fund’s other 
policies; it is not an exhaustive 
statement of policy on all issues.  

Page 148



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  92

The FSS forms part of a framework 
which includes:

 the LGPS Regulations

 the Rates and Adjustments 
Certificate (confirming employer 
contribution rates for the next 
three years) which can be found in 
an appendix to the formal valuation 
report;

  actuarial factors for valuing 
individual transfers, early retirement 
costs and the costs of buying 
added service; and

  the Fund’s Statement of 
Investment Principles/Investment 
Strategy Statement (see Section 4).

1.4  How does the Fund and this 
FSS affect me?

This depends on who you are:

  a member of the Fund, i.e. a 
current or former employee, or a 
dependant: the Fund needs to be 
sure it is collecting and holding 
enough money so that your 
benefits are always paid in full;

 an employer in the Fund (or 
which is considering joining the 
Fund): you will want to know how 
your contributions are calculated 
from time to time, that these 
are fair by comparison to other 
employers in the Fund, and in 
what circumstances you might 
need to pay more. Note that 
the FSS applies to all employers 
participating in the Fund;

  an Elected Member whose 
council participates in the Fund: 
you will want to be sure that the 
council balances the need to hold 
prudent reserves for members’ 
retirement and death benefits, with 
the other competing demands for 
council money;

  a Council Tax payer: your 
council seeks to strike the balance 
above, and also to minimise 
cross-subsidies between different 
generations of taxpayers.

1.5  What does the FSS aim to 
do?

The FSS sets out the objectives of 
the Fund’s funding strategy, such 
as: 

  to ensure the long-term 
solvency of the Fund, using a 
prudent long term view. This will 
ensure that sufficient funds are 
available to meet all members’/
dependants’ benefits as they fall 
due for payment;

  to ensure that employer 
contribution rates are reasonably 
stable where appropriate;

  to minimise the long-term cash 
contributions which employers 
need to pay to the Fund, by 
recognising the link between 
assets and liabilities and adopting 
an investment strategy which 
balances risk and return (NB this 
will also minimise the costs to be 
borne by Council Tax payers);

  to reflect the different 
characteristics of different 
employers in determining 
contribution rates. This involves 
the Fund having a clear and 
transparent funding strategy to 
demonstrate how each employer 

can best meet its own liabilities 
over future years; and

  to use reasonable measures to 
reduce the risk to other employers 
and ultimately to the Council Tax 
payer from an employer defaulting 
on its pension obligations.

1.6  How do I find my way 
around this document?

In Section 2 there is a brief 
introduction to some of the main 
principles behind funding, i.e. 
deciding how much an employer 
should contribute to the Fund from 
time to time.

In Section 3 we outline how the 
Fund calculates the contributions 

payable by different employers in 
different situations.

In Section 4 we show how the 
funding strategy is linked with the 
Fund’s investment strategy.

In the Appendices we cover 
various issues in more detail if you 
are interested:

A. the regulatory background, 
including how and when the FSS 
is reviewed,

B. who is responsible for what,

C. what issues the Fund needs to 
monitor, and how it manages its 
risks,

D. some more details about the 
actuarial calculations required,

E. the assumptions which the 
Fund actuary currently makes 
about the future,

F. a glossary explaining the 
technical terms occasionally used 
here.

If you have any other queries 
please contact the Pensions  
Team in the first instance 
at e-mail address 
peninv@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
or on telephone number 01452 
328949.

2. Basic funding issues

(More detailed and extensive 
descriptions are given in Appendix 
D).

2.1  How does the actuary 
measure the required 
contribution rate?

In essence this is a three-step 
process:

  Calculate the ultimate funding 
target for that employer, i.e. the 
ideal amount of assets it should 
hold in order to be able to pay 
all its members’ benefits. See 

Page 149



93  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Appendix E for more details of 
what assumptions we make to 
determine that funding target;

  Determine the time horizon 
over which the employer should 
aim to achieve that funding target. 
See the table in 3.3 and Note (c) 
for more details;

  Calculate the employer 
contribution rate such that it 
has at least a given probability 
of achieving that funding target 
over that time horizon, allowing 
for different likelihoods of various 
possible economic outcomes over 
that time horizon. See 2.3, and 
the table in 3.3 Note (e) for more 
details.

2.2  What is each employer’s 
contribution rate?

This is described in more 
detail in Appendix D. Employer 
contributions are normally made 
up of two elements:

a) the estimated cost of benefits 
being built up each year, after 
deducting the members’ own 
contributions and including 
administration expenses. This is 
referred to as the “Primary rate”, 
and is expressed as a percentage 
of members’ pensionable pay; plus

b) an adjustment for the difference 
between the Primary rate above, 
and the actual contribution the 
employer needs to pay, referred to 
as the “Secondary rate”. In broad 
terms, payment of the Secondary 
rate will aim to return the employer 
to full funding over an appropriate 
period (the “time horizon”). The 
Secondary rate may be expressed 
as a percentage of pay and/or a 
monetary amount in each year. 

The rates for all employers are 
shown in the Fund’s Rates and 
Adjustments Certificate, which 
forms part of the formal Actuarial 
Valuation Report. Employers’ 
contributions are expressed as 
minima, with employers able to 
pay contributions at a higher rate. 

Account of any higher rate will 
be taken by the Fund actuary at 
subsequent valuations, i.e. will 
be reflected as a credit when 
next calculating the employer’s 
contributions.

2.3  What different types of 
employer participate in the 
Fund?

Historically the LGPS was intended 
for local authority employees only.  
However over the years, with the 
diversification and changes to 
delivery of local services, many 
more types and numbers of 
employers now participate. There 
are currently more employers 
in the Fund than ever before, a 
significant part of this being due to 
new academies. 

In essence, participation in the 
LGPS is open to public sector 
employers providing some form 
of service to the local community. 
Whilst the majority of members 
will be local authority employees 
(and ex-employees), the majority of 
participating employers are those 
providing services in place of (or 
alongside) local authority services: 
academy schools, contractors, 
housing associations, charities, etc.

The LGPS Regulations define 
various types of employer as 
follows:

Scheduled bodies - councils, 
and other specified employers 
such as academies and further 
education establishments. These 
must provide access to the LGPS 
in respect of their employees who 
are not eligible to join another 
public sector scheme (such as 
the Teachers Scheme). These 
employers are so-called because 
they are specified in a schedule to 
the LGPS Regulations.    

It is now possible for Local 
Education Authority schools to 
convert to academy status, and for 
other forms of school (such as Free 
Schools) to be established under 

the academies legislation. All such 
academies (or Multi Academy 
Trusts), as employers of non-
teaching staff, become separate 
new employers in the Fund. As 
academies are defined in the 
LGPS Regulations as “Scheduled 
Bodies”, the Administering 
Authority has no discretion over 
whether to admit them to the 
Fund, and the academy has no 
discretion whether to continue to 
allow its non-teaching staff to join 
the Fund.  There has also been 
guidance issued by the DCLG 
regarding the terms of academies’ 
membership in LGPS Funds.

Designating employers - 
employers such as town and 
parish councils are able to 
participate in the LGPS via 
resolution (and the Fund cannot 
refuse them entry where the 
resolution is passed). These 
employers can designate which of 
their employees are eligible to join 
the scheme.

Other employers are able to 
participate in the Fund via an 
admission agreement, and are 
referred to as ‘admission bodies’.  
These employers are generally 
those with a “community of 
interest” with another scheme 
employer – community admission 
bodies (“CAB”) or those providing 
a service on behalf of a scheme 
employer – transferee admission 
bodies (“TAB”). CABs will include 
housing associations and charities, 
TABs will generally be contractors. 
The Fund is able to set its 
criteria for participation by these 
employers and can refuse entry if 
the requirements as set out in the 
Fund’s admissions policy are not 
met. (NB The terminology CAB 
and TAB has been dropped from 
recent LGPS Regulations, which 
instead combine both under the 
single term ‘admission bodies’; 
however, we have retained the old 
terminology here as we consider 
it to be helpful in setting funding 
strategies for these different 
employers.

Page 150



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  94

2.4  How does the measured 
contribution rate vary for 
different employers?

All three steps below are consid-
ered when setting contributions 
(more details are given in Section 3 
and Appendix D).

1. The funding target is based 
on a set of assumptions about 
the future, (e.g. investment 
returns, inflation, pensioners’ life 
expectancies). However, if an 
employer is approaching the end 
of its participation in the Fund 
then its funding target may be set 
on a more prudent basis, so that 
its liabilities are less likely to be 
spread among other employers 
after its cessation;

2. The time horizon required 
is, in broad terms, the period 
over which any deficit is to be 
recovered. A shorter period will 
lead to higher contributions, and 
vice versa (all other things being 
equal). Employers may be given 
a lower time horizon if they have 
a less permanent anticipated 
membership, or do not have 
tax-raising powers to increase 
contributions if investment returns 
under-perform; and

3. The probability of achieving 
the funding target over that time 
horizon will be dependent on 
the Fund’s view of the strength 
of employer covenant and its 
funding profile. Where an employer 
is considered to be weaker, or 
potentially ceasing from the Fund, 
then the required probability will 
be set higher, which in turn will 
increase the required contributions 
(and vice versa).

For some employers it may be 
agreed to pool contributions, see 
3.4. 

Any costs of non ill-health early 
retirements must be paid by the 
employer, see 3.6.

Costs of ill-health early retirements 
are covered in 3.7 and 3.8.

2.5 How is a deficit (or surplus) 
calculated?

An employer’s “funding level” is 
defined as the ratio of:

  the market value of the 
employer’s share of assets (see 
Appendix D, section D5, for further 
details of how this is calculated), to 

  the value placed by the actuary 
on the benefits built up to date 
for the employer’s employees and 
ex-employees (the “liabilities”).  
The Fund actuary agrees with 
the Administering Authority 
the assumptions to be used in 
calculating this value.

If this is less than 100% then it 
means the employer has a shortfall, 
which is the employer’s deficit; 
if it is more than 100% then the 
employer is said to be in surplus. 
The amount of deficit or shortfall is 
the difference between the asset 
value and the liabilities value.

It is important to note that the 
deficit/surplus and funding level are 
only measurements at a particular 
point in time, on a particular set 
of assumptions about the future. 
Whilst we recognise that various 
parties will take an interest in these 
measures, for most employers 
the key issue is how likely it is that 
their contributions will be sufficient 
to pay for their members’ benefits 
(when added to their existing asset 
share and anticipated investment 
returns).

In short, deficits and funding levels 
are short term measures, whereas 
contribution-setting is a longer 
term issue.

2.6 How does the Fund 
recognise that contribution 
levels can affect council and 
employer service provision, 
and council tax?

The Administering Authority and 
the Fund actuary are acutely aware 
that, all other things being equal, 
a higher contribution required to 

be paid to the Fund will mean less 
cash available for the employer to 
spend on the provision of services.  
For instance:

  Higher Pension Fund 
contributions may result in reduced 
council spending, which in turn 
could affect the resources available 
for council services, and/or greater 
pressure on council tax levels;

  Contributions which Academies 
pay to the Fund will therefore not 
be available to pay for providing 
education; and

  Other employers will provide 
various services to the local 
community, perhaps through 
housing associations, charitable 
work, or contracting council 
services. If they are required to pay 
more in pension contributions to 
the LGPS then this may affect their 
ability to provide the local services 
at a reasonable cost.

Whilst all this is true, it should also 
be borne in mind that:

  The Fund provides invaluable 
financial security to local families, 
whether to those who formerly 
worked in the service of the local 
community who have now retired, 
or to their families after their death;

  The Fund must have the 
assets available to meet these 
retirement and death benefits, 
which in turn means that the 
various employers must each 
pay their own way. Lower 
contributions today will mean 
higher contributions tomorrow: 
deferring payments does not alter 
the employer’s ultimate obligation 
to the Fund in respect of its 
current and former employees;

  Each employer will generally 
only pay for its own employees 
and ex-employees (and their 
dependants), not for those of 
other employers in the Fund;

  The Fund strives to maintain 
reasonably stable employer 

Page 151



95  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

contribution rates where 
appropriate and possible. 
However, a recent shift in 
regulatory focus means that 
solvency within each generation is 
considered by the Government to 
be a higher priority than stability of 
contribution rates;

  The Fund wishes to avoid the 
situation where an employer falls so 
far behind in managing its funding 
shortfall that its deficit becomes 
unmanageable in practice: such 
a situation may lead to employer 
insolvency and the resulting 
deficit falling on the other Fund 
employers. In that situation, those 
employers’ services would in turn 
suffer as a result;

  Council contributions to the 
Fund should be at a suitable level, 
to protect the interests of different 
generations of council tax payers. 
For instance, underpayment of 
contributions for some years 
will need to be balanced by 
overpayment in other years; the 
council will wish to minimise 
the extent to which council tax 
payers in one period are in effect 
benefitting at the expense of 
those paying in a different period. 

Overall, therefore, there is clearly 
a balance to be struck between 
the Fund’s need for maintaining 
prudent funding levels, and the 
employers’ need to allocate 
their resources appropriately.  
The Fund achieves this through 
various techniques which affect 
contribution increases to various 
degrees (see 3.1). In deciding 
which of these techniques to 
apply to any given employer, the 
Administering Authority takes a 
view on the financial standing of 
the employer, i.e. its ability to meet 
its funding commitments and the 
relevant time horizon.

The Administering Authority will 
consider a risk assessment of that 
employer using a knowledge base 

which is regularly monitored and 
kept up-to-date. This database 
will include such information as the 
type of employer, its membership 
profile and funding position, any 
guarantors or security provision, 
material changes anticipated, etc.  

For instance, where the 
Administering Authority has 
reasonable confidence that an 
employer will be able to meet its 
funding commitments, then the 
Fund will permit options such as 
stabilisation (see 3.3 Note (b)), 
a longer time horizon relative to 
other employers, and/or a lower 
probability of achieving their funding 
target. Such options will temporarily 
produce lower contribution levels 
than would otherwise have applied. 
This is permitted in the expectation 
that the employer will still be able to 
meet its obligations for many years 
to come.

On the other hand, where there is 
doubt that an employer will be able 
to meet its funding commitments 
or withstand a significant change 
in its commitments, then a higher 
funding target, and/or a shorter 
deficit recovery period relative to 
other employers, and/or a higher 
probability of achieving the target 
may be required.

The Fund actively seeks employer 
input, including to its funding 
arrangements, through various 
means: see Appendix A.  

3. Calculating 
contributions for  
individual Employers

3.1 General comments

A key challenge for the 
Administering Authority is to 
balance the need for stable, 
affordable employer contributions 
with the requirement to take a 
prudent, longer-term view of 
funding and ensure the solvency 
of the Fund. With this in mind, 

the Fund’s three-step process 
identifies the key issues:

1. What is a suitably (but not 
overly) prudent funding target? 

2. How long should the employer 
be permitted to reach that target? 
This should be realistic but not 
so long that the funding target is 
in danger of never actually being 
achieved.

3. What probability is required to 
reach that funding target? This will 
always be less than 100% as we 
cannot be certain of future market 
movements. Higher probability 
“bars” can be used for employers 
where the Fund wishes to reduce 
the risk that the employer ceases 
leaving a deficit to be picked up by 
other employers. 

These and associated issues are 
covered in this Section.

The Administering Authority 
recognises that there may 
occasionally be particular 
circumstances affecting individual 
employers that are not easily 
managed within the rules and 
policies set out in the Funding 
Strategy Statement. Therefore the 
Administering Authority may, at its 
sole discretion, direct the actuary 
to adopt alternative funding 
approaches on a case by case 
basis for specific employers.

3.2 The effect of paying lower 
contributions 

In limited circumstances the 
Administering Authority may permit 
employers to pay contributions at 
a lower level than is assessed for 
the employer using the three step 
process above. At their absolute 
discretion the Administering 
Authority may: 

  extend the time horizon for 
targeting full funding;

Page 152



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  96

  adjust the required probability 
of meeting the funding target;

  permit an employer to 
participate in the Fund’s 
stabilisation mechanisms; 

  permit extended phasing in of 
contribution rises or reductions;

  pool contributions amongst 
employers with similar 
characteristics; and/or

  accept some form of security 
or guarantee in lieu of a higher 
contribution rate than would 
otherwise be the case.

Employers which are permitted 
to use one or more of the above 
methods will often be paying, for 
a time, contributions less than 
required to meet their funding 
target, over the appropriate time 
horizon with the required likelihood 
of success. Such employers 
should appreciate that:

  their true long term liability (i.e. 
the actual eventual cost of benefits 
payable to their employees and 
ex-employees) is not affected by 
the pace of paying contributions; 

  lower contributions in the short 
term will be assumed to incur a 
greater loss of investment returns 
on the deficit.  Thus, deferring a 
certain amount of contribution may 
lead to higher contributions in the 
long-term; and

  it may take longer to reach 
their funding target, all other things 
being equal.  

Overleaf (3.3) is a summary of how 
the main funding policies differ 
for different types of employer, 
followed by more detailed notes 
where necessary.

Section 3.4 onwards deals with 
various other funding issues which 
apply to all employers.

Page 153



97  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

3.3 The different approaches used for different employers

Type of employer

Sub-type

Funding Target 
Basis used

Primary rate 
approach

Stabilised 
contribution rate?

Maximum time 
horizon – Note (c)

Secondary rate – 
Note (d)

Treatment of 
surplus

Probability of 
achieving target

Phasing of 
contribution 
changes

Review of rates – 
Note (f)

New employer

Cessation of 
participation: 
cessation debt 
payable

 Scheduled Bodies  Community  Transferee
  Admission Bodies  Admission 
  and Designating Bodies
  Employers 

 Local Other Open to Closed (all)
 Authorities  Scheduled new to new
  and Police Bodies entrants entrants 

Ongoing, assumes fixed 
contract term in the Fund 

(see Appendix E)

Ongoing, assumes long-term Fund 
participation (see Appendix E)

Ongoing, but may move 
to “gilts cessation basis” - 

see Note (a)

(see Appendix D – D.2)

 Yes - see Note (b)  No No No No

 17 years (20 yrs 17 years 20 years  Future Outstanding
 for Primary rate)    working  contract term
    lifetime

 Monetary Monetary Monetary Monetary Monetary amount
 amount amount amount amount

Covered by 
stabilisation 
arrangement

Preferred approach: contributions kept at 
Primary rate. However, reductions may 
be permitted by the Admin. Authority

 Covered by  3 years for 3 years 3 years
 stabilisation  increases, 
 arrangement immediate for
  reductions

Administering Authority reserves the right to review contribution 
rates and amounts, and the level of security provided, at regular 

intervals between valuations

Cessation is assumed not to be 
generally possible, as Scheduled 

Bodies are legally obliged to 
participate in the LGPS.  In the 

rare event of cessation occurring 
(machinery of Government 
changes for example), the 

cessation debt principles applied 
would be as per Note (j).

Can be ceased subject 
to terms of admission 
agreement. Cessation 

debt will be calculated on 
a basis appropriate to the 

circumstances of cessation 
– see Note (j).

 n/a  n/a except  Note (h) 
  for Academies
  - see Note (g)

Where the calculated 
secondary rate is 

negative, contributions 
are the maximum of the 
current rate in payment 

or the sum of the primary 
and the secondary rates.

Where the calculated 
secondary rate is positive, 
contributions are set to be 

the primary rate.

3 years for increases, 
immediate for reductions

Particularly reviewed in 
last 3 years of contract

Notes (h) & (i)

Participation is assumed 
to expire at the end of 

the contract.  Cessation 
debt (if any) calculated on 
ongoing basis. Awarding 

Authority will be liable 
for future deficits & 

contributions arising.

66%, 75% or 80% depending on Fund’s assessment of employer profile in the Fund and 
consequent urgency of required funding – see Note (e)

Page 154



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  98

Note (a) (Basis for CABs and 
Designating Employers closed 
to new entrants)

In the circumstances where:

  the employer is a Designating 
Employer, or an Admission Body 
but not a Transferee Admission 
Body, and

  the employer has no guarantor, 
and

  the admission agreement is 
likely to terminate, or the employer 
is likely to lose its last active 
member, within a timeframe 
considered appropriate by the 
Administering Authority to prompt 
a change in funding, 

the Administering Authority may 
set a higher funding target (e.g. 
using a discount rate set equal 
to gilt yields) by the time the 
agreement terminates or the last 
active member leaves, in order 
to protect other employers in the 
Fund. This policy will increase 
regular contributions and reduce, 
but not entirely eliminate, the 
possibility of a final deficit payment 
being required from the employer 
when a cessation valuation is 
carried out.  

The Administering Authority also 
reserves the right to adopt the 
above approach in respect of 
those Designating Employers 
and Admission Bodies with no 
guarantor, where the strength 
of covenant is considered to be 
weak but there is no immediate 
expectation that the admission 
agreement will cease or the 
Designating Employer alters its 
designation.

Note (b) (Stabilisation)

Stabilisation is a mechanism 
where employer contribution rate 
variations from year to year are 
kept within a pre-determined 
range, thus allowing those 
employers’ rates to be relatively 
stable. In the interests of stability 
and affordability of employer 
contributions, the Administering 
Authority, on the advice of the 
Fund Actuary, believes that 
stabilising contributions can 
still be viewed as a prudent 
longer-term approach. However, 
employers whose contribution 
rates have been “stabilised” (and 
may therefore be paying less than 
their theoretical contribution rate) 
should be aware of the risks of 
this approach and should consider 
making additional payments to the 
Fund if possible.

This stabilisation mechanism 
allows short term investment 
market volatility to be managed 
so as not to cause volatility in 
employer contribution rates, on 
the basis that a long term view 
can be taken on net cash inflow, 
investment returns and strength of 
employer covenant.

The current stabilisation 
mechanism applies if:

  the employer satisfies the 
eligibility criteria set by the 
Administering Authority (see below) 
and;

  there are no material events 
which cause the employer to 
become ineligible, e.g. significant 
reductions in active membership 
(due to outsourcing or 
redundancies), or changes in the 
nature of the employer (perhaps 
due to Government restructuring), 
or changes in the security of the 
employer.

On the basis of extensive 
modelling carried out for the 2016 
valuation exercise (see Section 4), 
the stabilised details are as follows:

Type of Employer Employers with precept (tax raising) powers

Max contribution increase per annum 1% to 2.5% of pay *

Max contribution decrease per annum 1% to 2.5% of pay *

* the monetary increases applied to these employers’ contributions will be determined by the Administering Authority in 
discussion with the Fund Actuary and will depend on each employer’s individual circumstances including deficit level, funding 
position, cashflow, and maturity. The monetary increases applied at the 2013 formal valuation are unchanged following the 2016 
formal valuation and the % of pay shown reflects the employer’s pay base when stabilisation was introduced.  

The stabilisation criteria and limits will be reviewed at the 31 March 2019 valuation, to take effect from 1 April 
2020. However the Administering Authority reserves the right to review the stabilisation criteria and limits at 
any time before then, on the basis of membership and/or employer changes as described above.

Page 155



99  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Note (c) (Maximum time 
horizon)

The maximum time horizon starts 
at the commencement of the 
revised contribution rate (1 April 
2017 for the 2016 valuation). The 
Administering Authority would 
normally expect a reducing period 
to be used at successive triennial 
valuations, assuming this could be 
achieved without a material impact 
on the contribution strategy. The 
Administering Authority would 
reserve the right to propose 
alternative time horizons, for 
example where there were no new 
entrants.

Note (d) (Secondary rate)

The Secondary contribution rate 
for most employers covering the 
three year period until the next 
valuation will generally be set as 
a monetary amount as opposed 
to a percentage of salaries.  
However, where a percentage 
of salaries approach is used,  
the Administering Authority 
reserves the right to amend these 
rates between valuations and/
or to require these payments 
in monetary terms instead, for 
instance where:

  the employer is relatively 
mature, i.e. has a large Secondary 
contribution rate (e.g. above 15% 
of payroll), or

  there has been a significant 
reduction in payroll due to 
outsourcing or redundancy 
exercises, or

  the employer has closed the 
Fund to new entrants.

Note (e) (Probability of 
achieving funding target)

Each employer has its funding 
target calculated, and a relevant 
time horizon over which to reach 
that target. Contributions are 
set such that, combined with 
the employer’s current asset 

share and anticipated market 
movements over the time horizon, 
the funding target is achieved 
with a given minimum probability. 
A higher required probability bar 
will give rise to higher required 
contributions, and vice versa.

The way in which contributions are 
set using these three steps, and 
relevant economic projections, 
is described in further detail in 
Appendix D.

Different probabilities are set for 
different employers depending on 
their nature and circumstances: in 
broad terms, a higher probability 
will apply due to one or more of 
the following:

  the Fund believes the employer 
poses a greater funding risk than 
other employers;

  the employer does not have 
tax-raising powers;

  the employer does not have 
a guarantor or other sufficient 
security backing its funding 
position; and/or

  the employer is likely to cease 
participation in the Fund in the 
short or medium term.

Note (f) (Regular Reviews)

Such reviews may be triggered 
by significant events including 
but not limited to: significant 
reductions in payroll, altered 
employer circumstances, 
Government restructuring affecting 
the employer’s business, or failure 
to pay contributions or arrange 
appropriate security as required by 
the Administering Authority.

The result of a review may be to 
require increased contributions 
(by strengthening the actuarial 
assumptions adopted and/or 
moving to monetary levels of deficit 
recovery contributions), and/or 
an increased level of security or 
guarantee.  

Note (g) (New Academy 
conversions)

At the time of writing, the Fund’s 
policies on academies’ funding 
issues are as follows: 

i. The new academy will be 
regarded as a separate employer 
in its own right and will not be 
pooled with other employers in the 
Fund. The only exception is where 
the academy is part of a Multi 
Academy Trust (MAT) in which 
case the academy’s figures will be 
calculated as below but can be 
combined with those of the other 
academies in the MAT;

ii. The new academy’s past 
service liabilities on conversion will 
be calculated based on its active 
Fund members on the day before 
conversion. For the avoidance of 
doubt, these liabilities will include 
all past service of those members, 
but will exclude the liabilities 
relating to any ex-employees of 
the school who have deferred or 
pensioner status;

iii. The new academy will be 
allocated an initial asset share 
from the ceding council’s assets 
in the Fund. This asset share will 
be calculated using the estimated 
funding position of the ceding 
council at the date of academy 
conversion. The share will be 
based on the active members’ 
funding level, having first allocated 
assets in the council’s share to 
fully fund deferred and pensioner 
members. The asset allocation will 
be based on market conditions 
and the academy’s active Fund 
membership on the day prior to 
conversion;

iv. The new academy’s initial 
contribution rate will be calculated 
using market conditions, the 
council funding position and, 
membership data, all as at the day 
prior to conversion.

Page 156



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  100

The Fund’s policies on academies 
are subject to change in the light 
of any amendments to DCLG 
guidance. Any changes will be 
notified to academies, and will 
be reflected in a subsequent 
version of this FSS. In particular, 
policies (iii) and (iv) overleaf will be 
reconsidered at each valuation.

Note (h) (New Admission 
Bodies)

With effect from 1st October 2012, 
the LGPS 2012 Miscellaneous 
Regulations introduced mandatory 
new requirements for all Admission 
Bodies brought into the Fund 
from that date. Under these 
Regulations, all new Admission 
Bodies will be required to provide 
some form of security, such 
as a guarantee from the letting 
employer, an indemnity or a bond.  
The security is required to cover 
some or all of the following:

  the strain cost of any 
redundancy early retirements 
resulting from the premature 
termination of the contract;

  allowance for the risk of asset 
underperformance;

  allowance for the risk of a fall in 
gilt yields;

  allowance for the possible non-
payment of employer and member 
contributions to the Fund; and/or

  the current deficit.

Transferee Admission Bodies: 
For all TABs, the security must 
be to the satisfaction of the 
Administering Authority as well as 
the letting employer, and will be 
reassessed on an annual basis. 
See also Note (i) below.

Community Admission Bodies: 
The Administering Authority will 
only consider requests from CABs 
(or other similar bodies, such as 
section 75 NHS partnerships) to 
join the Fund if they are sponsored 
by a Scheduled Body with tax 

raising powers, guaranteeing their 
liabilities and also providing a form 
of security as above. 

The above approaches reduce 
the risk, to other employers in 
the Fund, of potentially having to 
pick up any shortfall in respect of 
Admission Bodies ceasing with an 
unpaid deficit.

Note (i) (New Transferee 
Admission Bodies)

A new TAB usually joins the 
Fund as a result of the letting/
outsourcing of some services from 
an existing employer (normally 
a Scheduled Body such as a 
council or academy) to another 
organisation (a “contractor”). This 
involves the TUPE transfer of some 
staff from the letting employer to 
the contractor. Consequently, for 
the duration of the contract, the 
contractor is a new participating 
employer in the Fund so that 
the transferring employees 
maintain their eligibility for LGPS 
membership. At the end of the 
contract the employees revert 
to the letting employer or to a 
replacement contractor.

Ordinarily, the TAB would be set 
up in the Fund as a new employer 
with responsibility for all the 
accrued benefits of the transferring 
employees; in this case, the 
contractor would usually be 
assigned an initial asset allocation 
equal to the past service liability 
value of the employees’ Fund 
benefits. The quid pro quo is that 
the contractor is then expected to 
ensure that its share of the Fund is 
also fully funded at the end of the 
contract: see Note (j).

Employers which “outsource” 
have flexibility in the way that 
they can deal with the pension 
risk potentially taken on by the 
contractor. In particular there are 
three different routes that such 
employers may wish to adopt.  
Clearly as the risk ultimately 
resides with the employer letting 

the contract, it is for them to agree 
the appropriate route with the 
contractor:

i) Pooling

Under this option the contractor is 
pooled with the letting employer.  
In this case, the contractor pays 
the same rate as the letting 
employer, which may be under the 
stabilisation approach.

ii) Letting employer retains pre-
contract risks

Under this option the letting 
employer would retain 
responsibility for assets and 
liabilities in respect of service 
accrued prior to the contract 
commencement date. The 
contractor would be responsible 
for the future liabilities that accrue 
in respect of transferred staff. The 
contractor’s contribution rate could 
vary from one valuation to the next. 
It would be liable for any deficit 
at the end of the contract term 
in respect of assets and liabilities 
attributable to service accrued 
during the contract term.

iii) Fixed contribution rate agreed

Under this option the contractor 
pays a fixed contribution rate and 
doesn’t pay any cessation deficit.

The Administering Authority is 
willing to administer any of the 
above options as long as the 
approach is documented in the 
Admission Agreement as well 
as the transfer agreement. The 
Admission Agreement should 
ensure that some element of risk 
transfers to the contractor where 
it relates to their decisions and 
it is unfair to burden the letting 
employer with that risk. For 
example the contractor should 
typically be responsible for pension 
costs that arise from:

  above average pay increases, 
including the effect in respect 
of service prior to contract 
commencement even if the letting 

Page 157



101  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

employer takes on responsibility 
for the latter under (ii) above;  

  redundancy and early 
retirement decisions.

Note (j) (Admission Bodies 
Ceasing)

Notwithstanding the provisions 
of the Admission Agreement, 
the Administering Authority may 
consider any of the following as 
triggers for the cessation of an 
admission agreement with any 
type of body:

  Last active member ceasing 
participation in the Fund (NB 
recent LGPS Regulation changes 
mean that the Administering 
Authority has the discretion to 
defer taking action for up to three 
years, so that if the employer 
acquires one or more active Fund 
members during that period then 
cessation is not triggered. The 
current Fund policy is that this is 
left as a discretion and may or may 
not be applied in any given case);

  The insolvency, winding up or 
liquidation of the Admission Body;

  Any breach by the Admission 
Body of any of its obligations 
under the Agreement that they 
have failed to remedy to the 
satisfaction of the Fund;

  A failure by the Admission Body 
to pay any sums due to the Fund 
within the period required by the 
Fund; or

  The failure by the Admission 
Body to renew or adjust the level 
of the bond or indemnity, or to 
confirm an appropriate alternative 
guarantor, as required by the Fund.

On cessation, the Administering 
Authority will instruct the Fund 
actuary to carry out a cessation 
valuation to determine whether 
there is any deficit or surplus. 
Where there is a deficit, payment of 
this amount in full would normally 
be sought from the Admission 

Body; where there is a surplus 
it should be noted that current 
legislation does not permit a refund 
payment to the Admission Body.

For non-Transferee Admission 
Bodies whose participation 
is voluntarily ended either by 
themselves or the Fund, or 
where a cessation event has 
been triggered, the Administering 
Authority must look to protect 
the interests of other ongoing 
employers. The actuary will 
therefore adopt an approach 
which, to the extent reasonably 
practicable, protects the other 
employers from the likelihood 
of any material loss emerging in 
future:

a) Where a guarantor does not 
exist then, in order to protect 
other employers in the Fund, the 
cessation liabilities and final deficit 
will normally be calculated using 
a “gilts cessation basis”, which is 
more prudent than the ongoing 
basis. This has no allowance 
for potential future investment 
outperformance above gilt 
yields, and has added allowance 
for future improvements in life 
expectancy. This could give rise to 
significant cessation debts being 
required.  

b) Where there is a guarantor for 
future deficits and contributions, 
the details of the guarantee will be 
considered prior to the cessation 
valuation being carried out. In 
some cases the guarantor is 
simply guarantor of last resort and 
therefore the cessation valuation 
will be carried out consistently 
with the approach taken had 
there been no guarantor in place.  
Alternatively, where the guarantor 
is not simply guarantor of last 
resort, the cessation may be 
calculated using the ongoing basis 
as described in Appendix E;

c) Again, depending on the 
nature of the guarantee, it may 
be possible to simply transfer the 
former Admission Body’s liabilities 

and assets to the guarantor, 
without needing to crystallise 
any deficit. This approach may 
be adopted where the employer 
cannot pay the contributions due, 
and this is within the terms of the 
guarantee.

Under (a) and (c), any shortfall 
would usually be levied on the 
departing Admission Body as a 
single lump sum payment. If this is 
not possible then the Fund would 
spread they payment subject to 
there being some security in place 
for the employer such as a bond 
indemnity or guarantee.

Where the ceasing employer 
participates in a pool, the deficit 
on cessation from the Fund will be 
calculated as a pro-rated share of 
the total pool deficit. 

In the event that the Fund is 
not able to recover the required 
payment in full, then the unpaid 
amounts fall to be shared amongst 
all of the other employers in 
the Fund. This may require an 
immediate revision to the Rates 
and Adjustments Certificate 
affecting other employers in the 
Fund, or instead be reflected in 
the contribution rates set at the 
next formal valuation following the 
cessation date.

As an alternative, where the 
ceasing Admission Body is 
continuing in business, the Fund 
at its absolute discretion reserves 
the right to enter into an agreement 
with the ceasing Admission Body.  
Under this agreement the Fund 
would accept an appropriate 
alternative security to be held 
against any deficit, and would carry 
out the cessation valuation on an 
ongoing basis: deficit recovery 
payments would be derived 
from this cessation debt.  This 
approach would be monitored as 
part of each triennial valuation: 
the Fund reserves the right to 
revert to a “gilts cessation basis” 
and seek immediate payment of 
any funding shortfall identified.  

Page 158



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  102

The Administering Authority may 
need to seek legal advice in such 
cases, as the Body would have no 
contributing members.

3.4 Pooled contributions

From time to time, with the advice 
of the Actuary, the Administering 
Authority may set up pools 
for employers with similar or 
complementary characteristics.  
This will always be in line with 
its broader funding strategy. The 
current pools in place within the 
Fund are as follows:

  Town and Parish Councils (as 
a way of sharing experience and 
smoothing out the effects of costly 
but relatively rare events such as 
ill-health retirements or deaths in 
service).  

  LEA schools generally are also 
pooled with their funding Council.  
However there may be exceptions 
for specialist or independent 
schools.

  Smaller Transferee Admission 
Bodies may be pooled with the 
letting employer, provided all 
parties (particularly the letting 
employer) agree.

Those employers which have been 
pooled are identified in the Rates 
and Adjustments Certificate.

Employers who are permitted to 
enter (or remain in) a pool at the 
2016 valuation will not normally 
be advised of their individual 
contribution rate unless agreed by 
the Administering Authority.

Community Admission Bodies that 
are deemed by the Administering 
Authority to have closed to new 
entrants are not usually permitted 
to participate in a pool.  

On exit from a pool, Town and 
Parish Councils, and LEA schools 
converting to academies, will 
normally be attributed assets on 
a pro-rata basis measuring the 
pool’s funding position at the time; 

this differs from the alternative 
approach (in effect applied to 
TABs ceasing their contract) which 
would be to assess the individual 
employer’s calculated asset 
share. The reason for this different 
approach is the long history of 
Town and Parish Councils and 
LEA schools paying pooled rates 
regardless of their own calculated 
asset share, and also to ensure 
that any orphan liabilities are 
accounted for.

3.5 Additional flexibility in 
return for added security

The Administering Authority 
may permit greater flexibility to 
the employer’s contributions if 
the employer provides added 
security to the satisfaction of the 
Administering Authority.  

Such flexibility includes a reduced 
rate of contribution, an extended 
time horizon, or permission to join 
a pool with another body (e.g. the 
Local Authority). 

Such security may include, but 
is not limited to, a suitable bond, 
a legally-binding guarantee from 
an appropriate third party, or 
security over an employer asset of 
sufficient value.

The degree of flexibility given may 
take into account factors such as:

  the extent of the employer’s 
deficit;

  the amount and quality of the 
security offered;

  the employer’s financial security 
and business plan; and

  whether the admission 
agreement is likely to be open or 
closed to new entrants.

3.6 Non ill health early 
retirement costs

It is assumed that members’ 
benefits are payable from the 
earliest age that the employee 

could retire without incurring a 
reduction to their benefit (and 
without requiring their employer’s 
consent to retire). (NB the relevant 
age may be different for different 
periods of service, following 
the benefit changes from April 
2008 and April 2014). Employers 
are required to pay additional 
contributions (‘strain’) wherever an 
employee retires before attaining 
this age. The actuary’s funding 
basis makes no allowance for 
premature retirement except on 
grounds of ill-health.   

Employers must make these 
additional contributions as a 
one off payment to the fund 
immediately on awarding the 
early retirement. The exception 
to this rule are statutory bodies 
with tax raising powers, where, 
depending on the circumstances, 
the Administering Authority may 
at its absolute discretion agree to 
spread the payment over a period 
not exceeding 3 years. If this is 
agreed, interest will be charged, 
using factors provided by the 
actuary. In any event the spread 
period cannot exceed the period 
to the member’s normal retirement 
date if this is shorter than 3 years.  

3.7 Ill health early retirement 
costs

In the event of a member’s early 
retirement on the grounds of 
ill-health, a funding strain will 
usually arise, which can be very 
large. Such strains are currently 
met by each employer, although 
individual employers may elect to 
take external insurance (see 3.8 
overleaf).

Admitted Bodies will usually have 
an ‘ill health allowance’; Scheduled 
Bodies may have this also, 
depending on their agreement 
terms with the Administering 
Authority. The Fund monitors each 
employer’s ill health experience on 
an ongoing basis. If the cumulative 
cost of ill health retirement in 
any financial year exceeds 

Page 159



103  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

the allowance at the previous 
valuation, the employer will be 
charged additional contributions 
on the same basis as apply for 
non ill-health cases. Details will 
be included in each separate 
Admission Agreement.

3.8 External ill health insurance

If an employer provides satisfactory 
evidence to the Administering 
Authority of a current external 
insurance policy covering ill health 
early retirement strains, then:

- the employer’s contribution to 
the Fund each year is reduced by 
the lesser of the amount of that 
year’s insurance premium and the 
employer’s ill health allowance, and

- there is no need for monitoring 
of allowances.

The employer must keep the 
Administering Authority notified 
of any changes in the insurance 
policy’s coverage or premium 
terms, or if the policy is ceased.

3.9 Employers with no 
remaining active members

In general an employer ceasing in 
the Fund, due to the departure of 
the last active member, will pay a 
cessation debt on an appropriate 
basis (see 3.3, Note (j)) and 
consequently have no further 
obligation to the Fund. Thereafter 
it is expected that one of two 
situations will eventually arise:

a) The employer’s asset share 
runs out before all its ex-
employees’ benefits have been 
paid. In this situation the other 
Fund employers will be required 
to contribute to pay all remaining 
benefits: this will be done by the 
Fund actuary apportioning the 
remaining liabilities on a pro-
rata basis at successive formal 
valuations;

b) The last ex-employee or 
dependant dies before the 
employer’s asset share has been 
fully utilised. In this situation 

the remaining assets would be 
apportioned pro-rata by the Fund’s 
actuary to the other Fund. 

c) In exceptional circumstances 
the Fund may permit an employer 
with no remaining active members 
to continue contributing to the 
Fund. This would require the 
provision of a suitable security or 
guarantee, as well as a written 
ongoing commitment to fund 
the remainder of the employer’s 
obligations over an appropriate 
period. The Fund would reserve 
the right to invoke the cessation 
requirements in the future, 
however. The Administering 
Authority may need to seek 
legal advice in such cases, as 
the employer would have no 
contributing members.

3.10 Policies on bulk transfers

Each case will be treated on its 
own merits, but in general:

  The Fund will not pay bulk 
transfers greater than the lesser 
of (a) the asset share of the 
transferring employer in the Fund, 
and (b) the value of the past 
service liabilities of the transferring 
members;

  The Fund will not grant added 
benefits to members bringing 
in entitlements from another 
Fund unless the asset transfer 
is sufficient to meet the added 
liabilities; and

  The Fund may permit shortfalls 
to arise on bulk transfers if the 
Fund employer has suitable 
strength of covenant and commits 
to meeting that shortfall in an 
appropriate period. This may 
require the employer’s Fund 
contributions to increase between 
valuations.  

3.11 Excess salary awards

The Fund Actuary makes 
assumptions regarding future pay 
growth applying to the pre-1 April 
2014 accrual of benefit of current 
active members. Should actual 

pay rises exceed this assumption 
then the employer’s liabilities will 
increase, and this increase could 
be very marked as pay growth 
immediately affects all benefits 
accrued before April 2014.

The Administering Authority 
therefore has a policy in place 
which identifies whether each 
employer’s actual pay awards 
have exceeded the actuary’s 
assumptions, and may require 
the employer to pay additional 
contributions to meet the increase 
in liabilities. 

4. Funding strategy 
and links to investment 
strategy

4.1 What is the Fund’s 
investment strategy? 

The Fund has built up assets over 
the years, and continues to receive 
contribution and other income.  
All of this must be invested in 
a suitable manner, which is the 
investment strategy.

Investment strategy is set by 
the administering authority, after 
consultation with the employers 
and after taking investment advice.  
The precise mix, manager make 
up and target returns are set out 
in the Statement of Investment 
Principles (being replaced by an 
Investment Strategy Statement 
under new LGPS Regulations), 
which is available to members and 
employers.

The investment strategy is set for 
the long-term, but is reviewed from 
time to time. Normally a full review 
is carried out as part of each 
actuarial valuation, and is kept 
under review annually between 
actuarial valuations to ensure that it 
remains appropriate to the Fund’s 
liability profile.  

4.2 What is the link between 
funding strategy and investment 
strategy?

The Fund must be able to meet 
all benefit payments as and when 

Page 160



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  104

they fall due. These payments will 
be met by contributions (resulting 
from the funding strategy) or asset 
returns and income (resulting from 
the investment strategy). To the 
extent that investment returns or 
income fall short, then higher cash 
contributions are required from 
employers, and vice versa.

Therefore, the funding and 
investment strategies are 
inextricably linked.  

4.3 How does the funding 
strategy reflect the Fund’s 
investment strategy?

In the opinion of the Fund 
actuary, the current funding 
policy is consistent with the 
current investment strategy of the 
Fund. The asset outperformance 
assumption contained in the 
discount rate (see Appendix E3) 
is within a range that would be 
considered acceptable for funding 
purposes; it is also considered 
to be consistent with the 
requirement to take a “prudent 
longer-term view” of the funding 
of liabilities as required by the UK 
Government (see Appendix A1).

However, in the short term – such 
as the three yearly assessments 
at formal valuations – there is the 
scope for considerable volatility 
and there is a material chance 
that in the short-term and even 
medium term, asset returns 
will fall short of this target.  The 
stability measures described in 
Section 3 will damp down, but not 
remove, the effect on employers’ 
contributions.  

The Fund does not hold a 
contingency reserve to protect 
it against the volatility of equity 
investments.  

4.4 How does this differ for a 
large stable employer?

The Actuary has developed four 
key measures which capture the 
essence of the Fund’s strategies, 
both funding and investment:

  Prudence - the Fund should 
have a reasonable expectation of 
being fully funded in the long term;

  Affordability – how much can 
employers afford;

  Stewardship – the assumptions 
used should be sustainable in the 
long term, without having to resort 
to overly optimistic assumptions 
about the future to maintain 
an apparently healthy funding 
position; and

  Stability – employers should 
not see significant moves in their 
contribution rates from one year 
to the next, to help provide a more 
stable budgeting environment.

The key problem is that the key 
objectives often conflict. For 
example, minimising the long term 
cost of the scheme (i.e. keeping 
employer rates affordable) is best 
achieved by investing in higher 
returning assets e.g. equities.  
However, equities are also very 
volatile (i.e. go up and down fairly 
frequently in fairly large moves), 
which conflicts with the objective 
to have stable contribution rates.

Therefore, a balance needs to 
be maintained between risk 
and reward, which has been 
considered by the use of Asset 
Liability Modelling: this is a set of 
calculation techniques applied by 
the Fund’s actuary to model the 
range of potential future solvency 
levels and contribution rates.

The Actuary was able to model 
the impact of these four key 
areas, for the purpose of setting 
a stabilisation approach (see 
3.3 Note (b)). The modelling 
demonstrated that retaining the 
present investment strategy, 
coupled with constraining 
employer contribution rate 
changes as described in 3.3 Note 
(b), struck an appropriate balance 
between the above objectives.  
In particular the stabilisation 
approach currently adopted 
meets the need for stability of 
contributions without jeopardising 

the Administering Authority’s aims 
of prudent stewardship of the 
Fund.  

Whilst the current stabilisation 
mechanism is to remain in place 
until 2020, it should be noted 
that this will need to be reviewed 
following the 2019 valuation.

4.5 Does the Fund monitor its 
overall funding position?

The Administering Authority 
monitors the relative funding 
position, i.e. changes in the 
relationship between asset values 
and the liabilities value, annually. It 
reports this to the regular Pensions 
Committee meetings, and also to 
employers via e-mail, Employers 
Forums and its Annual General 
Meeting.

5. Statutory reporting and 
comparison to other LGPS 
Funds

5.1 Purpose

Under Section 13(4)(c) of the 
Public Service Pensions Act 2013 
(“Section 13”), the Government 
Actuary’s Department must, 
following each triennial actuarial 
valuation, report to the Department 
of Communities & Local 
Government (DCLG) on each 
of the LGPS Funds in England 
& Wales. This report will cover 
whether, for each Fund, the rate of 
employer contributions are set at 
an appropriate level to ensure both 
the solvency and the long term 
cost efficiency of the Fund.  

This additional DCLG oversight 
may have an impact on the 
strategy for setting contribution 
rates at future valuations.

5.2 Solvency

For the purposes of Section 13, 
the rate of employer contributions 
shall be deemed to have been set 
at an appropriate level to ensure 
solvency if:

Page 161



105  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

(a) the rate of employer 
contributions is set to target 
a funding level for the Fund of 
100%, over an appropriate time 
period and using appropriate 
actuarial assumptions (where 
appropriateness is considered in 
both absolute and relative terms in 
comparison with other funds); and 
either 

(b) employers collectively have 
the financial capacity to increase 
employer contributions, and/
or the Fund is able to realise 
contingent assets should future 
circumstances require, in order to 
continue to target a funding level 
of 100%; or

(c) there is an appropriate plan in 
place should there be, or if there 
is expected in future to be, a 
material reduction in the capacity 
of fund employers to increase 
contributions as might be needed.  

5.3 Long Term Cost Efficiency

The rate of employer contributions 
shall be deemed to have been set 
at an appropriate level to ensure 
long term cost efficiency if:

i. the rate of employer 
contributions is sufficient to make 

provision for the cost of current 
benefit accrual,

ii. with an appropriate adjustment 
to that rate for any surplus or 
deficit in the Fund.

In assessing whether the above 
condition is met, DCLG may 
have regard to various absolute 
and relative considerations.  A 
relative consideration is primarily 
concerned with comparing LGPS 
pension funds with other LGPS 
pension funds.  An absolute 
consideration is primarily 
concerned with comparing Funds 
with a given objective benchmark.

Relative considerations include:

1. the implied deficit recovery 
period; and

2. the investment return required 
to achieve full funding after 20 
years. 

Absolute considerations include:

1. the extent to which the 
contributions payable are sufficient 
to cover the cost of current benefit 
accrual and the interest cost on 
any deficit;

2. how the required investment 
return under “relative 
considerations” above compares 
to the estimated future return 
being targeted by the Fund’s 
current investment strategy; 

3. the extent to which 
contributions actually paid have 
been in line with the expected 
contributions based on the extant 
rates and adjustment certificate; 
and 

4. the extent to which any new 
deficit recovery plan can be directly 
reconciled with, and can be 
demonstrated to be a continuation 
of, any previous deficit recovery 
plan, after allowing for actual Fund 
experience. 

DCLG may assess and compare 
these metrics on a suitable 
standardised market-related basis, 
for example where the local funds’ 
actuarial bases do not make 
comparisons straightforward. 

A1  Why does the Fund need an 
FSS?

The Department for Communities 
and Local Government (DCLG) has 
stated that the purpose of the FSS 
is: 

  “to establish a clear and 
transparent fund-specific 
strategy which will identify how 
employers’ pension liabilities are 
best met going forward;

  to support the regulatory 
framework to maintain as nearly 
constant employer contribution 
rates as possible; and   

  to take a prudent longer-term 
view of funding those liabilities.”

These objectives are desirable 
individually, but may be mutually 
conflicting.

The requirement to maintain 
and publish a FSS is contained 

in LGPS Regulations which 
are updated from time to 
time.  In publishing the FSS the 
Administering Authority has to 
have regard to any guidance 
published by Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) (most recently in 2016) 
and to its Statement of Investment 
Principles / Investment Strategy 
Statement.

This is the framework within 
which the Fund’s actuary carries 

> Appendix A 
Regulatory framework

Page 162



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  106

out triennial valuations to set 
employers’ contributions and 
provides recommendations to the 
Administering Authority when other 
funding decisions are required, 
such as when employers join or 
leave the Fund. The FSS applies 
to all employers participating in the 
Fund.

A2  Does the Administering 
Authority consult anyone on 
the FSS?

Yes. This is required by LGPS 
Regulations. It is covered in more 
detail by the most recent CIPFA 
guidance, which states that the 
FSS must first be subject to 
“consultation with such persons 
as the authority considers 
appropriate”, and should include 
“a meaningful dialogue at officer 
and elected member level with 
council tax raising authorities and 
with corresponding representatives 
of other participating employers”.

In practice, for the Fund, the 
consultation process for this FSS 
was as follows:

a) A draft version of the FSS 
was issued to all participating 
employers in November 2016 for 
comment;

b) Comments were requested 
within 30 days;

c) There was an Employers 
meeting on 1st December 2016 at 
which questions regarding the FSS 
could be raised and answered;

d) Following the end of the 
consultation period the FSS was 
updated where required and then 
published by 1st April 2017.

A3  How is the FSS published?

The FSS is made available through 
the following routes:

  Published on the website, at 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/
pensions/investments

  A copy sent by e-mail to each 
participating employer in the Fund;

  A copy sent to employee/
pensioner representatives;

  A summary issued to all Fund 
members;

  A full copy included in the 
annual report and accounts of the 
Fund;

  Copies sent to investment 
managers and independent 
advisers;

  Copies made available on 
request.

A4  How often is the FSS 
reviewed?

The FSS is reviewed in detail at 
least every three years as part of 
the triennial valuation. This version 
is expected to remain unaltered 
until it is consulted upon as part 
of the formal process for the next 
valuation in 2019. 

It is possible that (usually slight) 
amendments may be needed 
within the three year period. These 
would be needed to reflect any 
regulatory changes, or alterations 
to the way the Fund operates (e.g. 
to accommodate a new class of 
employer). Any such amendments 
would be consulted upon as 
appropriate: 

  trivial amendments would be 
simply notified at the next round of 
employer communications, 

  amendments affecting only 
one class of employer would be 
consulted with those employers, 

  other more significant 
amendments would be subject to 
full consultation.

In any event, changes to the FSS 
would need agreement by the 
Pension Committee and would be 
included in the relevant Committee 
Meeting minutes.

A5  How does the FSS fit into 
other Fund documents?

The FSS is a summary of the 
Fund’s approach to funding 
liabilities.  It is not an exhaustive 
statement of policy on all 
issues, for example there are a 
number of separate statements 
published by the Fund including 
the Statement of Investment 
Principles/Investment Strategy 
Statement, Governance Strategy 
and Communications Strategy.  
In addition, the Fund publishes 
an Annual Report and Accounts 
with up to date information on the 
Fund.  

These documents can be found on 
the web at www.gloucestershire.
gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments

Page 163

www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments


107  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

The efficient and effective 
operation of the Fund needs 
various parties to each play their 
part.

B1  The Administering Authority 
should:-

1.  operate the Fund as per the 
LGPS Regulations;

2.  effectively manage any potential 
conflicts of interest arising from 
its dual role as Administering 
Authority and a Fund employer;

3.  collect employer and employee 
contributions, and investment 
income and other amounts due to 
the Fund;

4.  ensure that cash is available 
to meet benefit payments as and 
when they fall due;

5.  pay from the Fund the relevant 
benefits and entitlements that are 
due;

6.  invest surplus monies (i.e. 
contributions and other income 
which are not immediately needed 
to pay benefits) in accordance 
with the Fund’s Statement of 
Investment Principles/Investment 
Strategy Statement (SIP/ISS) and 
LGPS Regulations;

7.  communicate appropriately 
with employers so that they fully 
understand their obligations to the 
Fund;

8.  take appropriate measures to 
safeguard the Fund against the 
consequences of employer default;

9.  manage the valuation process 
in consultation with the Fund’s 
actuary;

10.   provide data and information 
as required by the Government 
Actuary’s Department to carry 
out their statutory obligations (see 
Section 5);

11.   prepare and maintain a FSS 
and a SIP/ISS, after consultation; 

12.   notify the Fund’s actuary of 
material changes which could 
affect funding (this is covered in 
a separate agreement with the 
actuary); and 

13.   monitor all aspects of the 
fund’s performance and funding 
and amend the FSS and SIP/ISS 
as necessary and appropriate.

B2  The Individual Employer 
should:-

1. deduct contributions from 
employees’ pay correctly;

2. pay all contributions, including 
their own as determined by the 
actuary, promptly by the due date;

3. have a policy and exercise 
discretions within the regulatory 
framework;

4. make additional contributions 
in accordance with agreed 
arrangements in respect of, for 
example, augmentation of scheme 
benefits, early retirement strain; 
and 

5. notify the Administering 
Authority promptly of all changes 
to its circumstances, prospects or 
membership.

B3  The Fund Actuary should:-

1.  prepare valuations, including 
the setting of employers’ 
contribution rates. This will involve 
agreeing assumptions with the 
Administering Authority, having 
regard to the FSS and LGPS 
Regulations, and targeting each 
employer’s solvency appropriately; 

2.  provide data and information 
as required by the Government 
Actuary’s Department to carry 
out their statutory obligations (see 
Section 5);

3.  provide advice relating to new 
employers in the Fund, including 
the level and type of bonds or 
other forms of security (and the 
monitoring of these);

4.  prepare advice and calculations 
in connection with bulk transfers 
and individual benefit-related 
matters;

5.  assist the Administering 
Authority in considering possible 
changes to employer contributions 
between formal valuations, where 
circumstances suggest this may 
be necessary;

6.  advise on the termination of 
employers’ participation in the 
Fund; and

7.  fully reflect actuarial 
professional guidance and 
requirements in the advice given to 
the Administering Authority.

B4  Other parties:-

1.  investment advisers (either 
internal or external) should ensure 
the Fund’s SIP/ISS remains 
appropriate, and consistent with 
this FSS;

2.  investment managers, 
custodians and bankers should 
all play their part in the effective 
investment (and dis-investment) of 
Fund assets, in line with the SIP/
ISS;

3.  auditors should comply 
with their auditing standards, 
ensure Fund compliance with all 
requirements, monitor and advise 
on fraud detection, and sign 
off annual reports and financial 
statements as required;

4.  governance advisers may 
be appointed to advise the 
Administering Authority on efficient 
processes and working methods in 
managing the Fund;

> Appendix B 
Responsibilities of key parties

Page 164



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  108

5.  legal advisers (either internal 
or external) should ensure the 
Fund’s operation and management 
remains fully compliant with all 
regulations and broader local 
government requirements, 
including the Administering 
Authority’s own procedures.

6.  the Department for 
Communities and Local 
Government (assisted by 
the Government Actuary’s 
Department) and the Scheme 
Advisory Board, should work with 
LGPS Funds to meet Section 13 
requirements.

C1 Types of risk 

The Administering Authority has an active risk management programme in place. The measures that it has in 
place to control key risks are summarised below under the following headings: 

 financial; 
 demographic; 
 regulatory; and 
 governance.

C2  Financial risks

> Appendix C 
Key risks and controls

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

Fund assets fail to deliver 
returns in line with the 
anticipated returns underpinning 
valuation of liabilities over the 
long-term.

Only anticipate long-term return on a relatively prudent basis to reduce 
risk of under-performing.

Assets invested on the basis of specialist advice, in a suitably diversified 
manner across asset classes, geographies, managers, etc.

Analyse progress at three yearly valuations for all employers.  

Inter-valuation roll-forward of liabilities between valuations at whole 
Fund level.   

Inappropriate long-term 
investment strategy.

Overall investment strategy options considered as an integral part of 
the funding strategy. Used asset liability modelling to measure four key 
outcomes.  

Chosen option considered to provide the best balance.

Fall in risk-free returns on 
Government bonds, leading to 
rise in value placed on liabilities.

Stabilisation modelling at whole Fund level allows for the probability of 
this within a longer term context.  

Inter-valuation monitoring, as above.

Some investment in bonds helps to mitigate this risk.  

Active investment manager 
under-performance relative to 
benchmark.

Quarterly investment monitoring analyses market performance and 
active managers relative to their index benchmark.  

Page 165



109  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

Pay and price inflation 
significantly more than 
anticipated.

The focus of the actuarial valuation process is on real returns on assets, 
net of price and pay increases. 

Inter-valuation monitoring, as above, gives early warning. 

Some investment in bonds also helps to mitigate this risk.  

Employers pay for their own salary awards and should be mindful of the 
geared effect on pension liabilities of any bias in pensionable pay rises 
towards longer-serving employees.  

Effect of possible increase in 
employer’s contribution rate on 
service delivery and admission/
scheduled bodies

An explicit stabilisation mechanism has been agreed as part of the 
funding strategy. Other measures are also in place to limit sudden 
increases in contributions.

Orphaned employers give rise 
to added costs for the Fund.

The Fund seeks a cessation debt (or security/guarantor) to minimise the 
risk of this happening in the future.

If it occurs, the Actuary calculates the added cost spread pro-rata 
among all employers – (see 3.9).

C2  Financial risks (continued)

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

Pensioners living longer, thus 
increasing cost to Fund.

Set mortality assumptions with some allowance for future increases in 
life expectancy.

The Fund Actuary has direct access to the experience of over 50 LGPS 
funds which allows early identification of changes in life expectancy that 
might in turn affect the assumptions underpinning the valuation.

Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion 
of actively contributing 
employees declines relative to 
retired employees.

Continue to monitor at each valuation, consider seeking monetary 
amounts rather than % of pay and consider alternative investment 
strategies.

Deteriorating patterns of early 
retirements

Employers are charged the extra cost of non ill-health retirements 
following each individual decision.

Employer ill health retirement experience is monitored, and insurance is 
an option.

Reductions in payroll causing 
insufficient deficit recovery 
payments

In many cases this may not be sufficient cause for concern, and will 
in effect be caught at the next formal valuation.  However, there are 
protections where there is concern, as follows:

Employers in the stabilisation mechanism may be brought out of that 
mechanism to permit appropriate contribution increases (see Note (b) to 
3.3).

For other employers, review of contributions is permitted in general 
between valuations (see Note (f) to 3.3) and may require a move in 
deficit contributions from a percentage of payroll to fixed monetary 
amounts.

C3 Demographic risks

Page 166



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  110

C4 Regulatory risks

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

Changes to national pension 
requirements and/or HMRC 
rules e.g. changes arising from 
public sector pensions reform.

The Administering Authority considers all consultation papers issued by 
the Government and comments where appropriate. 

The results of the most recent reforms were built into the 2013 
valuation. Any changes to member contribution rates or benefit levels 
will be carefully communicated with members to minimise possible opt-
outs or adverse actions. 

Time, cost and/or reputational 
risks associated with any DCLG 
intervention triggered by the 
Section 13 analysis 
(see Section 5).

Take advice from Fund Actuary on position of Fund as at prior 
valuation, and consideration of proposed valuation approach relative to 
anticipated Section 13 analysis.

Changes by Government to 
particular employer participation 
in LGPS Funds, leading to 
impacts on funding and/or 
investment strategies.

The Administering Authority considers all consultation papers issued by 
the Government and comments where appropriate. 

Take advice from Fund Actuary on impact of changes on the Fund and 
amend strategy as appropriate.

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

Administering Authority unaware 
of structural changes in an 
employer’s membership (e.g. 
large fall in employee members, 
large number of retirements) 
or not advised of an employer 
closing to new entrants.

The Administering Authority has a close relationship with employing 
bodies and communicates required standards e.g. for submission of 
data. 

The Actuary may revise the rates and Adjustments certificate to 
increase an employer’s contributions between triennial valuations.

Deficit contributions may be expressed as monetary amounts.

Actuarial or investment advice is 
not sought, or is not heeded, or 
proves to be insufficient in some 
way.

The Administering Authority maintains close contact with its specialist 
advisers.

Advice is delivered via formal meetings involving Elected Members, and 
recorded appropriately.

Actuarial advice is subject to professional requirements such as peer 
review.

Administering Authority failing to 
commission the Fund Actuary 
to carry out a termination 
valuation for a departing 
Admission Body.

The Administering Authority requires employers with Best Value 
contractors to inform it of forthcoming changes.

Community Admission Bodies’ memberships are monitored and, if 
active membership decreases, steps will be taken.

C5 Governance risks

Page 167



111  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

An employer ceasing to exist 
with insufficient funding or 
adequacy of a bond.

The Administering Authority believes that it would normally be too late 
to address the position if it was left to the time of departure.

The risk is mitigated by:

 Seeking a funding guarantee from another scheme employer, 
or external body, wherever possible (see Notes (h) and (j) to 3.3).

Alerting the prospective employer to its obligations and encouraging 
it to take independent actuarial advice. 

Vetting prospective employers before admission.

Where permitted under the regulations requiring a bond to protect 
the Fund from various risks.

Requiring new Community Admission Bodies to have a guarantor.

Reviewing bond or guarantor arrangements at regular intervals (see 
Note (f) to 3.3).

Reviewing contributions well ahead of cessation if thought 
appropriate (see Note (a) to 3.3).

C5 Governance risks (continued)

In Section 2 there was a broad 
description of the way in which 
contribution rates are calculated.  
This Appendix considers these 
calculations in much more detail.

All three steps below are 
considered when setting 
contributions (more details are 
given in Section 3 and Appendix 
D:

1. The funding target is 
based on a set of assumptions 
about the future, eg investment 
returns, inflation, pensioners’ 
life expectancies. However, if an 
employer is approaching the end 
of its participation in the Fund 

then it’s funding target may be set 
on a more prudent basis, so that 
it’s liabilities are less likely to be 
spread among other employers 
after it’s cessation of participation;

2. The time horizon required 
is, in broad terms, the period 
over which any deficit is to be 
recovered. A shorter period will 
lead to higher contributions, and 
vice versa (all other things being 
equal). Employers may be given 
a lower time horizon if they have 
a less permanent anticipated 
membership, or do not have 
tax-raising powers to increase 
contributions if investment returns 
under-perform;

3. The required probability of 
achieving the funding target over 
that time horizon will be dependent 
on the Fund’s view of the strength 
of employer covenant and its 
funding profile. Where an employer 
is considered to be weaker, or 
potentially ceasing from the Fund, 
then the required probability will 
be set higher, which in turn will 
increase the required contributions 
(and vice versa).

The calculations involve actuarial 
assumptions about future 
experience, and these are 
described in detail in Appendix E.

> Appendix D 
The calculation of Employer contributions

Page 168



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  112

D1  What is the difference 
between calculations 
across the whole Fund and 
calculations for an individual 
employer?

Employer contributions are 
normally made up of two elements:

a) the estimated cost of ongoing 
benefits being accrued, referred to 
as the “Primary contribution rate” 
(see D2 below); plus

b) an adjustment for the difference 
between the Primary rate above, 
and the actual contribution the 
employer needs to pay, referred 
to as the “Secondary contribution 
rate” (see D3 below). 

The contribution rate for each 
employer is measured as above, 
appropriate for each employer’s 
funding position and membership. 
The whole Fund position, including 
that used in reporting to DCLG 
(see section 5), is calculated 
in effect as the sum of all the 
individual employer rates. DCLG 
currently only regulates at whole 
Fund level, without monitoring 
individual employer positions.

D2  How is the Primary 
contribution rate calculated? 

The Primary element of the 
employer contribution rate is 
calculated with the aim that these 
contributions will meet benefit 
payments in respect of members’ 
future service in the Fund. This is 
based upon the cost (in excess 
of members’ contributions) of the 
benefits which employee members 
earn from their service each year.  

The Primary rate is calculated 
separately for all the employers, 
although employers within a pool 
will pay the contribution rate 
applicable to the pool as a whole.  
The Primary rate is calculated such 
that it is projected to:

1. meet the required funding 
target for all future years’ accrual 

of benefits*, excluding any accrued 
assets,

2. within the determined time 
horizon (see note 3.3 Note (c) for 
further details),

3. with a sufficiently high 
probability, as set by the Fund’s 
strategy for the category of 
employer (see 3.3 Note (e) for 
further details).

* The projection is for the current 
active membership where the 
employer no longer admits new 
entrants, or additionally allows 
for new entrants where this is 
appropriate.

The projections are carried out 
using an economic modeller 
developed by the Fund’s actuary 
Hymans Robertson: this allows 
for a wide range of outcomes as 
regards key factors such as asset 
returns (based on the Fund’s 
investment strategy), inflation, 
and bond yields. The measured 
contributions are calculated such 
that the proportion of outcomes 
meeting the employer’s funding 
target (by the end of the time 
horizon) is equal to the required 
probability. 

The approach includes expenses 
of administration to the extent that 
they are borne by the Fund, and 
includes allowances for benefits 
payable on death in service and on 
ill health retirement.

D3  How is the Secondary 
contribution rate calculated?

The combined Primary and 
Secondary rates aim to achieve 
the employer’s funding target, 
within the appropriate time 
horizon, with the relevant degree of 
probability.

For the funding target, the Fund 
actuary agrees the assumptions 
to be used with the Administering 
Authority – see Appendix E. These 
assumptions are used to calculate 

the present value of all benefit 
payments expected in the future, 
relating to that employer’s current 
and former employees, based 
on pensionable service to the 
valuation date only (i.e. ignoring 
further benefits to be built up in the 
future).

The Fund operates the same 
target funding level for all 
employers of 100% of its accrued 
liabilities valued on the ongoing 
basis, unless otherwise determined 
(see Section 3). 

The Secondary rate is calculated 
as the balance over and above the 
Primary rate, such that the total is 
projected to:

1. meet the required funding 
target relating to combined past 
and future service benefit accrual, 
including accrued asset share (see 
D5 overleaf)

2. within the determined time 
horizon (see 3.3 Note (c) for further 
details)

3. with a sufficiently high 
probability, as set by the Fund’s 
strategy for the category of 
employer (see 3.3 Note (e) for 
further details).

The projections are carried out 
using an economic modeller 
developed by the Fund Actuary 
Hymans Robertson: this allows 
for a wide range of outcomes as 
regards key factors such as asset 
returns (based on the Fund’s 
investment strategy), inflation, 
and bond yields. The measured 
contributions are calculated such 
that the proportion of outcomes 
with at least 100% solvency (by 
the end of the time horizon) is 
equal to the required probability. 

D4  What affects a given 
employer’s valuation results?

The results of these calculations 
for a given individual employer will 
be affected by:

Page 169



113  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

1. past contributions relative to 
the cost of accruals of benefits; 

2. different liability profiles of 
employers (e.g. mix of members 
by age, gender, service vs. salary);

3. the effect of any differences 
in the funding target, i.e. the 
valuation basis used to value the 
employer’s liabilities; 

4. any different time horizons;  

5. the difference between actual 
and assumed rises in pensionable 
pay;

6. the difference between actual 
and assumed increases to 
pensions in payment and deferred 
pensions;

7. the difference between actual 
and assumed retirements on 
grounds of ill-health from active 
status;

8. the difference between actual 
and assumed amounts of pension 
ceasing on death;

9. the additional costs of any non 
ill-health retirements relative to any 
extra payments made; and/or

10.  differences in the required 
probability of achieving the funding 
target.

D5  How is each employer’s 
asset share calculated?

Until 31st March 2016 the 
Administering Authority did not 
account for each employer’s 
assets separately. Instead, the 
Fund’s actuary apportioned the 
assets of the whole Fund between 
the employers, at each triennial 
valuation. 

This apportionment uses the 
income and expenditure figures 
provided for certain cash 
flows for each employer. This 
process adjusts for transfers of 
liabilities between employers 

participating in the Fund, 
but does make a number of 
simplifying assumptions. The split 
is calculated using an actuarial 
technique known as “analysis of 
surplus”. 

Actual investment returns 
achieved on the Fund between 
each valuation are applied 
proportionately across all 
employers, to the extent that 
employers in effect share the same 
investment strategy. Transfers of 
liabilities between employers within 
the Fund occur automatically 
within this process, with a sum 
broadly equivalent to the reserve 
required on the ongoing basis 
being exchanged between the two 
employers.   

The Fund actuary does not allow 
for certain relatively minor events, 
including but not limited to:

1. the actual timing of employer 
contributions within any financial 
year;

2. the effect of the premature 
payment of any deferred pensions 
on grounds of incapacity.

These effects are swept up 
within a miscellaneous item in the 
analysis of surplus, which is split 
between employers in proportion 
to their liabilities.

The methodology adopted until 
31st March 2016 meant that there 
were inevitably some difference 
between the asset shares 
calculated for individual employers 
and those that would have resulted 
had they participated in their own 
ring-fenced section of the Fund.  

The asset apportionment was 
capable of verification but not to 
audit standard.  The Administering 
Authority recognised the limitations 
in the process, and while it 
considered that the Fund actuary’s 
approach addressed the risks of 
employer cross-subsidisation to 
an acceptable degree, it decided 

to adopt a different apportionment 
approach going forward.

With effect from 1st April 2016, 
the Fund uses the Hymans 
Robertson Employer Asset 
Tracking model (“HEAT”), which 
apportions assets at individual 
employer level allowing for monthly 
cashflows per employer (e.g. 
contributions received, benefits 
paid out, investment returns, 
transfers in and out, etc). This 
revised approach gives a greater 
degree of accuracy, for employers’ 
benefit.

Page 170



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  114

E1  What are the actuarial 
assumptions?

These are expectations of future 
experience used to place a 
value on future benefit payments 
(“the liabilities”). Assumptions 
are made about the amount of 
benefit payable to members (the 
financial assumptions) and the 
likelihood or timing of payments 
(the demographic assumptions).  
For example, financial assumptions 
include investment returns, salary 
growth and pension increases; 
demographic assumptions include 
life expectancy, probabilities of 
ill-health early retirement, and 
proportions of member deaths 
giving rise to dependants’ benefits.  

Changes in assumptions will affect 
the measured funding target.  
However, different assumptions 
will not of course affect the actual 
benefits payable by the Fund in 
future.

The combination of all 
assumptions is described as the 
“basis”. A more optimistic basis 
might involve higher assumed 
investment returns (discount 
rate), or lower assumed salary 
growth, pension increases or life 
expectancy; a more optimistic 
basis will give lower funding 
targets and lower employer costs. 
A more prudent basis will give 
higher funding targets and higher 
employer costs.

E2  What basis is used by the 
Fund?

The Fund’s standard funding 
basis is described as the “ongoing 
basis”, which applies to most 
employers in most circumstances.  
This is described in more detail 
below. It anticipates employers 
remaining in the Fund in the long 
term.

However, in certain circumstances, 
typically where the employer is not 

expected to remain in the Fund 
long term, a more prudent basis 
applies: see Note (a) to 3.3.

E3  What assumptions are 
made in the ongoing basis?

a) Investment return / discount 
rate

The key financial assumption is the 
anticipated return on the Fund’s 
investments. This “discount rate” 
assumption makes allowance for 
an anticipated out-performance 
of Fund returns relative to long 
term yields on UK Government 
bonds (“gilts”). There is, however, 
no guarantee that Fund returns 
will out-perform gilts. The risk 
is greater when measured over 
short periods such as the three 
years between formal actuarial 
valuations, when the actual returns 
and assumed returns can deviate 
sharply.  

Given the very long-term nature of 
the liabilities, a long term view of 
prospective asset returns is taken.  
The long term in this context would 
be 20 to 30 years or more.  

For the purpose of the triennial 
funding valuation at 31st March 
2016 and setting contribution rates 
effective from 1st April 2017, the 
Fund actuary has assumed that 
future investment returns earned 
by the Fund over the long term 
will be 1.8% per annum greater 
than gilt yields at the time of the 
valuation (this is higher than that 
used at the 2013 valuation, which 
was 1.6%, which produces a 
lower funding target all other things 
being equal). In the opinion of the 
Fund actuary, based on analysis 
discussed with the Fund and the 
current investment strategy, this 
asset out-performance assumption 
is within a range that would be 
considered acceptable for the 
purposes of the funding valuation.

b) Salary growth

Pay for public sector employees 
is currently subject to restriction 
by the UK Government until 2020.  
Although this “pay freeze” does not 
officially apply to local government 
and associated employers, it has 
been suggested that they are 
likely to show similar restraint in 
respect of pay awards. Based on 
long term historical analysis of the 
membership in LGPS funds, and 
continued austerity measures, the 
salary increase assumption at the 
2016 valuation has been set to be 
a blended rate combined of:

1. 1% p.a. until 31st March 2020, 
followed by

2. Increases in line with the retail 
prices index (RPI) per annum  
thereafter.  

This emerges as a blended single 
salary growth assumption of RPI 
less 0.7%. This is a change from 
the previous valuation, which 
assumed a flat assumption of 
RPI plus 0.5% per annum. The 
change has led to a reduction in 
the funding target (all other things 
being equal).

c) Pension increases

Since 2011 the consumer prices 
index (CPI), rather than RPI, has 
been the basis for increases 
to public sector pensions in 
deferment and in payment. Note 
that the basis of such increases is 
set by the Government, and is not 
under the control of the Fund or 
any employers.

As at the previous valuation, 
we derive our assumption for 
RPI from market data as the 
difference between the yield on 
long-dated fixed interest and 
index-linked government bonds.  
This is then reduced to arrive 
at the CPI assumption, to allow 
for the “formula effect” of the 

> Appendix E 
Actuarial assumptions

Page 171



115  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

difference between RPI and CPI.  
At this valuation, we propose a 
reduction of 1.0% per annum.  
This is a larger reduction than at 
2013 (0.8%), which will serve to 
reduce the funding target (all other 
things being equal). (Note that the 
reduction is applied in a geometric, 
not arithmetic, basis).

d) Life expectancy

The demographic assumptions 
are intended to be best estimates 
of future experience in the Fund 
based on past experience of LGPS 
funds which participate in Club 
Vita, the longevity analytics service 
used by the Fund, and endorsed 
by the actuary.  

The longevity assumptions 
that have been adopted at this 
valuation are a bespoke set of 
“VitaCurves”, produced by the 
Club Vita’s detailed analysis, which 
are specifically tailored to fit the 

membership profile of the Fund.  
These curves are based on the 
data provided by the Fund for the 
purposes of this valuation. 

It is acknowledged that future life 
expectancy and, in particular, the 
allowance for future improvements 
in life expectancy, is uncertain.  
There is a consensus amongst 
actuaries, demographers 
and medical experts that life 
expectancy is likely to improve in 
the future. Allowance has been 
made in the ongoing valuation 
basis for future improvements in 
line with the 2013 version of the 
Continuous Mortality Investigation 
model published by the Actuarial 
Profession and a 1.25% per 
annum minimum underpin to future 
reductions in mortality rates.  This 
is a similar allowance for future 
improvements than was made in 
2013.

The combined effect of the above 

changes from the 2013 valuation 
approach, is a slight reduction 
in assumed life expectancy on 
average. The approach taken is 
considered reasonable in light of 
the long term nature of the Fund 
and the assumed level of security 
underpinning members’ benefits.   

e) General

The same financial assumptions 
are adopted for most employers, 
in deriving the funding target 
underpinning the Primary and 
Secondary rates: as described in 
(3.3), these calculated figures are 
translated in different ways into 
employer contributions, depending 
on the employer’s circumstances.

The demographic assumptions, 
in particular the life expectancy 
assumption, in effect vary by type 
of member and so reflect the 
different membership profiles of 
employers.

Actuarial assumptions/basis 
The combined set of assumptions 
made by the actuary, regarding 
the future, to calculate the value 
of the funding target. The main 
assumptions will relate to the 
discount rate, salary growth, 
pension increases and longevity.  
More prudent assumptions will 
give a higher target value, whereas 
more optimistic assumptions will 
give a lower value. 

Administering Authority  
The council with statutory 
responsibility for running the Fund, 
in effect the Fund’s “trustees”.

Admission Bodies  
Employers where there is an 
Admission Agreement setting out 
the employer’s obligations. These 
can be Community Admission 
Bodies or Transferee Admission 
Bodies. For more details (see 2.3).

Covenant 
The assessed financial strength of 
the employer. A strong covenant 
indicates a greater ability (and 
willingness) to pay for pension 
obligations in the long run. A 
weaker covenant means that 
it appears that the employer 
may have difficulties meeting its 
pension obligations in full over the 
longer term.

Designating Employer 
Employers such as town and 
parish councils that are able 
to participate in the LGPS via 
resolution.  These employers 
can designate which of their 
employees are eligible to join the 
Fund.

Discount rate 
The annual rate at which future 
assumed cashflows (in and out of 
the Fund) are discounted to the 

present day. This is necessary to 
provide a funding target which 
is consistent with the present 
day value of the assets. A lower 
discount rate gives a higher target 
value, and vice versa. It is used in 
the calculation of the Primary and 
Secondary rates. 

Employer   
An individual participating body in 
the Fund, which employs (or used 
to employ) members of the Fund. 
Normally the assets and funding 
target values for each employer 
are individually tracked, together 
with its Primary rate at each 
valuation. 

Funding target
The actuarially calculated present 
value of all pension entitlements 
of all members of the Fund, built 
up to date. This is compared with 
the present market value of Fund 

> Appendix F 
Glossary

Page 172



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  116

assets to derive the deficit. It is 
calculated on a chosen set of 
actuarial assumptions.

Gilt 
A UK Government bond, ie a 
promise by the Government to 
pay interest and capital as per 
the terms of that particular gilt, 
in return for an initial payment of 
capital by the purchaser. Gilts 
can be “fixed interest”, where 
the interest payments are level 
throughout the gilt’s term, or 
“index-linked” where the interest 
payments vary each year in line 
with a specified index (usually RPI). 
Gilts can be bought as assets by 
the Fund, but their main use in 
funding is as an objective measure 
of solvency.

Guarantee / Guarantor 
A formal promise by a third party 
(the guarantor) that it will meet 
any pension obligations not met 
by a specified employer. The 
presence of a guarantor will mean, 
for instance, that the Fund can 
consider the employer’s covenant 
to be as strong as its guarantor’s.

Letting employer 
An employer which outsources 
or transfers a part of its services 
and workforce to another 
employer (usually a contractor). 
The contractor will pay towards 
the LGPS benefits accrued by 
the transferring members, but 
ultimately the obligation to pay 
for these benefits will revert to the 
letting employer. A letting employer 
will usually be a local authority, but 
can sometimes be another type of 
employer such as an Academy.

LGPS 
The Local Government Pension 
Scheme, a public sector pension 
arrangement put in place via 
Government Regulations, for 
workers in local government.  
These Regulations also dictate 
eligibility (particularly for Scheduled 
Bodies), members’ contribution 
rates, benefit calculations and 
certain governance requirements.  
The LGPS is divided into 101 
Funds which map the UK. Each 
LGPS Fund is autonomous to the 
extent not dictated by Regulations, 

e.g. regarding investment strategy, 
employer contributions and choice 
of advisers. 

Maturity 
A general term to describe a Fund 
(or an employer’s position within 
a Fund) where the members are 
closer to retirement (or more 
of them already retired) and 
the investment time horizon is 
shorter. This has implications 
for investment strategy and, 
consequently, funding strategy. 

Members 
The individuals who have built 
up (and may still be building up) 
entitlement in the Fund. They 
are divided into actives (current 
employee members), deferreds 
(ex-employees who have not 
yet retired) and pensioners (ex-
employees who have now retired, 
and dependants of deceased 
ex-employees). 

Primary contribution rate The 
employer contribution rate required 
to pay for ongoing accrual of 
active members’ benefits (including 
an allowance for administrative 
expenses). See Appendix D for 
further details.

Profile 
The profile of an employer’s 
membership or liability reflects 
various measurements of that 
employer’s members, i.e. current 
and former employees. This 
includes: the proportions which are 
active, deferred or pensioner; the 
average ages of each category; 
the varying salary or pension 
levels; the lengths of service of 
active members vs. their salary 
levels, etc. A membership (or 
liability) profile might be measured 
for its maturity also.

Rates and Adjustments 
Certificate 
A formal document required by the 
LGPS Regulations, which must be 
updated at least every three years 
at the conclusion of the formal 
valuation. This is completed 
by the actuary and confirms the 
contributions to be paid by each 
employer (or pool of employers) 
in the Fund for the three year 

period until the next valuation is 
completed.

Scheduled Bodies  
Types of employer explicitly 
defined in the LGPS Regulations, 
whose employers must be offered 
membership of their local LGPS 
Fund. These include Councils, 
colleges, universities, academies, 
police and fire authorities etc, 
other than employees who have 
entitlement to a different public 
sector pension scheme (e.g. 
teachers, police and fire officers, 
university lecturers). 

Secondary contribution 
rate 
The difference between the 
employer’s actual and Primary 
contribution rates. In broad 
terms, this relates to the shortfall 
of its asset share to its funding 
target. See Appendix D for further 
details.

Stabilisation 
Any method used to smooth out 
changes in employer contributions 
from one year to the next.  This 
is very broadly required by the 
LGPS Regulations, but in practice 
is particularly employed for large 
stable employers in the Fund.  
Different methods may involve: 
probability-based modelling 
of future market movements; 
longer deficit recovery periods; 
higher discount rates; or some 
combination of these. 

Valuation 
An actuarial investigation to 
calculate the liabilities, future 
service contribution rate and 
common contribution rate for 
a Fund, and usually individual 
employers too. This is normally 
carried out in full every three years 
(last done as at 31 March 2016), 
but can be approximately updated 
at other times. The assets value 
is based on market values at the 
valuation date, and the liabilities 
value and contribution rates are 
based on long term bond market 
yields at that date also.

Page 173



117  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

In accordance with regulation 62(4) 
of the Regulations, the Actuary 
has made an assessment of the 
contributions that should be paid 
into the Fund by participating 
employers for the period 1st April 
2017 to 31st March 2020 in order 
to maintain the solvency of the 
Fund.

The method and assumptions 
used to calculate the contributions 
set out in the Rates and 
Adjustments certificate are detailed 
in the Funding Strategy Statement 
dated 25th February 2017 and the 
Actuary’s report on the actuarial 
valuation dated 31st March 2017.

The required minimum contribution 
rates are set out below.  

The contributions shown include 
expenses and the expected cost 
of lump sum death benefits but 
exclude early retirement strain 
and augmentation costs which 
are payable by Fund employers in 
addition.

   Minimum Contributions For The Year 
   Total Contribution Rate (%/£)

 Employer Code Employer/Pool 2017/18  2018/19  2019/20 

 Gloucestershire County Council and Schools Pool % % %

 1 Gloucestershire County Council* 28.9% plus  29.9% plus 30.9% plus
   £150,000 £150,000 £150,000
 77 Finlay Community School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 79 Oakwood Primary School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 86 Berry Hill Primary School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 87 Grange Primary School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 88 Harewood Junior School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 93 Gardners Lane Primary School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 134 Coopers Edge Primary School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 503 Andoversford County Primary School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 523 BlueCoat C. of E. Primary School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 527 British School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 537 Carrant Brook Junior School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 588 Glebe Infants School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 605 Heron Primary school 28.9 29.9 30.9
 669 Picklenash County Junior 28.9 29.9 30.9
 689 St. Gregory’s R.C. School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 727 Swindon Village County Primary School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 732 Tirlebrook School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 744 Warden Hill Primary School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 760 Cam Woodfield Junior School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 803 Barnwood Park Arts College 28.9 29.9 30.9
 822 Lakers School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 823 Maidenhill School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 826 Pittville School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 827 Rednock School 28.9 29.9 30.9

continued...

Summary Statement to the Rates 
and Adjustments Certificate

Page 174



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  118

   Minimum Contributions For The Year 
   Total Contribution Rate (%/£)

 Employer Code Employer/Pool 2017/18  2018/19  2019/20 

  Town and Parish Councils Pool % % % 

 3 Tewkesbury Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 6 Painswick Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 13 Stonehouse Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 20 Lydney Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 21 Prestbury Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 22 Cirencester Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 34 Cinderford Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 40 Dursley Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 42 Bishops Cleeve Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 46 Charlton Kings Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 48 Tetbury Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 49 Cam Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 50 Nailsworth Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 51 Coleford Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 52 Wotton-under-Edge Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 53 Lechlade Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 55 Northleach with Eastington Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 58 Brockworth Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 59 Cainscross Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 63 Chalford Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 66 Rodborough Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 72 Hucclecote Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 75 Leonard Stanley Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 80 Berkeley Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 168 King’s Stanley Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 189 Leckhampton with Warden Hill Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 443 Newent Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 444 Stroud Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8

 Councils     

 11 Gloucester City Council 17.5% plus  17.5% plus 17.5% plus  
    £2,981,000 £3,232,000 £3,484,000
 7 Cheltenham B.C. 18.3% plus  18.3% plus  18.3% plus  
    £3,135,000 £3,563,000 £3,937,000
 19 Cotswold D.C. 17.9% plus 17.9% plus 17.9% plus 
    £1,468,000 £1,663,000 £1,858,000 
 12 Forest of Dean D.C. 17.9% plus 17.9% plus 17.9% plus 
    £1,634,000 £1,825,000 £2,016,000 
 14 Stroud D.C. 18.0% plus 18.0% plus 18.0% plus 
    £1,995,000 £2,270,000 £2,544,000 
 18 Tewkesbury B.C. 17.5% plus 17.5% plus 17.5% plus 
    £1,583,000 £1,775,000 £1,968,000

continued...

Page 175



119  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

continued...

   Minimum Contributions For The Year 
   Total Contribution Rate (%/£)

 Employer Code Employer/Pool 2017/18  2018/19  2019/20 

 Colleges and University  % % % 

 16 University of Gloucestershire 16.9% plus  18.5% plus 20.1% plus  
    £1,003,000 £1,028,000 £1,053,000
 900 Gloucestershire College** 19.2% plus  19.2% plus  19.2% plus  
    £603,000 £618,000 £632,000 
 905 Cirencester Tertiary College 22.3% plus 22.7% plus 23.2% plus 
    £25,000 £51,000 £78,000 
 904 Hartpury College 20.4% plus 20.7% plus 20.9% plus 
    £52,000 £106,000 £163,000 

  Scheduled Bodies  

 17 Lower Severn Internal Drainage Board 26.3% plus 26.3% plus 26.3% plus  
    £57,000 £57,000 £57,000 
  35 Police and Crime Commissioner 17.8% plus 17.8% plus 17.8% plus
   for Gloucestershire £823,000 £988,000 £1,152,000

  Admitted Bodies 

 160 Apcoa 26.4 26.4 26.4
 76 Aspire Sports and Cultural Trust 14.9 14.9 14.9
 41 Bromford Group *** 31.8% plus  31.8% plus  31.8% plus
    £851,000 £871,000 £893,000 
 176 Carers Gloucestershire 31.0 31.0 31.0
   (GCC - Carers-Advice and Support)
 172 Carers Gloucestershire  28.2% plus 28.2 28.2
   (GCC - Parent Partnership) £10,000 
 61 Cheltenham Borough Homes Ltd 18.0 18.0 18.0
 186 Cheltenham Leisure and Culture Trust  23.7% plus  23.7% plus  23.7% plus 
    £3,000 £3,000 £3,000 
 153 Civica (FODDC) 29.6 29.6 29.6
 136 Civica (GLOS) 27.4 27.4 27.4
 410 Cotswold Archaeological Trust Ltd. 29.8 29.8 29.8
 65 Cotswold Conservation Board 21.1 21.6 22.0
 73 Enterprise (AOL) Ltd 19.7 19.7 19.7
 180 Farmor’s Sports Centre Limited 36.6 36.6 36.6
 192 Forest of Dean DC - Ubico 25.3 25.3 25.3
 184 GCC Highways - Amey 28.8 28.8 28.8
 190 Gloucester City Homes Trust 24.0 24.0 24.0
 185 Gloucester City IT - Civica 26.6% plus 26.6% plus 26.6% plus 
    £4,000 £4,000 £4,000
 442 Gloucestershire Airport Ltd. 30.7% plus  30.7% plus  30.7% plus
    £352,000 £361,000 £370,000 
 62 Gloucestershire Care Services  25.8 25.8 25.8
   NHS Trust (ex PCT)
 37 Gloucestershire Group Homes 32.8 32.8 32.8
 170 INTO (University of Gloucester) 31.1 31.1 31.1
 195 Kiddywinks (GCC - St Catherine’s 20.2 20.2 20.2
   Catholic Primary After School)

Page 176



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  120

continued...

   Minimum Contributions For The Year 
   Total Contribution Rate (%/£)

 Employer Code Employer/Pool 2017/18  2018/19  2019/20 

    % % % 

 159 Prospects Services 22.1 22.1 22.1
 47 Severn Vale Housing Society 30.2% plus 30.2% plus 30.2% plus
    £500,000 £500,000 £500,000
 181 Sir William Romney Leisure Limited 41.4 41.4 41.4
 178 Sport Leisure Management (SLM) Ltd 25.3% plus 25.3 25.3
    £1,000
 31 Stroud Court Community Trust 31.3 31.3 31.3
 191 Tewkesbury BC - Ubico 23.6 23.6 23.6
 64 The Order of St. John Care Trust 31.9 31.9 31.9
 194 Tinies UK (Glos College) 24.2 24.2 24.2
 60 Two Rivers Housing 18.1 18.1 18.1
 140 Ubico - Cheltenham Waste 23.1 23.1 23.1
 141 Ubico - Cotswold Waste 22.5 22.5 22.5
 196 Wealden Leisure (Forest of Dean DC - Leisure) 23.8 23.8 23.8

  Academies  

 127 All Saints Academy  25.6 26.7 27.8
 96 Balcarras School 27.0 27.9 28.9
 158 Blockley CofE Primary School 27.1 27.7 28.4
 157 Bourton on the Water 27.2 27.2 27.2
 142 Brockworth Primary School 23.9 24.3 24.6
 173 CCT Learning  21.3 23.6 26.0
 107 Charlton Kings Infant 27.5 27.5 27.5
 108 Charlton Kings Junior 31.9 31.9 31.9
 102 Cheltenham Bournside 30.3 31.1 31.8
 109 Chipping Campden 28.1 28.7 29.3
 97 Chosen Hill School 29.4 30.6 31.8
 151 Christ Church CofE Primary (Cheltenham) 26.1 26.1 26.1
 135 Churchdown Secondary 33.9 34.1 34.3
 117 Churchdown Village Infants 24.6 24.6 24.6
 98 Cirencester Deer Park 27.6 27.9 28.1
 110 Cirencester Kingshill 24.0 25.6 27.1
 103 Cleeve School 25.7 26.7 27.6
 128 Dene Magna 33.2 33.2 33.2
 118 Farmors 27.4 28.8 30.2
 129 Field Court Infant 26.9 26.9 26.9
 130 Field Court Junior 33.3 31.7 30.1
 143 Forest High School (formerly Forest 29.7 30.2 30.8
   E-Act Academy)
 156 Forest View Primary 30.9 31.6 32.3
 84 Gloucester Academy 28.4 29.9 31.4
 116 Gloucester Learning Alliance (Bishops Cleeve) 25.8 26.5 27.2
 122 Gloucester Learning Alliance (Rowanfield Junior) 24.2 25.6 27.0

Page 177



121  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

   Minimum Contributions For The Year 
   Total Contribution Rate (%/£)

 Employer Code Employer/Pool 2017/18  2018/19  2019/20 

    % % %
 115 Gloucester Learning Alliance (Springbank) 23.5 24.7 25.8
 119 Gotherington 37.1 38.3 39.6
 144 Greenfield Academy 32.4 34.9 37.4
 139 Gretton Primary 26.8 27.2 27.5
 100 High School for Girls 29.7 32.2 34.7
 120 Highnam C of E 25.7 25.8 25.9
 111 Katharine Lady Berkeleys 31.7 32.3 32.8
 112 Marling School 26.5 27.4 28.2
 137 Millbrook Academy 26.0 26.5 27.0
 179 Mitton Manor Primary School 26.3 27.7 29.1
 145 Newent Community School Academy 28.1 29.4 30.6
 146 Offas Mead Primary 29.5 29.5 29.5
 174 Our Co-Op Academy Trust (Beaufort) 29.6 32.1 34.6
 95 Pate’s Grammar School 27.7 27.9 28.0
 147 Peak Academy 28.2 29.3 30.4
 121 Redmarley C of E 30.1 30.1 30.1
 104 Ribston Hall High 28.5 29.2 29.8
 101 Robinswood Primary 26.1 26.1 26.1
 126 Severn Vale 26.3 28.2 30.2
 148 Severn View Primary Academy 30.7 31.2 31.7
 154 Severnbanks Primary School 31.2 31.7 32.3
 85 Sir Thomas Rich’s 30.4 31.6 32.8
 113 Sir William Romney 30.7 30.7 30.7
 155 St David’s Primary School 24.2 24.7 25.3
 131 St Dominics Catholic Primary 30.6 32.6 34.6
 149 St Johns CofE Coleford 28.4 28.4 28.4
 123 St Mary’s Catholic Primary 24.3 25.1 25.8
 124 St Peter’s High School and Sixth Form 29.8 30.8 31.8
 125 Staunton Corse  29.3 29.5 29.7
 171 Stone with Woodford CofE Primary School 30.3 32.1 33.8
 106 Stroud High School 26.9 28.4 29.9
 138 Tewkesbury School 29.2 30.1 31.0
 94 The Cotswold School 28.7 29.0 29.3
 99 The Crypt School 24.7 25.3 25.9
 152 The Dean Academy 31.3 32.7 34.2
 193 Diocese of Gloucester Academies Trust  17.8 17.8 17.8
   (Central Staff) 
 169 The Diocese of Gloucester Academies  28.4 28.9 29.4
   (Dursley CofE) 
 188 The Diocese of Gloucester Academies  29.6 29.8 30.1
   (Hardwicke) 
 197 The Diocese of Gloucester Academies  32.6 32.6 32.6
   (Longney CofE) 

continued...

Page 178



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  122

* These rates include an additional payment of £150k p.a. relating 
to the former Prospects Services contract.

**These rates are only applicable subject to a charge being 
placed on the College’s property by 30 September 2017 equal to 
the funding deficit at 31 March 2016.

***The above Secondary contributions for Bromford Housing 
Group may be superseded if an appropriate legal agreement 

is signed by both the employer and the Fund during 2017/18: 
in that situation, the Secondary rate for 2017/18 would be 
£1,100,000, and the Secondary amounts for the subsequent 
two years would be nil. This is on the basis of advice provided by 
the Fund Actuary to the Administering Authority, conditional on 
appropriate terms being agreed.

Further comments

Regulation (62(8) requires a 
statement of the assumptions 
on which the certificate is given 
regarding the number of members, 
and the associated liabilities 
arising, who will become entitled 
to payment of pension under the 
regulations of the LGPS. These 
assumptions can be found in 
Appendix E of the 31st March 
2016 formal valuation report 
dated 31st March 2017. These 
assumptions cover members 
who become entitled to payment 
of pension via normal retirement 
and ill health retirement. Further 
members will become entitled 
due to involuntary early retirement 
(for redundancy and efficiency 
reasons) for which no allowance 
has been made.

Contributions expressed as 
a percentage of pensionable 

payroll and monetary amounts 
should be paid into the Fund at a 
frequency in accordance with the 
requirements of the Regulations.

Further sums should be paid to 
the Fund to meet the costs of any 
early retirements, excess salary 
increases and/or augmentation 
using methods, calculations and 
factors specified by us from time 
to time.

Further sums may be required to 
be paid to the Fund by employers 
to meet the capital costs of 
any ill-health retirements that 
exceed those included within my 
assumptions.

The certified contribution rates 
represent the minimum level 
of contributions to be paid.  
Employing authorities may pay 
further amounts at any time and 
future periodic contributions may 

be adjusted on a basis approved 
by the Fund actuary.

The monetary contributions set 
out in the certificate previously 
can be repaid in advance with 
appropriate adjustments for 
interest as and when agreed with 
the Administering Authority. Under 
these circumstances a revised 
Rates and Adjustments certificate 
may be issued reflecting any 
advance payments.

Ill health liability insurance

Note that, if an employer has ill 
health liability insurance in place 
with a suitable insurer and provides 
satisfactory evidence to the 
administering authority, then their 
Minimum Total Contribution Rate 
may be reduced by the minimum 
of their insurance premium and ill 
health budget, for the period the 
insurance is in place.

   Minimum Contributions For The Year 
   Total Contribution Rate (%/£)

 Employer Code Employer/Pool 2017/18  2018/19  2019/20 

    % % %
 187 The Diocese of Gloucester Academies 24.8 24.8 24.8
   (Minchinhampton CofE)
 198 The Diocese of Gloucester Academies  30.6 30.6 30.6
   (North Cerney) 
 175 The Diocese of Gloucester Academies  30.1 31.5 32.9
   (Primrose Hill) 
 199 The Diocese of Gloucester Academies  29.3 29.3 29.3
   (Whiteshill) 
 183 The Diocese of Gloucester Academies 26.1 26.6 27.2
   (Winchcombe Abbey)
 150 The Ridge School 22.4 24.1 25.7
 132 The Rosary Catholic Primary 28.6 29.7 30.8
 114 Thomas Keble 28.6 29.4 30.2
 182 Tredworth Infant School 25.5 26.5 27.4
 105 Winchcombe Secondary 31.1 31.7 32.4
 133 Wyedean School 30.3 32.0 33.7 

Page 179



123  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Statement of Investment 
Principles

1. Introduction

The Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) was established in 
accordance with statute to provide 
death and retirement benefits for 
all eligible employees.

The County Council is the 
designated statutory body 
(Administering Authority) 
responsible for administering 
the Gloucestershire LGPS Fund 
on behalf of its scheduled and 
admitted bodies. The Council is 
responsible for setting investment 
policy, appointing suitable persons 
to implement that policy and 
carrying out reviews and monitoring 
of investments and performance.

The Council have delegated 
the duties of the Administering 
Authority to the Pension 
Committee, whose role it is to 
advise the full Council on any 
matter relating to the proper 
management and maintenance of 
the Gloucestershire Pension Fund.

The Committee can appoint invest-
ment advisors and consultants to 
assist them in this role.

The Committee has delegated 
the day-to-day management 
of the Fund’s investments to 
professional investment managers, 
whose activities are governed 
by Investment Management 
Agreements.

The LGPS (Management and 
Investment of Funds) Regulations 

2009 require administering 
authorities to prepare, maintain 
and publish a written statement of 
the principles governing decisions 
about the investment of fund 
money. These regulations also 
require the statement to state the 
extent to which the administering 
authority complies with guidance 
given by the Secretary of State 
and to the extent the authority 
does not so comply, the reasons 
for not complying. This guidance 
consists of the six updated 
Myners’ principles for pension fund 
investment, scheme governance, 
disclosure and consultation as 
detailed in the CIPFA publication 
“investment decision making and 
disclosure”. 

This Statement of Investment 
Principles was last updated at 
August 2012.

2. Investment 
Responsibilities

The Pension Committee’s 
duties in relation to 
investments are:

  To set the investment policies 
of the Fund, including the 
establishment and maintenance 
of a strategic benchmark for 
asset allocation, drawing upon 
appropriate professional advice.

  To appoint and review the 
performance of all Fund Managers 
and associated professional 
service providers.

  To consider any other matter 
relevant to the proper operation 
and management of the Fund.

  To approve and keep under 
review the Funding Strategy 
Statement.

  To approve and keep under 
review the Statement of Investment 
Principles.

  To report annually to County 
Council.

Officers are responsible for:

  Supporting and advising the 
Pension Committee in all the above. 

  Ensuring compliance with all 
relevant investment legislation. 

  Liaising with Investment 
Managers, Custodian and 
Investment Advisors. 

The Investment Managers are 
responsible for:

  The investment of the 
Fund’s assets in compliance 
with the prevailing legislation, 
their investment management 
agreement and this statement.

  Tactical asset allocation around 
the strategic benchmarks set out 
in this statement.

  Stock selection within asset 
classes.

  The Fund’s assets under their 
management. 

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund

The Statement of Investment Principles was in place during the reporting period of these accounts; 
however on the 1st April 2017 it was superseded by an Investment Strategy Statement. 
The Pension Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement is available to view on the County Council’s 
website at www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments

Page 180



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  124

  Constructive shareholder 
engagement and shareholder 
voting in matters of socially 
responsible investment and the 
promotion of good corporate 
governance.

  Providing monthly valuations 
of the Fund’s assets under their 
management with details of all 
transactions during that month.

  Preparation of compliance 
statements with respect to this 
statement insofar as it relates to 
the investment managers’ services 
to the Fund.

The Custodian is responsible for:

  The custody of the Fund’s 
assets. 

  Settlement of all investment 
transactions, collection of all 
income and making tax reclaims.

  Reconciliation of asset, 
transaction and dividend records 
with the investment fund managers.

The Pension Committee appointed 
BNY Mellon as the Fund’s global 
custodian in July 2004. 

The Investment Advisor is 
responsible for:

  Assisting the Pension 
Committee in the selection and 
appointment of investment fund 
managers and custodian.

  Assisting the Pension Committee 
in their regular monitoring of the 
investment managers’ performance.

  Advising on strategic asset 
allocation and benchmarks.

  Advising the Pension 
Committee on investment and 
market developments, corporate 
governance and socially 
responsible investment issues.

The Pension Committee appointed 
an independent investment advisor 
in October 2003.

3. Investment Policy 

The long-term investment 
objectives for the Fund are to:

  Maximise investment returns 
over the long-term within an 
acceptable level of risk judged 
by the Pension Committee to be 
appropriate.

  Ensure that sufficient assets are 
readily available to meet liabilities 
as they fall due.

  Aim for long-term stability in the 
employers’ contribution rates.

  Achieve and maintain funding 
levels at, or close to, 100% of the 
Fund’s liabilities.

The investment style is to appoint 
expert investment managers with 
clear performance benchmarks set 

against specific investment indices, 
and place maximum accountability 
for performance against those 
benchmarks on the investment 
managers.

The Pension Committee has 
approved specialist investment 
mandates covering UK Equity, 
Global Equity, Emerging Market 
Equity, Global Fixed Interest and 
Property (as detailed in the table 
below).

The managers’ fees are either an 
ad valorem fee, i.e. a percentage 
of the value of the funds they 
manage or a combination of an 
ad valorem and a performance 
related fee. The principle of 
performance related fees is based 
on a lower base fee element and 
a performance fee which is paid 
if they achieve or exceed their 
performance target.

Following an asset/liability study 
and a strategy review in 2011 a 
number of changes were made to 
the Fund’s investment strategy and 
strategic asset allocation. These 
involved the following –

  A reduction in UK equities and 
an increase in global equities.

  An increase in emerging market 
equities.

  A change in the benchmark 
index used for global equities.

  A movement of part of the 

Fund’s asset allocation effective from: 1st Dec 1st Dec  1st Dec
 2008 2011 2012
 % % %

UK Equities 25.0 20.0 20.0
Global Equities (including UK & excluding Emerging Markets) 15.0 17.5 17.5
Global Equities (excluding UK & Emerging Markets) 21.3 0.0 0.0
Global Equities (including UK & Emerging Markets) 0.0 23.5 23.5
Pooled Multi Asset  0.0 0.0 5.0
Bonds (Fixed Interest) 25.0 27.0 22.0
Property 10.0 7.5 7.5
Emerging Market Equities 3.7 4.0 4.0
Cash & Venture Capital 0.0 0.5 0.5
Total 100.0 100.0 100.0

Page 181



125  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Fund’s bond (fixed interest) 
portfolio into an absolute return 
bond strategy. 

  Appointment of a property multi 
manager.

  Managing the emerging markets 
portfolio on an index tracking 
rather than an active basis.

There was also a strategic asset 
review in August 2012 which moved 
part of the Fund’s bond (fixed 
interest) portfolio into a pooled multi 
asset (absolute return) fund.

The table on the previous page 
shows the Fund’s current asset 
allocation compared to the previous 
allocations. All figures are shown as 
a percentage of the Fund.

These changes have resulted 
in the Fund’s total exposure 
to Emerging Market equities 
increasing from 3.7% to 7.0%, its 
total exposure to bonds reducing 
from 27.0% to 22.0% and its total 
exposure to UK Equities reducing 
from 26.4% to 23.5%.

The table below details the 
Fund’s managers, their mandates 
and their relevant performance 
benchmarks.

There are also investments with 
Yorkshire Fund Managers, a 
specialist private equity/venture 
capital manager, in two of their 
funds, as follows – 

  South West Region Venture 
Capital Fund - supporting fast 
growing SME’s across the South 
West region. £2.5m maximum 
commitment. 

  Chandos Fund - identifies 
modestly priced, conservatively 
geared businesses which 
can provide medium term 
value growth. £3m maximum 
commitment.

The investment managers may, 
subject to the limitations of 
legislation, their management 
contract and this statement, invest 
in those assets to which their 
specialist mandates relate. This 
enables the Fund to:

  Receive specialist advice from 
the managers on the strategies 
each is following.

  Monitor the performance of the 
asset allocations agreed by the 
Committee as being appropriate to 
the Gloucestershire Fund.

  Develop performance 
benchmarks appropriate to the 
Fund’s objectives.

  Monitor the performance of 
the managers against specific 
performance measures. 

 “Rebalancing” between asset 
classes is considered every 
quarter. Rebalancing will usually be 
achieved through the adjustment 

of the cash flow to each manager, 
but where absolute differences of 
3% or more arise then rebalancing 
will be achieved by moving cash 
between asset classes.

The Fund continues to hold a 
greater proportion of its assets 
in equities, which are currently 
considered to provide the most 
appropriate match with the Fund’s 
liabilities and should provide a 
better long-term return than fixed 
interest investments.

Based on assumptions used by 
the Fund’s actuary, estimated 
returns for the major asset classes 
as at March 2010 were:

Equities 7.8% per annum
Bonds 5.0% per annum
Property 5.8% per annum

4. Performance 
Management

As well as overall Fund 
performance, the Committee 
considers the individual investment 
managers performance against their 
index benchmarks on a quarterly 
basis. In addition, the investment 
advisor and officers are in regular 
contact with investment managers 
over performance. This process 
is also assisted by the Fund’s 
custodian and GS Performance 
Services who review and analyse 
Fund and manager performance.

Mandate Manager Benchmark

UK Equities  Standard Life FTSE All Share
Global Equities inc UK GMO MSCI World Index
Global Equities inc UK BlackRock  MSCI All Countries 
& Emerging Markets  World Index (ACWI)
Pooled Multi Asset Standard Life 6 month Sterling Libor + 5%
Global Fixed Interest Western Asset Composite UK/Overseas
Global Fixed Interest Western Asset 3 month Sterling Libor + 2%
Property Hermes Property Asset Management IPD UK Pooled Property 
  Balanced PUT Index
Property CBRE Investors IPD All Balanced Property 
  Fund Index 
Emerging Markets BlackRock MSCI Emerging Markets Index

Page 182



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  126

5. Risk Management

The Fund controls risk through 
its strategic asset allocation 
policy which achieves a wide 
diversification of investments 
across a selection of managers 
and by monitoring the risk inherent 
in managers’ performance. 
When setting individual 
manager’s performance targets, 
independent advice is taken on 
the appropriateness of the target 
for that portfolio and in relation to 
the Fund’s overall investment and 
funding objectives. Investment 
managers are also required 
to implement appropriate risk 
management measures and 
to operate in such a way that 
the possibility of undershooting 
the performance target is kept 
within acceptable limits. This will 
include an appropriately diversified 
portfolio of holdings.

Investment managers make 
quarterly reports to the Pension 
Committee on investment 
performance, book and market 
values of investments and 
transaction details.

Investment manager performance 
against benchmark is reviewed 
quarterly by the Fund’s custodian 
and GS Performance Services who 
analyse fund performance. There is 
also an annual review of the Fund’s 
performance against benchmarks 
and other Funds.

6. Realisation of 
Investments

The Fund has a positive cash 
flow and therefore has no present 
requirement to realise assets 
in order to meet its liabilities. 
However, the Fund is structured 
so that the majority of investments 
held could be quickly realised if 
required. Investments are sold 
as part of normal investment 
management activities. 

7. Socially Responsible 
Investments (SRI)

With regard to socially responsible 
investment the Committee has to 
take account of the following legal 
principles that apply to all pension 
schemes:

  Administering authorities are 
free to adopt a policy of socially 
responsible investment, providing 
that they treat the financial 
interests of all classes of scheme 
members as paramount and their 
investment policies are consistent 
with the standards of care and 
prudence required by law.

  Administering authorities are 
not entitled to subordinate the 
interests of members to ethical 
or social demands. The financial 
performance of the Fund, proper 
diversification and prudence are 
paramount.

  Administering authorities may 
avoid certain kinds of prudent 
investment which they consider 
scheme members would regard 
as objectionable so long as 
they make equally financially 
advantageous and prudent 
investments elsewhere. They may 
also make “ethical” investments 
provided these are otherwise 
justifiable on investment grounds.

Where the Committee invests in 
a pooled fund it is not possible to 
require the avoidance of certain 
kinds of investments within that 
fund.

As a responsible investor, the 
Pension Committee supports 
corporate social responsibility, 
good practice and improved 
company performance amongst 
all companies in which the Fund 
invests via a segregated fund. 
In furtherance of these policies 
the Committee would wish the 
investment managers to be active 
in their constructive shareholder 
engagement with these companies 
regarding socially responsible 
investment issues but recognises 
this will not be possible where 

an investment manager uses 
quantitative methods of share 
selection without engaging directly 
with companies. 

Issues that should be addressed 
include:

  Environmental issues.
  Employment standards.
  Human rights.
  Community involvement.

Investment managers should 
report such discussions/
involvement as part of their 
quarterly reports to the Pension 
Committee.

8. Corporate Governance

Corporate governance is defined as 
“the system by which companies are 
controlled and directed”. Effective 
corporate governance ensures 
checks and balances in company 
management without restricting 
necessary incentives. Pension 
funds, as major shareholders, 
should promote good corporate 
governance as a means of ensuring 
good performance. The UK Steering 
Committee on Local Government 
Pensions (UKSC), Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA), Pension and Investment 
Research Consultants (PIRC) and 
the National Association of Pension 
Funds (NAPF), all advise pension 
funds to ensure voting rights are 
used to promote good corporate 
governance.

PIRC have established the 
following principles for corporate 
governance policy:

  Shareholders should assume 
the responsibility of ownership.

  Shareholders’ voting rights are 
an asset, which need managing.

  Shareholders’ voting rights 
should be exercised in an informed 
and independent manner.

  Shareholders’ voting policies 
should reflect three main concerns:

Page 183



127  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

  To protect their rights as 
shareholders.

  To ensure that corporate 
governance standards are 
consistent with protecting assets.

  To promote corporate 
governance standards in order 
to enhance long term value.

The Pension Committee supports 
the principles of best practice 
in corporate governance and 
delegates authority to the 
investment managers to exercise 
these voting rights in line with 
NAPF or PIRC or other proxy voting 
guidelines which are detailed in the 
investment managers’ Investment 
Management Agreement.

Investment managers should 
report their voting actions as part 
of their quarterly reports to the 
Pension Committee.

9. Stock Lending

The Pension Fund allows stock 
held within its segregated 
portfolios to be lent out but 
only to borrowers approved by 
the Pension Committee. The 
Committee have agreed a list 
of approved borrowers and this 
lending is managed on behalf of 
the Fund by its global custodian. 
The borrowers are required to 
provide collateral to protect the 
Fund’s assets and the Fund 
receives income from this lending. 

10. Cash Management

The management of Pension 
Fund cash balances not held by 
the Custodian is delegated to 
Gloucestershire County Council’s 
Treasury Management team to 
manage in accordance with their 
Treasury Management Strategy, 
which reflects the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management 
in Public Services.

Pension Fund cash will be invested 
separately from Gloucestershire 
County Council monies, with the 
Fund receiving the actual interest 

earned and bearing the risk of 
any investment. Pension Fund 
investments will mirror the same 
criteria for counterparties, etc., 
as approved by Gloucestershire 
County Council and detailed in their 
Treasury Management Strategy.

In addition, no Pension Fund cash 
will be lent for periods exceeding 3 
months. Also, a minimum of £1.5 
million will be held on call and the 
remaining balance will be managed 
to reflect projected Pension 
Fund cash flows, daily cash 
requirements and the quarterly 
rebalancing of the Pension Fund. 

The Treasury Management team 
will advise officers of actual Pension 
Fund lending activity on a monthly 
basis and will also advise if there 
is any proposed change in their 
Treasury Management Strategy.

11. Compliance

The Statement of Investment 
Principles is available on the 
Pension Fund pages of the 
County Council’s website at www.
gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/
pensions/investments  
and is included in the Pension 
Fund’s Annual Report which 
is published every November.

The Pension Committee will on 
a quarterly basis review:

  The investment performance 
of the Fund, both in total and 
by individual investment fund 
manager.

  The qualitative performance 
of the investment fund managers 
- this will include changes in 
ownership of the organisation, 
changes in personnel managing 
the Fund and the quality and 
timeliness of information from the 
manager.

  The need to re-balance between 
asset classes to maintain the 
strategic asset allocation at its 
agreed level. 

The Pension Committee will 

review the Fund’s strategic asset 
allocations (and associated risks), 
at least every three years, following 
the triennial valuation.

The Pension Committee, 
representing the Administering 
Authority, is required to state the 
extent to which it complies with 
guidance given by the Secretary 
of State on the following six 
Myners’ investment principles:

Response to 
Myners’ Principles

Principle 1:  Effective 
Decision Making

Administering authorities should 
ensure that:

  decisions are taken by persons 
or organisations with the skills, 
knowledge, advice and resources 
necessary to make them effectively 
and monitor their implementation; 
and

  those persons or organisations 
have sufficient expertise to be 
able to evaluate and challenge the 
advice they receive and manage 
conflicts of interest.

Fund Compliance - Full

The Fund has a clear governance 
policy setting out the role of the 
Pension Committee, its officers 
and advisors as well as details 
of equal access to allowances, 
committee papers and training 
and publishes a governance 
compliance statement. 

Account is taken wherever possible 
of relevant skills, experience 
and continuity when making 
appointments to the committee and 
the Chief Financial Officer ensures 
the training needs of committee 
members are identified, an annual 
training plan is prepared and 
training logs are maintained for 
members. The Committee uses the 
skills and knowledge framework 
published by CIPFA when 
developing future training plans and 
uses the CIPFA trustee toolkit.

Page 184

www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments


Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  128

An annual business plan is 
produced and considered by the 
committee which includes major 
milestones, financial estimates, 
key targets and a review of the 
level of resources needed by 
the Committee to carry out its 
functions effectively.

The Committee publishes an 
administration strategy which 
refers to the relationship and 
communication between the 
committee and scheme employers 
as well as its governance policy 
including skills and knowledge.

Principle 2:  Clear 
Objectives

An overall investment objective(s) 
should be set out for the Fund that 
takes account of the scheme’s 
liabilities, the potential impact on 
local taxpayers and the attitude 
to risk of both the Administering 
Authority and scheme employers 
and these should be clearly 
communicated to advisors and 
investment managers.

Fund Compliance - Full

The Fund’s Statement of 
Investment Principles (SIP) and 
Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) 
sets out its investment objectives 
which are agreed after consultation 
with the fund actuary and take 
account of cash flow and the 
fund’s relatively immature liabilities 
and the secure nature of most 
employers’ covenants.

The investment strategy is 
reviewed following the triennial 
valuation with advice from 
specialist independent advisors.

After taking advice from the 
Actuary the Chief Financial Officer 
and the Committee consider 
the impact of funding levels and 
employer contribution rates on 
council tax levels over time and 
aim to keep employer contribution 
rates as stable as possible.

Following discussions with the 

Actuary it has been decided not to 
establish sub funds with different 
investment objectives.

Fund managers are set individual 
performance targets and 
benchmarks based on advice from 
an independent advisor and their 
performance is measured and 
reviewed by the Committee on a 
quarterly basis.

These benchmarks and the Fund’s 
asset allocation are reviewed by 
the Committee, with the most 
recent change in December 2011.

In addition an external strategic 
asset review takes place following 
the triennial actuarial valuation and 
at this stage the Committee will also 
decide whether to commission an 
asset liability modelling study.

When necessary, the external 
procurement of investment 
managers etc. is conducted 
within the EU procurement 
regulations and the authority’s own 
procurement rules.

The Committee are made aware of 
investment management fees and 
other transaction related costs and 
appropriate actions are taken to 
reduce these costs where possible. 

Principle 3:  Risk and 
Liabilities

In setting and reviewing their 
investment strategy, administering 
authorities should take account of 
the form and structure of liabilities.

These include the implications 
for local tax payers, the strength 
of the covenant for participating 
employers, the risk of their default 
and longevity risk.

Fund Compliance – Full

The Committee in setting its 
investment strategy, as detailed in 
its SIP and FSS, has taken account 
of the form and structure of its 
liabilities following advice from the 
fund’s actuary and believes its 
funding and investment policies 

balance the key objectives of 
stability of contributions, affordability 
for employers, transparency of 
process and prudence.

The Fund’s overall long term 
investment target is expressed 
as a return in excess of index 
linked government bonds.  The 
Committee recognises the 
possibility of volatility in market 
conditions and given the 
proportion of equities held by the 
Fund, in the short to medium term, 
accepts returns can fall short of 
the Fund’s investment target.

The Fund’s SIP describes the 
risk assessment process when 
considering current and future 
investments and all the key risks 
relevant to the Pension Fund 
are also detailed in the FSS and 
are maintained on a risk register. 
These risks are considered as part 
of the annual review of the FSS 
by the Committee and if at any 
other time there is a significant 
change in the Fund’s risk profile 
appropriate recommendations to 
mitigate the risk are made to the 
Committee. As part of the triennial 
valuation the Actuary will produce 
a risk assessment relating to the 
valuation of the Fund’s liabilities 
and assets and will analyse and 
advise on factors affecting its long 
term performance.

The Pension Fund Annual Report 
includes an overall risk assessment 
relating to the Fund’s activities.

Principle 4:  Performance 
Assessment

Arrangements should be in place 
for the formal measurement of 
performance of the investments, 
investment managers and advisors.

Administering Authorities 
should also periodically make a 
formal assessment of their own 
effectiveness as a decision-making 
body and report on this to scheme 
members.

Fund Compliance - Full

Page 185



129  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

In addition to overall Fund 
performance, the Committee 
considers the individual investment 
managers performance against 
their index benchmarks on a 
quarterly basis. This quarterly data 
is verified by the Fund’s global 
custodian and by GS Performance 
Services. When appointing a 
new manager the Committee 
takes advice from its independent 
investment advisor and other 
external advisors on the appropriate 
index benchmark to be used and 
to ensure it will support the Fund’s 
overall investment strategy.

The Committee recognises active 
fund management can result 
in performance diverging from 
benchmark and therefore considers 
manager performance over the long 
term. As a minimum this is on a 
rolling 3 year basis but is also from 
inception, which for most managers 
is currently 5 years.

The Fund obtains regular 
performance reports from GS 
Performance Services comparing 
both its overall performance and 
by asset class with other Local 
Government Pension Funds. The 
Fund also receives comparative 
performance data from its global 
custodian.

The Fund’s actuaries and advisors 
are assessed on an ongoing 
basis in relation to cost, quality 
and consistency of advice. The 
Committee will also include its 
own performance expectations 
on e.g. reviews of governance, 
achievement of training and 
attendance targets, in its business 
plan. This assessment will be 
included in the Fund’s Annual 
Report.

Principle 5:  Responsible 
Ownership

Administering Authorities should:

  adopt, or ensure their 
investment managers adopt, 
the Institutional Shareholders’ 
Committee Statement of 

Principles on the responsibilities of 
shareholders and agents.

  include a statement of their 
policy on responsible ownership 
in the Statement of Investment 
Principles.

  report periodically to scheme 
members on the discharge of such 
responsibilities.

Fund Compliance - Full

Where the Institutional Shareholders 
Committee Statement of Principles 
(SCSP) are applicable, the Fund 
ensures its investment managers 
adopt these principles.

The Fund’s policies on socially 
responsible investments (SRI) 
and corporate governance are 
shown in its SIP and the Fund’s 
Annual Report contains details 
of how these responsibilities are 
discharged.

When selecting investment 
managers for appointment and 
once appointed, when discussing 
their subsequent performance, the 
Committee consider the potential 
for environmental, social and 
governance issues to add value.

The Fund delegates authority to 
fund managers to exercise voting 
rights in line with NAPF and PIRC 
guidelines and the managers are 
required to report their voting 
actions as part of their quarterly 
reports to the Committee.

Principle 6: Transparency 
and Reporting

Administering Authorities should:

  act in a transparent manner, 
communicating with stakeholders 
on issues relating to their 
management of investment, its 
governance and risks, including 
performance against stated 
objectives.

  provide regular communication 
to scheme members in the form 
they consider most appropriate.

Fund Compliance - Full

The Fund publishes the following 
policy statements on its website 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
extra/pensions/investments 
and in its Annual Report:

  Statement of Investment 
Principles (SIP).
  Funding Strategy Statement 

(FSS).
  Governance Policy Statement.
  Governance Compliance 

Statement.
  Communications Policy 

Statement.

The Communications Policy 
Statement contains details of 
the Fund’s policy on: providing 
information about the scheme 
to members and employers; the 
format, frequency and method 
of distributing such information; 
the promotion of the scheme to 
prospective members and their 
employing authorities.

In addition to the Annual General 
Meeting held each November 
to which all scheme members 
and employers are invited, the 
Administering Authority holds 
Employer Forums at least twice 
a year and invites all scheme 
employers. 

The SIP fully describes: the 
roles of members, officers, 
investment managers, etc.; the 
investment monitoring process; 
the asset allocation and investment 
returns; individual mandates; fee 
structures.

The Governance Compliance 
Statement details compliance 
with CLG guidance and if not fully 
compliant details why not and a 
copy of the statement is sent to 
CLG.

Page 186

www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments


Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  130

Communications Policy

The following Communications Policy Statement outlines how the 
Fund communicates with scheme members, their representatives and 
employers and was reviewed in July 2017.

All employers are instructed to issue new employees with a pensions 
starter pack provided by the Administering Authority, which provides 
information regarding the pension scheme and the individual’s options 
together with links to where more detailed scheme information can be 
obtained.

Employers are informed of their duty to automatically admit new 
employees, where relevant, unless they specifically request not to.

HR and Payroll Guides to the 2014 Scheme are provided by the Local 
Government Association on the National LGPS 2014 Regulations & 
Guidance website. A link to this information is provided on the Employer 
page of the Fund’s website together with an administration guide to the 
2008 Scheme. 

During 2016/17 the Pension Fund communicated with scheme 
members, their representatives and employers as set out in the 
policy statement below, apart from the annual meeting taking place in 
December rather than November.

> Communications Policy Statement

Various means are employed to 
communicate with the Fund’s 
stakeholders. These are described 
in respect of each interested group 
as shown below:

Members of the Scheme 

An Annual Meeting is held each 
November and provides the main 
opportunity for the Fund to explain 
its performance and accounts 
to members of the Fund and 
employers.

The Fund’s Annual Report is 
also placed on the pension 
pages of the County Council’s 
website. This Report includes all 
of the Fund’s policy statements 
covering Funding Strategy, 
Investment Strategy Statement, 
Governance, Communication 
and Administration. In addition, 

each policy statement is listed 
separately on the website.

All pensioner members receive a 
pension newsletter each May that 
covers matters of interest. 

An annual Benefit Statement is 
sent to all active and deferred 
members of the Fund showing 
their accrued benefits up to the 
end of the previous financial year. 
At this time the opportunity is 
also taken to include information 
on current matters of interest to 
scheme members. 

Information on the scheme and 
changes to it are posted on the 
pension pages of the County 
Council’s website and where 
appropriate these are also posted 
onto the “news” section of the staff 
intranet. 

The Authority continues to send 
payslips to pensioners every April, 
May and October. The October 
pensioner pay slips include an 
invitation to the Fund’s Annual 
Meeting and details on how to 
access the annual report and 
accounts.

Pay slips are also sent where there 
is a material change in the pension 
paid during a particular month. 

All active scheme members are 
sent an invitation to attend the 
Fund’s Annual Meeting, via their 
employer and are given the link 
to the County Council’s website 
to access a copy of the Fund’s 
annual report and accounts. They 
are also given details on how to 
request a paper copy of the annual 
report and accounts. 

Page 187



131  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Prospective Members 
of the Scheme 

All employers are provided with a 
link to the employers’ pages of the 
Fund’s pension website, together 
with instructions on how to supply 
all prospective members of the 
scheme with a pensions pack. 
This pack informs individuals of 
the benefits of the scheme as well 
as details about where they can 
obtain further information. 

When invited by the employing 
authority, Pension’s staff visit 
employers premises to explain 
and promote membership of the 
scheme. 

Scheme Employers 

An online employers’ guide to the 
scheme is made available to all 
new and prospective employers 
via the County Council’s website.

Employers are also consulted on 
revisions to the Funds strategy 
and policy documents - the 
Investment Strategy Statement, 
the Governance Policy and 
Compliance Statements, the 
Administration Strategy, the 
Communication Policy and the 
Funding Strategy Statement. 

Employer forums are held with 
the administering authority at 
least twice yearly to help improve 
understanding of: the pension 
scheme; the employers’ role and 
ways of improving the accuracy 
and timeliness of scheme 
administration. All employers 
are invited to attend. Minutes 
of the meetings and copies of 
any presentations are sent to all 
employers, including those unable 
to attend.

Copies of all relevant 
communications received centrally 
(i.e. from DCLG, Treasury, HMRC, 
LGA, etc.) are circulated to 
employers to ensure they are 
kept informed. These documents 
are often discussed in detail 
at the Employers Forums. In 
addition, communications relating 
to operational requirements 
and changes are circulated to 
employers where required.

Direct dialogue takes place 
between the administering 
authority and employers being 
affected by business transfers 
to ensure trades unions and 
prospective employers understand 
the pension scheme. 

Every three years when the 
triennial valuation takes place 
meetings are arranged with the 

actuary to discuss the outcome 
of the valuation, contribution rates 
and e.g. options around phasing 
in any increase in contribution 
required. 

Quarterly meetings are held with 
the Chief Financial Officers of 
District Councils where there 
is an opportunity for current 
developments and issues to be 
presented and discussed. 

Employee Representation 

The Pension Committee includes 
an employee representative 
nominated by the trades unions, 
as one of its members. The 
employee representative also 
represents pensioners and 
deferred members.

Employee representatives are 
involved in consultation where 
business transfers are proposed. 

Pension Board 

The Gloucestershire Pension 
Board meets at least twice a 
year and includes two employer 
representatives and two employee 
representatives. Members of 
the public are able to attend as 
observers.

Page 188



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  132

Summary of Fund Benefits,  
Membership and Beneficiaries

Introduction

The Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
is administered under the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) Regulations. Benefits 
built up from 1st April 2014 are 
calculated on a Career Average 
Revalued Earnings (C.A.R.E.) 
basis. Benefits accrued prior to 
1st April 2014 continue to be 
protected on a “final salary” basis.

The scheme is open to all eligible 
employees regardless of the hours 
worked and continues to provide 
a comprehensive set of benefits 
for its members. Shown below is a 
summary of the key features of the 
scheme currently in force from 1st 
April 2014. This summary is only 
provided as an illustrative guide 
of some of the key features of the 
scheme and is not intended to give 
details of all the benefits provided, 
or the specific conditions relating 
to the provisions of the scheme.

Enquiries

Enquiries and more detailed 
information on the LGPS can 
be obtained by visiting the 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Pensions website at www.
gloucestershire.gov.uk/
pensions or from the Pensions 
Section at Shire Hall, Gloucester, 
phone (01452) 328888.

Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
Regulations 2013 (as 
amended) – 

Principal Features of the 
Scheme in Force from   
1st April 2014

 Employee Contribution Rate – 
Variable (9 Band Rates) between 
5.5% and 12.5% depending on 
level of earnings.

 Annual Pension and Lump Sum 

 C.A.R.E. Pension based 
on 1/49th of pensionable pay 
attributable to each year of 
membership (index linked by C.P.I.) 
from 1st April 2014 PLUS option 
to exchange up to ¼ of pension 
pot for a lump sum (each £1 of 
pension providing £12 lump sum).

 Any membership between 1st 
April 2008 and 31st March 2014 
will provide a pension based on 
1/60th of final years pensionable 
pay for each year of membership 
PLUS option to exchange up to 
¼ of pension pot for a lump sum 
(each £1 of pension providing £12 
lump sum)

 Any pre 1st April 2008 
membership will provide “standard 
benefits” of a pension based on 
1/80th of final years pensionable 
pay for each year of membership 
PLUS a lump sum of three times 
the pension. There is also the 
option to exchange part of the 
pension to increase the lump sum 
to ¼ of the pension pot (each £1 of 
pension providing £12 lump sum).

 50:50 Option - allowing 
members the option to pay half 
contributions for half pension 
benefits.

 Normal Retirement Date - Later 
of State Pension Age or age 65. 
Member also has the right to retire 
from age 55 (although benefits 
will normally suffer an actuarial 
reduction). 

 Earliest Retirement Date – 
age 55 in cases of – Member 
initiated Early Retirement / Flexible 
Retirement / Redundancy / 
Efficiency of the Service. 

 Ill Health Retirement – early 
payment of benefits (irrespective 
of age) if “permanently” incapable 
of continuing in the employment 
the member was engaged in 
due to medical reasons and 
is not immediately capable 
of undertaking any “gainful 
employment” in the future. Level 
of benefits based on a three tier 
system, depending on likelihood 
of being able to obtain “gainful 
employment”.

 Widows/Widowers & Dependants 
Pensions - Widow(er)s pension 
and/or eligible children’s pensions 
payable in the event of a scheme 
member’s death.

 Partners Pensions – Partner 
pension payable to eligible partner.

 Lump Sum Death Grant - In the 
event of death in service, a lump 
sum death grant of three times 
annual pay is payable.

Page 189

www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/pensions
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/pensions
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/pensions


133  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

  Pensioners Widow(er)s/ Deferreds Contributors
   Dependants 

 County Council (including non  7,657 1,078 11,144 10,204
 academy schools)
 District Councils 2,539 573 2,537 1,489
 Academies 298 19 1,224 3,401
 Colleges 877 90 2,256 1,805
 Other Scheduled Bodies  609 81 856 1,032
 Admitted Bodies 814 65 721 1,055

 Total 12,794 1,906 18,738 18,986

Beneficiaries 
Membership summary by type of employer

 Index Linking - Pensions are 
increased in accordance with 
annual review orders made under 
the Pension (Increase) Act 1971.  
The index currently used for this 
purpose is the Consumer Price 
Index (CPI).

 Additional Pension Benefits 
- In house facilities to increase 
potential benefits by:

 paying additional monthly 
contributions to purchase 
additional pension (to a maximum 
(at 1st April 2014) of £6,500);

 making additional voluntary 
contributions to Prudential’s in-
house AVC arrangement to provide 
an additional pension benefit at 
retirement.

In addition, at 31st March 2017, there were 3,274 undecided leavers; members who are no longer accruing 
service and to whom a refund of contributions or transfer out may be due, and 2,767 unprocessed leavers; 
which could end up becoming Undecided Leavers, Deferreds or aggregated with another record the member 
may hold.

Page 190



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  134

 Scheduled body 145 3 1 147
 Admitted body 40 4 1 43

 Total 185 7 2 190

*Alternatives are taken to mean holdings in private equity, hedge funds, pooled property funds, 
infrastructure funds and derivatives.

** Other denotes assets not falling into any other category such as investments in vehicles 
where the underlying investments may comprise of assets of more than one type.

  Active at New Ceased Total at
  1st April 2016 Actives  31st March 2017

Other Appropriate Material

Employer Summary

Please find listed below a summary of the number of employers in the Fund during 2016/17 analysed by 
scheduled bodies and admitted bodies which were active (with active members) and ceased (no active 
members) during the year.  

 Equities 429.4 983.0 - 1,412.4
 Bonds 262.7 153.0 - 415.7
 Property (direct holdings) - - - -
 Alternatives* 132.8 13.3 - 146.1
 Cash and cash equivalents 31.6 6.2 - 37.8
 Other** - - 76.6 76.6

 Total 856.5 1,155.5 76.6 2,088.6

  UK Non UK Global Total
  £m £m £m £m

Analysis of Fund Assets as at 31st March 2017

 Equities 11,527 38 - 11,565
 Bonds 7,826 1,053 - 8,879
 Property (direct holdings) - - - -
 Alternatives* 6,483 143 - 6,626
 Cash and cash equivalents 177 9 - 186

 Total 26,013 1,243 - 27,256

  UK Non UK Global Total
  £000 £000 £000 £000

Analysis of Investment Income Accrued During the Reporting Period

Page 191



135  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Accrual

An amount to cover income or spending 
that has not yet been paid but which 
belongs to that accounting period.

Actuary

An advisor on financial questions involving 
probabilities relating to mortality and other 
contingencies. Every three years the 
Scheme appointed actuary reviews the 
assets and the liabilities of the Fund and 
reports to the Strategic Finance Director 
(and Section 151 Officer) on the financial 
position. This is known as the triennial 
actuarial valuation.

Active Investment Management

A style of investment management where 
the fund manager aims to outperform a 
benchmark by superior asset allocation, 
market timing or stock selection (or by 
a combination of each).

Admitted Body

An organisation that chooses and is 
allowed by the scheme to be admitted to 
the LGPS using an Admission Agreement 
in order to provide access to the scheme 
for some or all of its employees.

Additional Voluntary Contributions 
(AVC’s)

Contributions over and above a member’s 
normal contributions which the member 
elects to pay in order to secure additional 
benefits.

Augmentation

This is when extra pension benefits can 
be bought for a pension scheme member. 
They are usually paid for by the employer 
or the pension scheme.

Benchmark

A target or measure against which 
performance is to be judged, which is 
commonly used to assess the investment 
performance of a fund or portfolio. 

Bid/Offer/Mid Price

Bid - The price at which a Market-maker 
or dealer is prepared to buy securities or 
other assets. 
Offer - The price at which a Market-maker 
or dealer is prepared to sell securities or 
other assets. 
Mid - The average of the current bid and 
offer price.

Bond

Certificate of debt issued by a Government 

or company, promising regular payments 
on a specified date or range of dates, 
usually with final capital payment at 
redemption.

Consumer Price Index (CPI)

Measure of price inflation in the UK. Differs 
from the RPI in the particular households 
it represents, the range of goods and 
services included, and the way the index 
is constructed.

Deferred Retirement Benefit

A retirement benefit that a member has 
accrued but is not yet entitled to receive.  

Derivatives

See definition on note N17, page 62.

Equities

Share in the ownership of a company, 
giving the holder the right to receive 
distributed profits and to vote at annual 
general meetings of the company. A term 
used for ordinary shares.

Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs/ET’s)

A fund that tracks a selection or ‘basket’ 
of related securities within a stock market 
index but can be traded on an exchange 
like a stock or share. 

Fair Value

A price deemed to accurately reflect the 
value of a security based on measurable 
valuation fundamentals. Considered to be 
an equitable valuation from the point of 
view of both buyer and seller.

FTSE

Indices maintained by the FTSE Group 
(an independent company originally set 
up by the Financial Times and the London 
Stock Exchange) which measures the 
performance of the shares listed on the 
London Stock Exchange.

Funding Level

The relationship at a specified date 
between the actuarial value of assets and 
the actuarial liability. Normally expressed 
as a funding ratio or percentage. Used 
as a measure of the fund’s ability to meet 
future liabilities.

Futures Contracts

A contract which binds two parties to 
complete a sale or purchase at a specified 
future date at a price which is fixed at 
the time the contract is effected. Futures 
contracts have standard terms. Margin 

(deposit) payments are required, and 
settlement dealt via a clearing house.

Gilts

A bond issued by the UK Government and 
so-called because certificates used to be 
gilt-edged.

Global Custodian

An organisation which is responsible 
for the safe-keeping of assets, income 
collection and settlement of trades, 
independent of the asset management 
function.

Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP)

The minimum pension which a salary 
related occupational pension scheme 
must provide in respect of contracted out 
contributions paid between April 1978 and 
1997, as a condition of contracting out of 
the state-earnings related pension scheme 
(SERPS).

Hedge

A means of protecting against financial 
loss, normally by taking an offsetting 
position in a related investment.

Index Tracking

An investment process which aims to 
match the returns on a particular market 
index either by holding all the stocks in 
the particular index or, more commonly 
a mathematically calculated sample of 
stocks that will perform as closely as 
possible to the index.

Investment Management Agreement

The document agreed between an 
investment manager and the Fund setting 
out the basis upon which the manager will 
manage a portfolio of investments for the 
Fund.

Investment Strategy

The Fund’s long-term distribution of assets 
amongst various asset classes, taking into 
consideration, for example, the goals of 
the Pension Committee and their attitude 
to risk and timescale.

Leverage

The use of borrowed money to over-invest 
a portfolio which magnifies both gains and 
losses. This may be achieved by derivative 
instruments. Also refers to the debt/equity 
ratio in a company’s balance sheet.

Glossary of Terms

Page 192



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  136

Managed Fund
A pooled fund that invests across a wide 
range of asset classes. (See Pooled 
Investment Vehicle).

Market Value
The price at which an asset might 
reasonably be expected to be sold in 
an open market.

Membership
Local authority employment during which 
time pension contributions were made 
or deemed to have been made providing 
entitlement to benefits under the scheme.

The Myners Review
The review of issues and challenges 
affecting institutional investment decision 
making carried out by Paul Myners on 
behalf of the UK Government, which was 
published in 2001. A key recommendation 
was that pension fund trustees should 
embrace a set of principles now known 
as the Myners Code.

MSCI Index
Indices maintained and produced by 
Morgan Stanley Capital International 
that track equity markets throughout the 
world. MSCI indexes are weighted by 
market capitalisation and include various 
countries, regions and industries in both 
developed and emerging markets.

Net Asset Value (NAV)
The value in a company or mutual fund, 
calculated by subtracting total debt from 
total assets and dividing the result by the 
number of shares or units in existence.

Notional Value
The value of a derivative’s underlying 
assets.

Open Ended Investment Company 
(OEIC)
A pooled investment vehicle structured 
as a limited company. Investors can buy 
and sell shares on an on-going basis.

Options
The right but not the obligation to buy 
(call option) or sell (put option) a specific 
security at a specified price (the exercise 
or strike price), at or within a specified time 
(the expiry date). This right is obtained 
by payment of an amount (known as the 
premium) to the writer (seller) of the option, 
and can be exercised whatever happens 
to the security’s market price.

Over The Counter (OTC)
Any market which does not operate 
through a recognised exchange.

Pensionable Earnings
The earnings on which benefits and/or 
contributions are calculated under the 
scheme rules.

Performance Measurement
Calculation of a fund’s historic return on 
its investments.

PIRC
PIRC is an independent research and 
advisory consultancy providing services 
to institutional investors on corporate 
governance and corporate social 
responsibility.

Pooled Investment Vehicle
A fund in which a number of investors 
pool their assets, which are managed on 
a collective basis. The assets of a pooled 
investment vehicle are denominated 
in units that are re-valued regularly to 
reflect the values of underlying assets. 
Vehicles include: open ended investment 
companies, real estate investment trusts 
and unit trusts.

Projected Unit Method
An accrued benefits funding method 
in which the actuarial liability makes 
allowance for projected pensionable pay. 
The standard contribution rate is that 
necessary to cover the cost of all benefits 
which will accrue in the control period 
following the valuation date by reference 
to pensionable pay projected to the dates 
on which benefits become payable. 

Quoted Investments
Investments that have their prices quoted 
on a recognised stock exchange.

Realised Gains/ (Losses)
Profit/(losses) on investments when they 
are sold at more/(less) than the purchase 
price.

Retail Price Index (RPI)
Measure of price inflation in the UK. The 
RPI measures the average change from 
month to month in the prices of goods and 
services purchased by most households 
in the UK.

Risk
The likelihood of a return different from that 
expected and the possible extent of the 
difference. It can also indicate the volatility 
of different assets.

Securities
General name for stocks and shares of 
all types that can be traded freely on the 
open market.

Segregated Fund
Where the assets of a particular fund are 

managed independently of those of other 
funds under the fund manager’s control.

Specialist Management
When an investment manager’s mandate 
is restricted to a specific asset class 
or sector. The Pension Committee 
determines allocations to each asset class.

Strategic Asset Allocation
The process of dividing investments 
between the main asset classes to meet 
the Fund’s risk and return objectives.

Transfer Payment
A payment made from one pension 
scheme to another pension scheme 
in lieu of benefits which have accrued 
to the member or members concerned, 
to enable the receiving pension scheme 
to provide alternative benefits.

Transfer Value
The amount of the transfer payment.

Unitised Insurance Policy
Investors are issued with a life policy 
representing title. Investors’ ‘holdings of 
units’ represent a means of calculating the 
value of their policy. The life fund/company 
holds the pool of investments and is the 
owner of all the assets. The activities of life 
companies are regulated by the FSA.

Unit Trust
Unit trusts are collective funds which allow 
private investors to pool their money in a 
single fund, thus spreading risk, getting the 
benefit of professional fund management 
and reducing dealing costs. Unit trust 
trading is based on market forces and their 
net asset value - that is the value of their 
underlying assets divided by the number 
of units in issue. The activities of unit trusts 
are regulated by the FSA.

Universe
Term sometimes used to describe the total 
number of funds in a performance survey.

Unlisted Securities
Stocks and shares not available for 
purchase or sale through the stock market.

Unquoted Investments
Stocks that are not listed on an exchange 
and so have no publicly stated price.

Venture Capital
Investment in a company that is at a 
relatively early stage of development 
and is not listed on a stock exchange. 
A venture capitalist raises money from 
investors to invest in such opportunities.  
These investments are typically risky but 
potentially very profitable.

Page 193



137  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]

Notes

Page 194



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2016-2017 ]  138

Notes

Page 195



www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

Gloucestershire County Council
Shire Hall 
Gloucester
GL1 2TG

t: 01452 425000

G
C

C
_1

97
6 

10
/1

7

Page 196



CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE REPORT 

6 December 2017 

Presented by Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, Chairman of the Constitution Committee 

1 Roles and Responsibilities of the Constitution Committee  

The Committee was advised on its role and responsibilities, and attention was 

drawn to the terms of reference for the Committee within the Constitution.  

2. Arrangement for the Chair of Audit and Governance Committee

2.1 The Committee considered the following recommendation from Overview and 

Scrutiny Management Committee, which had been agreed at its meeting on 17 

March 2017: 

That the arrangement for the Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee to be 

a member of the opposition group be formalised. 

2.2 The Committee discussed whether members from the group forming the 

administration should be allowed to vote at full Council if there is more than one 

nomination for the Chair of Audit and Governance. It was acknowledged that in 

this situation, each councillor has the right to vote. Members agreed that a protocol 

for opposition groups to decide on one nomination for the Chair of the Audit and 

Governance Committee should be considered by Group Leaders. 

2.3 The Committee supported the spirit of the recommendation from OSMC, and 

agreed a minor amendment to the recommendation. 

2.4 RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL that the Constitution be 

amended, as set out in Annex A, to include the arrangement for the Chair of Audit 

and Governance Committee to be a member drawn from outside the group or 

groups forming the administration. 

3. Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee – Proposed Changes
to the Terms of Reference

3.1 The Committee received a proposal from Cllr David Norman MBE, Chairman of 
Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee (GEGSC), for an 
amendment to the GEGSC terms of reference to allow for more effective scrutiny 
of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee (GEGJC). 

3.2 Following a discussion, it was suggested that the amendment to the terms of 
reference be revised to include the requirement for GEGSC to review the 
decisions, plans and policies of the GEGJC. The Committee agreed the revised 
amendment. 

3.3 RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL that the Constitution be 
amended, as set out in Annex B, to include the requirement for Gloucestershire 

Page 197

Agenda Item 13



Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee to review the decisions, plans and policies 
of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee. 

4. Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board – Proposed Changes to the
Terms of Reference

4.1 The Committee considered the proposed changes to the Gloucestershire Health 
and Wellbeing Board (GHWB) terms of reference relating to the membership of 
the Board. 

4.2 It was clarified that, under legislation, nominations for elected members to the 
Board are made by the leader of the local authority where executive arrangements 
are in place. Political proportionality is not applied. The Committee noted that the 
proposed changes to the GHWB terms of reference included the addition of the 
portfolios of the four Cabinet members nominated to the Board by the Leader. It 
was suggested that this be revised to state that four county councillors are 
members of the Board, as appointed by the Leader of the County Council. 

4.3 The Leader’s decision not to nominate opposition group members to the GHWB 
was queried, and several members expressed the view that the presence of 
opposition group members on the Board allows for healthy challenge. The Leader 
explained his wish for the Cabinet members with relevant portfolios to attend 
GHWB meetings. Several other members commented that scrutiny of the Board 
can be pursued through the Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
The Committee was also reminded that individual members on the Board are non-
voting, and that each member organisation or group has one vote. 

4.4 On being put to a vote, the revised amendment to the GHWB terms of reference 
was agreed by the Committee. 

4.5 RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL that the revised terms of 
reference for the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board, as set out in Annex 
C, be approved and adopted. 

5. Oral Questions at Council

5.1 The Committee discussed whether the Procedural Standing Order for the asking 
of oral questions by members of the public at ordinary meetings of full Council 
should be amended or removed. The Committee noted that, under the current 
arrangements in the Constitution, an oral question can be asked by a member of 
the public at each ordinary meeting of the full Council, providing that notice is 
given to the Chief Executive at least 30 minutes prior to the start of the meeting.  

5.2 Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE suggested that 30 minutes notice was too short to 
enable the Cabinet member responding to the question the time to provide a 
comprehensive answer. The Committee noted that none of the six district councils 
within the County, and only one of four neighbouring authorities researched, 
detailed any arrangements in their constitutions for the asking of oral questions, 
and only in exceptional circumstances. 

5.3 One member felt that the opportunity for the public to ask oral questions at 
meetings of full Council is an important part of democratic engagement, whilst 
another member suggested that it is important to give the public the flexibility to 

Page 198



ask questions at the last minute, where questions are of an urgent and topical 
nature. Several other members supported the view that having earlier notification 
of oral questions will allow for the necessary research to be carried out for more 
detailed written answers to be provided. 

5.4 It was agreed that written answers to questions that are unable to be answered 
orally at full Council will be published alongside the minutes of the meeting on the 
Council website. 

5.5 Following a detailed discussion, Cllr Colin Hay proposed an amendment to the 
Constitution which determined that an oral question could be asked by a member 
of the public, provided that he or she gives notice of the question to the Chief 
Executive by 8am on the day of the meeting. The Committee voted on the 
proposal by Cllr Hay, which was defeated. 

5.6 Cllr Hawthorne MBE proposed that the Constitution be amended to state that 
members of the public may ask an urgent question which the Chairperson of the 
Council considers could not have been reasonably submitted by the deadline for 
receipt of written questions, providing that he or she gives written notice of the 
question to the Chief Executive by 12 noon the day before the meeting. The 
Committee voted on the proposal by Cllr Hawthorne MBE, which was upheld. 

5.7 RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL that the Constitution be 
amended under Part 4, Section 9, Procedural Standing Orders, as set out in 
Annex D. 

6. Motions at Meetings of the Full Council

6.1 Cllr Paul Hodgkinson explained to the Committee that at the full Council meeting 
on 13 September 2017, a number of motions could not be considered due to 
insufficient time, despite indicative timings for each motion having been agreed 
prior to the meeting at the Chairman’s briefing. Cllr Hodgkinson asked the 
Committee to consider either a change in protocol, which determined that the 
Chairman of Council must stick to the indicative timings agreed, or a change to the 
Constitution to increase the amount of time allocated for motions to be debated at 
meetings of full Council.  

6.3 The Committee discussed the options for the timing of motions at meetings of full 
Council in detail. The Committee agreed that the issue should be referred to 
Group Leaders for their consideration. 

7. Changes to the Employee Code of Conduct

7.1 The Committee noted that minor changes had been made to the Employee Code 
of Conduct, specifically a recommendation for staff to wear the ID badges provided 
and references to standard forms for gifts and hospitality. It was also noted that 
further changes to the Code are anticipated in respect of the Whistleblowing 
Policy, which is currently being reviewed by the external charity, Public Concern at 
Work, as part of a wider piece of work looking at the Council’s culture. 

7.2 RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL that the revised Employee 
Code of Conduct, as set out in Annex E, be approved and adopted. 

Page 199



8. Monitoring Officer Changes to the Constitution

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL to ratify the changes to the
Constitution, as set out in Annexes F, G, and H, by the Monitoring Officer under
delegated powers.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE – Chairman 

December 2017 

Page 200



Annex A Audit and Governance Committee Terms of Reference 

Audit and Governance 

Committee 

9 County Councillors 

The Chairman of the 

Audit and Governance 

Committee to be a 

member drawn from 

outside the group or 

groups forming the 

administration. 

(1) Advise on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 

Council’s corporate governance arrangements and 

internal control environment. 

(2) Monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s 

governance arrangements including: 

 Monitoring the effectiveness of the Chief Officer’s

responsibility for ensuring an adequate internal

control environment;

 Monitoring the arrangements for the identification,

monitoring and control of strategic and operational

risk within the Council;

 Monitoring the adequacy and effectiveness of the

arrangements in place for combating fraud and

corruption;

 Providing an annual report to the County Council that

its systems of governance are operating effectively;

 Reviewing and approving the annual Statement of

Accounts and Annual Governance Statement;

 The Chief Internal Auditor has the right of

independent access to the Committee and its Chair;

 Being responsible for the implementation and

undertaking regular monitoring of the Council’s

treasury management policies and practices;

 Formulating and keeping under review a Code of

Conduct to promote high ethical standards amongst

Officers and doing anything that is calculated to

promote and maintain high standards of conduct by

Officers;

 Formulating and keeping under review the Council’s

‘whistle-blowing’ policy; and

 Formulating and keeping under review the Council’s

arrangements for handling complaints and

investigations by the Local Government

Ombudsman.

(3) To promote, maintain and assist the achievement of high 

standards of conduct by County Councillors and co-opted 

members in accordance with the Council’s Code of 

Conduct for Members.  

 To monitor the operation of the Code of Conduct for

Members;

 To advise the Council on any amendment or revision

of the Code;

 To secure adequate and appropriate training of

County Councillors and co-opted Members on the

Code of Conduct for Members;

Page 201



Annex A Audit and Governance Committee Terms of Reference 

 To give general guidance and advice to County

Councillors on Members’ interests and keep under

review the Register of Members’ Interests maintained

by the Monitoring Officer; and

 To give general guidance and advice to County

Councillors and employees on gifts and hospitality.

(4) Monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s 

External Audit service and respond to its findings. 

Specifically: 

 Considering the nature and scope of the External

Audit of the Council’s services and functions;

 Receiving and considering External Audit Reports

including the Annual Audit Letter and Governance

Report; and

 Monitoring management’s response to the External

Auditor’s findings and the implementation of External

Audit recommendations.

(5) Monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the Internal 

Audit service. Specifically: 

 Approving the internal audit charter;

 Approving the annual risk based internal audit plan;

 Receiving communications from the Chief Internal

Auditor on the internal audit activity’s performance

relative to its plan and other matters, including the

annual report and opinion;

 Receiving and considering major Internal Audit

findings and recommendations;

 Monitoring management’s response to Internal Audit

findings and the implementation of the

recommendations;

 Making appropriate enquiries of management and

the Chief Internal Auditor to determine whether there

are inappropriate scope and resource limitations;

 Agreeing the scope and form of the external

assessment as part of the quality assurance and

improvement plan;

 Receiving the results of internal and external

assessments of the quality assurance and

improvement programme, including areas of non-

conformance with professional standards; and

 Approving significant consulting services not already

included in the audit plan, prior to acceptance of the

engagement, if this materially impacts on core

assurance activity.

Page 202



Annex A Audit and Governance Committee Terms of Reference 

(6) To grant dispensations to County Councillors and co-

opted Members related to interests specified in the Code 

of Conduct for Members following written requests to the 

proper officer (Chief Executive) by a Member or Co-opted 

Member under section 33 of the Localism Act 2011, when 

the Council: 

 Considers that without the dispensation, the number

of persons prohibited by section 31(4) from

participating in any particular business would be so

great a proportion of the body transacting the

business as to impede the transaction of the

business;

 Considers that without the dispensation the

representation of different political groups on the

body transacting any particular business would be

upset as to alter the likely outcome of any vote

relating to the business;

 Considers that granting the dispensation is in the

interests of persons living in the authority’s area;

 Considers that without the dispensation each

member of the authority’s executive would be

prohibited by section 31(4) from participating in any

particular business to be transacted by the authority’s

executive, or

 Considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a

dispensation.

(7) To establish a Sub-Committee known as the Hearings 

Panel to hear allegations that Members have failed to 

comply with the Authority’s Code of Conduct. 

 To assess and review allegations of Member

misconduct; and

 To determine allegations of Member misconduct.

Note: the committee has the right to require the attendance of 

any Council officers or members in order to respond directly to 

any issue under consideration. 

Hearings Panel Sub-

Committee 

5 County Councillors 

proportional to the 

political composition of 

the Council. Quorum of 

3 members present for 

its duration 

(1) To receive reports referred from the Monitoring Officer 

following investigations into complaints and other steps 

associated with that function. 

(2) To conduct standards hearings and all other steps 

associated with that function, including taking into 

account the advice of the Independent Person. 

(3) If the panel determines that a breach of the Authority’s 

Page 203



Annex A Audit and Governance Committee Terms of Reference 

Code of Conduct has occurred, the panel can impose 

one or more of the following if appropriate: 

a) Censure;

b) Report to Council;

c) Recommend actions to the Leader of the Council;

d) Recommend actions to Group Leader;

e) Removal from Outside Bodies;

f) Withdrawal of facilities, such as Council

email/website/internet access;

g) Exclusion from the Council offices or other

premises with the exception of meeting rooms as

necessary for attending Council, Committees or

Sub-Committees and/or nominating a single point

of contact; and/or

h) Requesting the Member to undertake actions

deemed appropriate e.g. training, issue of an

apology.

(4) To set-up when necessary an interview panel comprising 

of the lead members of each party to shortlist and 

interview candidates for the role of Independent Person. 

 To recommend successful candidates to the

County Council to be chosen by a majority of

Councillors.

Page 204



Annex B 

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee Terms of Reference 

Gloucestershire 

Economic Growth 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

6 County Councillors 

(1) To review the decisions, plans and policies of the 

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee and 

(2) To review the overall impact and delivery outcomes of the 

Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Plan and to make 

recommendations to the Gloucestershire Local Enterprise 

Community Interest Company and Gloucestershire 

Economic Growth Joint Committee on issues and 

improvements. 

Page 205



Annex C 

 Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board Terms of Reference 

In accordance with the requirements of the Health & Social Care Act 2012 (“the Act”) the 
Council has established the Health and Wellbeing Board as a committee of the Council. Its 
duties/terms of reference are: 

1. For the purpose of advancing the health and wellbeing of the people of 
Gloucestershire to encourage persons who arrange for the provision or delivery of 
any health or social care services in the county to work in an integrated manner 

2. To encourage persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social care 
services in the county and persons who arrange for the provision or delivery of any 
health-related services in the county to work closely together. 

3. Pursuant to section 116 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health 
Act 2007 to prepare and publish a joint strategic needs assessment for the county 

4. To prepare and publish a strategy for meeting the needs identified in the joint 
strategic needs assessment and ensuring a strategic planning framework is in place 

5. To provide such advice assistance or other support as it thinks appropriate for the 
purpose of encouraging the making of arrangements under section 75 of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 in connection with the provision of such services 

6. To encourage persons who arrange for the provision or delivery of any health-related 
services in the county to work closely with the Board 

Membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board comprises: 

 Chair of Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire

 Additional Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire member

 Accountable Officer of Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire

 A District Council elected representative from Leadership Gloucestershire

 County Council Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing, Gloucestershire County

Council (or equivalent) 

 County Council Cabinet Member for Vulnerable Families, Gloucestershire County

Council (or equivalent) 

 County Council Liberal Democratic Spokesperson for Public Health and Communities

 County Council Labour Spokesperson for Public Health and Communities

 Four County Councillors, as appointed by the Leader of the County Council

 The Director of Adult Social Services, Gloucestershire County Council

 The Director of Children’s Services, Gloucestershire County Council

 Police and Crime Commissioner

 The Director of Public Health, Gloucestershire County Council

 A representative of the local Healthwatch

 A representative of the NHS Commissioning Board  Local Area Team

 A District Council Chief Officer and link for housing related business

 Chair of Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust

 Chair of 2gether NHS Foundation Trust

 Chair of Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

 Chief Constable of Gloucestershire

 Chief Fire Officer for Gloucestershire

Note 1: Political proportionality will not be applied 

Page 206



Annex C 

Note 2:  Voting – Individual members of the Board shall be non-voting. Instead each member 
organisation or group of organisations will have one vote. The nominee of each organisation 
must be present to vote. There will be no absence voting provision. The Chair will have the 
casting vote. 

Voting organisations are: 

 Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, Gloucestershire Care Services NHS
Trust, Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundations Trust and 2gether NHS
Foundation Trust

 Gloucestershire County Council

 HealthWatch

 District Councils (one vote for all six)

 NHS England

 PCC and Gloucestershire Constabulary

Note 3:  For the purpose of enabling it to carry out its functions the Health and Wellbeing 
Board may request the Council, the Local Healthwatch, the Clinical Commissioning Group or 
other member of the Board to supply it with information specified in the request. 

Note 4: Terms of Office – Each term of office will run for the term of the County Council 
unless a member organisation advises otherwise.  

Note 5: Substitutions: There will be no substitutions, if an organisation is unable to send its 
representative a named substitute may be nominated for that meeting only.   Notice of this 
shall be given by the absent Board member to the committee administrator in advance of the 
meeting.  Ideally a week’s notice shall be given to allow all Board members to be advised of 
the substitution. Procedural Standing Order 4 shall not apply. 

Note 6: Quorum: The quorum for meetings of the Health and Wellbeing Board is that one 
quarter of the membership be present and at least 4 be voting member organisations. 

Page 207



Annex D 

Changes to the Constitution: Part 4, Section 9, Procedural Standing Orders 

9. QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

9.1 At each ordinary meeting of the full Council (excluding the first annual meeting of 
the new Council) there shall be up to 30 minutes set aside for written and oral 
urgent questions from the public.   

9.2 An oral question under this Procedural Standing Order may be asked with the 
consent of the Chairperson and within the 30 minutes set aside for written and oral 
questions under provision 9.1 providing that he or she gives notice of the question 
to the Chief Executive at least 30 minutes prior to the start of the meeting. 

9.3 Written question at full Council 

People who live or work in the county or are affected by the work of the County 
Council may ask: 

9.3.1 The Chairperson of the Council; 

9.3.2 The Leader of the Council; 

9.3.3 A Cabinet Member; 

9.3.4 A Chairperson of any other Council body, whose remit covers the 
subject matter in question; 

1.3.5  A Cabinet Project Champion 

a question on any matter which is within the powers and duties of the  Council. 

9.4 Notice of questions 

A question under this Procedural Standing Order may be asked if a written copy of 
the question has been delivered to the Chief Executive by 10.00 a.m. four clear 
working days before the date of the meeting. 

9.5 Response 

A written answer will be provided to a written question and will be given to the 
questioner and to County Councillors before the meeting. The question and answer 
will then be taken as read at the meeting itself and need not be read out. 

9.6 A copy of all written questions and written answers circulated at the meeting will be 
attached to the signed copy of the minutes of the meeting. 

9.7 Additional Questions 

A member of the public who has put a written question may, with the consent of the 
Chairperson, ask an additional oral question on the same subject. 

9.8 An answer to an oral question under this Procedural Standing Order will take the 
form of: 

9.8.1 A direct oral answer; 

Page 208



Annex D 

9.8.2 Where the information required is contained in a Council document or 
other published work, the questioner will be given the name of that 
document and if the Chairperson considers it appropriate the relevant 
part of the document will be read out;  

9.8.3 If the information required is not easily available, a written answer will 
be sent to the questioner and circulated to all Members of the Council.  

9.9 There will be no discussion on any public question. 

9.10 Written questions may be rejected and oral questions need not be answered when 
the Chairperson considers that they: 

9.10.1 Are not on any matter that is within the powers and duties of the 
Council; 

9.10.2 Are defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 

9.10.3 Are substantially the same as a question that has been put to a 
meeting of the Council in the past six months; or 

9.10.4 Would require the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

In every case, the Chairperson must specify the reason for rejecting a question or 
not requiring an answer to be given to it. 

9.11  Urgent Questions 

A member of the public may ask an urgent question, which the Chairperson 
considers could not have been reasonably submitted by the deadline for the receipt 
of written questions, within the 30 minutes set aside for written and urgent 
questions, providing that he or she gives notice of the question to the Chief 
Executive by 12 noon the day before the meeting.  

Page 209



1 

Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

Annex E

CODE OF CONDUCT 
INCLUDES CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING PROCEDURE 
(WHISTLE-BLOWING) FOR EMPLOYEES OTHER THAN FOR 
STAFF IN EDUCATIONAL ESTABLISHMENTS (FOR WHOM A 
SEPARATE CODE EXISTS)  

1. This Code also applies to  all people working within or on behalf of  the County
Council regardless of the contractual basis of the  engagement, including:-

 Direct employment by the council under a contract of employment

 Secondments (both to and from the County Council);

 Temporary assignments (both to and from the County Council), including
Agency Workers, employees engaged through the council’s Temporary Staff
Service, Work Placements, Apprentices and Trainees;

 Office holders

 Employees acting on behalf of the council as members of companies or
voluntary organisations.

References to “employee” and “staff” throughout this Code are taken to include all of 
the above categories and any similar working arrangements. 

The Code also extends to additional and dual employment that has been secured as 
a result of working for local government. 

Inevitably some of the issues covered by the Code will affect senior, managerial and 
professional employees more than others – but the basic principles apply to 
everyone. 

INTRODUCTION 

2. The purpose of this Code is to give all employees guidance on how the County
Council and the public in general expect them to behave. If the Code is followed then
staff should not find themselves in a situation where their conduct could create an
impression of conflict of interest or corruption in the minds of the public. If staff are
unsure of the standards expected of them guidance should be sought from their
Director or, in the case of Directors, the Chief Executive.

3. The areas covered by this Code are as follows:

 Standards;

 Personal Appearance;

Page 210



2 

Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

 Use of the Council’s Facilities and Equipment;

 Fraud and Corruption;

 Gifts, Hospitality and Sponsorship;

 Register of Gifts and Hospitality;

 Disclosure and Use of Information;

 Political Neutrality;

 Relationships;

 Appointments and Other Employment Matters;

 Undertaking Additional Outside Work;

 Arrest or Conviction on Civil or Criminal Charges;

 Membership of Clubs, Societies and other Organisations;

 Equality Issues;

 Health and Safety Issues;

 Breaches of the Code of Conduct.

 Confidential Reporting Procedure (Whistle-blowing);

STANDARDS 

4. Employees are expected to give the highest possible standard of service to the
public and to provide advice to Councillors and fellow employees with impartiality.
The highest standard of probity must apply and employees must report any
suspected unlawfulness, maladministration, impropriety or breach of procedure of
which they are aware to their Director. (See also paragraph 91 and Appendix 1 of
this Code).

5. The Council, for its part, considers it has a duty to protect employees against
unjustified allegations of wrong doing.

PERSONAL APPEARANCE 

6. Although the Council has not adopted a formal dress code it does expect employees
to observe a standard of personal hygiene and appearance which is appropriate to
the nature of the work undertaken. Staff are recommended to wear their official
Gloucestershire County Council identity badge on Council premises and when on
official business out of the office.

USE OF THE COUNCIL’S FACILITIES AND EQUIPMENT 

7. Employees must exercise reasonable care and skill in their use of the Council’s
facilities and equipment. The Council is entitled to expect at least the same standard
of care of its property as employees give to their own property. Any facilities,
property or equipment provided by the Council should only be used in connection
with official duties except where the Council has agreed to private use. There are
arrangements for the use of some services for private purposes on the payment of
approved charges e.g. private telephone calls and photocopies, etc. You should
always ensure that there is either general or specific agreement to private use of any
facility or equipment.

Page 211



3 

Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

8. When an employee ceases working for the Council all paper and electronic records
(and copies), equipment and any other property of the Council must be returned.

FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 

Culture of the Organisation 

9. Although the Council believes that Members, employees and organisations
associated with the Council will act with honesty and integrity it recognises that
occasionally this will not be the case. The Council’s culture is one of honesty and
zero tolerance in respect of fraud and corruption.

10. Employees must make themselves aware of  and comply with the following key
documents which set out various standards of behaviour and procedures which must
be adopted in addition to those mentioned in this Code:-

 Financial Regulations/Accounting Instructions;

 Powers of Committees and Officers;

 Information Management and Security policies, procedures and standards;

 Standing Orders;

 Staffnet Procurement Guidance

 Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy & Strategy

 Employee Handbook and

 Social Media Policy.

11. Employees must use public funds entrusted to them in a responsible and lawful
manner and ensure that value for money is achieved. They must comply at all times
with the Council’s Financial Regulations, Contract Standing Orders and associated
Accounting Instructions.

12. It is a criminal offence for employees to give or receive any gift, loan, fee, reward or
advantage for doing, or not doing anything, or showing favour or disfavour to any
person, company or contractor, with a corrupt intention. If an allegation is made it is
for the employee to demonstrate that any rewards received have not been corruptly
obtained.

13. Although there may be no corruptive intention in the act of giving or receiving of gifts,
it is important to avoid any grounds for suspicion of corruption. For example, where
contracts are being negotiated employees should not negotiate with a potential
contractor, supplier or purchaser (of land for example) on a one -to- one basis. All
steps in the contract negotiations should be recorded and in accordance with the
Council’s Constitution and scheme of delegation.   Standing Orders, Financial
Regulations, the Procurement Guidance and the policies of the Council must always
be followed; an adequate audit trail must be maintained.

14. The Council recognises that a key preventative measure in the fight against fraud
and corruption is to take effective steps at the recruitment stage to establish the
previous record of potential employees in terms of their propriety and integrity.
Employees responsible for applying the Council’s recruitment procedures should
ensure that they are followed in respect of all appointments and that written

Page 212

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s35167/Anti%20Fraud%20Policy-%20Strategy%20-%202017%20-%202019%20v7-3.pdf


 

4 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

references are obtained regarding known honesty and integrity. (See also paragraph 
68-72). 
 
Personal Interests 
 

15. Any personal interests, financial or otherwise, must be registered (see paragraph 19) 
when they could reasonably be deemed to potentially conflict with any work 
undertaken by employees in the course of their duties. The Chief Executive and 
each Director will be responsible for ensuring that their personal interests are 
registered in accordance with this Code and that all of their employees are aware of 
the need to register personal interests. In certain circumstances even though a 
conflict of interest is not anticipated (e.g. acting as a School Governor, involvement 
with an organisation receiving grant aid from the Council, involvement with an 
organisation or pressure group which may seek to influence the  Council’s policies) 
employees should register their interests. 
 

16. Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires all employees to give written 
notice of any contract or proposed contract in which the Council is involved and in 
which the employee has a financial interest (either direct or indirect) as soon as the 
employee becomes aware of it. Failure to declare an interest is a criminal offence 
and may result in prosecution. 
 

17. A direct financial interest arises where an employee or their partner, family member 
or close friend has a financial interest in a contract or proposed contract whether to 
their advantage or disadvantage, in which the Council is involved. An indirect 
financial interest may arise where an employee or their nominee or employee’s 
partner holds securities or shares in a company which exceeds £5,000 or 1/100th of 
the nominal issued share capital of a company which has a direct financial interest, 
whichever is the lesser amount. 
 

18. A non-financial interest may occur when an employee or their partner, family 
member or close friend has membership or association in a company, society, club 
or other body, trade union or voluntary body, or is employed by another person or 
company which has direct financial interests in any matter which is the subject of 
discussions/negotiations with the Council. 
 

19. Details of interests must be made in writing and sent to the Monitoring Officer who 
will record it in a register and acknowledge receipt of the declaration. Employees 
should ensure that they receive an acknowledgement back from the Monitoring 
Officer.  The declaration must be made as soon as the employee is aware of the 
interest and/or the contract or proposed contract to which the interest relates. All 
contracts or proposed contracts are covered by this requirement, including contracts 
for the regular supply of goods and services. 
 

20. Employees with a financial or non-financial interest in any matter should not only 
declare that interest but also seek to distance themselves from involvement in that 
matter. Employees must be open and up front about their interest in all associated 
dealings. In particular, any such interest must be stated at meetings, whether 
Council meetings or other meetings, public or private. Notes taken at the time should 

Page 213



 

5 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

be placed in the appropriate file concerning the interest(s) and how it has been 
handled. 
 

21. Employees involved in the award or management of contracts shall declare in writing 
to their Director (or in the case of Directors, the Chief Executive) any association or 
friendship with any contractor and should take no part in  a tender process involving 
the contractor without written approval. Any employees engaged in the consideration 
or determination of any application for any contract, permission, grant, approval or 
consent must declare to the Director  (or in the case of Director , the Chief 
Executive) any association with any person or body who is an applicant in the field of 
work in which that employee is engaged. 
 

22. A Director  (or in the case of Directors , the Chief Executive) to whom any such 
interest, association or friendship is declared shall consider whether to take steps to 
ensure the employee concerned is not placed in a position where private interests 
and official duties may conflict. 
 
Rules Governing Purchasing by Employees 
 

23. Employees must follow Financial Regulations, Standing Orders, the Council’s 
procurement and contract management guidance and Accounting Instructions 
whenever any goods or services are purchased.  

 
24. Employees may not order, in the name of the Council, equipment or goods, whether 

with a discount or not, from official Council suppliers for their own personal use even 
if the cost is reimbursed in full to the Council. 
 

25. Employees undertaking procurement or contract management activities should 
ensure they have the necessary skills and knowledge to do so or should seek 
appropriate advice and support from the Commercial Service.  
 
Separation of Roles during Tendering 
 

26. Employees involved in the tendering process and dealing with contractors should 
understand the separation of client and contractor roles within the Council. Senior 
employees who have both client and contractor responsibilities must be aware of the 
need for accountability and openness. 
 

27. Employees who are privy to confidential information in respect of tenders or costs for 
either internal or external contractors must not disclose that information to any 
unauthorised person or organisation or use it for any unauthorised purposes. 
 

28. Employees should ensure that no special favour is shown to current or recent former 
employees or their partners, close relatives or associates in awarding contracts to 
businesses run by them or employing them in a senior or relevant managerial 
capacity. 
 

29. Employees must not use their position and knowledge of the Council to gain access 
to and provide information which puts a particular contractor or anyone else in a 

Page 214



 

6 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

better position than any other contractor tendering to undertake work or to provide 
services or supplies. 
 
Reporting a Concern 
 

30. “Whistleblowing” by employees of the Council is fully supported and encouraged. 
Where concerns arise these should be brought to the attention of management at all 
times. In Appendix 1 of this Code a procedure is described for employees who wish 
to report serious concerns relating to any suspicions or allegations of fraud and 
corruption or any mal-practice or maladministration. 
 
Investigation 
 

31. Allegations and concerns relating to fraud or corruption will normally be investigated 
by the Head of Internal Audit and a report issued to the Chief Executive, the 
Monitoring Officer and the Director: Strategic Finance (s.151 Officer). 
 

32. The Director: Strategic Finance in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, will then 
decide whether there are sufficient grounds for the matter to be reported to the 
Police. The Chief Executive is also to be informed of any (potential) referrals. The 
Council will normally wish the Police to be made aware of, and investigate 
independently, offences where financial impropriety appears to have been 
discovered. 
 

33. The Council’s Disciplinary and Dismissal Procedure will be used where the outcome 
of an audit investigation indicates improper behaviour or other misconduct by an 
employee. 
 
GIFTS, PRIZES HOSPITALITY AND SPONSORSHIP 
 

34. Any offers of gifts, prizes hospitality or sponsorship should be recorded in the 
Council’s Gifts & Hospitality Register held by each Director or, in the case of 
Directors the Chief Executive. The register must include all offers of gifts, etc 
whether accepted or declined. Advice/permission should be sought from the 
Directors before any gift, hospitality or sponsorship is accepted (see paragraph 51 
below).  When in doubt the employee should always refuse such gifts. A standard 
form is available via this link. 
 

35. An employee should not personally receive a gift, prize, hospitality or sponsorship 
that: 

 

 could compromise their judgment 

 could appear to be a conflict of interest 

 could damage relationship with others; or 

 could indicate any favoritism or prejudice in relation to any particular person or 
group of people 

 
36. When hospitality, prizes or gifts have to be declined, the person making the offer 

should be informed of the procedures and standards operating within the Council, in 
relation to gifts, prizes, hospitality and sponsorship. 

Page 215

https://staffnet.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/218286/register_of_staff_interests-september-2017.docx


 

7 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

 
Gifts (including bequests) 
 

37. Gifts offered by persons who are providing, or seeking to provide, goods or services 
to the Council, or who are seeking decisions from the Council, should be refused and 
returned, as should gifts (other than those of a trivial nature e.g. calendars, diaries, 
desk sets) offered by those receiving services from the Council. 
 

38. In all cases relating to the receipt of gifts it is wise to err on the side of caution: an 
obviously expensive gift must be tactfully declined or, if appropriate, donated to the 
Council for official use, and the Director or Chief Executive should be advised of the 
action taken. If a gift is simply delivered it must be returned to the donor or, if 
appropriate, be donated to the Council for official use, and the Director or Chief 
Executive must be advised of the action taken. All such gifts must be registered in 
accordance with paragraph 52 of this Code. 
 

39. On occasions an employee may become a beneficiary of a will of a service user; this 
may be the way a service user wishes to express gratitude for the service he or she 
has received. 
 

40. Those teams/services which provide personal services to service users have written 
policies concerning the receipt of bequests by employees. Such policies have been 
drawn up to protect the interests of both service users and members of staff. Staff 
should ensure that they have read and comply with such policies. 
 
Hospitality 
 

41. Employees may only accept offers of hospitality if there is a genuine need to 
exchange information or represent the Council in the community. Offers to attend 
purely social or sporting functions should be accepted only when these are part of 
the life of the community within Gloucestershire and where the Council should be 
seen to be represented. All such hospitality must be properly authorised and 
recorded by Directors or, in the case of Directors the Chief Executive. Exceptions to 
this rule must be properly authorised and recorded by Directors or the Chief 
Executive. 
 

42. Acceptance of hospitality through attendance at relevant conferences and courses is 
acceptable where the hospitality is corporate rather than personal, or where the 
Directors (or Chief Executive in the case of Directors) gives consent in advance and 
where it is clear that any purchasing decisions are not compromised. 
 

43. An offer of hospitality to individual employees calls for special caution particularly if 
the host is undertaking, or applying to do business with the County Council or hoping 
to obtain a decision from it. It is very important to avoid any suggestion of improper 
influence. 
 

44. A working lunch of modest standards to allow the parties to discuss business would 
normally be acceptable; this is a case where the hospitality is secondary to a specific 
working arrangement. On the other hand, it would not be acceptable conduct for an 
employee to accept such things as:- 

Page 216



 

8 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

 

 a holiday 

  tickets for concerts, theatre or sporting events 

  the use of a company flat or hotel suite 

  expensive meals or entertainment 
 

45. Hospitality must not be accepted unless the acceptance can be readily 
acknowledged in public or is similar to that which the Council would provide in the 
same circumstances. 
 

46. There are occasions when an offer of hospitality of any kind must be declined e.g. 
when the person offering the hospitality has a current issue with the Council such as 
a tender under consideration or is involved in a contract dispute. 
 

47. Offers of hospitality accepted or rejected must be registered by employees to their 
Directors or, in the case of Directors to the Chief Executive. The details to be 
registered must be in accordance with that shown in paragraph 52 of this Code. 
 
Sponsorship 
 

48. Where outside organisations, contractors or potential contractors wish or seek to 
sponsor a Council activity, the basic conventions concerning acceptance of gifts or 
hospitality apply (see paras 34-47 above). 
 

49. Where the Council acts as a sponsor for an event or service, neither an employee or 
any partner or relative must benefit from such sponsorship without there being full 
disclosure to an appropriate manager of any such interest. Similarly, where the 
Council through sponsorship, grant aid, financial or other means, gives support in the 
community, employees should ensure that impartial advice is given and that there is 
no conflict of interest involved. 
 
Bribery Act 2010 
 

50. The Bribery Act 2010 provides a modern legal framework to combat bribery in the 
UK and internationally.  Staff need to be aware of their obligations under this Act, 
which sets out the criminality of accepting and giving of bribes. This applies to both 
individual staff and the Council corporately.  
 

51. The Bribery Act 2010 creates the following offences: 
 

 Active bribery: promising or giving a financial or other advantage; 

 Passive bribery: agreeing to receive or accepting a financial or other   
advantage; 

 Bribery of foreign public officials; and 

 The failure of commercial organisations to prevent bribery by an associated  
person (corporate offence). 

 
The penalty under the Bribery Act 2010 is an unlimited fine and/or imprisonment up 
to a maximum of 10 years. 
 

Page 217



 

9 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

Full details of the Act can be found at:  http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/23/contents 
 
REGISTER OF GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY 
 

52. A register will be maintained by every Director detailing all offers of gifts or hospitality 
made to employees in their department. The following information will be recorded, 
based on information reported by employees:- 
 

 the person or body making the offer; 

  the member of staff to whom the offer was made; 

  the gift or hospitality offered; 

  the circumstances in which the offer was made; 

 the action taken by the member of staff concerned; and 

 the action taken (if any) by the Directors  (or in the case of Directors , the 
Chief Executive). 

 
A standard form is available via this link.  
A similar register will be maintained by the Chief Executive in relation to Directors. 
 
Where a suspected breach has been reported a formal investigation will be 
undertaken and recorded. 
 
DISCLOSURE AND USE OF INFORMATION 
 

53. The Council believes that, subject to the content of paragraphs 54 to 60 below, 
information should normally be disclosed unless it is in the public interest not to do 
so. Staff must comply with the council’s Freedom of Information policy and Data 
Protection Act, procedures and authorisation process.  In terms of information for 
elected members (“County Councillors”), the legal requirements are set out in the 
Rules on Access to information, set out in the Constitution.  If in doubt, seek advice 
from your manager. 
 

54. Many employees obtain information which has not been made public and/or is 
confidential. Employees may also have access to personal information about other 
employees or clients. This information must only be disclosed to a third party where 
there is a legal responsibility to provide it, or where the employee or client provides a 
written authority for the information to be provided. 
 

55. The restrictions in paragraph 54 to 60 apply equally to information which an 
employee may obtain from their employment about a contractor, debtor or creditor of 
the Council. 
 

56. No employee, unless specifically authorised by their Director to do so, may 
communicate to the public or press any information about the discussions or 
decisions of the County Council or any of its committees or bodies following the 
exclusion of the public and press, with the exception of information which is required 
to be published by law. 
 

57. As a general rule employees must not enter into any public correspondence or 
debate on a matter related to their official duties, or in respect of which they hold 

Page 218

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/23/contents
https://staffnet.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/218286/register_of_staff_interests-september-2017.docx


 

10 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

official information, unless this is done with the consent of their Chief Officer. Further 
guidance on related matters is contained in the Social Media Policy and Expression 
of Employee Views documents (both of which are in the Employment Handbook on 
Staffnet) to which employees should also refer. 

 
Similar considerations exist covering the position of employees invited to participate 
in press interviews, radio or television programmes, etc., where the subject relates 
directly or indirectly to their work for the Council. Employees invited to take part in 
such programmes should discuss the position with their Director and the Media 
Team before replying to the invitation. 

 
58. Employees must adhere to the Council’s published rules and requirements relating 

to personal and/or sensitive information, as covered by current Data Protection 
legislation. In particular, information must not be disclosed to unauthorised people or 
organisations. 
 

59. Employees must not use any information obtained in the course of their employment 
for personal gain or benefit, nor should they pass it on to others who might use it in 
such a way. 
 

60. Employees must make themselves aware of and comply with published Information 
Management and Security policies, procedures and standards relating to the 
protection of information and secure use of ICT systems which are published on 
Staffnet.  A serious breach of the rules is likely to lead to disciplinary action. 

 
POLITCAL NEUTRALITY 

 
61. A protocol on the relationship between officers and members of Gloucestershire 

County Council gives more information. (Appendix 2) 
 

62. Employees must serve all Councillors and not just those of a single or controlling 
group, and must ensure that the individual rights of all Councillors are respected. 

 
63. Employees of the County Council are not eligible to stand for office as an elected 

member of the County Council. Employees, whether or not politically restricted under 
the terms of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, must follow every policy 
of the Council and must not allow their own personal or political opinions to interfere 
with their work. 

 
Politically Sensitive Posts 
 

64. The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 has the effect of imposing restrictions 
on public political activity by certain staff of local authorities in politically sensitive 
posts. Political assistants employed pursuant to Section 9, Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 are not wholly bound by these restrictions. 

 
65. The effect of the inclusion of a post in a list of sensitive posts is that the postholder 

will be prevented from becoming a member of a local authority (except a Town or 
Parish Council), or a member of the House of Commons or the European 
Parliament. In addition, regulations prevent them from:- 

Page 219



 

11 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

 

 holding office in a political party 

 canvassing at elections 

 speaking or writing publicly on matters on party political lines 
 
RELATIONSHIPS 
 
Councillors 
 

66. Mutual respect between employees and Councillors is essential to good local 
government. However, close personal familiarity can possibly damage working 
relationships and cause embarrassment. 

 
Contractors 
 

67. All relationships of a business or private nature with external contractors, or potential 
contractors, must be made known to the employee’s immediate line manager. 
Orders and contracts must be awarded on merit, through fair competition, and no 
special favour should be shown to businesses run by, for example, friends, partners 
or relatives. No part of the local community should be discriminated against. 

 
68. Employees who engage or supervise contractors or have any other official 

relationship with contractors and have previously had, or currently have, a 
relationship in a private or domestic capacity with such contractors, must declare that 
relationship to their Director, or in the case of Directors, to the Chief Executive. 

 
69. No employee shall purchase for private purposes goods or services from a firm 

which has dealings with the Council where the firm is offering preferential terms to 
the individual employee (directly or indirectly) because of a contractual, business or 
other relationship with the Council. This rule equally applies to the ordering of extra 
supplies against a contract where the intention is to use the goods privately and pay 
for them at the Council’s contract price, particularly if the employee is aware that the 
price is not available to the ordinary customer. It would also apply to the use of 
services of a contractor with whom employees have official contacts as part of their 
employment with the Council. It also precludes employees from using, for private 
purposes, any special trading cards which the Council may hold for council business. 
It does not, however, preclude employees benefiting from general discounts offered 
by suppliers to all Council employees or made available by the Council or trade 
unions on behalf of staff generally. 
 
APPOINTMENTS AND OTHER EMPLOYMENT MATTERS 
 

70. It is contrary to the Council’s HR policies for an employee to make an 
appointment/engagement which is based on anything other than the ability of the 
individual to undertake the duties of the post. Employees must not be involved in an 
appointment/engagement where they are related to an applicant, or have any 
personal or business relationship outside work with them. 

 

Page 220



 

12 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

71. Employees must not be involved in decisions relating to discipline, promotion or pay 
adjustments for any other employee who is a relative, partner or close personal 
friend. 

 
72. Employees of the Council shall inform their Director or, in the case of Directors  the 

Chief Executive, of any relationship known to them to exist between themselves and 
a candidate for an appointment/engagement in which they are directly involved. If a 
candidate deliberately omits to disclose a relationship they will be disqualified. If the 
omission is discovered after appointment or engagement they shall be liable to 
dismissal. 

 
73. Employees involved in appointments/engagements must, where practicable, ensure 

that references are obtained from the current and previous employer of the 
candidate to whom they wish to formally offer a post. Ideally both referees should be 
senior persons, one from the candidate’s present employer and the other from their 
previous employer. 

 
74. In the case of applicants leaving full-time education or not having worked since doing 

so, the Head of School, College, University etc. should be named as one of the 
referees. 

 
UNDERTAKING ADDITIONAL WORK OUTSIDE OF THE COUNCIL 
 

75. Full-time employees shall devote their whole time service to the work of the Council, 
and shall not engage in any other business, including self-employment, or take up 
any other additional appointment without the express written prior consent of their  
Directors, and in the case of Directors , the Chief Executive. The Director or the 
Chief Executive reserves the right to withdraw such consent at any time. 

 
76. All prospective employees shall, prior to appointment, provide details on the 

Council’s standard application form of any other employment(s) in which they are 
engaged, giving full details of the employer, job title and the hours worked per week 
in each job. (This information will be examined to see whether any other existing 
employment(s) is in conflict with the employment being sought with the Council and 
whether, in overall terms, the total hours of all the employments exceed 48 per week 
- as per the Working Time Regulations 1998.) Also, existing part-time employees 
must declare any other employment to the Council in order that the latter can ensure 
that there is no conflict of interest between such employment and that there is 
adherence to the Working Time Regulations. 

 
77. Employees should avoid situations where an actual or apparent  conflict between 

work and personal interests may arise and must inform their manager as soon as 
possible in the event that any such conflict may arise 

 
78. Undertaking unpaid activities outside Council employment may, on occasions, be 

detrimental to or otherwise conflict with the Council’s interests. Employees should be 
mindful of any potential conflict of interests in such situations. 

 
79. No personal business activity or outside work of any sort may be undertaken by an 

employee during their working hours for the Council. 

Page 221



 

13 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

 
Consultancy, Lecturing, Fee Paying Work 
 

80. Where a request is received for any employee to make a presentation, speak at a 
seminar or lecture on a course, within their normal field of work and during their 
normal working hours, the work will be undertaken on behalf of the Council and any 
fee will be treated as income for the Council. 

 
81. Where an employee is approached to undertake fee paying work the Council has 

determined that the fee is to be treated as income for the employee if all the work, 
including preparation, is undertaken outside normal work hours. In the case of 
activities which are prepared and/or take place partly during normal working hours, 
the Council has agreed that half the fee is to be treated as income for the employee, 
and the remainder paid to the Council. All consultancy, lecturing and other fee 
paying work must be approved by the employee’s Director or, in the case of 
Directors the Chief Executive. 

 
Intellectual Property 
 

82. Intellectual property is a generic term that includes inventions, creative writings and 
drawings. If these items are created as part of an employee’s normal course of 
employment then, as a general rule, they belong to the Council. 
 
ARREST OR CONVICTION ON CIVIL OR CRIMINAL CHARGES 
 

83. You must, as soon as practicable inform your line manager, at each stage, if you are 
arrested, charged, refused bail, required to attend court, convicted or sentenced for 
any criminal or civil offence. This does not apply to traffic offences unless this 
involves a situation relating to the transport of service users, or the possible penalty 
includes imprisonment or disqualification from driving or involves an official vehicle. 
Failure to inform will be considered an act of gross misconduct. 
 
MEMBERSHIP OF CLUBS, SOCIETIES AND OTHER ORGANISATIONS WHICH 
ARE NOT OPEN TO THE PUBLIC AND/OR WHICH HAVE SECRECY ABOUT 
RULES, MEMBERSHIP, ETC. 
 

84. The intention of this Code and procedures is to ensure transparency and openness 
and that no reasonable person can question the integrity and motives in connection 
with your employment with the Council. 

 
85. All employees must declare membership of any organisation which is not open to the 

public, where there is a commitment of allegiance, and /or which has secrecy about 
rules, membership or conduct. This declaration needs to be made through 
completing a form held by each Director. 
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
 

86. Staff are expected to conduct themselves with integrity, impartiality and honesty.  
Staff should avoid circumstances where private or personal interests have the 

Page 222



 

14 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

potential to give rise to allegations or partiality or impropriety which could being the 
Council into disrepute. 
 

87. Employees should not involve themselves in any decision or allocation of Council 
Services or resources from which they, their friends, their partners, persons to whom 
they are (or are owed) an obligation, or family might benefit. 
 

88. Where employees belong to any club, society, charity or similar body and any person 
within it or the club, society or similar body itself may benefit from a decision or 
action employees may take in their work with the Council. All interests must be 
registered and discussed with their managers. 
 
EQUALITY ISSUES 
 

89. All employees must comply with the Council’s policies on equal opportunities in 
employment and with those relating to service delivery.  Employees must also have 
due regard to any requirements under the Public Sector Equality Duty. 
 
HEALTH AND SAFETY ISSUES 
 

90. Employees must receive and understand information to enable them to work safely 
and to ensure the health, safety and welfare of any others affected by their work. 
Employees have an obligation to follow local working practices so that workplace 
risks are mitigated. 
 

91. No-one should be expected to work unsafely and managers have responsibilities to 
address workplace risks taking advice where appropriate. 
 
BREACHES OF THE CODE OF CONDUCT 
 

92. Any suspected breach of this Code must be:-  
 
(a) immediately reported to the appropriate Director or, in the case of Directors, to 

the Chief Executive, 
OR 

(b) be reported through the confidential reporting procedure for employees, 
detailed at Appendix 1. 

 
93. Where a suspected breach has been reported, a formal investigation into that 

suspected breach will be undertaken. 
 
CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING PROCEDURE FOR EMPLOYEES (WHISTLE-
BLOWING) 
 

94. Appendix 1 of this Code provides procedures for employees to follow who wish to 
report, in strict confidence, their serious concerns about any aspect of the Council’s 
work or the behaviour or standard of conduct of other employees or anyone 
associated with the work and services provided by the Council. 
 

 

Page 223



 

15 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

95. Failure to comply with any of the standards detailed in this Code may result in formal 
disciplinary action, under the council’s Disciplinary and Dismissals Procedure, 
including dismissal in serious cases. 

 

Page 224



 

16 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 
CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING PROCEDURE FOR EMPLOYEES (WHISTLE-  
BLOWING)  
 

1. Employees are often the first to realise that there may be something wrong within the 
Council. However, they may not express their concerns because they feel that 
speaking up would be disloyal to their colleagues or to the Council. They may also 
fear harassment or victimisation and it may be easier, therefore, to ignore the 
concern rather than report what may just be a suspicion of malpractice. 
 

2. The Council is committed to the highest standards of openness, probity and 
accountability. It expects employees, and others that it deals with, who have serious 
concerns about any aspect of the Council’s work, to come forward and voice those 
concerns. The phrase ‘whistle-blowing’ in this procedure refers to the disclosure 
internally or externally by employees of malpractice, as well as illegal acts or 
omissions at work. 
 

3. This Procedure makes it clear that employees can report, in a confidential manner, 
their concerns without fear of victimisation, subsequent discrimination or 
disadvantage and is intended to encourage and enable serious concerns to be 
raised with the Council, rather than overlooking a problem or ‘blowing the whistle’ 
outside.  
 
AIMS AND SCOPE OF THIS PROCEDURE 
 

4. This Procedure aims to:  
 

 encourage employees to feel confident in raising serious concerns in those 
cases where they do not wish to use the normal reporting routes within their 
service area 

 provide alternative avenues for raising concerns 

 ensure that responses to concerns are made  

 to reassure employees that they will be protected from possible reprisals or 
victimisation if they have a reasonable belief that they have raised a concern 
in the public interest 

 
5. There are existing procedures in place to enable employees to lodge a grievance 

relating to their own employment. This Procedure is intended to cover concerns that 
fall outside the scope of other procedures and include:  
 

  conduct which is an offence or a breach of law 

  disclosures related to miscarriages of justice 

  health and safety risks, including risks to the public as well as other 
employees (where the concerns raised have not been addressed through 
normal departmental procedures) 

 damage to the environment 

 the unauthorised use of public funds including fraud and corruption sexual or 
physical abuse 

  inappropriate use of or access to personal or sensitive information 

Page 225



 

17 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

 other unethical or unprofessional conduct 

 notification of any suspicions of price-fixing cartels providing services/goods to 
the Council 

 
6. The Council fully understands that employees who are members of a trade union 

recognised by the Council may, in the first instance, wish to seek advice and 
guidance from their union on the application of this Procedure (see 
paragraph 23 of this Appendix).  
 

7. Any serious concerns that employees have about any aspect of service provision, or 
the conduct of employees or members of the Council or others acting on behalf of 
the Council, can be reported under this Procedure. This may be about something 
that: 
 

  makes an employee feel uncomfortable in terms of apparent non-adherence 
to known standards 

  appears to be contrary to the requirements of the Council’s Standing Orders 
and Code of Conduct 

  falls below established standards of practice 

  may amount to improper conduct  

 appears to be an attempt to mislead 
 
SAFEGUARDS 
 
Harassment or Victimisation 
 

8. The Council recognises that the decision to report a concern can be a difficult one to 
make, not least because of the fear of reprisal from the person(s) who is the subject 
of the complaint. However, if employees believe that what they raise as a concern to 
be the truth and in the public interest they should be confident that they are fulfilling 
their duty to their employer and those for whom they are providing a service. 
 

9. The Council will not tolerate any form of sexual, racial or general harassment or 
victimisation and will take appropriate action to protect employees, when they raise a 
concern in the public interest, from suffering a detriment (including bullying or 
harassment) either from the employer or from co-workers. 
 

10. Any investigation into allegations of potential malpractice will be dealt with separately 
to any grievance, disciplinary or redundancy procedure concerning an employee. 
Equally, any investigation will not be influenced by any such procedures involving an 
employee. 
 
CONFIDENTIALITY 
 

11. All concerns will be treated in confidence and every effort will be made to protect an 
employee’s identity if that is their wish. However this cannot be guaranteed if say 
following an investigation a case is taken to Court, where the employee may need to 
be called as a witness. 
 
ANONYMOUS ALLEGATIONS 

Page 226



 

18 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

 
12. In order to ensure that employees receive protection of the Public Interest Disclosure 

Act 1998 employees should put their name to their allegation.  Concerns expressed 
anonymously are sometimes less credible. Anonymous concerns and allegations, 
whether made to the Monitoring Officer or Head of Internal Audit, will therefore be 
investigated at the discretion of the Council. 
 

13. In exercising this discretion the factors to be taken into account would include: 
 

  the seriousness of the issues raised 

  the credibility of the concern; and 

 the likelihood of confirming the allegation from attributable sources’ factual 
evidence. 

 
UNTRUE ALLEGATIONS 
 

14. If an employee makes an allegation in the public interest, but it is not confirmed by 
the investigation, no action will be taken against them. If, however, an allegation is 
frivolous, malicious or for personal gain, disciplinary action may be taken against 
them. 
 
HOW TO RAISE A CONCERN 
 

15. Employees who wish to raise a serious concern should do so verbally or in writing 
(marked ‘Confidential’) to the: 
 
Monitoring Officer 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Shire Hall 
Gloucester GL1 2TZ 
Telephone: (01452) 328472 
 
The Monitoring Officer will refer all concerns in relation to possible financial 
impropriety to the Director: Strategic Finance and/or the Head of Internal Audit. 
 

16. Alternatively employees may wish to use the Council’s 24 hour “whistleblowing” 
answerphone service on Gloucester 01452 - 427052 to report any concern relating 
to possible fraud, corruption, conduct or mal-practice/administration.  
 

17. Employees who wish to make a written statement/report are invited to set out:  
 

 the background and history of the concern  

 relevant dates, person involved 

 details of supporting evidence 
 

18. Although employees are not expected to prove an allegation they will need to 
demonstrate that the disclosure is in the public interest. 
 
HOW THE COUNCIL WILL RESPOND 
 

Page 227



 

19 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

19. The Council will respond to such concerns and, where appropriate, the matters 
raised may be: 
 

 investigated by management, Internal Audit, or through the disciplinary 
process 

 referred to the Police 

 referred to the External Auditor 

 the subject of an independent inquiry 
 

20. In order to protect individuals and those involved in the concern, initial enquiries will 
be made to decide whether an investigation is appropriate and, if so, what form it 
should take. The overriding principle which the Council will take into account is public 
interest; however, the Council has a zero tolerance attitude to any fraudulent activity. 
Concerns or allegations which fall within the scope of specific procedures (for 
example, child protection) will normally be referred for consideration under those 
procedures. 
 

21. Within 10 working days of a concern being raised, the Monitoring Officer will write to 
the employee concerned at their private address:- 
 

  acknowledging that the concern has been received 

  indicating how s/he proposes to deal with the matter 

 telling the employee whether any initial enquiries have been made 

 telling the employee whether further investigations will take place and, if not, 
why not 

 
22. If the matter is subject to further investigation the employee will be informed of any 

progress and proposed timescale for the investigation. The amount of contact 
between the officers considering the issues and the employee raising the concern 
will depend on the nature of the matters raised, the potential difficulties involved and 
the clarity of the information provided. If necessary, the Council will seek further 
information from the employee raising the concern. 
 

23. A representative of a trade union recognised by the Council or work place colleague 
may accompany an employee during any stage of an investigation conducted under 
this Procedure. 
 

24. The Council will take steps to minimise any difficulties which may be experienced as 
a result of raising a concern. For instance, where an employee is required to give 
evidence in criminal or disciplinary proceedings the Council will arrange for them to 
receive advice about the procedures involved. 

 
25. The Council accepts that employees need to be assured that matters of concern 

have been properly addressed and, therefore, subject to legal constraints, 
employees will be informed of the outcome of any investigation. 
 
THE RESPONSIBLE OFFICER 
 

Page 228



 

20 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

26. The Monitoring Officer has overall responsibility for the maintenance and operation 
of this Procedure. S/he will ensure that a record of concerns raised and the 
outcomes recorded is maintained in a form that does not breach confidentiality. 
 
FURTHER ACTION 
 

27. This Procedure is intended to assist employees who wish to raise concerns within 
the Council. The Council hopes employees will be satisfied with any action taken. 
However, if they are not, and they feel it is right to take the matter outside the 
Council, the following organisations are possible contact points:  

 

  Health & Safety Executive 

 Environment Agency 

 External Auditors 

 Prudential Regulation Authority 

 Financial Conduct Authority 

 Department for Work and Pensions 

 Equality and Human Rights Commission 

 Serious Fraud Office 

 Action Fraud 

 Information Commissioner’s Office 

 Trade Union 

 HM Revenue and Customs 

 Relevant Voluntary Organisation 

 Charity Commission 

 Police 

 Public Concern at Work 
 

28. If employees do decide to take the matter outside the Council, they must ensure that 
they do not disclose to a third party any Council confidential information. If 
employees are in any doubt, they are strongly advised to seek the confidential 
advice of the Monitoring Officer before taking any action to ensure that they are not 
putting themselves in a vulnerable position. 
 

Page 229



 

21 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

APPENDIX 2 
 
PROTOCOL ON THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN OFFICERS AND 
MEMBERS OF GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
Introduction 
 
1. The County Council will not function effectively unless elected Members of 

the Authority and its paid Officers are able to establish and maintain a 
businesslike and harmonious working relationship that is based on trust and 
on mutual respect for each other.  This is not always easy.  The business of 
the Council touches upon many sensitive and emotive issues.  
Modernisation has placed Officers and Members under increased scrutiny, 
demanded many changes to working practices and raised public 
expectations about the quality of the Council’s services.  These pressures 
inevitably create stresses and tensions between Officers and Members, 
which can undermine good working relationships.  It is therefore important to 
minimise the risk of misunderstandings and to ensure that when difficulties 
do arise, a framework exists within which they may be resolved. 

 
2. The purpose of this protocol is, therefore, to help foster a clear 

understanding of Officers’ and Members’ roles, and to lay down guidelines 
on what each may expect from the other.  The protocol does not and indeed, 
cannot, cover every eventuality; the sheer variety of the Council’s work 
makes that impossible.  Instead, it is intended to strengthen existing good 
practice and address issues that arise most often.  The guidance also 
provides advice on how to deal with difficulties that do arise, fairly and 
swiftly, so that the level of trust and mutual respect that is required to enable 
the Council to function effectively is maintained. 

 
 
The role of elected Members 
 
The role of County Councillors as Members of full Council and Council bodies 
 
3. Members perform a wide variety of roles.  The full Council of 53 elected 

Members is responsible for determining the Council’s overall policy and 
budgetary framework.  When acting in this capacity, they assume the role of 
trustees, which means they must ensure the Council’s functions are 
discharged in a sound and businesslike manner.  The introduction of 
executive arrangements has, however, conferred responsibility for the 
formulation and implementation of most detailed policies and proposals in 
the Cabinet.  The Cabinet need not be politically balanced and it is therefore 
entitled to make decisions that reflect the ideology of the political groups who 
belong to it, since ultimately, the Cabinet is answerable to the electorate.  
The legitimate expression of political ideology by the Cabinet will often give 
rise to equally legitimate objection by other political groups, who may quite 
properly regard themselves as a formal “opposition”.  Such opposition may 
be expressed in full Council or in Overview and Scrutiny Committees as 
constructive criticism that is reflective of political ideology. 

Page 230



 

22 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

 
The standing of County Councillors as individual Members of the Council 
 
4. By virtue of their membership of Council bodies, some County Councillors 

may be able to exert more influence over certain kinds of Council business 
than others but they can only do so through a decision made by the 
committee or committees that they belong to.  By law, the Leader is entitled 
to delegate functions to its Members.  The Leader has determined that 
Cabinet Members (but not other Members) have power to make decisions 
that would bind the Authority to a particular course of action.  It follows that in 
law, Members without decision making powers acting in their individual 
capacity as County Councillors are equals, each having the same rights and 
responsibilities. 

 
Other roles of County Councillors 
 
5. County Councillors’ activities are confined to their involvement in full Council 

and Council bodies.  Members represent the interests of the people who live 
within their electoral division and will often be asked to solve day-to-day 
problems connected with services that are provided by the Authority.  County 
Councillors might have business or other private interests that are affected 
by the work of the Authority.  Members are also part of the local community 
in their own right and thus receive Council services as consumers. 

 
The role of Officers 
 
The role of Officers in the course of their employment 
 
6. The role of Officers in the course of their day-to-day duties as paid members 

of staff is to give effect to the Council’s strategy and the policies and 
proposals of Council bodies, such as the Cabinet and thereby deliver 
services to the people of Gloucestershire.  They do this by providing advice 
on the options that are available to Members, planning, managing and 
actually delivering services to the community in accordance with the 
decisions that the Council or another Council body makes. 

 
7. Since Officers have a duty to serve the whole Council and to carry out its 

decisions and those of particular Council bodies, they should act impartially 
and always do their best to give them effect irrespective of whether they 
agree with them. 

 
Contact between Officers and Members other than in the course of Officers’ 

employment 
 
8. Officers may also come into contact with Members as constituents or in the 

course of consuming Council services.  From time to time, Officers might 
also be consumers of services provided by County Councillors who are 
involved in business, voluntary or other activities.  Members and Officers 
might also come into contact with each other socially, such as when they are 
members of the same club or some other interest group. 

Page 231



 

23 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

 
Sources of difficulty 
 
9. The range of Members’ legitimate perspectives when discharging their 

different roles and responsibilities and the potential for contact between 
Officers and Members in a variety of circumstances, creates a variety of 
situations that have the potential to cause both groups difficulties.  There are 
three principal sources of conflict: 

 
(i) Actual or apparent failure by Officers to act in accordance with 

the principle of political neutrality; 
 
(ii) Unreasonable pressure by Members on Officers;  
 
(iii) Blurring of Officers’ and Members’ public and private roles. 

 
Political neutrality 
 
Supporting the work of the Council 
 
10. Officers (except political assistants) must always exercise great care to 

ensure they do not and may not reasonably be said to appear to act in a 
manner that favours one political group over another.  This does not mean 
that Officers (including political assistants) may not implement the policies 
and proposals of the administration.  To the contrary, under executive 
arrangements the Cabinet stands in the shoes of the Council for all 
“executive functions” and Officers are under a duty to do all they can to give 
effect to the Cabinet’s agenda and specific decisions.  It follows that Officers 
should not act in a way that is calculated to deliberately frustrate or 
undermine a policy or decision of the Council or a Council body although 
political assistants may do so if expressly instructed by the political party in 
whose work they are engaged. 

 
Lobbying Members 
 
11. Sometimes, Officers may disagree with one another about how to deal with a 

particular matter.  They should resolve such issues between themselves, 
consulting with their line managers, if necessary.  Officers should never 
lobby Members privately to advance their own or their service’s interest 
relative to the interests of another Officer, service or the Council as a whole. 

 
Giving advice and providing information 
 
12. In recognising that individual Members and opposition groups have a 

legitimate right to scrutinise the work of the Authority, Officers should, 
however, provide factual advice to Members who wish to oppose particular 
policies or decisions.  They should also provide any documentary 
information that is sought for this purpose in accordance with the Council’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules.  Members should not, however, 
seek to elicit advice from an Officer about how to undermine the Council’s or 

Page 232



 

24 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

the Cabinet’s policies or decisions and, in the event an Officer receives such 
a request, he or she should decline to give such assistance.  An Officer 
should never provide unsolicited advice to a Member that is calculated to 
undermine any policy or decision of the Council or a Council body.  This 
paragraph shall not apply to political assistants to the extent that they are 
expressly instructed by the political party in whose work they are engaged. 

 
13. In circumstances when an Officer is asked to provide advice or information 

to a Member and it is proper that it should be supplied, the Officer must 
ensure the advice that is given is full and accurate and that it is provided 
promptly.  Officers should also avoid withholding advice or information that 
is plainly relevant to and embraced by any request for assistance.  In other 
words, Officers should always be helpful in the way they deal with any 
enquiry by a Member provided that in giving such help they comply with 
paragraphs 8 to 11 of this guidance.  Officers must never fail to advise any 
Member about a risk that their conduct might break the law, breach Council 
policy, or be contrary to the budget if ever they become aware of such a risk. 

 
 
Confidentiality 
 
14. Information and advice should normally be provided to Members in 

confidence and should not, therefore, be copied to any other Member unless 
disclosure has been expressly authorised.  If, however, an Officer who is 
asked to provide information believes it would, if disclosed more widely, be 
of benefit to the Council as a whole, they may provide the information to 
others.  Before they do so, they should, however, consult the County 
Councillor who asked for the information and their Director or Head of 
Service. 

 
15. Members must give due regard to Officer’s advice on the sensitivity of any 

information or advice that they receive by virtue of their position.  They 
should take care not to release any such information inappropriately, without 
good reason.  In no case should any information, which is confidential or 
exempt in law, be disclosed.  If Officers have concern about a County 
Councillor’s action in this regard, they should inform their Director or Head of 
Service who will discuss the issue with the relevant Group Leader and the 
Monitoring Officer.  Members and Officers should be aware that unresolved 
breaches of this duty may be referred to the Audit and Governance 
Committee of the Council. 

 
Dealing with the Press 
 
16 Particular care must be exercised in dealing with the media. Officers, 

including political assistants, must not criticise the policies of the County 
Council, any other Council body or a Member of the Council in the media in 
their capacity as employees of the Authority. Political assistants may prepare 
press releases on behalf of their groups that are critical of the County 
Council or any Council body or Member.  All political group press releases 
must be issued in the name of the political group that produces the press 

Page 233



 

25 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

release and include the name of the relevant County Councillor.  The name 
and contact details of the political assistant may be included but only in order 
to obtain further information and it must be clear that the political assistant is 
not the author of the press release.  If a press release is prepared by a 
political assistant, that Officer must ensure, so far as is reasonably 
practicable, that the information it contains is factually correct.   

 
Member pressure on Officers 
 
17. Except in relation to political assistants, Members should respect Officers’ 

political neutrality.  They should not, therefore, ask an Officer (except 
political assistants) to act in any way that would cause an Officer to confer 
an improper advantage on their group or disadvantage another group or 
Member. 

 
18. Members should also respect Officers’ professional judgment.  This does not 

mean Members are obliged to accept Officers’ advice.  Nor does it preclude 
Members’ testing Officers’ advice, robustly if necessary.  If, however, an 
Officer does not share an opinion that is urged upon them by a Member, the 
Member should not insist or place an Officer under undue pressure to depart 
from their firmly held professional opinion.   

 
19. Although Members are entitled to depart from Officers’ advice, they should 

avoid criticising Officers or their advice in public.  Complaints about the 
conduct of an Officer should be made privately to the Officer’s Director of 
Service or another appropriate senior Officer. 

 
20. Members should bear in mind that Officers are often obliged to balance very 

many tasks.  They should, therefore, exercise reasonable restraint in making 
demands of Officers for advice or information.  Thus, in responding to any 
request in accordance with paragraph 12 of this protocol, Officers should 
normally be allowed a reasonable period of time to provide advice and 
information.  Members should also avoid, so far as is possible, making 
repeated or excessive requests for advice or information.  If an Officer 
indicates that they can provide no further assistance in respect of a particular 
matter, that advice should normally be accepted or referred to the Officer’s 
line manager.  Particular care must be exercised when corresponding with 
Officers by email; excessive use of this tool can be extremely costly of both 
Members’ and Officers’ time. 

 
21. In seeking information or advice, Members should take care to avoid placing 

undue pressure on junior or inexperienced Officers.  Instead, the matter 
should be taken up with the Officer’s Director of Service or another senior 
manager. 

 
Blurring of Officers and Members public and private roles 
 
22. Some Officers have specialist professional, technical or other qualifications 

or skills.  Their contract of employment, however, usually forbids any other 
paid employment save that carried out for and on behalf of the Authority.  

Page 234



 

26 

 
Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 
 

Moreover, if Officers are to be and appear to behave politically neutral, they 
should avoid doing anything that might appear to indicate too close a 
relationship with the Member of any political group.  A Member should not, 
therefore, ask or encourage an Officer and an Officer should not offer or 
agree to provide any service to that Member, whether or not for reward, for 
any purpose that is unconnected with the business of the Council. 

 
23. The need to maintain Officers’ political neutrality means that it will normally 

be inappropriate for them to maintain close social or private business 
relationships with a Member. 

 
24. Members whose business interests bring them into contact with Officers in 

the latter’s capacity as employees of the County Council must take care to 
ensure that they comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members 
and the law.  For their part, Officers must ensure they comply with the 
Council’s Contract Standing Orders. 

 
25. More generally, Officers and Members must not use any relationship they 

have formed with each other by virtue of their office to secure any kind of 
personal advantage.  They must also take care not to give the impression or 
appearance that their formal relationship is or might be used for personal 
gain. 

 
 
 
The role of Group Leaders and senior Officers 
 
26. Sometimes, issues will arise that do not fit comfortably within this guidance.  

At other times, an Officer or Member may feel aggrieved by what they 
perceive to be a breach of this protocol.  In each case an Officer (including a 
political assistant) should normally consult their Director of Service or 
another senior manager for guidance on how best to act.  For their part, 
Members should normally seek advice from their Group Leader or any other 
person that their Group Leader nominates to advise on relationships 
between Officers and Members. 

 
Conclusion 
 
27. Although this protocol is not intended to lay down absolute or comprehensive 

guidance on the relationship between Members and Officers, it may be a 
relevant consideration in the determination of disciplinary action against an 
Officer under the Authority’s disciplinary procedures.  It may also be relevant 
to the determination of a complaint against a Member referred to the 
Council’s Audit and Governance Committee alleging a breach of the Code of 
Conduct for Members. 

 
28. Finally, it should be borne in mind that the foundation of harmonious and 

businesslike working relations between Members and Officers is built upon 
notions of mutual trust, respect and an overriding commitment to the best 
interests of the people of Gloucestershire.  Provided Members and Officers 

Page 235



27 

Last updated:  October 2017 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

strive to uphold these principles the Council is likely to remain focused on its 
primary goal, which is to provide high quality and continually improving 
services for the benefit of local people. 

Page 236



Annex F

Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Annex G

Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Annex H

Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Decision Statement – 18 September 2017

Published - 18 September 2017

Gloucestershire
County Council

Agenda
Item Decision Portfolio 

5  CHILDREN'S SERVICES IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

Cllr Richard Boyles, Cabinet Member for Children and Young 
People, presented the Draft Children’s Services Improvement 
Plan, seeking approval of the plan for submission to Ofsted, 
following the outcome of the Inspection of Children’s Services 
in Gloucestershire in February 2017. 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and 

RESOLVED to: -  

1) Approve the Children’s Services Improvement Plan for 
submission to Ofsted, and 

2) Authorise the Interim Director of Children’s Services, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children and 
Young People, to make any further minor changes to 
the plan as required by Ofsted. 

Children and Young 
People 

Page 255

Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Decision Statement - 27 September 2017

Published - Wednesday 27 September 2017

Gloucestershire
County Council

Agenda
Item Decision Portfolio 

5  FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2017/18 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change, gave an update on the year-end forecast for the 
2017/18 County Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets. 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to  

1. Note the forecast revenue year end position as at the 
end of July 2017 for the 2017/18 financial year of a net 
£1.873 million overspend.

2.  Agree the following revenue contributions to capital of:

2.1 £0.066 million under spend in Property revenue 
budgets towards the Fire capital programme

2.2 £0.053 million from the Highways   
           Commissioning revenue towards the Minor  
           Works and Highways Locals capital budgets    

3. Approve £0.300 million transfer from the Services to 
Families with Young Children reserve to the Children’s 
Centre revenue budget to fund revenue start up costs.

4. Note the forecast capital year end position for 
2017/18 of £0.420 million slippage.

5. Approve the following changes to the Capital 

Finance and Change

Page 257



Programme totalling £1.519 million.

5.1The deletion of the £0.300 million capital project for 
Children’s Centres improvements from the Children 
& Families Capital Programme, no longer required 
(see recommendation 3 above).

5.2  A new £0.250 million scheme for an additional 
classroom at  Rissington Primary School, funded by 
a budget virement from unallocated schools capital 
basic need grant. 

5.3  The allocation of £0.964 million developer s106 
contribution to the Shurdington Primary scheme and 
a budget virement of £0.764 million grant to the 
unallocated basic need grant budget, increasing the 
Shurdington budget by £0.200 million.

5.4 An increase of £0.301 million to the Mickleton 
Primary scheme, funded by developer s106 
contributions.

  5.5  An increase of £0.057 million to the Cotswold    
Academy scheme, funded by developer s106  
contribution. 

5.6   An increase of £0.035 million to the 
Woodmancote Primary School scheme, 
funded by developer s106 contributions. 

5.7   An increase of £0.161 million to the 
Gloucester Road Primary scheme, funded by 
developer s106 contributions.

5.8   An increase of £0.117 million to the Bishops 
Cleeve Primary scheme, funded by 
developer s106 contributions.

5.9   An increase of £0.118 million in the Highways 
Capital budget, funded £0.053 million of 
revenue contributions from the Minor Works 
and Highways Locals budgets and £0.071 

Page 258



million from the C&I revenue reserve. The 
overall increase figure off sets a reduction of 
£0.006 million in contributions from other 
agencies.

5.10 An increase of £0.066 million in the Fire 
Safety capital programme, funded by a 
£0.066 million of revenue contributions from 
Property towards funding of the new training 
towers.

6  GLOUCESTERSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE: 
DRAFT INTEGRATED RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN 2018-21 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure, sought approval of the objectives and 
consultation proposals for the Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service: Draft Integrated Risk Management Plan 
(IRMP) 2018-2021. 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to  

1) Approve the content of the Draft Integrated Risk 
Management Plan (IRMP) 2018, prepared on the basis 
of the 3 objectives set out in Paragraph 1.1 of the 
report; and

2) Authorise the Chief Fire Officer to undertake a public 
consultation on the Draft Integrated Risk Management 
Plan (IRMP) 2018, in accordance with principles set 
out in Paragraph 1.2 of the report.

Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure,

7  INVESTING IN SUPPORT FOR PEOPLE IN VULNERABLE 
CIRCUMSTANCES - INTERIM ARRANGEMENTS 

Cllr Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member for Vulnerable Adults and 
Commissioning, sought approval to extend the existing 

Vulnerable Adults 
and Commissioning

Page 259



contract for the Gloucestershire Welfare Support Scheme.  

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and 

RESOLVED to 

Delegate authority to the Director of Public Health, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member Vulnerable Adults and 
Commissioning, to:

a) Exercise the contractual option to extend the existing 
Gloucestershire Welfare Support Scheme contract 
with the service provider known as ‘Auriga Services’ 
for a further period of 1 year, to expire on 31st March 
2019; and

b) Direct award the seven (7) interim contracts listed in 
Section B of Appendix A to the report, for terms 
ranging between 4 months and 9 months, to the 6 
incumbent service providers specified therein, (one of 
whom is the service provider under two contracts), 
with the effect that they will all expire on 30th 
September 2018.

8  TENDERING SPECIALIST DOMESTIC ABUSE SERVICES 

Cllr Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member for Vulnerable Adults and 
Commissioning, sought approval for the Council to act as lead 
authority on behalf of Gloucestershire’s Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence Commissioning Group for the creation of a 
multi-supplier Framework Agreement for the provision of 
specialist domestic abuse services and for the benefit of 
participating local partners. 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to  

Vulnerable Adults 
and Commissioning

Page 260



Authorise the Director of Public Health to:

1. Develop and conduct an EU compliant competitive 
tender process with the Council acting as lead 
authority for the creation of a 5 year multi- supplier 
Framework Agreement for the delivery of specialist 
domestic abuse services.  The Framework will be 
divided into specialist Lots and have a total estimated 
value of £14m over its term which comprises both the 
council spend (estimated at £9m) and that of the 
participating local partners. 

2. Upon conclusion of the competitive tender process, to 
appoint the preferred provider(s) to each Lot under the 
Framework Agreement that have been evaluated as 
meeting the standards set out in the evaluation criteria 
subject to any limitation on numbers that may have 
been provided for in the tender process.  

3. Upon the conclusion of the award of the Framework 
Agreement, to use it to award a single supplier call off 
contract for the provision of Specialist Services to 
Victims of Domestic Abuse for a term of 7 years 
comprising an initial term of 5 years with an option to 
extend for a further 2 years with an estimated total 
value of £7m.

4. Use the Framework Agreement to enter into such call 
off contracts during the term of the Framework 
Agreement as are required to meet the council’s 
assessed needs for the Framework services to achieve 
the objectives of the Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse 
and Sexual Violence Strategy and Outcomes 
Framework. 

9  LIBRARIES - SELF SERVICE RADIO FREQUENCY 
IDENTIFICATION SOLUTION TENDER 

Cllr Tim Harman, Cabinet Member for Public Health and 
Communities, sought approval to provide customer self-
service kiosks for libraries. 

Public Health and 
Communities

Page 261



Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to  

(a) Approve the procurement of Radio Frequency 
Identification (RFID) self service kiosks and associated 
software for libraries.

(b) Conduct of a further (mini) competition under a framework 
tender process (Eastern Shire Purchasing Organisation 
(ESPO) Framework 350), and the award of a contract for the 
delivery of the RFID self service solution.

10  DIRECT AWARD CONTRACT FOR ELECTRONIC CALL 
MONITORING TO DISABILITY COMMUNITY CARE AND 
SUPPORT PROVIDERS 

Cllr Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member for Vulnerable Adults and 
Commissioning, sought approval to undertake a direct award 
process for the continued delivery of an Electronic Call 
Monitoring (ECM) system. 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to  

Authorise the Commissioning Director, (Adults), to: - 

Conduct a legally compliant direct award process under the 
Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation, (“ESPO”), 
framework agreement, (in accordance with the rules of the 
Framework and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015), for 
the award of a 5 year, 3 month Electronic Call Monitoring 
contract with an estimated maximum spend of £480k, 
resulting in an expected 5 year net saving of between £2 and 
£3 million across the community based care and support 
sector.

Vulnerable Adults 
and Commissioning,

Page 262



11  HIGHWAYS PROCUREMENT STRATEGY 

Cllr Vernon Smith, Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood 
gave a detailed update on the Council’s proposed Highways 
Services Procurement Strategy before seeking approval to 
procure and award the required contracts.
 
Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to  

Authorise the Commissioning Director, Communities and 
Infrastructure, to:

(1) Carry out three legally compliant competitive tender 
processes for the delivery of highway services under 
three separate contracts, comprising; -  

a. a seven year highway services term 
maintenance contract with options for two two-
year extensions; 

b. a two year single provider contract for the 
delivery of structural maintenance works; and 

c. a six year contract for the delivery of 
professional services support with options for 
two two-year extensions.

(2) Upon conclusion of the said competitive tender 
processes, and in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Highways and Flood, to enter into a 
contract with each of the preferred provider(s) 
evaluated as offering the Council best value for money 
for delivery of the three required services.  

In the event that the preferred provider for any of the 
three proposed contracts is either, unable, or unwilling 
to enter into that contract with the Council then the 
Commissioning Director, Communities and 
Infrastructure to be authorised to award such contracts 

Highways and Flood

Page 263



to the next willing highest placed suitably qualified 
provider.

12  PROPERTY ACQUISITION POLICY 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change, sought approval of the Council’s Property Acquisition 
Policy. 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, the 
report was noted. 

Subject to a minor change to the governance section of the 
report, (point 2.3.3), amended to state, ‘in those instances 
where the Property Board approve the business case, a 
decision report would be produced following the council’s 
governance process, including consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Change’, Cabinet 

RESOLVED to  

1) Approve the Policy, which sets out a governance 
framework to acquire property and request that 
Officers implement with immediate effect, and 

2) Request that Officers provide to Cabinet the Schedule 
of Acquisitions, as referred to in the Policy, in February 
2018.

Finance and Change

13  INTERIM RESIDUAL WASTE DISPOSAL 
ARRANGEMENTS 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure, sought approval of a short term interim 
arrangement for residual waste disposal in Gloucestershire, 
covering the period between expiry of the said contract on 6 
August 2018, and the date on which the provision of services 
under the Gloucestershire Residual Waste Project at the 
Javelin Park Energy from Waste facility commence.  

Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure

Page 264



Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to 

1) Extend the term of its current Waste Management 
Services Contract with Cory by 1 year and 6 months, 
(with the effect that it will expire on 10th January 2020), 
by entering into a variation agreement with Cory for 
this purpose; and 

2) Delegate the completion and execution of the 
proposed variation agreement to the Commissioning 
Director, Communities and Infrastructure.

14  MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY (MTFS) – 2018/19 
TO 2020/21 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change, set out the context and process for producing the 
Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy for the 
period 2018/19 to 2020/21.

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to  

Agree the proposed process for reviewing and developing the 
Council Strategy and the three-year Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, covering the period 2018/19 to 2020/21. 

Finance and Change

15  SCHEDULE OF DISPOSALS PROPOSED TO DELIVER 
MEETING THE CHALLENGE TARGETS 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member: Finance and Change, 
sought approval of the Schedule of Disposals proposed to 
meet the three year ‘Meeting The Challenge 2’ capital receipt 

Finance and Change

Page 265



target of £60 million covering the period 2015/16 to 2017/18. 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and, in line with the Policy for the Disposal of 
Property:  

RESOLVED to  

1) Confirm that those sites described at Appendix A 
(Exempt) which have previously been declared surplus 
by Cabinet in February 2017 and not yet disposed of, 
continue to be declared surplus to requirements, and 

2) Declare the sites listed on the proposed Schedule of 
Disposals Appendix B (Exempt) surplus to the 
Council’s land and property requirements, and, 

In relation to both of these schedules, delegate authority to 
the Head of Property Services to dispose of the sites in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change.

Prior to the discussion, members were advised that, should 
Cabinet wish to discuss the contents of the exempt 
information reported at Appendix A and Appendix B to the 
report, consideration would need to be given as to whether 
the press and public should be excluded from the meeting in 
accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

Cabinet agreed to consider the report without reference to the 
exempt information.

Page 266



Cabinet Decision Statement

Published – Wednesday, 15 November 2017

Gloucestershire
County Council

Agenda
Item Decision Portfolio 

4  TENDER AND AWARD OF RECYCLATE SERVICES 
UNDER THE DYNAMIC PURCHASING SYSTEM (DPS) 
FOR HOUSEHOLD RECYCLING 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure, sought approval to extend all current recyclate 
contracts (except for wood) for a further period of two months 
and to tender and/or aware new recyclate contracts.

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,

RESOLVED to

Authorise the Commissioning Director: Communities and 
Infrastructure to: 

1) Extend the duration of all the existing recyclate   
contracts:

(a) awarded using the Dynamic Purchasing System; 
 
and

(b) those awarded directly outside of the Dynamic 
Purchasing System

as set out in paragraph 1.4 of the Report (with the 
exception of the current contract for the recycling of 
Wood) by two months in each case so each will 
terminate on 31st March 2018.

Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure

Page 267



2) Using the Household Recycling Centre Dynamic 
Purchasing System;

a) Procure and award a new contract for the provision 
of wood recyclate services, the contract to have the 
term of three years and three months commencing on 
the 1st January 2018 with an option to extend for up to 
a further year and an estimated value of £2M over its 
full term.

b) Procure and award a new contract for the provision 
of the remaining recyclate services as set out in 
paragraph 1.4 of the report, the contracts in each case 
to have the term of three years commencing on the 1st 
April 2018 with an option to extend for up to a further 
year and an estimated value of £1.5M over their full 
term for the new metal and cardboard contracts 
respectively.

3) Where, under the Household Recycling Centre 
Dynamic Purchasing System, no contractors are 
registered for a Lot or where there is no bid or no 
viable bid is received in respect of a Lot to procure and 
direct award a recyclate contract in each case for 
those respective Lots with providers who are able to 
offer the Council best value for the provision of those 
respective services provided that the term of any such 
directly awarded contract.

5  STONEHOUSE A419 IMPROVEMENT SCHEME - 
CONTRACT PROCUREMENT AND ANCILLARY ORDERS 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure sought approval for the Commissioning 
Director: Communities & Infrastructure, to be authorised to 
conduct a compliant competitive tender process and to award 
a contract in respect of the A419 Improvement Scheme 
proposals. 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 

Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure

Page 268



noted the report and,

RESOLVED to

Authorise the Commissioning Director, Communities and 
Infrastructure to:

1) Conduct a compliant competitive tender process for the 
award of a contract to a single supplier for the construction 
of the Stonehouse A419 Improvement Scheme;

2)   Upon conclusion of the competitive tender process, and in 
consultation with the Lead Cabinet Member for Fire, 
Planning and Infrastructure, to enter into a contract with the 
preferred provider evaluated as offering the Council best 
value for money for delivery of the services. In the event that 
the preferred provider for the contract is either unable or 
unwilling to enter into that contract with the Council then 
the Director, Communities and Infrastructure, is authorised 
to enter into such contract with the next willing highest 
placed suitably qualified provider;

3) Make any other ancillary orders that might be required to 
successfully implement the scheme; and

4) Use £0.52M of existing Highways budget to fund the design 
works which will be recovered

6  DOMICILIARY CARE - URBAN DYNAMIC PURCHASING 
SYSTEM (DPS) 

Cllr Kathy Williams, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, 
and Cllr Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member for Vulnerable Adults 
and Commissioning, sought approval for the establishment of 
a dynamic purchasing system (DPS) for the provision of care 
for vulnerable and older people in the urban zones of 
Cheltenham and Gloucester.

Having considered all the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,

Vulnerable Adults 
and Commissioning

Adults Social Care

Page 269



RESOLVED to

Delegate authority to the Commissioning Director: Adults (and
DASS) to

1) Ensure an EU compliant competitive process by establishing 
a dynamic purchasing system (DPS) for the provision of care 
for vulnerable and older people in the urban zones of 
Cheltenham and Gloucester until 30 September 2023; and

2) Throughout the term of the Dynamic Purchasing System, to 
admit or remove domiciliary providers to the system in 
accordance with the required selection criteria or any 
revised selection criteria set out in the system; and

3) To award packages of care to domiciliary providers on the 
Dynamic Purchasing System where the Lead Providers are 
unable

7  FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2017/18 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou: Cabinet Member for Finance and Change 
gave an update on the year-end forecast for the council’s Revenue 
and Capital Budgets 2017/18.

In noting the report, Cabinet

RESOLVED to

1. Note the forecast revenue year end position as at the 
end of September 2017 for the 2017/18 financial year 
of a net £0.087 million underspend.

2. Agree the following revenue contributions to capital of:

2.1 £0.100 million from Support Services to the ICT 
capital programme to provide Wi-Fi in Children’s 
Services office accommodation.

2.2 £0.258 million from Highways to support the 
Highways Capital Programme

Finance and Change

Page 270



3. Approve the following budget virements:

3.1 the 2016/17 unallocated Adults Social Care Levy of 
£2.5 million be permanently allocated to Learning 
Disabilities

3.2 the one off Adult Social Care Support Grant of 
£1.541 million is allocated to support Older 
People/Physical Disabilities and Mental Health 
pressures in the current year.

4. Approve the transfer of £5 million from one off savings 
in the Corporate and Technical budget to the 
Transformation Reserve.

5. Approve £0.71 million from the Transformation Reserve 
to support costs relating to the implementation of the 
Ofsted Improvement Plan.

6. Approve a £10 million pre-payment to the 
Gloucestershire LGPS Fund to generate revenue 
savings as outlined in the report.

7. Note the forecast capital year end position for 2017/18 
of £9.815 million slippage.

8. Approve the following changes to the Capital  
    Programme:-

8.1 A transfer of £2.521 million of existing C&I 
unallocated capital funding (made up of £1.727 
million of Highways, £0.478 million of Structural 
Maintenance and £0.316 million of Integrated 
Transport) to fund the additional works costs on 
phase one of Cinderford Northern Quarter Spine 
Road following on from the July 2015 Cabinet 
decision to proceed with the project.

8.2 An increase of £3.014 million to the Highways 
Capital budget, funded by £2.700 million DfT Grant 
for the Cross Keys Roundabout £0.258 million of 

Page 271



revenue contributions from Highways revenue 
budgets and £0.056 million from external 
contributions.

8.3 An increase of £0.198 million to the Infrastructure 
Capital budget of the Saturn Multi Modal Transport 
model, funded from the Transformation Reserve.

8.4 An increase of £0.100 million in the ICT Capital 
programme budget to provide Wi-Fi in Children’s 
Services office accommodation. This will be funded 
by a revenue contribution from Support Services.

8.5 A new capital scheme at Bourton-on-the-Water 
Primary, funded by £0.754 million developer s106 
contributions.

8.6 Note transfer of £0.360 million from the ‘Sandford 
Park House Dilapidation Costs’ scheme in the Adults 
Capital Programme to the AMPS Capital 
Programme to reflect the current management and 
reporting of these works.

8.7 Note the transfer of £0.375 million from the ‘Locality 
Solutions’ scheme in Children & Families Capital 
Programme to the AMPS Capital Programme to 
reflect the current management and reporting of 
these works.

9. Note the risks and opportunities associated with 
entering into a Gloucestershire 100% Business Rate 
Retention pilot and:-

9.1 Continues to support the application to the 
Government to pilot 100% Business Rates Retention 
in 2018/2019 for Gloucestershire.

9.2 Authorise the Director: Strategic Finance, in 
consultation with the Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Change, to commit 
Gloucestershire County Council to entering into the 
pilot for 100% Business Rates Retention in 

Page 272



2018/2019 for Gloucestershire in the event the bid to 
DCLG is successful.

9.3 Note that, in the event the pilot bid is unsuccessful, 
then the Council will remain in the Gloucestershire 
Business Rates Pool for 2018/2019.

Page 273



This page is intentionally left blank



1

6 DECEMBER 2017

Statement of Individual Cabinet Member Decisions: 1 September to 30 November 2017 

Decision 
Date

Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder

Decision Key 
Decision 

7 Sept 
2017 

Cllr Richard 
Boyles

Cabinet Member 
for Children and 
Young People 

Approval to publish a statutory notice to 
permanently expand Fairford Church of 
England Primary School from its current one 
form entry to a one and half form entry 
primary school from 1st September 2019

Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet member decided to 
reject the alternative options and take the 
recommended decision to: 

Approve publication of the statutory notice to 
permanently expand Fairford Church of England 
Primary School from its current one form entry 
(210 pupils) to a one and half form entry (315 
pupils) starting in September 2019

For the reasons set out in the report

No

12 Sept  
2017 

Cllr Richard 
Boyles

Cabinet Member 
for Children and 
Young People 

Approval to publish a statutory notice 
proposing to close Minsterworth Church of 
England Primary School on 31 Dec 2017

Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member decided to 
reject the alternative options and take the 
recommended decision to: 

Approve the publication of the statutory notice 
proposing to close Minsterworth Church of 
England Primary School on 31st Dec 2017 for 
the reasons set out in the published decision 
report. 

Yes

Page 275

Agenda Item 15



2

15 Sept 
2017

Cllr Ray 
Theodoulou 

Cabinet Member 
for Finance and 
Change 

Approval to secure residential children’s 
homes for the development of the Intensive 
Intervention Service for Young Vulnerable 
People 

Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Cabinet Member, (in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member: Children and Young 
People), decided to reject the alternative options 
and take the recommended decision to: 

a) Transfer £500k from the revenue IRIS 
budget to increase the capital budget to 
£1.7 million.

b) Buy properties to the value of £1.7 million 
and delegate the decision on the preferred 
properties to the Director of Strategic 
Finance in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Change.

c) Authorise that officers continue to explore 
new build options to a total value of £1.7 
million, should b) not be achieved prior to 
31/03/2018.

Yes

22 Sept 
2017

Cllr Ray 
Theodoulou 

Cabinet Member 
for Finance and 
Change 

Extension of the County Building Cleaning 
Contracts 

Having fully considered all of the available 
information, the Cabinet Member decided to 
reject the alternative options and authorise the 
Director: Strategic Finance to take the 
recommended decision to: 

1) Enter into an agreement to extend the 
Council’s contract with Glen Cleaning 
dated 1 August 2014 for a further 3 years, 
10 months from 1 October 2017; 

Yes 

Page 276



3

2) Enter into an agreement to extend the 
Council’s contract with Interserve dated 
the 1st of August 2014 for a further 3 years 
10 months from 1st October 2017. 

For the reasons set out in the published decision 
report relating to this decision.

Please contact Jo Moore, (Democratic Services Unit), if you have any queries about the 
decisions referred to in this statement. 

Tel: 01452 324196 
Email: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Page 277

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Corporate Parenting
	9 Blue Badge (Disabled Persons' Parking) Scheme
	11 Scrutiny report
	12 Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report 2016-17
	Annual Pension Report 2016-17

	13 Constitution Committee report
	14 Cabinet Decision Statement
	Cabinet Decision Statement - 27 September 2017
	Cabinet Decision Statement - 15 November 2017

	15 Individual Cabinet Member Decision Statements



